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PREFACE

NEW TO THIS EDITION

Important changes in the 11th edition of Advanced Accounting include the following:

B The text has been rewritten to align with the Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification.

B The entire text has been revised to remove constant references to official reporting
standards from the body of the text itself. The text now provides references to a
listing of official pronouncements at the end of each chapter. Text length is reduced
and rendered much more readable for the students.

B Former Chapters 12 and 13 have now been expanded to include an additional chap-
ter, Chapter 14. These chapters cover accounting for derivatives and foreign cur-
rency transactions and translations, and have been substantially revised, rewritten,
and expanded. This will allow students to better understand these complex and
important topics.

B All chapters have been updated to include coverage of the latest international
reporting standards and issues, where appropriate. As U.S. and international report-
ing standards move toward greater harmonization, the international coverage con-
tinues to expand in the 11" edition.

B Chapters 1 through 11 have been updated to reflect the most recent Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) statements and interpretations related to con-
solidated financial reporting, including accounting for variable-interest entities.
Fair-value accounting has been added to all appropriate sections of the text.

B The governmental and not-for-profit chapters have been updated to include all
standards through GASB No. 59. These chapters have also been enhanced with
illustrations of the financial statements from Golden, Colorado. Coverage now
includes service efforts and accomplishments, as well as post-employment benefits
other than pensions. Chapter 20 includes an exhibit with t-accounts to help students
follow the governmental fund transactions and their financial statement impact.

B Chapter 23 coverage of fiduciary accounting for estates and trusts has been revised
and updated to reflect current taxation of these entities. Assignment materials have
been added to enhance student learning.

This 11th edition of Advanced Accounting is designed for undergraduate and graduate students
majoring in accounting. This edition includes twenty-three chapters designed for financial
accounting courses beyond the intermediate level. Although this text is primarily intended for
accounting students, it is also useful for accounting practitioners interested in preparation or analysis
of consolidated financial statements, accounting for derivative securities, and governmental and not-
for-profit accounting and reporting. This 11th edition has been thoroughly updated to reflect recent
business developments, as well as changes in accounting standards and regulatory requirements.

This comprehensive textbook addresses the practical financial reporting problems encountered
in consolidated financial statements, goodwill, other intangible assets, and derivative securities.
The text also includes coverage of foreign currency transactions and translations, partnerships,
corporate liquidations and reorganizations, governmental accounting and reporting, not-for-profit
accounting, and estates and trusts.

Xvii
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PREFACE

An important feature of the 11th edition is the continued student orientation, which has been
further enhanced with this edition. This 11th edition strives to maintain an interesting and readable
text for the students. The focus on the complete equity method is maintained to allow students
to focus on accounting concepts rather than bookkeeping techniques in learning the consolida-
tion materials. This edition also maintains the reference text quality of prior editions through the
use of electronic supplements to the consolidation chapters provided on the Web site that accom-
panies this text, at www.pearsonhighered.com/beams. The presentation of consolidation materi-
als highlights working paper—only entries with shading and presents working papers on single
upright pages. All chapters include excerpts from the popular business press and references to
familiar real-world companies, institutions, and events. This book uses examples from annual re-
ports of well-known companies and governmental and not-for-profit institutions to illustrate key
concepts and maintain student interest. Assignment materials include adapted items from past CPA
examinations and have been updated and expanded to maintain close alignment with coverage
of the chapter concepts. Assignments have been updated to include additional research cases and
simulation-type problems. This edition maintains identification of names of parent and subsidiary
companies beginning with P and S, allowing immediate identification. It also maintains parentheti-
cal notation in journal entries to clearly indicate the direction and types of accounts affected by
the transactions. The 11th edition retains the use of learning objectives throughout all chapters to
allow students to better focus study time on the most important concepts.

ORGANIZATION OF THIS BOOK

Chapters 1 through 11 cover business combinations, the equity and cost methods of accounting for
investments in common stock, and consolidated financial statements. This emphasizes the impor-
tance of business combinations and consolidations in advanced accounting courses as well as in
financial accounting and reporting practices.

Accounting and reporting standards for acquisition-method business combinations are
introduced in Chapter 1. Chapter 1 also provides necessary background material on the form and
economic impact of business combinations. Chapter 2 introduces the complete equity method of
accounting as a one-line consolidation, and this approach is integrated throughout subsequent
chapters on consolidations. This approach permits alternate computations for such key concepts
as consolidated net income and consolidated retained earnings, and it helps instructors explain
the objectives of consolidation procedures. The alternative computational approaches also assist
students by providing a check figure for their logic on these key concepts.

The one-line consolidation is maintained as the standard for a parent company in accounting
for investments in its subsidiaries. Procedures for situations in which the parent company uses the
cost method or an incomplete equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries are covered
in electronic supplements to the chapters, which are available at the Advanced Accounting Web
site, www.pearsonhighered.com/beams. The supplements include assignment materials for these
alternative methods so that students can be prepared for consolidation assignments, regardless of
the method used by the parent company.

Chapter 3 introduces the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Students learn how
to record the fair values of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets and implied goodwill. Chapter 4
continues consolidations coverage, introducing working paper techniques and procedures. The text
emphasizes the three-section, vertical financial statement working paper approach throughout, but
Chapter 4 also offers a trial balance approach in the appendix. The standard employed throughout
the consolidation chapters is working papers for a parent company that uses the complete equity
method of accounting (i.e., one-line consolidations) for investments in subsidiaries.

Chapters 5 through 7 cover intercompany transactions in inventories, plant assets, and bonds.
The Appendix to Chapter 5 reviews SEC accounting requirements.

Chapter 8 discusses changes in the level of subsidiary ownership, and Chapter 9 introduces
more complex affiliation structures. Chapter 10 covers several consolidation-related topics: sub-
sidiary preferred stock, consolidated earnings per share, and income taxation for consolidated
business entities. The electronic supplement to Chapter 10 covers branch accounting. Chapter 11
is a theory chapter that discusses alternative consolidation theories, push-down accounting, lever-
aged buyouts, corporate joint ventures, and key concepts related to accounting and reporting by
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variable interest entities. The electronic supplement to Chapter 11 presents current cost implica-
tions for consolidated financial reporting. Chapters 9 through 11 cover specialized topics and have
been written as stand-alone materials. Coverage of these chapters is not necessary for assignment
of subsequent text chapters.

Business enterprises become more global in nature with each passing day. Survival of a modern
business depends upon access to foreign markets, suppliers, and capital. Some of the unique
challenges of international business and financial reporting are covered in Chapters 12 and 13. These
chapters, covering accounting for derivatives and foreign currency transactions and translations,
have been substantially revised and rewritten. The concepts and the accounting for derivatives
are now separated. Chapter 12 covers the concepts and common transactions for derivatives and
foreign currency. Chapter 13 covers accounting for derivative and hedging activities. Coverage
includes import and export activities and forward or similar contracts used to hedge against
potential exchange losses. Chapter 14 focuses on preparation of consolidated financial statements
for foreign subsidiaries. This chapter includes translation and remeasurement of foreign-entity
financial statements, one-line consolidation of equity method investees, consolidation of foreign
subsidiaries for financial reporting purposes, and the combination of foreign branch operations.

Chapter 15 introduces topics of segment reporting under FASB ASC Topic 280, as well as in-
terim financial reporting issues. Partnership accounting and reporting are covered in Chapters 16
and 17. Chapter 18 discusses accounting and reporting procedures related to corporate liquidations
and reorganizations.

Chapters 19 through 21 provide an introduction to governmental accounting, and Chapter 22
introduces accounting for voluntary health and welfare organizations, hospitals, and colleges and
universities. These chapters are completely updated through GASB Statement No. 59, and provide
students with a good grasp of key concepts and procedures related to not-for-profit accounting.

Finally, Chapter 23 provides coverage of fiduciary accounting and reporting for estates and
trusts.

CUSTOMIZING THIS TEXT

You can easily customize this text via Pearson Learning Solutions. Pearson Learning Solutions
offers you the flexibility to select specific chapters from this text to create a customized book
that exactly fits your course needs. When you customize your book will have the chapters in
the order that matches your syllabus, with sequential pagination. All cross-references to other
chapters will be removed. You even have the option to add your own material or third-party
content!

To receive your free evaluation copy or build your book online, visit www.pearsoncustom.com,
contact your Pearson representative, or contact us directly at Pearson Custom Publishing, e-mail
dbase.pub @pearsoncustom.com; phone 800-777-6872. You can expect your evaluation copy to ar-
rive within 7 to 10 business days.

INSTRUCTORS’ RESOURCES

The supplements that accompany this text are available for instructors only to download at our
Instructor Resource Center, at www.pearsonhighered.com/irc. Resources include the following:

B Solutions manual: Prepared by the authors, the solutions manual includes updated
answers to questions, and solutions to exercises and problems. Solutions to assign-
ment materials included in the electronic supplements are also included. Solutions
are provided in electronic format, making electronic classroom display easier for
instructors. All solutions have been accuracy-checked to maintain high-quality
work.

B Instructor’s manual: The instructor’s manual contains comprehensive outlines of
all chapters, class illustrations, descriptions for all exercises and problems (includ-
ing estimated times for completion), and brief outlines of new standards set apart
for easy review.
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B Test item file: This file includes test questions in true/false, multiple-choice, short-
answer, and problem formats. Solutions to all test items are also included.

B PowerPoint presentation: A ready-to-use PowerPoint slideshow designed for
classroom presentation is available. Instructors can use it as-is or edit content to fit
particular classroom needs.

STUDENT RESOURCES

To access the student download Web site, visit www.pearsonhighered.com/beams. This Web site
includes the electronic supplements for certain chapters, spreadsheet templates, and PowerPoint
presentations by chapter.
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CHAPTER

Business Combinations

B On December 31, 2008, Wells Fargo & Company acquired all of the outstanding
shares of Wachovia Corporation for $23.1 billion, making Wells Fargo one of the
largest U.S. commercial banks.

B In October 2001, Chevron and Texaco announced completion of their merger
agreement valued in excess of $30 billion. In 1998, gasoline-producing rivals Exxon
and Mobil merged to form ExxonMobil Corporation in a deal valued at $80 billion.

B Bank of America acquired FleetBoston Financial Corporation for $47 billion in
2004 and followed up with a purchase of MBNA Corporation for $35 billion in 2005.

B In November 2006, Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold acquired rival copper
producer Phelps Dodge for $25.9 billion.

elcome to the world of business combinations. The 1990s witnessed a period of un-
paralleled growth in merger and acquisition activities in both the United States and in
international markets (often referred to as merger mania), and the trend continues.

Merger activities slowed with the stock market downturn in 2001, and again during the
financial crisis of 2008, but when the market recovers, the pace picks up. The following firms
announced combinations in December 2004. Symantec (manufacturer of the Norton antivirus
software) acquired Veritas Software for $13.5 billion. Oracle Corporation acquired People-
Soft, Inc., for $10.3 billion. Johnson & Johnson acquired Guidant for $25.4 billion. Guidant
produces pacemakers, defibrillators, heart stents, and other medical devices. In July 2010,
insurer Aon announced that it had agreed to acquire human resources consultant Hewitt
Associates for $4.9 billion in cash and stock, and GM announced that it would acquire
AmeriCredit for $3.5 billion.

Firms strive to produce economic value added for shareholders. Related to this strategy,
expansion has long been regarded as a proper goal of business entities. A business may choose to
expand either internally (building its own facilities) or externally (acquiring control of other firms
in business combinations). The focus in this chapter will be on why firms often prefer external over
internal expansion options and how financial reporting reflects the outcome of these activities.

In general terms, business combinations unite previously separate business entities. The
overriding objective of business combinations must be increasing profitability; however, many
firms can become more efficient by horizontally or vertically integrating operations or by
diversifying their risks through conglomerate operations.

Horizontal integration is the combination of firms in the same business lines and markets. The
business combinations of Chevron and Texaco, Exxon and Mobil, and Wells Fargo and Wachovia

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1 Understand the economic
motivations underlying
business combinations.

2 Learn about alternative
forms of business
combinations, from both
the legal and accounting
perspectives.

3 Introduce accounting
concepts for business
combinations, emphasizing
the acquisition method.

4 See how firms record fair
values of assets and
liabilities in an acquisition.
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NOTE 27: OPERATING SEGMENTS
Revenues (in millions)
Total Revenues

2009 2008 2007
Energy Infrastructure $ 37,134 $ 38,571 $ 30,698
Technology Infrastructure 42,474 46,316 42,801
NBC Universal 15,436 16,969 15,416
Capital Finance 50,622 67,008 66,301
Consumer & Industrial 9,703 11,737 12,663
Corporate items and eliminations 1,414 1,914 4,609
Total $156,783 $182,515 $172,488
The note goes on to provide similar detailed breakdown of intersegment revenues; external revenues; assets;
property, plant, and equipment additions; depreciation and amortization; interest and other financial charges; and
the provision for income taxes.

are examples of horizontal integration. The past 15 years have witnessed significant consolidation
activity in banking and other industries. Kimberly-Clark acquired Scott Paper, creating a consumer
paper and related products giant. Paint manufacturers Sherwin-Williams and Pratt and Lambert
combined in a $400 million deal. Delta Air Lines took control of its rival Northwest Air Lines in
2008 at a cost of $3.353 billion.

Vertical integration is the combination of firms with operations in different, but successive,
stages of production or distribution, or both. In June 2004, Briggs & Stratton Corporation
announced an agreement to acquire Simplicity Manufacturing, Inc., for $227.5 million. Briggs &
Stratton is the world’s largest producer of small gasoline-powered engines, whereas Simplicity is
a leader in design, manufacture, and marketing of premium commercial and consumer lawn-and-
garden equipment. In March 2007, CVS Corporation and Caremark Rx, Inc., merged to form
CVS/Caremark Corporation in a deal valued at $26 billion. The deal joined the nation’s largest
pharmacy chain with one of the leading healthcare/pharmaceuticals service companies.

Conglomeration is the combination of firms with unrelated and diverse products or service
functions, or both. Firms may diversify to reduce the risk associated with a particular line of business or
to even out cyclical earnings, such as might occur in a utility’s acquisition of a manufacturing company.
Several utilities combined with telephone companies after the 1996 Telecommunications Act allowed
utilities to enter the telephone business. For example, in November 1997, Texas Utilities Company
acquired Lufkin-Conroe Communications Company, a local-exchange telephone company, to
diversify into a communications business. The early 1990s saw tobacco maker Phillip Morris Company
acquire food producer Kraft in a combination that included over $11 billion of recorded goodwill alone.
Although all of us have probably purchased a light bulb manufactured by General Electric Company,
the scope of the firm’s operations goes well beyond that household product. Exhibit 1-1 excerpts Note
27 from General Electric’s 2009 annual report on its major operating segments.

REASONS FOR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

If expansion is a proper goal of business enterprise, why would a business expand through combination
rather than by building new facilities? Among the many possible reasons are the following:

Cost Advantage. It is frequently less expensive for a firm to obtain needed facilities
through combination than through development. This is particularly true in periods
of inflation. Reduction of the total cost for research and development activities was a
prime motivation in AT&T’s acquisition of NCR.

Lower Risk. The purchase of established product lines and markets is usually less
risky than developing new products and markets. The risk is especially low when
the goal is diversification. Scientists may discover that a certain product provides
an environmental or health hazard. A single-product, non-diversified firm may
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be forced into bankruptcy by such a discovery, while a multiproduct, diversified
company is more likely to survive. For companies in industries already plagued
with excess manufacturing capacity, business combinations may be the only way
to grow. When Toys R Us decided to diversify its operations to include baby
furnishings and other related products, it purchased retail chain Baby Superstore.

Fewer Operating Delays. Plant facilities acquired in a business combination are
operative and already meet environmental and other governmental regulations. The
time to market is critical, especially in the technology industry. Firms constructing
new facilities can expect numerous delays in construction, as well as in getting the
necessary governmental approval to commence operations. Environmental impact
studies alone can take months or even years to complete.

Avoidance of Takeovers. Many companies combine to avoid being acquired
themselves. Smaller companies tend to be more vulnerable to corporate takeovers;
therefore, many of them adopt aggressive buyer strategies to defend against takeover
attempts by other companies.

Acquisition of Intangible Assets. Business combinations bring together both intangible
and tangible resources. The acquisition of patents, mineral rights, research, customer
databases, or management expertise may be a primary motivating factor in a business
combination. When IBM purchased Lotus Development Corporation, $1.84 billion of
the total cost of $3.2 billion was allocated to research and development in process.

Other Reasons. Firms may choose a business combination over other forms of expansion
for business tax advantages (for example, tax-loss carryforwards), for personal income
and estate-tax advantages, or for personal reasons. One of several motivating factors in the
combination of Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel, a subsidiary of WHX, and Handy & Harman
was Handy & Harman’s overfunded pension plan, which virtually eliminated Wheeling-
Pittsburgh Steel’s unfunded pension liability. The egos of company management and
takeover specialists may also play an important role in some business combinations.

ANTITRUST CONSIDERATIONS

Federal antitrust laws prohibit business combinations that restrain trade or impair competition. The
U.S. Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) have primary responsibility for
enforcing federal antitrust laws. For example, in 1997 the FTC blocked Staples’s proposed $4.3 billion
acquisition of Office Depot, arguing in federal court that the takeover would be anticompetitive.

In 2004, the FTC conditionally approved Sanofi-Synthelabo SA’s $64 billion takeover of
Aventis SA, creating the world’s third-largest drug manufacturer. Sanofi agreed to sell certain
assets and royalty rights in overlapping markets in order to gain approval of the acquisition.

Business combinations in particular industries are subject to review by additional federal
agencies. The Federal Reserve Board reviews bank mergers, the Department of Transportation
scrutinizes mergers of companies under its jurisdiction, the Department of Energy has jurisdiction
over some electric utility mergers, and the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) rules on
the transfer of communication licenses. After the Justice Department cleared a $23 billion merger
between Bell Atlantic Corporation and Nynex Corporation, the merger was delayed by the FCC
because of its concern that consumers would be deprived of competition. The FCC later approved
the merger. Such disputes are settled in federal courts.

In addition to federal antitrust laws, most states have some type of statutory takeover regulations.
Some states try to prevent or delay hostile takeovers of the business enterprises incorporated within
their borders. On the other hand, some states have passed antitrust exemption laws to protect
hospitals from antitrust laws when they pursue cooperative projects.

Interpretations of antitrust laws vary from one administration to another, from department to
department, and from state to state. Even the same department under the same administration can
change its mind. A completed business combination can be re-examined by the FTC at any time.
Deregulation in the banking, telecommunication, and utility industries permits business combinations
that once would have been forbidden. In 1997, the Justice Department and the FTC jointly issued
new guidelines for evaluating proposed business combinations that allow companies to argue that
cost savings or better products could offset potential anticompetitive effects of a merger.
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LEGAL FORM OF BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combination is a general term that encompasses all forms of combining previously
separate business entities. Such combinations are acquisitions when one corporation acquires the
productive assets of another business entity and integrates those assets into its own operations.
Business combinations are also acquisitions when one corporation obtains operating control over
the productive facilities of another entity by acquiring a majority of its outstanding voting stock.
The acquired company need not be dissolved; that is, the acquired company does not have to go
out of existence.

The terms merger and consolidation are often used as synonyms for acquisitions. However,
legally and in accounting there is a difference. A merger entails the dissolution of all but one of
the business entities involved. A consolidation entails the dissolution of all the business entities
involved and the formation of a new corporation.

A merger occurs when one corporation takes over all the operations of another business
entity and that entity is dissolved. For example, Company A purchases the assets of Company B
directly from Company B for cash, other assets, or Company A securities (stocks, bonds, or
notes). This business combination is an acquisition, but it is not a merger unless Company B
goes out of existence. Alternatively, Company A may purchase the stock of Company B directly
from Company B’s stockholders for cash, other assets, or Company A securities. This acquisition
will give Company A operating control over Company B’s assets. It will not give Company A
legal ownership of the assets unless it acquires all the stock of Company B and elects to dissolve
Company B (again, a merger).

A consolidation occurs when a new corporation is formed to take over the assets and operations
of two or more separate business entities and dissolves the previously separate entities. For
example, Company D, a newly formed corporation, may acquire the net assets of Companies E and
F by issuing stock directly to Companies E and F. In this case, Companies E and F may continue to
hold Company D stock for the benefit of their stockholders (an acquisition), or they may distribute
the Company D stock to their stockholders and go out of existence (a consolidation). In either case,
Company D acquires ownership of the assets of Companies E and F.

Alternatively, Company D could issue its stock directly to the stockholders of Companies E
and F in exchange for a majority of their shares. In this case, Company D controls the assets
of Company E and Company F, but it does not obtain legal title unless Companies E and F are
dissolved. Company D must acquire all the stock of Companies E and F and dissolve those
companies if their business combination is to be a consolidation. If Companies E and F are not
dissolved, Company D will operate as a holding company, and Companies E and F will be its
subsidiaries.

Future references in this chapter will use the term merger in the technical sense of a business
combination in which all but one of the combining companies go out of existence. Similarly, the
term consolidation will be used in its technical sense to refer to a business combination in which
all the combining companies are dissolved and a new corporation is formed to take over their net
assets. Consolidation is also used in accounting to refer to the accounting process of combining
parent and subsidiary financial statements, such as in the expressions “principles of consolidation,”
“consolidation procedures,” and “consolidated financial statements.” In future chapters, the
meanings of the terms will depend on the context in which they are found.

Mergers and consolidations do not present special accounting problems or issues after the initial
combination, apart from those discussed in intermediate accounting texts. This is because only one
legal and accounting entity survives in a merger or consolidation.

ACCOUNTING CONCEPT OF BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

GAAP defines the accounting concept of a business combination as:

A transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more busi-
nesses. Transactions sometimes referred to as true mergers or mergers of equals also
are business combinations.|1]

Note that the accounting concept of a business combination emphasizes the creation of a single
entity and the independence of the combining companies before their union. Although one or
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more of the companies may lose its separate legal identity, dissolution of the legal entities is not
necessary within the accounting concept.

Previously separate businesses are brought together into one entity when their business
resources and operations come under the control of a single management team. Such control
within one business entity is established in business combinations in which:

1. One or more corporations become subsidiaries.
2. One company transfers its net assets to another, or
3. Each company transfers its net assets to a newly formed corporation.

A corporation becomes a subsidiary when another corporation acquires a majority
(more than 50 percent) of its outstanding voting stock. Thus, one corporation need not
acquire all of the stock of another corporation to consummate a business combination. In
business combinations in which less than 100 percent of the voting stock of other combining
companies is acquired, the combining companies necessarily retain separate legal identities
and separate accounting records even though they have become one entity for financial
reporting purposes.

Business combinations in which one company transfers its net assets to another can be
consummated in a variety of ways, but the acquiring company must acquire substantially all
the net assets in any case. Alternatively, each combining company can transfer its net assets
to a newly-formed corporation. Because the newly-formed corporation has no net assets
of its own, it issues its stock to the other combining companies or to their stockholders or
owners.

A Brief Background on Accounting for Business Combinations

Accounting for business combinations is one of the most important and interesting topics
of accounting theory and practice. At the same time, it is complex and controversial. Business
combinations involve financial transactions of enormous magnitudes, business empires, success
stories and personal fortunes, executive genius, and management fiascos. By their nature, they
affect the fate of entire companies. Each is unique and must be evaluated in terms of its economic
substance, irrespective of its legal form.

Historically, much of the controversy concerning accounting requirements for business
combinations involved the pooling of interests method, which became generally accepted in
1950. Although there are conceptual difficulties with the pooling method, the underlying problem
that arose was the introduction of alternative methods of accounting for business combinations
(pooling versus purchase). Numerous financial interests are involved in a business combination,
and alternate accounting procedures may not be neutral with respect to different interests. That is,
the individual financial interests and the final plan of combination may be affected by the method
of accounting.

Until 2001, accounting requirements for business combinations recognized both the pooling and
purchase methods of accounting for business combinations. In August 1999, the FASB issued a report
supporting its proposed decision to eliminate pooling. Principal reasons cited included the following:

B Pooling provides less relevant information to statement users.

B Pooling ignores economic value exchanged in the transaction and makes subsequent
performance evaluation impossible.

B Comparing firms using the alternative methods is difficult for investors.

Pooling creates these problems because it uses historical book values to record combinations,
rather than recognizing fair values of net assets at the transaction date. Generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) generally require recording asset acquisitions at fair values.

Further, the FASB believed that the economic notion of a pooling of interests rarely exists in
business combinations. More realistically, virtually all combinations are acquisitions, in which one
firm gains control over another.

GAAP eliminated the pooling of interests method of accounting for all transactions initiated
after June 30, 2001.[2] Combinations initiated subsequent to that date must use the acquisition
method. Because the new standard prohibited the use of the pooling method only for
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combinations initiated after the issuance of the revised standard, prior combinations accounted
for under the pooling of interests method were grandfathered; that is, both the acquisition and
pooling methods continue to exist as acceptable financial reporting practices for past business
combinations.

Therefore, one cannot ignore the conditions for reporting requirements under the pooling
approach. On the other hand, because no new poolings are permitted, this discussion focuses on
the acquisition method. More detailed coverage of the pooling of interests method is relegated to
Electronic Supplements on the Advanced Accounting Web site.

INTERNATIONAL AccounTiNG Elimination of pooling made GAAP more consistent with international
accounting standards. Most major economies prohibit the use of the pooling method to account
for business combinations. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) require business
combinations to be accounted for using the purchase method, and specifically prohibit the pooling
of interests method. In introducing the new standard, International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) Chairman Sir David Tweedie noted:

Accounting for business combinations diverged substantially across jurisdictions.
IFRS 3 marks a significant step toward high quality standards in business combination
accounting, and in ultimately achieving international convergence in this area.|3|

Accounting for business combinations was a major joint project between the FASB and IASB.
As a result, accounting in this area is now generally consistent between GAAP and IFRS. Some
differences remain, and we will point them out in later chapters as appropriate.

ACCOUNTING FOR COMBINATIONS AS ACQUISITIONS

GAAP requires that all business combinations initiated after December 15, 2008, be
accounted for as acquisitions.[4] The acquisition method follows the same GAAP for
recording a business combination as we follow in recording the purchase of other assets and
the incurrence of liabilities. We record the combination using the fair value principle. In
other words, we measure the cost to the purchasing entity of acquiring another company in
a business combination by the amount of cash disbursed or by the fair value of other assets
distributed or securities issued.

We expense the direct costs of a business combination (such as accounting, legal,
consulting, and finders’ fees) other than those for the registration or issuance of equity
securities. We charge registration and issuance costs of equity securities issued in a
combination against the fair value of securities issued, usually as a reduction of additional
paid-in capital. We expense indirect costs such as management salaries, depreciation, and
rent under the acquisition method. We also expense indirect costs incurred to close duplicate
facilities.

The topics covered in this text are sometimes complex and involve detailed exhibits and illustrative

examples. Understanding the exhibits and illustrations is an integral part of the learning experience,
and you should study them in conjunction with the related text. Carefully review the exhibits as they
are introduced in the text. Exhibits and illustrations are designed to provide essential information
and explanations for understanding the concepts presented.

Understanding the financial statement impact of complex business transactions is an important
element in the study of advanced financial accounting topics. To assist you in this learning en-
deavor, this book depicts journal entries that include the types of accounts being affected and the
directional impact of the event. Conventions used throughout the text are as follows: A parenthetical
reference added to each account affected by a journal entry indicates the type of account and the
effect of the entry. For example, an increase in accounts receivable, an asset account, is denoted
as “Accounts receivable (+A).” A decrease in this account is denoted as “Accounts receivable (—A).”
The symbol (A) stands for assets, (L) for liabilities, (SE) for stockholders’ equity accounts, (R) for
revenues, (E) for expenses, (Ga) for gains, and (Lo) for losses.
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To illustrate, assume that Pop Corporation issues 100,000 shares of $10 par common
stock for the net assets of Son Corporation in a business combination on July 1, 2011. The
market price of Pop common stock on this date is $16 per share. Additional direct costs of the
business combination consist of Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) fees of $5,000,
accountants’ fees in connection with the SEC registration statement of $10,000, costs for
printing and issuing the common stock certificates of $25,000, and finder’s and consultants’
fees of $80,000.

Pop records the issuance of the 100,000 shares on its books as follows (in thousands):

Investment in Son (+A) 1,600
Common stock, $10 par (+SE) 1,000
Additional paid-in capital (+SE) 600

To record issuance of 100,000 shares of $10 par
common stock with a market price of $16 per share
in a business combination with Son Corporation.

Pop records additional direct costs of the business combination as follows:

Investment expense (E, —SE) 80
Additional paid-in capital (-SE) 40
Cash (or other net assets) (—A) 120

To record additional direct costs of combining with Son
Corporation: $80,000 for finder’s and consultants’ fees
and $40,000 for registering and issuing equity securities.

We treat registration and issuance costs of $40,000 as a reduction of the fair value of the stock
issued and charge these costs to Additional paid-in capital. We expense other direct costs of the
business combination ($80,000). The total cost to Pop of acquiring Son is $1,600,000, the amount
entered in the Investment in Son account.

We accumulate the total cost incurred in purchasing another company in a single investment
account, regardless of whether the other combining company is dissolved or the combining com-
panies continue to operate in a parent—subsidiary relationship. If we dissolve Son Corporation,
we record its identifiable net assets on Pop’s books at fair value, and record any excess of invest-
ment cost over fair value of net assets as goodwill. In this case, we allocate the balance recorded
in the Investment in Son account by means of an entry on Pop’s books. Such an entry might ap-
pear as follows:

Receivables (+A) XXX

Inventories (+A) XXX

Plant assets (+A) XXX

Goodwill (+A) XXX
Accounts payable (+L) XXX
Notes payable (+L) XXX
Investment in Son (—A) 1,600

To record allocation of the $1,600,000 cost of acquiring
Son Corporation to identifiable net assets according to
their fair values and to goodwill.

If we dissolve Son Corporation, we formally retire the Son Corporation shares. The former Son
shareholders are now shareholders of Pop.

If Pop and Son Corporations operate as parent company and subsidiary, Pop will not record
the entry to allocate the Investment in Son balance. Instead, Pop will account for its investment in
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Son by means of the Investment in Son account, and we will make the assignment of fair values to
identifiable net assets required in the consolidation process.

Because of the additional complications of accounting for parent—subsidiary operations, the
remainder of this chapter is limited to business combinations in which a single acquiring entity
receives the net assets of the other combining companies. Subsequent chapters cover parent-
subsidiary operations and the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

Recording Fair Values in an Acquisition

The first step in recording an acquisition is to determine the fair values of all identifiable tan-
gible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the combination. This can be a
monumental task, but much of the work is done before and during the negotiating process for
the proposed merger. Companies generally retain independent appraisers and valuation experts
to determine fair values. GAAP provides guidance on the determination of fair values. There are
three levels of reliability for fair value estimates.[5] Level 1 is fair value based on established
market prices. Level 2 uses the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted based on
an observable measure such as the prime interest rate. Level 3 includes other internally-derived
estimations. Throughout this text, we will assume that total fair value is equal to the total market
value, unless otherwise noted.

We record identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling inter-
est using fair values at the acquisition date. We determine fair values for all identifiable
assets and liabilities, regardless of whether they are recorded on the books of the acquired
company. For example, an acquired company may have expensed the costs of developing
patents, blueprints, formulas, and the like. However, we assign fair values to such identifi-
able intangible assets of an acquired company in a business combination accounted for as an
acquisition.[6]

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that arise from contingencies
should be recognized at fair value if fair value can be reasonably estimated. If fair value of such
an asset or liability cannot be reasonably estimated, the asset or liability should be recognized in
accordance with general FASB guidelines to account for contingencies, and reasonable estimation
of the amount of a loss. It is expected that most litigation contingencies assumed in an acquisition
will be recognized only if a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated.|7]

There are few exceptions to the use of fair value to record assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in an acquisition. Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising in a combination, pensions and other
employee benefits, and leases should be accounted for in accordance with normal guidance for
these items.[8]

We assign no value to the goodwill recorded on the books of an acquired subsidiary because
such goodwill is an unidentifiable asset and because we value the goodwill resulting from the busi-
ness combination directly:[9]

The acquirer shall recognize goodwill as of the acquisition date, measured as the
excess of (a) over (b):

a. The aggregate of the following:
1. The consideration transferred measured in accordance with this Section, which
generally requires acquisition-date fair value (see paragraph 805-30-30-7)
2. The fair value of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree
3. In a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree.
b. The net of the acquisition-date [fair value] amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed measured in accordance with this Topic.

RecoaniTion AND MEASUREMENT OF OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS GAAP[10] clarifies the recognition
of intangible assets in business combinations under the acquisition method. Firms should
recognize intangibles separate from goodwill only if they fall into one of two categories.
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Recognizable intangibles must meet either a separability criterion or a contractual-legal
criterion.

GAAP defines intangible assets as either current or noncurrent assets (excluding financial in-
struments) that lack physical substance. Per GAAP:

The acquirer shall recognize separately from goodwill the identifiable intangible
assets acquired in a business combination. An intangible asset is identifiable if it
meets either the separability criterion or the contractual-legal criterion described in
the definition of identifiable.

The separability criterion means that an acquired intangible asset is capable
of being separated or divided from the acquiree and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented, or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract,
identifiable asset, or liability. An intangible asset that the acquirer would be
able to sell, license, or otherwise exchange for something else of value meets
the separability criterion even if the acquirer does not intend to sell, license, or
otherwise exchange it. ...

An acquired intangible asset meets the separability criterion if there is evidence of
exchange transactions for that type of asset or an asset of a similar type, even if those
transactions are infrequent and regardless of whether the acquirer is involved in
them. . ..

An intangible asset that is not individually separable from the acquiree or combined
entity meets the separability criterion if it is separable in combination with a related
contract, identifiable asset, or liability.[11]

Intangible assets that are not separable should be included in goodwill. For example, acquired
firms will have a valuable employee workforce in place, but this asset cannot be recognized as
an intangible asset separately from goodwill. GAAP (reproduced in part in Exhibit 1-2) provides
more detailed discussion and an illustrative list of intangible assets that firms can recognize sepa-
rately from goodwill.

ConTINGENT CONSIDERATION IN AN AcauisITION Some business combinations provide for additional
payments to the previous stockholders of the acquired company, contingent on future events or
transactions. The contingent consideration may include the distribution of cash or other assets
or the issuance of debt or equity securities.

Contingent consideration in an acquisition must be measured and recorded at fair value as of
the acquisition date as part of the consideration transferred in the acquisition. In practice, this
requires the acquirer to estimate the amount of consideration it will be liable for when the contin-
gency is resolved in the future.

The contingent consideration can be classified as equity or as a liability. An acquirer may agree
to issue additional shares of stock to the acquiree if the acquiree meets an earnings goal in the future.
Then, the contingent consideration is in the form of equity. At the date of acquisition, the Investment
and Paid-in Capital accounts are increased by the fair value of the contingent consideration. Alterna-
tively, an acquirer may agree to pay additional cash to the acquiree if the acquiree meets an earnings
goal in the future. Then, the contingent consideration is in the form of a liability. At the date of the
acquisition, the Investment and Liability accounts are increased by the fair value of the contingent
consideration.

The accounting treatment of subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consid-
eration depends on whether the contingent consideration is classified as equity or as a liability.
If the contingent consideration is in the form of equity, the acquirer does not remeasure the
fair value of the contingency at each reporting date until the contingency is resolved. When
the contingency is settled, the change in fair value is reflected in the equity accounts. If the
contingent consideration is in the form of a liability, the acquirer measures the fair value of the
contingency at each reporting date until the contingency is resolved. Changes in the fair value
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Intangible Assets that
are ldentifiable[13]

The following guidance presents examples of identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business
combination. Some of the examples may have characteristics of assets other than intangible assets. The
acquirer should account for those assets in accordance with their substance. The examples are not intended
to be all-inclusive.

Intangible assets designated with the symbol # are those that arise from contractual or other legal rights. Those
designated with the symbol * do not arise from contractual or other legal rights but are separable. Intangible assets
designated with the symbol # might also be separable, but separability is not a necessary condition for an asset to
meet the contractual-legal criterion.

Marketing-Related Intangible Assets

a. Trademarks, trade names, service marks, collective marks, certification marks #
b. Trade dress (unique color, shape, package design) #

c. Newspaper mastheads #

d. Internet domain names #

e. Noncompetition agreements #

Customer-Related Intangible Assets

a. Customer lists *

b. Order or production backlog #

¢. Customer contracts and related customer relationships #
d. Noncontractual customer relationships *

Artistic-Related Intangible Assets

a. Plays, operas, ballets #

b. Books, magazines, newspapers, other literary works #

¢. Musical works such as compositions, song lyrics, advertising jingles #

d. Pictures, photographs #

e. Video and audiovisual material, including motion pictures or films, music videos, television programs #

Contract-Based Intangible Assets
. Licensing, royalty, standstill agreements #
. Advertising, construction, management, service or supply contracts #
. Lease agreements (whether the acquiree is the lessee or the lessor) #
. Construction permits #
. Franchise agreements #
Operating and broadcast rights #
. Servicing contracts such as mortgage servicing contracts #
. Employment contracts #
Use rights such as drilling, water, air, timber cutting, and route authorities #
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Technology-Based Intangible Assets
a. Patented technology #

b. Computer software and mask works #
¢. Unpatented technology *

d. Databases, including title plants *

of the contingent consideration are reported as a gain or loss in earnings, and the liability is also
adjusted.[12]

Cost AnD FaIr VALUE CompARED After assigning fair values to all identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, we compare the investment cost with the total fair value of identifiable
assets less liabilities. If the investment cost exceeds net fair value, we first assign it to identifi-
able net assets according to their fair values and then assign the excess to goodwill.

In some business combinations, the total fair value of identifiable assets acquired over liabilities
assumed may exceed the cost of the acquired company. GAAP[14] offers accounting procedures
to dispose of the excess fair value in this situation. The gain from such a bargain purchase is
recognized as an ordinary gain by the acquirer.
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lllustration of an Acquisition

Pit Corporation acquires the net assets of Sad Company in a combination consummated on
December 27, 2011. Sad Company is dissolved. The assets and liabilities of Sad Company on this
date, at their book values and at fair values, are as follows (in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Assets
Cash $ 50 $ 50
Net receivables 150 140
Inventories 200 250
Land 50 100
Buildings—net 300 500
Equipment—net 250 350
Patents — 50

Total assets $1,000 $1,440
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 60 $ 60
Notes payable 150 135
Other liabilities 40 45

Total liabilities $ 250 $ 240

Net assets $ 750 $1,200

CASE 1: GoopwiLL

Pit Corporation pays $400,000 cash and issues 50,000 shares of Pit Corporation $10 par common
stock with a market value of $20 per share for the net assets of Sad Company. The following
entries record the business combination on the books of Pit Corporation on December 27, 2011.

Investment in Sad Company (+A)
Cash (—A)
Common stock, $10 par (+SE)
Additional paid-in capital (+SE)
To record issuance of 50,000 shares of $10 par common
stock plus $400,000 cash in a business combination
with Sad Company.

Cash (+A)
Net receivables (+A)
Inventories (+A)
Land (+A)
Buildings (+A)
Equipment (+A)
Patents (+A)
Goodwill (+A)
Accounts payable (+L)
Notes payable (+L)
Other liabilities (+L)
Investment in Sad Company (—A)
To assign the cost of Sad Company to identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed on the basis of their
fair values and to goodwill.

1

;400

50
140
250
100
500
350

50
200

400
500
500

60
135
45
1,400

We assign the amounts to the assets and liabilities based on fair values, except for goodwill.
We determine goodwill by subtracting the $1,200,000 fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

from the $1,400,000 purchase price for Sad Company’s net assets.
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CASE 2: FAIR VALUE EXCEEDS INVESTMENT COST (BARGAIN PURCHASE)

Pit Corporation issues 40,000 shares of its $10 par common stock with a market value of $20 per
share, and it also gives a 10 percent, five-year note payable for $200,000 for the net assets of Sad
Company. Pit’s books record the Pit/Sad business combination on December 27, 2011, with the
following journal entries:

Investment in Sad Company (+A) 1,000
Common stock, $10 par (+SE) 400
Additional paid-in capital (+SE) 400
10% Note payable (+L) 200

To record issuance of 40,00 0 shares of $10 par common stock
plus a $200,000, 10% note in a business combination with

Sad Company.

Cash (+A) 50

Net receivables (+A) 140

Inventories (+A) 250

Land (+A) 100

Buildings (+A) 500

Equipment (+A) 350

Patents (+A) 50
Accounts payable (+L) 60
Notes payable (+L) 135
Other liabilities (+L) 45
Investment in Sad Company (—A) 1,000
Gain from bargain purchase (Ga, +SE) 200

To assign the cost of Sad Company to identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed on the basis of their fair
values and to recognize the gain from a bargain purchase.

We assign fair values to the individual asset and liability accounts in this entry in accordance
with GAAP provisions for an acquisition.[15] The $1,200,000 fair value of the identifiable net as-
sets acquired exceeds the $1,000,000 purchase price by $200,000, so Pit recognizes a $200,000
gain from a bargain purchase.

Bargain purchases are infrequent, but may occur even for very large corporations. Two
notable transactions related to the sub-prime mortgage crisis in U.S. financial markets
were reported in the Wall Street Journal in early 2008. “Bank of America offered an
all-stock deal valued at $4 billion for Countrywide — a fraction of the company’s $24 bil-
lion market value a year ago. Pushed to the brink of collapse by the mortgage crisis, Bear
Stearns Cos. agreed — after prodding by the federal government — to be sold to J.P. Mor-
gan Chase & Co. for the fire-sale price of $2 a share in stock, or about $236 million. Bear
Stearns had a stock-market value of about $3.5 billion as of Friday — and was worth $20
billion in January 2007.”

The Goodwill Controversy

GAAP|16] defines goodwill as the excess of the investment cost over the fair value of net assets
received. Theoretically, it is a measure of the present value of the combined company’s projected
future excess earnings over the normal earnings of a similar business. Estimating it requires con-
siderable speculation. Therefore, the amount that we generally capitalize as goodwill is the por-
tion of the purchase price left over after all other identifiable tangible and intangible assets and
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liabilities have been valued. Errors in the valuation of other assets will affect the amount capital-
ized as goodwill.

Under current GAAP, goodwill is not amortized. There are also income tax controversies relat-
ing to goodwill. In some cases, firms can deduct goodwill amortization for tax purposes over a
15-year period.

INTERNATIONAL AcCOUNTING FOR GoopwiLL U.S. companies had long complained that the accounting
rule for amortizing goodwill put them at a disadvantage in competing against foreign com-
panies for merger partners. Some countries, for example, permit the immediate write-off of
goodwill to stockholders’ equity. Even though the balance sheet of the combined company may
show negative net worth, the company can begin showing income from the merged operations
immediately. Current GAAP alleviates these competitive disadvantages.

Companies in most other industrial countries historically capitalized and amortized goodwill
acquired in business combinations. The amortization periods vary. For instance, prior to adoption
of IFRS, the maximum amortization period in Australia and Sweden was 20 years; in Japan, it was
5 years. Some countries permit deducting goodwill amortization for tax purposes, making short
amortization periods popular.

The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) increased trade and investments be-
tween Canada, Mexico, and the United States and also increased the need for the harmonization
of accounting standards. The standard-setting bodies of the three trading partners are looking at
ways to narrow the differences in accounting standards. Canadian companies no longer amortize
goodwill. Canadian GAAP for goodwill is now consistent with the revised U.S. standards. Mexi-
can companies amortize intangibles over the period benefited, not to exceed 20 years. Negative
goodwill from business combinations of Mexican companies is reported as a component of stock-
holders’ equity and is not amortized.

The IASB is successor to the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), a private-
sector organization formed in 1973 to develop international accounting standards and promote
harmonization of accounting standards worldwide. Under current IASB rules, goodwill and other
intangible assets having indeterminate lives are no longer amortized but are tested for value im-
pairment. Impairment tests are conducted annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate
a possible impairment. Firms may not reverse previously-recognized impairment losses for good-
will. These revisions make the IASB rules consistent with both U.S. and Canadian GAAP. Al-
though accounting organizations from all over the world are members, the IASB does not have the
authority to require compliance. However, this situation is changing rapidly. The European Union
requires IFRS in the financial reporting of all listed firms beginning in 2005. Many other countries
are replacing, or considering replacing, their own GAAP with IFRS.

Both the IASB and FASB are working to eliminate differences in accounting for business com-
binations under IFRS and GAAP. Recently, FASB revised its standards for purchased in-process
research and development to harmonize with IFRS requirements. GAAP requires purchased in-
process research and development to be capitalized until the research and development phase is
complete or the project is abandoned. IFRS also requires capitalization of these costs as a separate
and identifiable asset. Under GAAP, this asset will be classified as an intangible asset with an in-
definite life and thus will not be amortized.

Current GAAP for business combinations are the result of a joint project with the IASB. The IASB
issued a revision of IFRS 3 at the same time FASB revised the standards on business combinations.
Some differences still remain. For example, the FASB requires an acquirer to measure the noncontrol-
ling interest in the acquiree at its fair value, while the IASB permits acquirers to record noncontrolling
interests at either fair value or a proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Current GAAP for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

GAAP dramatically changed accounting for goodwill in 2001.[17] GAAP maintained the basic
computation of goodwill, but the revised standards mitigate many of the previous controversies.
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Current GAAP provides clarification and more detailed guidance on when previously unrecorded
intangibles should be recognized as assets, which can affect the amount of goodwill that firms
recognize.

Under current GAAP,[18] firms record goodwill but do not amortize it. Instead, GAAP requires
that firms periodically assess goodwill for impairment in its value. An impairment occurs when the
recorded value of goodwill is greater than its fair value. We calculate the fair value of goodwill in
a manner similar to the original calculation at the date of the acquisition. Should such impairment
occur, firms will write down goodwill to a new estimated amount and will record an offsetting loss
in calculating net income for the period.

Further goodwill amortization is not permitted, and firms may not write goodwill back up to
reverse the impact of prior-period amortization charges.

Firms no longer amortize goodwill or other intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives.
Instead, firms will periodically review these assets (at least annually) and adjust for value impair-
ment. GAAP provides detailed guidance for determining and measuring impairment of goodwill
and other intangible assets.

GAAP also defines the reporting entity in accounting for intangible assets. Under prior
rules, firms treated the acquired entity as a stand-alone reporting entity. GAAP now recognizes
that many acquirees are integrated into the operations of the acquirer. GAAP treats goodwill
and other intangible assets as assets of the business reporting unit, which is discussed in more
detail in a later chapter on segment reporting. A reporting unit is a component of a business
for which discrete financial information is available and its operating results are regularly re-
viewed by management.

Firms report intangible assets, other than those acquired in business combinations, based on
their fair value at the acquisition date. Firms allocate the cost of a group of assets acquired (which
may include both tangible and intangible assets) to the individual assets based on relative fair val-
ues and “shall not give rise to goodwill.”

GAAP is specific on accounting for internally developed intangible assets:[19]

Costs of internally developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets that are
not specifically identifiable, that have indeterminate lives, or that are inherent in a con-
tinuing business and related to the entity as a whole, shall be recognized as an
expense when incurred.

RecoGnizing AND MEASURING ImMPAIRMENT LosSEs The goodwill impairment test is a two-step
process.[20] Firms first compare carrying values (book values) to fair values at the business
reporting unit level. Carrying value includes the goodwill amount. If fair value is less than
the carrying amount, then firms proceed to the second step, measurement of the impair-
ment loss.

The second step requires a comparison of the carrying amount of goodwill to its implied fair
value. Firms should again make this comparison at the business reporting unit level. If the carrying
amount exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, the firm must recognize an impairment loss
for the difference. The loss amount cannot exceed the carrying amount of the goodwill. Firms can-
not reverse previously-recognized impairment losses.

Firms should determine the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner used to origi-
nally record the goodwill at the business combination date. Firms allocate the fair value of the
reporting unit to all identifiable assets and liabilities as if they purchased the unit on the measure-
ment date. Any excess fair value is the implied fair value of goodwill.

Fair value of assets and liabilities is the value at which they could be sold, incurred, or settled in
a current arm’s-length transaction. GAAP considers quoted market prices as the best indicators of
fair values, although these are often unavailable. When market prices are unavailable, firms may
determine fair values using market prices of similar assets and liabilities or other commonly used
valuation techniques. For example, firms may employ present value techniques to value estimated
future cash flows or earnings. Firms may also employ techniques based on multiples of earnings
or revenues.
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Firms should conduct the impairment test for goodwill at least annually. GAAP[21] requires
more-frequent impairment testing if any of the following events occurs:

A significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate

An adverse action or assessment by a regulator

Unanticipated competition

A loss of key personnel

A more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a significant portion of

a reporting unit will be sold or otherwise disposed of

f. The testing for recoverability under the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets Subsections of Subtopic 360-10 of a significant asset group within a report-
ing unit

g. Recognition of a goodwill impairment loss in the financial statements of a subsidi-

ary that is a component of a reporting unit

L

The goodwill impairment testing is complex and may have significant financial statement im-
pact. An entire industry has sprung up to assist companies in making goodwill valuations.

AmorTizaTion VERsUS Non-AMORTIZATION Firms must amortize intangibles with a definite useful life
over that life. GAAP defines useful life as estimated useful life to the reporting entity. The
method of amortization should reflect the expected pattern of consumption of the economic
benefits of the intangible. If firms cannot determine a pattern, then they should use straight-line
amortization.

If intangibles with an indefinite life later have a life that can be estimated, they should be am-
ortized at that point. Firms should periodically review intangibles that are not being amortized for
possible impairment loss.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

GAAP requires significant disclosures about a business combination. FASB SFAS No. 141(R)
requires specific disclosures that are categorized by: (1) disclosures for the reporting period
that includes a business combination, (2) disclosures when a business combination occurs after
a reporting period ends, but before issuance of the financial statements, (3) disclosures about
provisional amounts related to the business combination and (4) disclosures about adjustments
related to business combinations.

The specific information that must be disclosed in the financial statements for the period in
which a business combination occurs can be categorized as follows:

1. General information about the business combination such as the name of the ac-
quired company, a description of the acquired company, the acquisition date,
the portion of the acquired company’s voting stock acquired, the acquirer’s
reasons for the acquisition and the manner the acquirer obtained control of the
acquiree;

2. Information about goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase that results from the
business combination;

Nature, terms and fair value of consideration transferred in a business combination;

4. Details about specific assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling
interest recognized in connection with the business combination;

5. Reduction in acquirer’s pre-existing deferred tax asset valuation allowance due to
the business combination;

6. Information about transactions with the acquiree accounted for separately from the
business combination;
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Intangible Assets
Disclosure
Requirements[23]

Source: FASB Statement
No. 142, pp. 16-17. [1]

7. Details about step acquisitions;

8. If the acquirer is a public company, additional disclosures are required such as pro
forma information.

GAAP|[22] requires firms to report material aggregate amounts of goodwill as a separate balance
sheet line item. Likewise, firms must show goodwill impairment losses separately in the income
statement, as a component of income from continuing operations (unless the impairment relates
to discontinued operations). GAAP also provides increased disclosure requirements for intangible
assets (which are reproduced in Exhibit 1-3).

Before completing the chapter, let’s take a look at a summary example of required dis-
closures from a real-world company. In November 2009, AT&T completed its acquisition of

For intangible assets acquired either individually or as part of a group of assets (in either an asset acquisition or
business combination), all of the following information shall be disclosed in the notes to financial statements in the
period of acquisition:
a. For intangible assets subject to amortization, all of the following:

1. The total amount assigned and the amount assigned to any major intangible asset class

2. The amount of any significant residual value, in total and by major intangible asset class

3. The weighted-average amortization period, in total and by major intangible asset class

b. For intangible assets not subject to amortization, the total amount assigned and the amount assigned to any
major intangible asset class.

¢. The amount of research and development assets acquired in a transaction other than a business combination
and written off in the period and the line item in the income statement in which the amounts written off are
aggregated.

d. For intangible assets with renewal or extension terms, the weighted-average period before the next renewal or
extension (both explicit and implicit), by major intangible asset class.

This information also shall be disclosed separately for each material business combination or in the aggregate for
individually immaterial business combinations that are material collectively if the aggregate fair values of intangible
assets acquired, other than goodwill, are significant.

The following information shall be disclosed in the financial statements or the notes to financial statements for
each period for which a statement of financial position is presented:
a. For intangible assets subject to amortization, all of the following:

1. The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization, in total and by major intangible asset class

2. The aggregate amortization expense for the period

3. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years

b. For intangible assets not subject to amortization, the total carrying amount and the carrying amount for each
major intangible asset class

¢. The entity’s accounting policy on the treatment of costs incurred to renew or extend the term of a recognized
intangible asset

d. For intangible assets that have been renewed or extended in the period for which a statement of financial posi-
tion is presented, both of the following:

1. For entities that capitalize renewal or extension costs, the total amount of costs incurred in the period to
renew or extend the term of a recognized intangible asset, by major intangible asset class

2. The weighted-average period before the next renewal or extension (both explicit and implicit), by major
intangible asset class.

For each impairment loss recognized related to an intangible asset, all of the following information shall be
disclosed in the notes to financial statements that include the period in which the impairment loss is recognized:

a. A description of the impaired intangible asset and the facts and circumstances leading to the impairment

b. The amount of the impairment loss and the method for determining fair value

¢. The caption in the income statement or the statement of activities in which the impairment loss is aggregated
d. If applicable, the segment in which the impaired intangible asset is reported under Topic 280
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ACQUISITIONS (IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Gentennial In November 2009, we acquired the assets of Centennial, a regional provider of wireless and wired
communications services with approximately 865,000 customers as of December 31, 2009. Total consideration
of $2,961 included $955 in cash for the redemption of Centennial’s outstanding common stock and liquidation
of outstanding stock options and $2,006 for our acquisition of Centennial’s outstanding debt (including liabilities
related to assets subject to sale, as discussed below), of which we repaid $1,957 after closing in 2009. The
preliminary fair value measurement of Centennial’s net assets at the acquisition date resulted in the recognition
of $1,276 of goodwill, $647 of spectrum licenses, and $273 of customer lists and other intangible assets for the
Wireless segment. The Wireline segment added $339 of goodwill and $174 of customer lists and other intangible
assets from the acquisition. The acquisition of Centennial impacted our Wireless and Wireline segments, and we
have included Centennial’s operations in our consolidated results since the acquisition date. As the value of certain
assets and liabilities are preliminary in nature, they are subject to adjustment as additional information is obtained
about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. When the valuation is final, any changes to
the preliminary valuation of acquired assets and liabilities could result in adjustments to identified intangibles and
goodwill. See Notes 6 and 8 for additional information regarding the impact of the Centennial acquisition on our
goodwill and other intangibles and our long-term debt repayment for 2009.

Centennial. AT&T was primarily interested in getting access to Centennial’s 865,000 cus-
tomers. Exhibit 1-4 provides excerpts of Note 2 from AT&T’s 2009 annual report related to
this acquisition. Note, in particular, that $2.196 billion of the $2.961 billion price tag relates
to purchased intangible assets. AT&T allocates $1.276 billion to goodwill and another $647
million to spectrum licenses for the Wireless segment. Note too, AT&T’s explicit recogni-
tion of the uncertainty involved in estimation of assets and liabilities and the likelihood of
future adjustments.

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

You have likely heard about Sarbanes-Oxley and are wondering why we haven’t mentioned
it yet. The financial collapse of Erron Corporation and WorldCom (among others) and the
demise of public accounting firm Arthur Andersen and Company spurred Congress to initiate
legislation intended to prevent future financial reporting and auditing abuse. The result was
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX). For the most part, the rules focus on corporate
governance, auditing, and internal-control issues, rather than the details of financial reporting
and statement presentation that are the topic of this text. However, you should recognize that
the law will impact all of the types of companies that we study. Here are a few of the important
areas covered by SOX:

B Establishes the independent Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) to regulate the accounting and auditing profession

B Requires greater independence of auditors and clients, including restrictions on the
types of consulting and advisory services provided by auditors to their clients

B Requires greater independence and oversight responsibilities for corporate boards
of directors, especially for members of audit committees

B Requires management (CEO and CFO) certification of financial statements and
internal controls

B Requires independent auditor review and attestation on management’s internal-
control assessments

B Increases disclosures about off-balance sheet arrangements and contractual obligations

B Increases types of items requiring disclosure on Form 8-K and shortens the filing
period

Enforcement of Sarbanes-Oxley is under the jurisdiction of the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The SEC treats violations of SOX or rules of the PCAOB the same as violations of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Congress also increased the SEC’s budget to permit improved review
and enforcement activities. SEC enforcement actions and investigations have increased considerably
since the Enron collapse. One example is Krispy Kreme Doughnuts, Inc. A January 4, 2005, press

Note 2. Acquisitions,
Dispositions, and Other
Adjustments

Source: Excerpt from AT&T
2009 Annual Report.
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Report of Management

Source: 2009 Chevron
Corporation Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINACIAL STATEMENTS TO

THE STOCKHOLDERS OF CHEVRON CORPORATION

Management of Chevron is responsible for preparing the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and
the related information appearing in this report. The statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and fairly represent the transactions and financial
position of the company. The financial statements include amounts that are based on management’s best estimates
and judgment.

As stated in its report included herein, the independent registered public accounting firm of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has audited the company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

The Board of Directors of Chevron has an Audit Committee composed of directors who are not officers or
employees of the company. The Audit Committee meets regularly with members of management, the internal
auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm to review accounting, internal control, auditing and
financial reporting matters. Both the internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm have
free and direct access to the Audit Committee without the presence of management.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a—15(f). The company’s management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of this evaluation, the company’s
management concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2009.

The effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report
included herein.

JOHN S. WATSON PATRICIA E. YARRINGTON MARK A. HUMPHREY
Chairman of the Board Vice President Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Comptroller

February 25, 2010

release on the company’s Web site announced that earnings for fiscal 2004 and the last three quarters
were being restated. Apparently the company did not make as much “dough” as originally reported.
Pre-tax income was reduced by between $6.2 million and $8.1 million. Another example appeared in
a Reuters Limited story on January 6, 2005, which noted that former directors of WorldCom agreed to
a $54 million settlement in a class-action lawsuit brought by investors. This included $18 million from
personal funds, with the remainder being covered by insurance.

Exhibit 1-5 provides an example of the required management responsibilities under SOX from
the 2009 annual report of Chevron Corporation (p. 49). Notice that management’s statement reads
much like a traditional independent auditor’s report. Management takes responsibility for prepa-
ration of the financial reports, explicitly notes compliance with GAAP, and declares amounts to
be fairly presented. Management also takes explicit responsibility for designing and maintaining
internal controls. Finally, the statement indicates the composition and functioning of the Audit
Committee, which is designed to comply with SOX requirements. The statement is signed by the
CEO, CFO, and comptroller of the company.

We will note other relevant material from Sarbanes-Oxley throughout the text, as applicable. For
example, transactions with related parties and variable interest entities are included in Chapter 11.

A business combination occurs when two or more separate businesses join into a single accounting
entity. All combinations initiated after December 15, 2008, must be accounted for as acquisitions.
Acquisition accounting requires the recording of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
fair values at the date of the combination.

The illustrations in this chapter are for business combinations in which there is only one surviv-
ing entity. Later chapters cover accounting for parent—subsidiary operations in which more than
one of the combining companies continue to exist as separate legal entities.
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1. What is the accounting concept of a business combination?

2. Ts dissolution of all but one of the separate legal entities necessary in order to have a business combina-
tion? Explain.

3. What are the legal distinctions between a business combination, a merger, and a consolidation?

4. When does goodwill result from a business combination? How does goodwill affect reported net income
after a business combination?

5. What is a bargain purchase? Describe the accounting procedures necessary to record and account for a
bargain purchase.

E1-1
General questions
1. A business combination in which a new corporation is formed to take over the assets and operations of two or

more separate business entities, with the previously separate entities being dissolved, is a/an:
a Consolidation
b Merger
¢ Pooling of interests
d Acquisition

2. In abusiness combination, the direct costs of registering and issuing equity securities are:
a Added to the parent/investor company’s investment account
b Charged against other paid-in capital of the combined entity
¢ Deducted from income in the period of combination
d None of the above

3. An excess of the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination over the price paid is:
a Reported as a gain from a bargain purchase
b Applied to a reduction of noncash assets before negative goodwill may be reported
¢ Applied to reduce noncurrent assets other than marketable securities to zero before negative goodwill
may be reported
d Applied to reduce goodwill to zero before negative goodwill may be reported

4. Cork Corporation acquires Dart Corporation in a business combination. Which of the following would be excluded
from the process of assigning fair values to assets and liabilities for purposes of recording the acquisition?
(Assume Dart Corporation is dissolved.)

a Patents developed by Dart because the costs were expensed under GAAP

b Dart’s mortgage payable because it is fully secured by land that has a market value far in excess of the
mortgage

¢ An asset or liability amount for over- or underfunding of Dart’s defined-benefit pension plan

d None of the above

E1-2
[Based on AICPA] General problems
1. Pat Corporation paid $100,000 cash for the net assets of Sag Company, which consisted of the following:

Book Value Fair Value

Current assets $ 40,000 $ 56,000
Plant and equipment 160,000 220,000
Liabilities assumed (40,000) (36,000)

$160,000 $240,000

Assume Sag Company is dissolved. The plant and equipment acquired in this business combination should be
recorded at:

a $220,000

b $200,000

c $183,332

d $180,000
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2. On April 1, Par Company paid $1,600,000 for all the issued and outstanding common stock of Son Corporation
in a transaction properly accounted for as an acquisition. Son Corporation is dissolved. The recorded assets and
liabilities of Son Corporation on April 1 follow:

Cash $160,000
Inventory 480,000
Property and equipment (net of

accumulated depreciation of $640,000) 960,000
Liabilities (360,000)

On April 1, it was determined that the inventory of Son had a fair value of $380,000 and the property and equip-
ment (net) had a fair value of $1,120,000. What is the amount of goodwill resulting from the acquisition?

ao

b $100,000

¢ $300,000

d $360,000

E1-3
Prepare stockholders’ equity section
The stockholders’ equities of Pal Corporation and Sip Corporation at January 1 were as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sip
Capital stock, $10 par $3,000 $1,600
Other paid-in capital 400 800
Retained earnings 1,200 600
Stockholders’ equity $4,600 $3,000

On January 2, Pal issued 300,000 of its shares with a market value of $20 per share for all of Sip’s shares, and Sip
was dissolved. On the same day, Pal paid $10,000 to register and issue the shares and $20,000 for other direct costs
of combination.

REQUIRED: Prepare the stockholders’ equity section of Pal Corporation’s balance sheet immediately after
the acquisition on January 2. (Hint: Prepare the journal entry.)

E1-4
Journal entries to record an acquisition

Pan Company issued 480,000 shares of $10 par common stock with a fair value of $10,200,000 for all the voting com-
mon stock of Set Company. In addition, Pan incurred the following costs:

Legal fees to arrange the business combination $100,000
Cost of SEC registration, including accounting

and legal fees 48,000
Cost of printing and issuing net stock certificates 12,000
Indirect costs of combining, including allocated

overhead and executive salaries 80,000

Immediately before the acquisition in which Set Company was dissolved, Set’s assets and equities were as follows
(in thousands):

Book Value  Fair Value

Current assets $4,000 $4.,400
Plant assets 6000 8,800
Liabilities 1,200 1,200
Common stock 8,000
Retained earnings 800

REQUIRED: Prepare all journal entries on Pan’s books to record the acquisition.




Business Combinations 21

E1-5

Journal entries to record an acquisition with direct costs and
fair value/book value differences

On January 1, Pan Corporation pays $400,000 cash and also issues 36,000 shares of $10 par common stock with a
market value of $660,000 for all the outstanding common shares of Sis Corporation. In addition, Pan pays $60,000
for registering and issuing the 36,000 shares and $140,000 for the other direct costs of the business combination,
in which Sis Corporation is dissolved. Summary balance sheet information for the companies immediately before the
merger is as follows (in thousands):

Pan Book Sis Book Sis Fair

Value Value Value
Cash $700 $ 80 $ 80
Inventories 240 160 200
Other current assets 60 40 40
Plant assets—net 520 360 _560
Total assets $1,520 $640 $880
Current liabilities $320 $ 60 $ 60
Other liabilities 160 100 80
Common stock, $10 par 840 400
Retained earnings 200 _ 80
Total liabilities and $1,520 $640

owners’ equity

REQUIRED: Prepare all journal entries on Pan’s books to account for the acquisition.

PROBLEMS

P11
Prepare halance sheet after acquisition
Comparative balance sheets for Pin and San Corporations at December 31, 2010, are as follows (in

thousands):
Pin San
Current assets $ 520 $ 240
Land 200 400
Buildings—net 1,200 400
Equipment—net 880 960
Total assets $2,800 $2,000
Current liabilities $ 200 $ 240
Capital stock, $10 par 2,000 800
Additional paid-in capital 200 560
Retained earnings 400 400
Total equities $2,800 $2,000

On January 2, 2011, Pin issues 60,000 shares of its stock with a market value of $40 per share for all
the outstanding shares of San Corporation in an acquisition. San is dissolved. The recorded book values
reflect fair values, except for the buildings of Pin, which have a fair value of $1,600,000, and the current
assets of San, which have a fair value of $400,000.

Pin pays the following expenses in connection with the business combination:

Costs of registering and issuing securities $60,000
Other direct costs of combination 100,000

REQUIRED: Prepare the balance sheet of Pin Corporation immediately after the acquisition.
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P1-2

Prepare balance sheet after an acquisition

On January 2, 2011, Pet Corporation enters into a business combination with Sea Corporation in which
Sea is dissolved. Pet pays $1,650,000 for Sea, the consideration consisting of 66,000 shares of Pet $10
par common stock with a market value of $25 per share. In addition, Pet pays the following expenses in
cash at the time of the merger:

Finders’ fee $ 70,000
Accounting and legal fees 130,000
Registration and issuance costs of securities 80,000

$280,000

Balance sheet and fair value information for the two companies on December 31, 2010, immediately
before the merger, is as follows (in thousands):

Pet Book Value Sea Book Value Sea Fair Value

Cash $ 300 $ 60 $ 60
Accounts receivable—net 460 100 80
Inventories 1,040 160 240
Land 800 200 300
Buildings—net 2,000 400 600
Equipment—net 1,000 600 500
Total assets $5,600 $1,520 $1,780
Accounts payable $ 600 $ 80 $80
Note payable 1,200 400 360
Capital stock, $10 par 1,600 600
Other paid-in capital 1,200 100
Retained earnings 1.000 340
Total liabilities and owners’ equity $5,600 $1,520

REQUIRED: Prepare a balance sheet for Pet Corporation as of January 2, 2011, immediately after the
merger, assuming the merger is treated as an acquisition.

P1-3

Journal entries and balance sheet for an acquisition

On January 2, 2011, Par Corporation issues its own $10 par common stock for all the outstanding stock
of Sin Corporation in an acquisition. Sin is dissolved. In addition, Par pays $40,000 for registering
and issuing securities and $60,000 for other costs of combination. The market price of Par’s stock on
January 2, 2011, is $60 per share. Relevant balance sheet information for Par and Sin Corporations on
December 31, 2010, just before the combination, is as follows (in thousands):

Par Sin Sin
Historical Cost Historical Cost Fair Value

Cash $ 240 $20 $20
Inventories 100 60 120
Other current assets 200 180 200
Land 160 40 200
Plant and equipment—net 1,300 400 700
Total assets $ 2,000 $700 $1,240
Liabilities $ 400 $ 100 $ 100
Capital stock, $10 par 1,000 200
Additional paid-in capital 400 100
Retained earnings 200 300

Total liabilities and owners’ equity $2,000 $700

REQUIRED

1. Assume that Par issues 25,000 shares of its stock for all of Sin’s outstanding shares.
a. Prepare journal entries to record the acquisition of Sin.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Par Corporation immediately after the acquisition.
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2. Assume that Par issues 15,000 shares of its stock for all of Sin’s outstanding shares.
a. Prepare journal entries to record the acquisition of Sin.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Par Corporation immediately after the acquisition.

P1-4

Allocation schedule and balance sheet

The balance sheets of Pub Corporation and Sun Corporation at December 31, 2010, are summarized
with fair value information as follows (in thousands):

Pub Corporation Sun Corporation
Book Value Fair Value Book Value  Fair Value

Assets
Cash $115 $115 $10 $10
Receivables—net 40 40 20 20
Inventories 120 150 50 30
Land 45 100 30 100
Buildings—net 200 300 100 150
Equipment—net 180 245 90 150

Total assets $700 $950 $300 $460
Equities
Accounts payable $90 $90 $ 30 $30
Other liabilities 100 90 60 70
Capital stock, $10 par 300 100
Other paid-in capital 100 80
Retained earnings 110 30
Total equities $700 $300

On January 1, 2011, Pub Corporation acquired all of Sun’s outstanding stock for $300,000. Pub paid
$100,000 cash and issued a five-year, 12 percent note for the balance. Sun was dissolved.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a schedule to show how the investment cost is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities.

2. Prepare a balance sheet for Pub Corporation on January 1, 2011, immediately after the acquisition.

P1-5

Journal entries and balance sheet for an acquisition

Pat Corporation paid $5,000,000 for Saw Corporation’s voting common stock on January 2, 2011, and
Saw was dissolved. The purchase price consisted of 100,000 shares of Pat’s common stock with a market
value of $4,000,000, plus $1,000,000 cash. In addition, Pat paid $100,000 for registering and issuing the
100,000 shares of common stock and $200,000 for other costs of combination. Balance sheet information
for the companies immediately before the acquisition is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pat Saw
Book Value Book Value Fair Value

Cash $ 6,000 $ 480 $ 480
Accounts receivable—net 2,600 720 720
Notes receivable—net 3,000 600 600
Inventories 5,000 840 1,000
Other current assets 1,400 360 400
Land 4,000 200 400
Buildings—net 18,000 1,200 2,400
Equipment—net 20,000 1,600 1,200
Total assets $60,000 $6,000 $7,200
Accounts payable $ 2,000 $ 600 $ 600
Mortgage payable—10% 10,000 1,400 1,200
Capital stock, $10 par 20,000 2,000

Other paid-in capital 16,000 1,200

Retained earnings 12,000 800

Total equities $60,000 $6,000
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REQUIRED

1. Prepare journal entries for Pat Corporation to record its acquisition of Saw Corporation, including all al-
locations to individual asset and liability accounts.

2. Prepare a balance sheet for Pat Corporation on January 2, 2011, immediately after the acquisition and dis-
solution of Saw.

INTERNET ASSIGNMENT

1. What can you learn about business combinations from the Internet? Visit the Web
sites of at least three major publicly traded companies. Review their recent annual
reports for evidence of significant merger and acquisition activities over the past three
years. Answer the following questions for each company.

a. What information is provided about recent merger activity?

b. What was the cost of the company’s most significant acquisition? How was that
cost allocated? What amount of goodwill was recorded?

c. What was the business strategy motivation underlying the merger activity?

d. How were major acquisitions financed (e.g., common stock, preferred stock, cash,
debt securities, or some combination thereof)?

2. For one of your chosen firms, review the company’s Form 10-K. You may find a
direct link on the company Web site, or you can view the filing by visiting the SEC’s
EDGAR Web site. What additional information about merger activity do you find in
the Form 10-K that was not available in the company’s annual report?

RESEARCH CASE: IF YOU CAN’T BEAT ’EM, BUY 'EM

Assume that Wal-Mart decided to acquire major retailing rival Target Corporation on January 31,
2010. Target’s fiscal year ended on January 30, 2010, but you may assume that the year ends are
identical to keep the calculations simpler. Visit the two firms’ Web sites to acquire their annual
reports on this date (Wal-Mart lists this as the 2010 annual report, while Target lists this as a 2009
annual report).

Assumptions:
Wal-Mart issued 1 billion shares of $.10 par value common stock to acquire 100% of Target’s
outstanding common shares.
Wal-Mart stock had a fair market value of $50 per share on this date.
Fair values of all assets and liabilities are equal to book values, except as noted.
B Inventories were undervalued by 10 percent.

B Property and equipment were undervalued by 20 percent, except construction in
progress, where book value equaled fair value.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare all the journal entries on Wal-Mart’s books to account for the acquisition of Target. Assume
Target’s Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of $581 million is also acquired. Assume Target is
dissolved.

2. Prepare the balance sheet of Wal-Mart Corporation immediately after the acquisition of Target.
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CHAPTER

Stock Investments—Investor
Accounting and Reporting

hapter 1 illustrated business combinations in which one surviving entity received the

net assets of other combining companies. A single legal and accounting entity, with one
record-keeping system, integrated the net assets and operations of all combining companies. In
Chapter 1, we recorded the business combination in an investment account and immediately elimi-
nated the account through allocation to individual asset and liability accounts.

Chapter 2 focuses on equity investments in which the investor maintains the investment
account on a continuous basis. It includes accounting for investments under the fair value/
cost (fair value for marketable securities and cost for nonmarketable securities) method, in
which the investor does not have the ability to influence the activities of the investee, as well
as accounting under the equity method, in which the investor can exercise significant influ-
ence over the investee’s operations. GAAP generally prescribes equity method accounting
for investments that represent a 20 percent ownership through a 50 percent ownership in the
investee.

Investors also use the equity method for internal parent-company accounting for investments in subsidiar-
ies. This situation arises when the investor controls the operating, investing, and financing decisions of the
investee through ownership of more than 50 percent of the voting stock of the investee as the result of a busi-
ness combination in which one or more companies became subsidiaries. For financial-reporting purposes,
such combinations result in the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

This chapter covers parent-company accounting for its subsidiaries under the acquisition
method, but it does not cover consolidated financial statements. Consolidated financial statements
for parent and subsidiary companies appear in Chapter 3 and subsequent chapters.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK INVESTMENTS

GAAP for recording common stock acquisitions requires that the investor record the investment
at its cost (which is equal to its fair value at acquisition). The basic guidelines measure investment
costs by including cash disbursed; the fair value of other assets given or securities issued; and
additional direct costs of obtaining the investment, other than the costs of registering and issuing
equity securities, which GAAP charges to additional paid-in capital.

One of the two basic methods of accounting for common stock investments generally applies—
the fair value (cost) method| 1] or the equity method.[2]

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1

S
6

Recognize investors’ varying
levels of influence or
control, based on the level
of stock ownership.

Anticipate how accounting
adjusts to reflect the
economics underlying varying
levels of investor influence.

Apply the fair value/cost and
equity methods of accounting
for stock investments.

Identify factors beyond
stock ownership that affect
an investor’s ability to exert
influence or control over an
investee.

Apply the equity method to
stock investments.

Learn how to test goodwill
for impairment.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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CHAPTER 2

Concepts Underlying Fair Value/Cost and Equity Methods

Under the fair value/cost method, we record investments in common stock at cost and report divi-
dends received as dividend income. There is an exception. Dividends received in excess of the
investor’s share of earnings after the stock is acquired are considered returns of capital (or liqui-
dating dividends) and recorded as reductions in the investment account. We classify equity securi-
ties that have a readily determinable fair value as either trading securities (securities bought and
held principally for the purpose of resale in the near term) or available-for-sale securities (invest-
ments not classified as trading securities).[3]

Both classifications use fair values to report the investments at the end of each reporting
period and report realized gains, losses, and dividends in net income. GAAP also includes
unrealized gains and losses (changes in fair value) from the trading-securities classification
in net income. However, we report unrealized gains and losses from the available-for-sale
securities classification at a net amount as a separate line item under other comprehensive
income. GAAP allows other comprehensive income to be reported either on the income state-
ment, as[4] a separate statement of comprehensive income, or in a statement of changes in
equity. These amounts accumulate in the equity section of the balance sheet in the account
titled Accumulated other comprehensive income. This treatment does not apply to investments
in equity securities accounted for under the equity method or to investments in consolidated
subsidiaries.[5]

The equity method of accounting is essentially accrual accounting for equity investments
that enable the investor to exercise significant influence over the investee. Under the equity
method, we record the investments at cost and adjust for earnings, losses, and dividends. The
investor reports its share of the investee’s earnings as investment income and its share of the
investee’s losses as investment loss. We increase the investment account for investment in-
come and decrease it for investment losses. Dividends received from investees are disinvest-
ments under the equity method, and they are recorded as decreases in the investment account.
Thus, investment income under the equity method reflects the investor’s share of the net in-
come of the investee, and the investment account reflects the investor’s share of the investee’s
net assets.

We account for an investment in voting stock that gives the investor the ability to exercise sig-
nificant influence over the financial and operating policies of the investee using the equity method
of accounting. GAAP requires the equity method of accounting for an investment in common
stock by an investor whose investment in common stock gives it the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies of an investee even though the investor holds 50
percent or less of the voting shares.[6]

GAAP bases the ability to exert significant influence on a 20 percent ownership test:

An investment (direct or indirect) of 20 percent or more of the voting stock of an in-
vestee shall lead to a presumption that in the absence of predominant evidence to the
contrary an investor has the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee.
Conversely, an investment of less than 20 percent of the voting stock of an investee
shall lead to a presumption that an investor does not have the ability to exercise sig-
nificant influence unless such ability can be demonstrated.|7)

An investor may be able to exert significant influence over its investee with an investment
interest of less than 20 percent, according to GAAP. The following statement from AT&T Inc.’s
2009 annual report (p. 73) provides an example of the exception:

As of December 31, 2009, our investments in equity affiliates included an 9.8% inter-
est in Telefonos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (Telmex), Mexico’s national telecommunica-
tions company, and an 8.8 percent interest in America Movil S.A. de C.V. (America
Movil), primarily a wireless provider in Mexico, with telecommunications investments
in the United States and Latin America.

GAAP[8] cites (1) opposition by the investee that challenges the investor’s influence,
(2) surrender of significant stockholder rights by agreement between the investor and investee,
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(3) concentration of majority ownership in another group rather than the investor, (4) inade-
quate or untimely information to apply the equity method, and (5) failure to obtain represen-
tation on the investee’s board of directors as indicators of an investor’s inability to exercise
significant influence. Application of the equity method is discontinued when the investor’s
share of losses reduces the carrying amount of the investment to zero.

The equity method of accounting is important for several reasons. First, these investments rep-
resent a significant component of total assets, net income, or both for some firms. Second, corpo-
rate joint ventures and other special-purpose entities widely use the equity method. Third, the equity
method is used in the discussion of the preparation of consolidated financial statements in later
chapters.

Many well known firms report using the equity method for investments in other companies. Mi-
crosoft Corporation discloses equity and other investments of $4.933 billion (6.3 percent of total
assets) in its 2009 Annual Report. AT&T reports investments in equity method affiliates of $2.921
billion in its 2009 Annual Report. Net income was $12.843 billion in 2009, including $734 mil-
lion from these equity method investments. Dow Chemical’s 2009 Annual Report discloses equity
method investments of $3.224 billion (4.9 percent of total assets) and income from those invest-
ments of $630 million (93.2 percent of net income).

A parent may use the equity method to account for its investments even though the financial
statements of the subsidiaries are subsequently included in the consolidated financial statements
for the parent and its subsidiaries. In other words, the parent maintains the “investment in subsidi-
ary account” by taking up its share of the subsidiary’s income and reducing the investment account
for its share of subsidiary dividends declared. Under the equity method, the parent’s investment in-
come and parent’s share of consolidated net income are equal. The consolidated income statement
reflects the income of the parent and its subsidiaries as a single economic entity.

GAAP requires that all majority-owned subsidiaries be consolidated, except when control
does not lie with the majority interests. Examples of control of a subsidiary not resting with the
parent include a subsidiary in legal reorganization or in bankruptcy, or a subsidiary operating un-
der severe foreign-exchange restrictions or other governmentally imposed uncertainties.[9] An
investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary is reported in the parent’s financial statements by ei-
ther the fair value/cost or the equity method. Chapter 3 discusses situations in which certain sub-
sidiaries should not be consolidated.

Accounting Procedures Under the Fair Value/Cost and Equity Methods

Assume that Pil Company acquires 2,000 of the 10,000 outstanding shares of Sud Corporation
at $50 per share on July 1. Assume the book value and fair value of Sud’s assets and liabilities
are equal. Further, the cash paid equals 20 percent of the fair value of Sud’s net assets. Sud’s net
income for the fiscal year ending December 31 is $50,000, and dividends of $20,000 are paid on
November 1. If there is evidence of an inability to exercise significant influence, Pil should ap-
ply the fair value/cost method, revaluing the investment account to fair market value at the end
of the accounting period. Otherwise, the equity method is required. Accounting by Pil under the
two methods is as follows:

Entry on July 1 to Record the Investment:

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Fair Value/Cost Method Equity Method
Investment in Sud (+A) 100,000 Investment in Sud (+A) 100,000
Cash (—A) 100,000 Cash (—A) 100,000

Entry on November 1 to Record Dividends:
Fair Value/Cost Method

Equity Method

Cash (+A) 4,000 Cash (+A) 4,000
Dividend income (R, +SE) 4,000 Investment in Sud (—A) 4,000
Entry on December 31 to Recognize Earnings:
Fair Value/Cost Method Equity Method
None (Assume that the stock is either Investment in Sud (+A) 5,000
nonmarketable or has a market price = Income from Sud (R, +SE) 5,000

$50 per share so that no revaluing is needed.)

($50,000 X 1/2 year X 20%)
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Under the fair value/cost method, Pil recognizes income of $4,000 and reports its investment
in Sud at its $100,000 cost at December 31. Under the equity method, Pil recognizes $5,000 in
income and reports the investment in Sud at $101,000 at December 31. Here is a summary of Pil’s
equity method investment account activity:

July 1 Initial cost $100,000
November 1 Dividends received (4,000)
December 31 Recognize 20% of Sud’s net

income for 1/2 year 5,000
December 31 Ending balance $101.000

The entries to illustrate the fair value/cost method reflect the usual situation in which the
investor records dividend income equal to dividends actually received. An exception arises
when dividends received exceed the investor’s share of earnings after the investment has been
acquired. From the investor’s point of view, the excess dividends since acquisition of the in-
vestment are a return of capital, or liquidating dividends. For example, if Sud’s net income for
the year had been $30,000, Pil’s share would have been $3,000 ($30,000 X 1/2 year X 20%).
The $4,000 dividend received exceeds the $3,000 equity in Sud’s income, so the $1,000 excess
would be considered a return of capital and credited to the Investment in Sud account. Assum-
ing that Pil records the $4,000 cash received on November 1 as dividend income, a year-end en-
try to adjust dividend income and the investment account is needed. The investor would record
as follows:

Dividend income (—R,—SE) 1,000
Investment in Sud (—A) 1,000
To adjust dividend income and investment accounts
for dividends received in excess of earnings.

This entry reduces dividend income to Pil’s $3,000 share of income earned after July 1 and
reduces the investment in Sud to $99,000, the new fair value/cost basis for the investment. If,
after the liquidating dividend, the stock (classified as an available-for-sale security) had a fair
value of $120,000 at December 31, then another entry would be required to increase the invest-
ment to its fair value:

Allowance to adjust available-for-sale securities to market value (+A) 21,000
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (+SE) 21,000

The unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities would be included in reporting other com-
prehensive income for the period.

Economic Consequences of Using the Fair Value/Cost and Equity Methods

The different methods of accounting (fair value/cost and equity) result in different investment
amounts in the balance sheet of the investor and different income amounts in the income state-
ment. When the investor can significantly influence or control the operations of the investee,
including dividend declarations, the fair value/cost method is unacceptable. By influencing
or controlling investee dividend decisions, the investor is able to manipulate its reported in-
vestment income. The possibility of income manipulation does not exist when the financial
statements of a parent company/investor are consolidated with the statements of a subsidiary/
investee because the consolidated statements are the same, regardless of which method of ac-
counting is used.

Although the equity method is not a substitute for consolidation, the income reported by a par-
ent in its separate income statement under the equity method of accounting is generally the same
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as the parent’s share of consolidated net income reported in consolidated financial statements for a
parent and its subsidiary.

EQUITY METHOD—A ONE-LINE CONSOLIDATION

The equity method of accounting is often called a one-line consolidation. The name comes
about because the investment is reported in a single amount on one line of the investor’s bal-
ance sheet, and investment income is reported in a single amount on one line of the investor’s
income statement (except when the investee has extraordinary or other “below-the-line” items
that require separate disclosure). “One-line consolidation” also means that a parent-company/
investor’s income and stockholders’ equity are the same when a subsidiary company/investee is
accounted for under a complete and correct application of the equity method and when the fi-
nancial statements of a parent and subsidiary are consolidated. Consolidated financial statements
show the same income and the same net assets but include the details of revenues and expenses
and assets and liabilities.

The equity method creates many complexities; in fact, it requires the same computational com-
plexities encountered in preparing consolidated financial statements. For this reason, the equity
method is the standard of parent-company accounting for subsidiaries, and the one-line consolidation
is integrated throughout the consolidation chapters of this book. This parallel one-line consolidation/
consolidation coverage permits you to check your work just as practitioners do, by making alterna-
tive computations of such key financial statement items as consolidated net income and consolidated
retained earnings.

Basic accounting procedures for applying the equity method are the same whether the inves-
tor has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee (20 percent to 50 percent
ownership) or the ability to control the investee (more than 50 percent ownership). This is
important because investments of more than 50 percent are business combinations and require
preparation of consolidated financial statements. Thus, the accounting principles that apply to
the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations also apply to accounting for
investments of 50 percent or greater under the equity method. The difference between the way
combination provisions are applied in this chapter and the way they are applied in Chapter 1
arises because:

1. Both the investor and investee continue to exist as separate legal entities with their
own accounting systems (an acquisition).

2. The equity method applies to only one of the entities—the investor.

3. The investor’s equity interest may range from 20 percent to 100 percent.

Equity Investments at Acquisition'

Equity investments in voting common stock of other entities measure the investment cost by the
cash disbursed or the fair value of other assets distributed or securities issued. Similarly, we charge
direct costs of registering and issuing equity securities against additional paid-in capital, and we
expense other direct costs of acquisition. We enter the total investment cost in an investment ac-
count under the one-line consolidation concept.

Assume that Payne Company purchases 30 percent of Sloan Company’s outstanding voting
common stock on January 1 from existing stockholders for $2,000,000 cash plus 200,000 shares
of Payne Company $10 par common stock with a market value of $15 per share. Additional cash
costs of the equity interest consist of $50,000 for registration of the shares and $100,000 for

IGAAP differs in equity method accounting for 20 to 50 percent ownership versus ownership greater than 50 percent which
will require preparation of consolidated financial statements. Our remaining discussion of equity method accounting focuses on
application of the acquisition method for investments greater than 50 percent owned, except where otherwise noted.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

consulting and advisory fees. Payne Company records these events with the following journal en-
tries (in thousands):

January 1

Investment in Sloan (+A) 5,000
Common stock (+SE) 2,000
Additional paid-in capital (+SE) 1,000
Cash (—A) 2,000

To record acquisition of a 30% equity investment in Sloan Company.

January 1

Investment expense (E,—SE) 100

Additional paid-in capital (—SE) 50
Cash (—A) 150

To record additional direct costs of purchasing the 30% equity
interest in Sloan.

Under a one-line consolidation, these entries can be made without knowledge of book value or
fair value of Sloan Company’s assets and liabilities.

Assignment of Excess Investment Cost over Underlying Book Value of Equity

Information regarding the individual assets and liabilities of Sloan Company at the time of the purchase is
important because subsequent accounting under the equity method requires accounting for any differences
between the investment cost and the underlying book value of equity in the net assets of the investee.

Assume that the following book value and fair value information for Sloan Company at January 1
is available (in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Cash $ 1,500 $ 1,500
Receivables—net 2,200 2,200
Inventories 3,000 4,000
Other current assets 3,300 3,100
Equipment—net 5,000 8,000
Total assets $15,000 $18,800
Accounts payable $ 1,000 $ 1,000
Note payable, due in five years 2,000 1,800
Common stock 10,000

Retained earnings 2,000

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $15,000

The underlying book value of equity in the net assets of Sloan Company is $3,600,000 (30 per-
cent of the $12,000,000 book value of Sloan Company’s net assets), and the difference between
the investment cost and the underlying book value of equity is $1,400,000. The investor assigns
this difference to identifiable assets and liabilities based on fair values and assigns the remain-
ing difference to goodwill. Exhibit 2-1 illustrates the assignment to identifiable net assets and
goodwill.

Payne Company does not record separately the asset and liability information given in Exhibit 2-1.
The $1,400,000 excess of cost over the underlying book value of equity is already reflected in Payne’s
Investment in Sloan account. Under the equity method of accounting, we eliminate this difference by
periodic charges (debits) and credits to income from the investment and by equal charges or credits to
the investment account. Thus, the original difference between investment cost and book value acquired
disappears over the remaining lives of identifiable assets and liabilities. Exceptions arise for land, good-
will, and intangible assets having an indefinite life, which are not amortized under GAAP.

We determined the $200,000 assigned to goodwill in Exhibit 2-1 as a remainder of the total
excess of cost over book value acquired ($1,400,000) over amounts assigned to identifiable assets
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PAYNE COMPANY AND ITS 30%-OWNED EQUITY INVESTEE,
SLOAN COMPANY (IN THOUSANDS)

Investment in Sloan $5,000
Book value of the interest acquired (30% X< $12,000,000 equity of Sloan) (3,600)
Total excess of cost over book value acquired $1,400

Assignment to Identifiable Net Assets and Goodwill

Fair Book % Interest _ Amount

Value - Value Acquired - Assigned

Inventories $4,000 $3,000 30% $ 300
Other current assets 3,100 3,300 30 (60)
Equipment 8,000 5,000 30 900
Note payable 1,800 2,000 30 60
Total assigned to identifiable net assets 1,200
Remainder assigned to goodwill 200
Total excess of cost over book value acquired $1,400

and liabilities ($1,200,000). However, we can also compute the goodwill amount as the excess of
the investment cost of $5,000,000 over the $4,800,000 fair value of Sloan’s net assets acquired
(30 X $16,000,000). We consider the difference as goodwill if it cannot be related to identifiable
assets and liabilities.

Recall from our discussion in Chapter 1 that, under current GAAP, firms do not amortize good-
will and other intangible assets that have an indefinite life. Instead, we review such assets for im-
pairment on a periodic basis. We write down these assets when impairment losses become evident.

The same procedure also applies to investments that will be reported under equity method ac-
counting. However, the impairment test differs. When evaluating an equity method investment for
impairment, we recognize impairment losses in the value of the investment as a whole.[10]

Accounting for Excess of Investment Cost over Book Value

Assume that Sloan pays dividends of $1,000,000 on July 1 and reports net income of $3,000,000
for the year. The excess cost over book value is amortized as follows:

Amortization Rates

Excess allocated to:

Inventories—sold in the current year 100%
Other current assets—disposed of in the current year 100%
Equipment—depreciated over 20 years 5%
Note payable—due in 5 years 20%

Payne makes the following entries under a one-line consolidation to record its dividends and
income from Sloan (in thousands):

July 1
Cash (+A) 300
Investment in Sloan (—A) 300
To record dividends received from Sloan ($1,000,000 X 30%).

December 31
Investment in Sloan (+A) 900
Income from Sloan (R,+SE) 900
To record equity in income of Sloan ($3,000,000 X 30%).

Schedule for Allocating
the Excess of
Investment Cost (Fair
Value) over the Book
Value of the Interest
Acquired
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December 31

Income from Sloan (—R, —SE)

Investment in Sloan (—A)

To record write-off of excess allocated to inventory items that were

sold in the current year.

December 31

Investment in Sloan (+A)
Income from Sloan (R, +SE)

To record income credit for overvalued other current assets disposed

of in the current year.

December 31

Income from Sloan (—R, —SE)

Investment in Sloan (—A)

To record depreciation on excess allocated to undervalued equipment

with a 20-year remaining useful life ($ 900,000 =-20).

December 31

Income from Sloan (—R, —SE)
Investment in Sloan (—A)

To amortize the excess allocated to the overvalued note payable over

the remaining life of the note ($60,000 =+ 5 years).

300
300
60
60
45
45
12
12

The last five journal entries involve the income and investment accounts, so Payne could record
its income from Sloan in a single entry at December 31, as follows:

Investment in Sloan (+A)

Income from Sloan (R, +SE)
To record equity income from 30% investment in Sloan calculated

as follows:

Equity in Sloan’s reported income ($3,000,000 X 30%)

Amortization of excess cost over book value:

Inventories sold in the current year ($300,000 X 100%)

Other current assets sold in the current year ($60,000 x 100%)

Equipment ($900,000 X 5%) depreciation rate

Note payable ($60,000 X 20%) amortization rate

Total investment income from Sloan

603
603

$900

(300)
60
(45)
12
$603

Payne reports its investment in Sloan at December 31 on one line of its balance sheet at
$5,303,000 (see the following summary) and its income from Sloan at $603,000 on one line of its
income statement. Sloan’s book value of net assets (stockholders’ equity) increased by $2,000,000
to $14,000,000, and Payne’s share of this underlying equity is 30 percent, or $4,200,000. The
$1,103,000 difference between the investment balance and the underlying book value of equity
at December 31 represents the unamortized excess of investment cost over book value acquired.
Confirm this amount by subtracting the $297,000 net amortization from the original excess of

$1,400,000.

Here is a summary of Payne’s equity method investment account activity:

January 1
July 1
December 31
December 31
December 31

December 31
December 31
December 31

Initial cost

Dividends received

Recognize 30% of Sloan’s net income

Write off excess allocated to inventory

Record income from Sloan’s overvalued current
assets sold in the current year

Additional equipment depreciation

Amortize note payable excess

Ending balance

$5,000,000
(300,000)

900,000
(300,000)

60,000

(45,000)
(12,000)
§5.303.000
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When the full $1,400,000 excess has been amortized (or written off as an impairment loss in the
case of goodwill), the investment balance will equal its underlying book value, which is 30 percent
of the stockholders’ equity of Sloan. A summary of these observations follows (in thousands):

Stockholders’ Underlying Equity Investment in Unamortized
Equity of Sloan (30% of Sloan’s Sloan Account Cost/Book
(A) Equity) (B) Balance (C) Value (C - B)

January 1 $12,000 $3,600 $5,000 $1,400
Dividends, (1,000) (300) (300) —
July
Income 3,000 900 900 —
Amortization — — (297) (297)
December 31 $14,000 $4,200 $5,303 $1,103

Excess of Book Value over Cost
The book value of the interest acquired in an investee may be greater than the investment cost or
fair value. This indicates that the identifiable net assets of the investee are overvalued or that the
interest was acquired at a bargain price. The bargain purchase amount is recorded as an ordinary
gain as explained in Chapter 1.

To illustrate, assume that Post Corporation purchases 50 percent of the outstanding voting com-
mon stock of Taylor Corporation on January 1 for $40,000 in cash. A summary of the changes in
Taylor’s stockholders’ equity during the year appears as follows (in thousands):

Stockholders’ equity January 1 $100

Add: Income 20

Deduct: Dividends paid July 1 (5)
Stockholders’ equity December 31 115

The $10,000 excess of book value acquired over investment cost ($100,000 X 50%) —$40,000
was due to inventory items and equipment that were overvalued on Taylor’s books. Taylor’s January 1
inventory was overvalued by $2,000 and was sold in December. The remaining $18,000 overvaluation
related to equipment with a 10-year remaining useful life from January 1. No goodwill results because
the $40,000 cost is equal to the fair value of the net assets acquired (50% X $80,000).

The assignment of the difference between book value acquired and investment cost is as fol-
lows (in thousands):

Cost of the investment in Taylor $40
Less: Underlying book value of Post’s 50% interest

in Taylor ($100,000 stockholders’ equity X 50%) (50)
Excess book value over cost $(10)
Excess assigned to:
Inventories ($2,000 overvaluation X 50% owned) $(D
Equipment ($18,000 overvaluation X 50% owned) HC)
Excess book value over cost $10)

Journal entries to account for Post Corporation’s investment in Taylor are as follows:

January 1
Investment in Taylor (+A) 40
Cash (—A) 40
To record purchase of 50% of Taylor’s outstanding voting stock.
July 1
Cash (+A) 2.5

Investment in Taylor (—A) 2.5
To record dividends received (5,000 X 50%) .
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Schedule for Allocating
the Excess of
Investment Cost (Fair
Value) over the Book
Value of the Interest
Acquired

December 31
Investment in Taylor (+A) 10
Income from Taylor (R, +SE) 10
To recognize equity in the income of Taylor (20,000 X 50%) .
December 31
Investment in Taylor (+A) 1.9
Income from Taylor (R, +SE) 1.9

To amortize excess of book value over investment cost assigned to:

Inventory (1,000 X 100%) $1.0
Equipment (9,000 X 10%) _ 9
Total $1.9

Because assets were purchased at less than book value, Post reports investment income from
Taylor of $11,900 ($10,000+$1,900) and an Investment in Taylor balance at December 31 of
$49,400. Amortization of the excess of book value over investment cost increases Post’s Invest-
ment in Taylor balance by $1,900 during the year.

Here is a summary of the equity method investment account activity:

January 1 Initial cost $40,000
July 1 Dividends received (2,500)
December 31  Recognize 50% of Taylor’s net income 10,000
December 31  Amortization of excess of book value over investment cost 1,900
December 31  Ending balance $49,400

Bargain Purchase

Assume that Post Corporation also acquires a 25 percent interest in Saxon Corporation for
$110,000 on January 1, at which time Saxon’s net assets consist of the following (in thousands):

Book Value  Fair Value Excess Fair Value

Inventories $240 $260 $20
Other current assets 100 100
Equipment—net 50 50

Buildings—net 140 200 _60
530 610
Less: Liabilities 130 130

Net assets $400 $480 $80

Saxon’s net income and dividends for the year are $60,000 and $40,000, respectively. The un-
dervalued inventory items were sold during the year, and the undervalued buildings had a four-
year remaining useful life when Post acquired its 25 percent interest. Exhibit 2-2 illustrates the
assignment of the excess cost over book value.

POST CORPORATION AND ITS 25%-OWNED EQUITY INVESTEE, SAXON
CORPORATION (IN THOUSANDS)
Investment cost $110
Book value acquired ($400,000 X 25%) (100)
Excess cost over book value acquired w
Assignment to Negative Final
Fair Value Excess Assignment
Inventory ($20,000 X 25%) $5 $5
Buildings—net ($60,000 X 25%) 15 15
Gain from bargain purchase $10 (10
Excess $20 $0 $10
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In reviewing Exhibit 2-2, notice that the excess cost over book value is first assigned to fair val-
ues of identifiable net assets. Because the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds the cost of
the investment, the difference is a bargain purchase gain. This bargain purchase gain is recognized
as an ordinary gain on the books of the investor.

Journal entries for Post to account for its investment in Saxon follow:

January 1

Investment in Saxon (+A) 120
Cash (—A) 110
Gain on bargain purchase (Ga,+SE) 10

To record purchase of a 25% interest in Saxon’s
voting stock.

Throughout the year
Cash (+A) 10

Investment in Saxon (—A) 10
To record dividends received ($40,000 X 25%) .
December 31
Investment in Saxon (+A) 6.25
Income from Saxon (R,+SE) 6.25

To recognize investment income from Saxon computed
as follows:
25% of Saxon’s $60,000 net income $15,000

Excess allocated to inventories (5,000)
Excess allocated to buildings ($15,000 + 4 years) (3,750)

Post Corporation’s investment in Saxon balance at December 31 is $116,250, and the underly-
ing book value of the investment is $105,000 ($420,000 X 25%) on that same date. The $11,250
difference is due to the $11,250 unamortized excess assigned to buildings.

Interim Acquisitions of Investment Interest

Accounting for equity investments becomes more specific when the firm makes acquisitions
within an accounting period (interim acquisitions). Additional computations determine the
underlying equity at the time of acquisition and the investment income for the year. We com-
pute stockholders’ equity of the investee by adding income earned since the last statement
date to the date of purchase to the beginning stockholders’ equity and subtracting dividends
declared date of purchase. In accounting for interim acquisitions, we assume that income
of the investee is earned proportionately throughout the year unless there is evidence to the
contrary.

Assume that Petron Corporation acquires 40 percent of the voting common stock of
Fair Company for $80,000 on October 1. Fair’s net assets (owners’ equity) at January 1
are $150,000, and it reports net income of $25,000 for the year ended December 31 and
declares $15,000 dividends on July 1. The book values of Fair’s assets and liabilities
are equal to fair values on October 1, except for a building worth $60,000 and recorded
at $40,000. The building has a 20-year remaining useful life from October 1. GAAP re-
quires application of the equity method and assignment of any difference between invest-
ment cost and book value acquired first to identifiable assets and liabilities and then to
goodwill.

The excess of Petron’s investment cost over book value of its 40 percent interest in Fair is com-
puted and assigned to identifiable assets and goodwill, as shown in Exhibit 2-3.
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Schedule for Allocating
the Excess of
Investment Fair Value
over Book Value

PETRON CORPORATION AND ITS 40%-OWNED EQUITY INVESTEE,
FAIR CORPORATION
Investment cost $80,000
Less: Share of Fair equity on October 1
Beginning equity $150,000
Add: Income to October 1 18,750
Less: Dividends (15,000)
153,750
Times: Interest purchased 40% (61,500)
Excess cost over book value $18,500
Excess assigned to:
Buildings [($60,000 — $40,000) X 40%)] $ 8,000
Goodwill (remainder) 10,500
Excess cost over book value $18,500

Journal entries on Petron’s books to account for the 40 percent equity interest in Fair for the
current year are as follows (in thousands):
October 1
Investment in Fair (+A) 80
Cash (—A) 80
To record acquisition of 40% of Fair’s voting stock.
December 31
Investment in Fair (+A) 2.5
Income from Fair (R, +SE) 2.5

To record equity in Fair’s income
(40% X $25,000 X 1/4 year)

December 31
Income from Fair (—R, —SE) 1
Investment in Fair (—A) .1

To record amortization of excess of cost over book value
allocated to the undervalued building
($8,000 + 20 years) X 1/4 year.

At December 31, after the entries are posted, Petron’s Investment in Fair account will have a
balance of $82,400 ($80,000 cost +$2,400 income). This investment account balance is $18,400
more than the $64,000 underlying book value of Petron’s interest in Fair on that date (40% X
$160,000). The $18,400 consists of the original excess cost over book value of $18,500 less the
$100 amortized in the current year.

Here is a summary of Petron’s equity method Investment in Fair account activity:

October 1 Initial cost $80,000
December 31 Recognize 40% of Fair’s net

income for 1/4 year 2,500
December 31 Amortization of excess of cost over

book value for 1/4 year (100)
December 31 Ending balance $82,400

Notice that we do not recognize 40 percent of the dividends declared and paid by Fair in this
example. The dividends were paid on July 1, prior to Petron’s investment. Under the equity method,
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investors recognize dividends received, not their proportional share of total dividends declared and/
or paid. Of course, if the investment is owned for the entire year, these amounts will be the same.

INVESTMENT IN A STEP-BY-STEP ACQUISITION

An investor may acquire significant influence over the operating and financial policies of an in-
vestee in a series of stock acquisitions, rather than in a single purchase. For example, the investor
may acquire a 10 percent interest in an investee and later acquire another 10 percent interest. We
account for the original 10 percent interest by the fair value/cost method until we reach a 20 per-
cent interest. Then we adopt the equity method and adjust the investment and retained earnings
accounts retroactively.

Assume that Hop Corporation acquires a 10 percent interest in Skip Corporation for $750,000
on January 2, 2011, and another 10 percent interest for $850,000 on January 2, 2012. The stock-
holders’ equity of Skip Corporation on the dates of these acquisitions is as follows (in thousands):

January 2, 2011 January 2, 2012
Capital stock $5,000 $5,000
Retained earnings 2,000 2,500
Total stockholders’ equity $7,000 $7.500

Hop Corporation is not able to relate the excess of investment cost over book value to identifiable
net assets. Accordingly, the excess of cost over book value from each of the acquisitions is goodwill.

On January 2, 2012, when the second 10 percent is acquired, Hop Corporation adopts the
equity method of accounting for its 20 percent interest. This requires converting the carrying
value of the original 10 percent interest from its $750,000 cost to its correct carrying value on
an equity basis. The entry to adjust the investment account of Hop Corporation is as follows
(in thousands):

January 2, 2012
Investment in Skip (+A) 50
Retained earnings (+SE) 50

To adjust the Investment in Skip account from a cost
to an equity basis as follows: Share of Skip’s retained
earnings increase during 2011 of $50,000 [$500,000 X 10%
interest held during the year] equals the retroactive adjustment
from accounting change of $50,000.

Skip’s $500,000 retained earnings increase for 2011 represents its income less dividends for
2011. Hop reports its share of dividends received from Skip as income under the cost method;
therefore, Hop’s income for 2011 under the equity method is greater by 10 percent of Skip’s re-
tained earnings increase for 2011.

Changes in the cost, equity, and consolidation methods of accounting for subsidiaries and in-
vestments are changes in the reporting entity that require restatement of prior-period financial
statements if the effect is material.[11]

SALE OF AN EQUITY INTEREST

When an investor sells a portion of an equity investment that reduces its interest in the investee
to below 20 percent or to less than a level necessary to exercise significant influence, the equity
method of accounting is no longer appropriate for the remaining interest. We account for the in-
vestment under the fair value/cost method from this time forward, and the investment account
balance after the sale becomes the new basis. We require no other adjustment, and the investor ac-
counts for the investment under the fair value/cost method in the usual manner. Gain or loss from
the equity interest sold is the difference between the selling price and the book value of the equity
interest immediately before the sale.
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To illustrate, Leigh Industries acquires 320,000 shares (a 40 percent interest) in Sergio Cor-
poration on January 1, 2011, for $580,000. Sergio’s stockholders’ equity is $1,200,000, and the
book values of its assets and liabilities equal their fair values. Leigh accounts for its investment in
Sergio under the equity method during the years 2011 through 2012. At December 31, 2012, the
balance of the investment account is $700,000, equal to 40 percent of Sergio’s $1,500,000 stock-
holders’ equity plus $100,000 goodwill.

On January 1, 2013, Leigh sells 80 percent of its holdings in Sergio (256,000 shares) for
$600,000, reducing its interest in Sergio to 8 percent (40% X 20%) . The book value of the inter-
est sold is $560,000, or 80 percent of the $700,000 balance of the Investment in Sergio account.
Leigh recognizes a gain on the sale of its interest in Sergio of $40,000 ($600,000 selling price
less $560,000 book value of the interest sold). The balance of the Investment in Sergio account
after the sale is $140,000 ($700,000 less $560,000 interest sold). Leigh determines that it can no
longer exercise significant influence over Sergio, and accordingly, it switches to the fair value/cost
method and accounts for its investment with the $140,000 balance becoming the new basis of the
investment.[12]

STOCK PURCHASES DIRECTLY FROM THE INVESTEE

We have assumed up to now that the investor purchased its shares from existing stockholders of
the investee. In that situation, the interest acquired was equal to the shares acquired divided by the
investee’s outstanding shares. If an investor purchases shares directly from the issuing corporation,
however, we determine the investor’s interest by the shares acquired divided by the shares out-
standing after the investee issues the new shares.

Assume that Karl Corporation purchases 20,000 shares of previously unissued common stock
directly from Master Corporation for $450,000 on January 1, 2011. Master’s stockholders’ equity at
December 31, 2010, consists of $200,000 of $10 par common stock and $150,000 retained earnings.

We compute Karl’s 50 percent interest in Master as follows:

A Shares purchased by Karl 20,000 shares
B Shares outstanding after new shares are issued:

Outstanding December 31, 2010 20,000

Issued to Karl 20,000 40,000 shares

Karl’s interest in Master: A/B = 50%

The book value of the interest acquired by Karl is $400,000, which is determined by multiply-
ing the 50 percent interest acquired by Master’s $800,000 stockholders’ equity immediately after
the issuance of the additional 20,000 shares. Computations are as follows:

Master’s stockholders’ equity before issuance ($200,000 $350,000
capital stock + $150,000 retained earnings)

Sale of 20,000 shares to Karl 450,000

Master’s stockholders’ equity after issuance 800,000

Karl’s percentage ownership 50%
Book value acquired by Karl $400,000

INVESTEE CORPORATION WITH PREFERRED STOCK

The equity method applies to investments in common stock, and some adjustments in applying the
equity method are necessary when an investee has preferred as well as common stock outstanding.
These adjustments require the following:

1. Allocation of the investee corporation’s stockholders’ equity into preferred and
common equity components upon acquisition in order to determine the book value
of the common stock investment

2. Allocation of the investee’s net income into preferred and common income components
to determine the investor’s share of the investee’s income to common stockholders
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Assume that Tech Corporation’s stockholders’ equity is $6,000,000 at the beginning of the year
and $6,500,000 at the end of the year. Its net income and dividends for the year are $700,000 and
$200,000, respectively.

(Amounts in thousands) January 1 December 31
10% cumulative preferred stock, $100 par $1,000 $1,000
Common stock, $10 par 3,000 3,000
Other paid-in capital 500 500
Retained earnings 1,500 2,000
56,000 56,500

If Monet Corporation pays $2,500,000 on January 2 for 40 percent of Tech’s outstanding com-
mon stock, the investment is evaluated as follows (in thousands):

Cost of 40% common interest in Tech $2,500
Book value (and fair value) acquired:

Stockholders’ equity of Tech $6,000

Less: Preferred stockholders’ equity 1,000

Common stockholders’ equity 5,000

Percent acquired 40% 2,000
Goodwill $ 500

The equity of preferred stockholders is equal to the par value of outstanding preferred stock,
increased by the greater of any call or liquidating premium and by preferred dividends in arrears.

Monet’s income from Tech for the year from its 40 percent interest is computed as follows (in
thousands):

Tech’s net income $700
Less: Preferred income ($1,000,000 X 10%) 100

Income to common $600
Share of Tech’s common income ($600,000 X 40%) 240

GAAP provides that when an investee has cumulative preferred stock outstanding, an inves-
tor in common stock computes its share of earnings or losses after deducting preferred dividends,
whether or not preferred dividends are declared. Additional coverage of accounting matters related
to investees with preferred stock outstanding is provided in Chapter 10.

EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

In accounting for an investment under the equity method, the investor reports its share of the ordi-
nary income of an investee on one line of its income statement. However, the one-line consolida-
tion does not apply to the reporting of investment income when the investee corporation’s income
includes extraordinary items. In this case, the investment income must be separated into its ordi-
nary and extraordinary components and reported accordingly.

Assume that Carl Corporation owns 40 percent of the outstanding stock of Home Corporation
and that Home’s income consists of the following (in thousands):

Income from continuing operations before $500
extraordinary item
Extraordinary item—casualty loss (less applicable
income taxes of $25,000) (50)
Net income $450

Carl records its investment income from Home as follows:

Investment in Home (+A) 180
Casualty loss—Home (E,—SE) 20
Income from Home (R,+SE) 200

To record investment income from Home.
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Carl reports the $200,000 income from Home as investment income and reports the $20,000
casualty loss along with any extraordinary items that Carl may have had during the year. A gain or
loss on an investee’s disposal of a segment of a business would be treated similarly.

Other Requirements of the Equity Method

In reporting its share of earnings and losses of an investee under the equity method, an investor
must eliminate the effect of profits and losses on transactions between the investor and investee
until they are realized. This means adjusting the investment and investment income accounts as we
have illustrated to amortize over- or under valued identifiable net assets. Transactions of an inves-
tee that change the investor’s share of the net assets of the investee also require adjustments under
the equity method of accounting. These and other complexities of the equity method are covered
in subsequent chapters, along with related consolidation procedures. Chapter 10 covers preferred
stock, earnings per share, and income tax considerations.

DISCLOSURES FOR EQUITY INVESTEES

The extent to which separate disclosure should be provided for equity investments depends on the
significance (materiality) of such investments to the financial position and results of operations of
the investor. If equity investments are significant, the investor should disclose the following infor-
mation, parenthetically or in financial statement notes or schedules:

1. The name of each investee and percentage of ownership in common stock

2. The accounting policies of the investor with respect to investments in common stock

NOTE H—NONCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS (EXCERPT)

Dow’s principal nonconsolidated affiliates and the Company’s direct or indirect ownership interest for each at
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are shown below:

PRINCIPAL NONCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES AT DECEMBER 31

Ownership Interest
2009 2008 2007
Americas Styrenics LLC 50% 50% =
Compafiia Mega S. A. 28% 28% 28%
Dow Corning Corporation 50% 50% 50%
EQUATE Petrochemical Company K.S.C. 42.5% 42.5% 42.5%
Equipolymers 50% 50% 50%
The Kuwait Olefins Company K.S.C. 42.5% 42.5% 42.5%
MEGlobal 50% 50% 50%
The OPTIMAL Group:
OPTIMAL Chemicals (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd — 50% 50%
OPTIMAL Glycols (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd — 50% 50%
OPTIMAL Olefins (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd — 23.75% 23.75%
The SCG-Dow Group:
Pacific Plastics (Thailand) Limited — — 49%
Siam Polyethylene Company Limited 49% 49% 49%
Siam Polystyrene Company Limited 50% 50% 49%
Siam Styrene Monomer Co., Ltd. 50% 50% 49%
Siam Synthetic Latex Company Limited 50% 50% 49%
Univation Technologies LLC 50% 50% 50%

On September 30, 2009, the Company completed the sale of its ownership interest in the OPTIMAL Group of
companies, see Note E.

The Company’s investment in its principal nonconsolidated affiliates was $2,359 million at December 31, 2009,
and $2,439 million at December 31, 2008. Equity earnings from these companies were $587 million in 2009, $824
million in 2008 and $1,072 million in 2007. The summarized financial information presented below represents the
combined accounts (at 100 percent) of the principal nonconsolidated affiliates.
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SUMMARIZED BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION AT DECEMBER 31

In millions 2009 2008

Current assets $ 6,916 $ 6,391
Noncurrent assets 14,538 14,226
Total assets $21,454 $20,617
Current liabilities $ 4,147 $ 3,644
Noncurrent liabilities 10,504 9,876
Total liabilities $14,651 $13,520

SUMMARIZED INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

In millions 2009(1) 2008(2) 2007
Sales $12,590 $15,508 $13,884
Gross profit $ 2,910 $ 4,064 $ 3,492
Net income $ 1,281 $ 1,940 $ 2,451

1. The summarized income statement information for 2009 includes the results for the

OPTIMAL Group of companies from January 1, 2009 through September 30, 2009 (see Note E).
2. The summarized income statement information for 2008 includes the results for

Americas Styrenics LLC from May 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008.

The Company has service agreements with some of these entities, including contracts to manage the operations of
manufacturing sites and the construction of new facilities; licensing and technology agreements; and marketing,
sales, purchase and lease agreements.

Excess ethylene glycol produced in Dow’s plants in the United States and Europe is sold to MEGlobal and
represented 1 percent of total net sales in 2009 (2 percent of total net sales in 2008 and 2007). The impact of these
sales to MEGlobal by operating segment is summarized below:

IMPACT OF SALES TO MEGLOBAL BY OPERATING SEGMENT

Percent of segment sales 2009 2008 2007
Basic Chemicals 11% 14% 21%
Hydrocarbons and 4% 3% 4%
Energy

Overall, transactions with other nonconsolidated affiliates and balances due to and due from these entities were not
material to the consolidated financial statements.

3. The difference, if any, between the amount at which an investment is carried and
the amount of underlying equity in net assets, including the accounting treatment
of the difference[13]

Additional disclosures for material equity investments include the aggregate value of each
identified investment for which quoted market prices are available and summarized infor-
mation regarding the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the investees. An ex-
cerpt from The Dow Chemical Company and Subsidiaries’ 2009 annual report is presented
in Exhibit 2-4 to illustrate the disclosure requirements. Financial information is separately
presented for all significant equity investees as a group. Dow includes its share of the un-
derlying net assets of these investees as “Investments” in the balance sheet and includes its
share of the investees’ net income in the income statement as “Equity in income of invest-
ees.” The operating-activities section of Dow’s consolidated statement of cash flows shows
both “Equity in income of investees” and “Cash distributions from equity investees” as ad-
justments to net income.



44 CHAPTER 2

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Related-Party
Disclosures for

Affiliates

Related-Party Transactions

There is no presumption of arm’s-length bargaining between related parties. GAAP identifies ma-
terial transactions between affiliated companies as related-party transactions requiring financial
statements disclosure.[14] Related-party transactions arise when one of the transacting parties has
the ability to influence significantly the operations of the other. The required disclosures include
the following:

1. The nature of the relationship
2. A description of the transaction

3. The dollar amounts of the transaction and any change from the previous period in the
method used to establish the terms of the transaction for each income statement presented

4. Amounts due to or due from related parties at the balance sheet date for each bal-
ance sheet presented

Exhibit 2-4 summarizes Dow’s related-party transactions disclosures.

Exhibit 2-5 illustrates related-party disclosures for affiliated companies for Chevron Corpora-
tion. Note 7 to Chevron’s 2009 annual report identifies Tengizchevroil as a major equity method
affiliate. Chevron’s 2009 balance sheet lists “Investments and advances” totaling $21.158 billion
(12.85 percent of total consolidated assets).

TESTING GOODWILL FOR IMPAIRMENT

Chapter 1 introduced the rules for goodwill and other intangible assets. This section provides ad-
ditional discussion and examples of impairment tests.

Goodwill and certain other intangible assets having an indefinite useful life are not amortized.
Recorded intangible assets having a definite useful life continue to be amortized over that life. If
an intangible asset has a definite, but unknown, useful life, firms should amortize over the best
estimate of useful life.

Those intangibles (including goodwill) having an indefinite life are not amortized, but are subject to
annual review and testing for impairment. The focus here is impairment testing and reporting for goodwill.

Time Warner, Inc. (formerly AOL Time Warner) provides an example of significant
goodwill and intangible asset impairment write-offs. In its 2003 annual report, the consol-
idated income statement includes “Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets” of
$318 million in calculating income from operations. This amount pales in comparison to the
2002 amounts. Operating income for 2002 included an impairment loss for goodwill and in-
tangibles of $44.039 billion. Net income for 2002 included an additional cumulative effect of
accounting changes of $(54.235) billion, due mostly to goodwill write-offs, and this number
is net of tax.

Add up the numbers and you discover that total goodwill impairments (including the discon-
tinued operations) were $98.884 billion in 2002, and an additional $1.418 billion in 2003. The
note for 2002 also discloses an $853 million impairment write-off for brands and trademarks for
the Music segment. To put this in perspective, Time Warner’s total assets at December 31, 2001,
were $208.5 billion; the impairment write-offs in 2002 represent almost 50% of that amount. Time
Warner points out, correctly, that these are noncash charges; however, this is still a lot of share-
holder value wiped off the books.

CHEVRON CORPORATION 2009 ANNUAL REPORT NOTE 12: INVESTMENTS AND ADVANCES
(PARTIAL) (IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Other Information “Sales and other operating revenues” on the Consolidated Statement of Income includes $10,391,
$15,390 and $11,555 with affiliated companies for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. “Purchased crude oil and
products” includes $4,631, $6,850 and $5,464 with affiliated companies for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

“Accounts and notes receivable” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $1,125 and $701 due from
affiliated companies at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. “Accounts payable” includes $345 and $289
due to affiliated companies at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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19. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

...Goodwill impairment testing is performed at a level below the business segments (referred to as a reporting
unit). Changes in the management structure in 2008 resulted in the creation of new business segments. As a result,
commencing with the third quarter of 2008, the Company identified new reporting units as required under SFAS No.
142, Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). Goodwill affected by the reorganization has been reallocated
from seven reporting units to ten, using a relative fair-value approach. Subsequent to the reorganization, goodwill
was reallocated to disposals and tested for impairment under the new reporting units....

The results of the first step of the impairment test showed no indication of impairment in any of the reporting
units at any of the periods except December 31, 2008 and, accordingly, the Company did not perform the second
step of the impairment test, except for the test performed as of December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2008,
there was an indication of impairment in the North America Consumer Banking, Latin America consumer Banking
and EMEA Consumer Banking reporting units and, accordingly, the second step of testing was performed on these
reporting units.

Based on the results of the second step of testing, the Company recorded a $9.6 billion pretax ($8.7 billion after
tax) goodwill impairment charge in the fourth quarter of 2008, representing the entire amount of goodwill allocated
to these reporting units. The primary cause for the goodwill impairment in the above reporting units was the rapid
deterioration in the financial markets, as well as in the global economic outlook particularly during the period
beginning mid-November through year end 2008....

Exhibit 2-6 provides a more recent example of goodwill impairment charges for Citigroup Inc.
in 2008.

Time Warner was not alone in taking large goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges.
MCI, Inc., (formerly WorldCom) reported $5.7 billion in impairment charges in 2001 and an ad-
ditional $400 million in 2002. Corning’s 2002 annual report included a $294 million after-tax im-
pairment charge for goodwill related to its telecommunications reporting unit. E.I. Du Pont De
Nemours included a charge of $2.9 billion for the cumulative effect of adoption of the new good-
will impairment standard in its 2002 annual report. Dillard’s, Inc., the department store chain,
reported a $530 million impairment charge in 2002. Intel Corporation’s 2002 impairment loss was
$617 million.

Recognizing and Measuring Impairment Losses

The goodwill impairment test is a two-step process.[15] Firms must first compare carrying
values (book values) to fair values of all assets and liabilities at the business-reporting-unit
level. Carrying value includes the goodwill amount. For purposes of applying the standard,
GAAP|16] defines the reporting unit as an operating segment or one level below an operating
segment. The definition of business reporting units is discussed in a later chapter on segment
reporting.

If the reporting unit’s fair value exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is unimpaired. No further
action is needed.

If fair value is less than the carrying amount, then firms proceed to step 2, measurement
and recognition of the impairment loss. Step 2 requires a comparison of the carrying amount
of goodwill to its implied fair value. Firms should again make this comparison at the busi-
ness-reporting-unit level. If the carrying amount exceeds the implied fair value of the good-
will, the firm must recognize an impairment loss for the difference. The loss amount cannot
exceed the carrying amount of the goodwill. Firms cannot reverse previously recognized im-
pairment losses.

Implied Fair Value of Goodwill

Firms should determine the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner used to originally
record the goodwill at the business combination date. Firms allocate the fair value of the reporting
unit to all identifiable assets and liabilities, as if they had purchased the unit on the measurement
date. Any excess fair value is the implied fair value of goodwill.

Assume that Paul Corporation owns 80% of Surly Corporation, which qualifies as a
business reporting unit. The consolidated balance sheet carries goodwill of $6.3 million

Excerpts from Citigroup
Inc. 2008 Annual Report
(pp. 166-167)
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related to the investment in Surly. Paul would assess the implied fair value of goodwill as
follows.

Paul first estimates that if it purchased its investment in Surly today, the total fair value
of Surly would be $36.25 million, based on current market prices for Surly’s shares. Paul al-
locates the total fair value to the identifiable assets and liabilities of Surly as shown (figures
are in millions):

Book Value Fair Value

Current assets $11.10 $12.85
Property, plant, and equipment 45.00 48.00
Patents 4.00 5.40
Current liabilities (9.00) (9.00)
Long-term liabilities (26.00) (26.00)
Net $25.10 $31.25
Total fair value 36.25
Implied fair value of Goodwill $5.00

The fair value of Surly’s identifiable assets and liabilities is $31.25 million. Therefore, good-
will has an implied fair value of $5 million ($36.25 million less $31.25 million). Notice that good-
will applies to the entire business reporting unit.

Because the current carrying value for goodwill is $6.3 million and its implied fair value
is only $5 million, Paul must record a goodwill impairment loss of $1.3 million. The carrying
value of goodwill is adjusted to $5 million for purposes of future impairment testing. (If the
carrying value for goodwill had been less than $5 million, no impairment loss would have
been recognized.)

Determining the Fair Value of the Reporting Unit

Fair values of assets and liabilities are the amounts at which they could be exchanged in
an arm’s-length transaction. Therefore, the fair value of a reporting unit is the amount for
which it could be purchased or sold in a current transaction. The previous example assumed
that a current quoted market price was available for Surly’s shares. GAAP considers cur-
rent market prices (in an active market) to be the most reliable indicator of fair value for a
reporting unit.

Of course, these values will not always be available. If Paul owned 100% of Surly’s common
stock, there would be no active market for Surly’s shares. The same situation holds if Surly’s shares
are not publicly traded. In these cases GAAP suggests estimating fair values by using prices for simi-
lar assets and liabilities or by applying other valuation techniques. For example, Paul might estimate
future cash flows from Surly’s operations and apply present value techniques to estimate the value of
the reporting unit. Paul might also employ earnings or revenue multiples techniques to estimate the
fair value of Surly.

Firms must conduct the impairment test for goodwill at least annually. GAAP requires more-
frequent impairment testing if any of the following events occurs:

Significant adverse changes in legal factors or business climate

Adverse regulatory actions or assessments

New and unanticipated competition

Loss of key personnel

A more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a significant portion of
a reporting unit will be sold or disposed of

Testing for the recoverability of a significant asset group within a reporting unit
Recognition of a goodwill impairment loss of a subsidiary that is a component of
the reporting unit|17]
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Fair Value Option for Equity Method Investments

Historically, equity method investments were not adjusted for changes in fair market value, but
GAAP[18] now provides firms with an option to record equity method investments at fair value.
The option may be elected on an investment-by-investment basis. Firms taking the fair value
option would calculate fair values using methods described above. The option must continue as
long as the investment is owned. Fair value is recalculated annually. Changes in fair value are
reflected in the investor’s net income, and the offsetting cumulative amount will be recorded in
a valuation allowance.[19]

Assume that Boron Corporation purchased a 30% interest in Digby Company on July 1.
Applying the equity procedures described previously, Boron’s investment account has a bal-
ance of $202,000 on December 31. Boron elects the fair value option for this investment.
Based on market prices, Digby Company is valued at $700,000 on December 31. Therefore,
the fair value of Boron’s 30% interest is $210,000. Boron would record the following adjust-
g entry:

Allowance to adjust equity method
Investment to fair value (+A) 8,000

Unrealized holding gain on equity 8,000
method investment (Ga, +SE)

Under GAAP, investors must separately disclose equity method investments using the fair
value option.

Reporting and Disclosures

GAAP requires firms to report material aggregate amounts of goodwill as a separate line
item on the balance sheet. Likewise, firms must show goodwill impairment losses separately
in the income statement, as a component of income from continuing operations (unless the
impairment relates to discontinued operations). Goodwill impairments from discontinued
operations should be reported separately (net of income tax effects) in the discontinued op-
erations section of the income statement.

Equity Method Investments

The previous discussion on goodwill impairment applies only to goodwill arising from business
combinations (i.e., a parent company acquires a controlling interest in a subsidiary). Impairment
testing also applies to goodwill reflected in investments reported under the equity method of ac-
counting when the investor has a noncontrolling interest.

Once again, the rules eliminate periodic amortization of goodwill, replacing that treatment with
periodic tests for impairment. However, impairment tests for equity method investments do not
follow the same guidelines. Impairment tests for equity method investments are performed based
on fair value versus book value of the investment taken as a whole. An impairment loss may be
recognized for the equity method investment as a whole. Goodwill arising from an equity method
investment is not separately tested for impairment.

Potential Problems

The GAAP rules are straightforward in concept, but practical application may be difficult, espe-
cially in those cases in which quoted market prices are unavailable to value business reporting
units. Alternative valuation methods are highly subjective.

The rules also pose considerable problems for auditors. Fair value estimations are very dif-
ficult to verify objectively. Auditors may also be faced with earnings-management issues for
some clients. If a firm chooses to take a big bath by writing off large amounts of goodwill, the
conservative nature of financial reporting makes it difficult to challenge managers’ estimates.
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NOTE TO THE STUDENT

Exhibit 2-7 is a flowchart summary of accounting procedures for business investments. Invest-
ments in the voting common stock of an investee are accounted for under the fair value/cost
method if the investment does not give the investor an ability to exercise significant influence over
the investee. Otherwise, investors should normally use the equity method (a one-line consolida-
tion). In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a 20 percent-ownership test determines whether
the investor has significant influence over the investee.

The equity method is referred to as a one-line consolidation because its application produces the
same net income and stockholders’ equity for the investor as would result from consolidation of the
financial statements of the investor and investee corporations. Under the one-line consolidation, the
investment is reflected in a single amount on one line of the investor’s balance sheet, and the investor
reports income from the investee on one line of the investor’s income statement, except when the inves-
tee’s income includes extraordinary items or discontinued operations.

As you can see in the flow chart in Exhibit 2-7, the equity method can be used to account for invest-
ments that follow the acquisition method for business combinations. The flow chart also indicates that
consolidated statements are generally required for investments in excess of 50 percent of the voting
stock of the investee and that the one-line consolidation (equity method) is used in reporting invest-
ments of 20 percent to 50 percent in the investor’s financial statements.

In solving problems in the areas of business combinations, equity investments, and consolidations,
we frequently must make assumptions about the nature of the difference between investment cost
(fair value) and book value of the net assets acquired, the timing of income earned within an ac-
counting period, the period in which inventory items affecting intercompany investments are sold,
and the source from which an equity interest is acquired. In the absence of evidence to the contrary,
you should make the following assumptions:

An excess of investment cost (fair value) over book value of the net assets acquired is goodwill.
Goodwill is not amortized.

Income is earned evenly throughout each accounting period.

Inventory items on hand at the end of an accounting period are sold in the immediately succeeding
fiscal period.

5. An equity interest is purchased from the stockholders of the investee rather than directly from the
investee (that is, the total outstanding stock of the investee does not change).

Hwn

1. How are the accounts of investor and investee companies affected when the investor acquires stock from
stockholders of the investee (for example, a New York Stock Exchange purchase)? Does this differ if the
investor acquires previously unissued stock directly from the investee?

2. Should goodwill arising from an equity investment of more than 20 percent be recorded separately on the
books of the investor? Explain.

3. Under the fair value/cost method of accounting for stock investments, an investor records dividends re-
ceived from earnings accumulated after the investment is acquired as dividend income. How does an
investor treat dividends received from earnings accumulated before an investment is acquired?

4. Describe the equity method of accounting.

o

Why is the equity method referred to as a “one-line consolidation”?

6. Is there a difference between the amount of a parent’s net income under the equity method and the con-
solidated net income for the same parent and its subsidiaries?

7. What is the difference in reporting income from a subsidiary in the parent’s separate income statement
and in consolidated financial statements?

8. Cite the conditions under which you would expect the balance of an equity investment account on a bal-
ance sheet date subsequent to acquisition to be equal to the underlying book value represented by that
investment.

9. What accounting procedures or adjustments are necessary when an investor uses the cost method of
accounting for an investment in common stock and later increases the investment such that the equity
method is required?
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Does the
investment
involve the acquisition
of voting
stock?

Does the investee
corporation go out
of existence?

Does the
investment
constitute 20% or
more of the voting
stock of the
investee?,

Account for the investment

using the equity method.

v

Investment is recorded at
the fair market value of
assets or securities
exchanged for the interest
acquired.

investment
over 50% of the
voting stock of the
investee
corporation?,

Account for the net assets
acquired at their fair
value.

The surviving entity records
the net assets of the other
combining companies on its
books at fair value. There is
no investment account.

Account for the investment
using the fair value/cost
method.

Is
control
outside of the
majority
interest?

Investment is accounted for
in the financial statements
of the investor (the

one-line consolidation).

Investment is reported in
the financial statements
under either the fair value/
cost or the equity method.

Accounting for
Equity Investments
Generally

Consolidated statements
are issued for the affiliated
corporations as a single
entity.




50

CHAPTER 2

10.

1.

12.

13.
14.

Ordinarily, the income from an investment accounted for by the equity method is reported on one line of
the investor’s income statement. When would more than one line of the income statement of the investor
be required to report such income?

Describe the accounting adjustments needed when a 25 percent equity interest in an investee is decreased
to a 15 percent equity interest.

Does cumulative preferred stock in the capital structure of an investee affect the way that an investor ac-
counts for its 30 percent common stock interest? Explain.

Briefly outline the steps to calculate a goodwill impairment loss.

Is there any difference in computing goodwill impairment losses for a controlled subsidiary versus an
equity method investment?

E 2-1
General questions

1.

GAAP provides indicators of an investor’s inability to exercise significant influence over an investee. Which of the
following is not included among those indicators?

a Surrender of significant stockholder rights by agreement

b Concentration of majority ownership

¢ Failure to obtain representation on the investee’s board of directors

d Inability to control the investee’s operating policies

. A 20 percent common stock interest in an investee:

a Must be accounted for under the equity method

b Is accounted for by the cost method because over 20 percent is required for the application of the eq-
uity method

¢ Is presumptive evidence of an ability to exercise significant influence over the investee

d Enables the investor to apply either the cost or the equity method

. The cost of a 25 percent interest in the voting stock of an investee that is recorded in the investment account

includes:

a Cash disbursed and the book value of other assets given or securities issued, other than the cost of
registering and issuing equity securities

b Cash disbursed and the book value of other assets given or securities issued

¢ Cash disbursed and the fair value of other assets given or securities issued, other than the cost of reg-
istering and issuing equity securities

d Cash disbursed and the fair value of other assets given or securities issued

The underlying equity of an investment at acquisition:

a Is recorded in the investment account under the equity method

b Minus the cost of the investment is assigned to goodwill

¢ Is equal to the fair value of the investee’s net assets times the percentage acquired
d Is equal to the book value of the investee’s net assets times the percentage acquired

Jar Corporation is a 25 percent-owned equity investee of Mar Corporation. During the current year, Mar receives
$12,000 in dividends from Jar. How does the $12,000 dividend affect Mar’s financial position and results of
operations?

a Increases assets

b Decreases investment

¢ Increases income

d Decreases income

E 2-2
[Based on AICPA] General problems

1.

Invest Company owns 30 percent of Ali Corporation. During the year, Ali had net earnings of $200,000 and paid
dividends of $18,000. Invest mistakenly recorded these transactions using the cost method rather than the equity
method. What effect would this have on the investment account, net earnings, and retained earnings, respectively?
a Understate, overstate, overstate

b Overstate, understate, understate

¢ Overstate, overstate, overstate

d Understate, understate, understate
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2. Acorporation exercises control over an affiliate in which it holds a 25 percent common stock interest. If its affiliate
completed a fiscal year profitably but paid no dividends, how would this affect the investor?
a Result in an increased current ratio
b Result in increased earnings per share
¢ Increase several turnover ratios
d Decrease book value per share

3. Aninvestor uses the cost method to account for an investment in common stock. A portion of the dividends
received this year were in excess of the investor’s share of investee’s earnings after the date of the invest-
ment. The amount of dividends revenue that should be reported in the investor’s income statement for this
year would be:

a Zero

b The total amount of dividends received this year

¢ The portion of the dividends received this year that were in excess of the investor’s share of investee’s
earnings after the date of investment

d The portion of the dividends received this year that were not in excess of the investor’s share of inves-
tee’s earnings after the date of investment

4. On January 1, Gar Company paid $600,000 for 20,000 shares of Med Company’s common stock, which repre-
sents a 15 percent investment in Med. Gar does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over Med.
Med declared and paid a dividend of $2 per share to its stockholders during the year. Med reported net income
of $520,000 for the year ended December 31. The balance in Gar’s balance sheet account “Investment in Med
Company” at December 31 should be
a $560,000
b $600,000
¢ $638,000
d $678,000

5. On January 2, 2011, Two Corporation bought 15 percent of Zef Corporation’s capital stock for $30,000. Two ac-
counts for this investment by the cost method. Zef’s net income for the years ended December 31, 2011, and
December 31, 2012, were $10,000 and $50,000, respectively. During 2012 Zef declared a dividend of $70,000.
No dividends were declared in 2011. How much should Two show on its 2012 income statement as income from
this investment?

a $1,575
b $7,500
¢ $9,000
d $10,500

6. Par purchased 10 percent of Tot Company’s 100,000 shares of common stock on January 2 for $100,000. On De-
cember 31, Par purchased an additional 20,000 shares of Tot for $300,000. There was no goodwill as a result of
either acquisition, and Tot had not issued any additional stock during the year. Tot reported earnings of $600,000
for the year. What amount should Par report in its December 31 balance sheet as investment in Tot?

a $340,000
b $400,000
¢ $460,000
d $580,000

7. OnJanuary 1, Pin purchased 10 percent of lon Company’s common stock. Pin purchased additional shares, bring-
ing its ownership up to 40 percent of lon’s common stock outstanding, on August 1. During October, lon declared
and paid a cash dividend on all of its outstanding common stock. How much income from the lon investment
should Pin’s income statement report for the year ended December 31?

a 10 percent of lon’s income for January 1 to July 31, plus 40 percent of lon’s income for August 1 to
December 31

b 40 percent of lon’s income for August 1 to December 31 only

¢ 40 percent of lon’s income

d Amount equal to dividends received from lon

8. On January 2, Ken Company purchased a 30 percent interest in Pod Company for $250,000. On this date, the
book value of Pod’s stockholders’ equity was $500,000. The carrying amounts of Pod’s identifiable net assets ap-
proximated fair values, except for land, whose fair value exceeded its carrying amount by $200,000. Pod reported
net income of $100,000 and paid no dividends. Ken accounts for this investment using the equity method. In its
December 31 balance sheet, what amount should Ken report for this investment?

a $210,000
b $220,000
¢ $270,000
d $280,000
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E 2-3

Calculate percentage ownership and goodwill on investment acquired directly from
investee
Tre Corporation’s stockholders’ equity at December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Capital stock, $10 par, 60,000 shares issued and outstanding $ 600
Additional paid-in capital 150
Retained earnings 250

Total stockholders’ equity $1,000

On January 1, 2011, Bow Corporation purchased 20,000 previously unissued shares of Tre stock directly from Tre
for $500,000.

REQUIRED

1. Calculate Bow Corporation’s percentage ownership in Tre.

2. Determine the goodwill from Bow’s investment in Tre. Assume the book value of all identifiable assets
and liabilities equals the fair value.

E2-4

Calculate income for a midyear investment

Car Corporation pays $600,000 for a 30 percent interest in Med Corporation on July 1, 2011, when the book value of
Med’s identifiable net assets equals fair value. Information relating to Med follows (in thousands):

December 31,2010 December 31, 2011

Capital stock, $1 par $ 600 $ 600
Retained earnings 400 500
Total stockholders’ equity $1,000 $1,100
Med’s net income earned evenly throughout 2011 $200
Med’s dividends for 2011 (paid $50,000 on

March 1 and $50,000 on September 1) $100

REQUIRED: Calculate Car’s income from Med for 2011.

E 2-5

Calculate income and investment balance allocation of excess to undervalued assets
Dok Company acquired a 30 percent interest in Oak on January 1 for $2,000,000 cash. Assume the cost of the invest-
ment equals the fair value of Oak’s net assets. Dok assigned the $500,000 fair value over book value of the interest
acquired to the following assets:

Inventories $100,000 (sold in the current year)
Building $200,000 (4-year remaining life at January 1)
Goodwill $200,000

During the year Oak reported net income of $800,000 and paid $200,000 dividends.

REQUIRED
1. Determine Dok’s income from Oak.

2. Determine the December 31 balance of the Investment in Oak account.

E 2-6

Journal entry to record income from investee with loss from discontinued operations
Man Corporation purchased a 40 percent interest in Nib Corporation for $1,000,000 on January 1, at book value, when
Nibs’s assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair values. During the year, Nib reported net income of $600,000 as
follows (in thousands):

Income from continuing operations $700

Less: Loss from discontinued operations 100
Net income $600
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REQUIRED: Prepare the journal entry on Man’s books to recognize income from the investment in Nib for
the year.

E 2-7
General problems

1. On January 3, 2011, Han Company purchases a 15 percent interest in Ben Corporation’s common stock for
$50,000 cash. Han accounts for the investment using the cost method. Ben’s net income for 2011 is $20,000, but
it declares no dividends. In 2012, Ben’s net income is $80,000, and it declares dividends of $120,000. What is the
correct balance of Han’s Investment in Ben account at December 31, 2012?

a $47,000
b $50,000
¢ $62,000
d $65,000
2. Sew Corporation’s stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2011, follows (in thousands):
Capital stock, $100 par $3,000
Additional paid-in capital 500
Retained earnings 500
Total stockholders’ equity $4,000

On January 3, 2012, Sew sells 10,000 shares of previously unissued $100 par common stock to Pan Corporation
for $1,400,000. On this date the recorded book values of Sew’s assets and liabilities equal their fair values. Good-
will from Pan’s investment in Sew at the date of purchase is:

a $0

b $50,000

¢ $300,000

d $400,000

3. OnJanuary 1, Leg Company paid $300,000 for a 20 percent interest in Moe Corporation’s voting common stock,
at which time Moe’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $600,000 capital stock and $400,000 retained earnings.
Leg was not able to exercise any influence over the operations of Moe and accounted for its investment in Moe
using the cost method. During the year, Moe had net income of $200,000 and paid dividends of $150,000. The
balance of Leg’s Investment in Moe account at December 31 is:

a $330,000
b $310,000
¢ $307,500
d $300,000

4. Jot Corporation owns a 40 percent interest in Kaz Products acquired several years ago at book value. Kaz’s in-
come statement contains the following information (in thousands):

Income before extraordinary item $200
Extraordinary loss 50
Net income $150

Jot should report income from Kaz in its income from continuing operations at:
a $20,000

b $60,000

¢ $80,000

d $100,000

E 2-8

Calculate investment balance four years after acquisition

Ray Corporation owns a 40 percent interest in the outstanding common stock of Ton Corporation, having acquired its
interest for $2,400,000 on January 1, 2011, when Ton’s stockholders’ equity was $4,000,000. The fair value/book
value differential was allocated to inventories that were undervalued by $100,000 and sold in 2011, to equipment with
a four-year remaining life that was undervalued by $200,000, and to goodwill for the remainder.

The balance of Ton’s stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2016, is $5,500,000, and all changes therein are the
result of income earned and dividends paid.

REQUIRED: Determine the balance of Ray’s investment in Ton at December 31, 2016.
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E2-9

Calculate income and investment balance when investee capital structure includes
preferred stock

Run Company had net income of $400,000 and paid dividends of $200,000 during 2012. Run’s stockholders’ equity on
December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2012, is summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012

10% cumulative preferred stock, $100 par $ 300 $ 300
Common stock, $1 par 1,000 1,000
Additional paid-in capital 2,200 2,200
Retained earnings 500 700

Stockholders’ equity $4,000 $4,200

On January 2, 2012, Nic Corporation purchased 300,000 common shares of Run at $4 per share and also paid $50,000
direct costs of acquiring the investment.

REQUIRED: Determine (1) Nic’s income from Run for 2012 and (2) the balance of the investment in the
Run account at December 31, 2012.

E2-10

Calculate income and investment balance for midyear investment

Arb Corporation acquired 25 percent of Tee Corporation’s outstanding common stock on October 1, for $600,000.
A summary of Tee’s adjusted trial balances on this date and at December 31 follows (in thousands):

December 31 October 1
Debits
Current assets $ 500 $ 250
Plant assets—net 1,500 1,550
Expenses (including cost of goods sold) 800 600
Dividends (paid in July) 200 200
$3,000 $2,600
Credits - -
Current liabilities $ 300 $ 200
Capital stock (no change during the year) 1,000 1,000
Retained earnings January 1 500 500
Sales 1,200 900
$3.000 52,600
Arb uses the equity method of accounting. No information is available concerning the fair values of Tee’s assets and
liabilities.
REQUIRED

1. Determine Arb’s investment income from Tee Corporation for the year ended December 31.

2. Compute the correct balance of Arb’s investment in Tee account at December 31.

E 2-11

Adjust investment account and determine income when additional investment quali-
fies for equity method of accounting
Summary balance sheet and income information for Pim Company for two years is as follows (in thousands):

January 1, 2011 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012

Current assets $ 50 $ 60 $ 75
Plant assets ~200 240 250
$250 $300 $325

Liabilities $ 40 $ 50 $50
Capital stock 150 150 150
Retained earnings 60 100 $125
$250 $300 $325

2011 2012

Net income $100 $ 50

Dividends 60 25




Stock Investments—Investor Accounting and Reporting 55

On January 2, 2011, Pim Corporation purchases 10 percent of Fed Company for $25,000 cash, and it accounts for its
investment (classified as an available-for-sale security) in Fed using the fair value method. On December 31, 2011,
the fair value of all of Fed’s stock is $500,000. On January 2, 2012, Pim purchases an additional 10 percent interest in
Fed stock for $50,000 and adopts the equity method to account for the investment. The fair values of Fed’s assets and
liabilities were equal to book values as of the time of both stock purchases.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare a journal entry to adjust the Investment in Fed account to an equity basis on January 2, 2012.
2. Determine Pim’s income from Fed for 2012.

E 2-12

Journal entries (investment in previously unissued stock)
The stockholders’ equity of Tal Corporation at December 31, 2011, was $380,000, consisting of the following (in thousands):

Capital stock, $10 par (24,000 shares outstanding) $240
Additional paid-in capital 60
Retained earnings 80

Total stockholders’ equity $380

On January 1, 2012, Tal Corporation, which was in a tight working capital position, sold 12,000 shares of previously
unissued stock to Riv Corporation for $250,000. All of Tal’s identifiable assets and liabilities were recorded at fair
values on this date except for a building with a 10-year remaining useful life that was undervalued by $60,000. During
2012, Tal Corporation reported net income of $120,000 and paid dividends of $90,000.

REQUIRED: Prepare all journal entries necessary for Riv Corporation to account for its investment in
Tal for 2012.

E2-13

Prepare journal entries and income statement, and determine investment account

balance

BIP Corporation paid $390,000 for a 30 percent interest in Cow Corporation on December 31, 2011, when Cow’s equity

consisted of $1,000,000 capital stock and $400,000 retained earnings. The price paid by BIP reflected the fact that

Cow’s inventory (on a FIFO basis) was overvalued by $100,000. The overvalued inventory items were sold in 2012.
During 2012 Cow paid dividends of $200,000 and reported income as follows (in thousands):

Income before extraordinary items $340
Extraordinary loss (net of tax effect) 40
Net income $300

REQUIRED
1. Prepare all journal entries necessary to account for BIP’s investment in Cow for 2012.
2. Determine the correct balance of BIP’s Investment in Cow account at December 31, 2012.

3. Assume that BIP’s net income for 2012 consists of $2,000,000 sales, $1,400,000 expenses, and its invest-
ment income from Cow. Prepare an income statement for BIP Corporation for 2012.

E 2-14

Calculate income and investment account balance (investee has preferred stock)

Val Corporation paid $290,000 for 40 percent of the outstanding common stock of Wat Corporation on January 2,
2012. During 2012, Wat paid dividends of $48,000 and reported net income of $108,000. A summary of Wat's stock-
holders’ equity at December 31, 2011 and 2012, follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011 2012
8% cumulative preferred stock, $100 par $100 $100
Common stock, $10 par 300 300
Premium on preferred stock 10 10
Other paid-in capital 90 90
Retained earnings 100 160

Total stockholders’ equity $600 $660
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REQUIRED: Calculate Val Corporation’s income from Wat for 2012 and its Investment in Wat account
balance at December 31, 2012. Assume the book value of all assets and liabilities equals the fair value.

E 2-15

Goodwill impairment

Par Corporation recorded goodwill in the amount of $100,000 in its acquisition of Sel Company in 2011. Par paid a total
of $350,000 to acquire Sel. In preparing its 2012 financial statements, Par estimates that identifiable net assets still
have a fair value of $250,000, but the total fair value of Sel is now $320,000. Calculate the implied value of goodwill at
December 31, 2012, and indicate how the change in value (if any) will affect Par’s 2012 income statement.

E 2-16

Flash, Inc. has two primary business reporting units: Alfa and Beta. In preparing its 2012 financial statements, Flash con-
ducts an annual impairment review of goodwill. Alfa has recorded goodwill of $35,000 that has an estimated fair value of
$30,000. Beta has recorded goodwill of $65,000 that has an estimated fair value of $80,000. What amount of impairment
loss, if any, must Flash report in its 2012 income statement? Where in the income statement should this appear?

PROBLEMS

P 21

Computations for a midyear purchase (investee has an extraordinary gain)

Rit Corporation paid $1,372,000 for a 30 percent interest in Tel Corporation’s outstanding voting stock on
April 1, 2011. At December 31, 2010, Tel had net assets of $4,000,000 and only common stock outstanding.
During 2011, Tel declared and paid dividends of $80,000 each quarter on March 15, June 15, September 15,
and December 15 ($320,000 in total). At April 1, 2011, the book value of assets and liabilities equals the fair
value. Tel’s 2011 income was reported as follows:

Income before extraordinary item $480,000
Extraordinary gain, December 2011 160,000
Net income $640,000

REQUIRED: Determine the following items for Rit:
1. Goodwill from the investment in Tel
Income from Tel for 2011
Investment in Tel account balance at December 31, 2011

Rit’s equity in Tel’s net assets at December 31, 2011

U I

The amount of extraordinary gain that Rit will show on its 2011 income statement

P 2-2

Journal entries for midyear investment (cost and equity methods)

Put Company paid $220,000 for an 80% interest in Sel Company on July 1, 2011, when Sel Company had
total equity of $110,000. Sel Company reported earnings of $10,000 for 2011 and declared dividends of
$8,000 on November 1, 2011.

REQUIRED: Give the entries to record these facts on the books of Put Company:
1. Assuming that Put Company uses the cost method of accounting for its subsidiaries.

2. Assuming that Put Company uses the equity method of accounting for its subsidiaries. (Any difference
between investment cost and book value acquired is to be assigned to equipment and amortized over a
10-year period.)

P 2-3

Computations for investee when excess allocated to inventories, building, and goodwill

Vat Company acquired a 30 percent interest in the voting stock of Zel Company for $331,000 on January
1, 2011, when Zel’s stockholders’ equity consisted of capital stock of $600,000 and retained earnings of
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$400,000. At the time of Vat’s investment, Zel’s assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair values, ex-
cept for inventories that were undervalued by $30,000 and a building with a 10-year remaining useful life that
was overvalued by $60,000. Zel has income for 2011 of $100,000 and pays dividends of $50,000. Assume
undervalued inventories are sold in 2011.

REQUIRED
1. Compute Vat’s income from Zel for 2011.
2. What is the balance of Vat’s Investment in Zel account at December 31, 2011?

3. What is Vat’s share of Zel’s recorded net assets at December 31, 2011?

P2-4

Journal entries for midyear investment (excess allocated to land, equipment, and
goodwill)
Jack Corporation paid $380,000 for 40 percent of Jill Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock on
July 1, 2011. Jill’s stockholders’ equity on January 1, 2011, was $500,000, consisting of $300,000 capital
stock and $200,000 retained earnings.
During 2011, Jill had net income of $100,000, and on November 1, 2011, Jill declared dividends of $50,000.
Jill’s assets and liabilities were stated at fair values on July 1, 2011, except for land that was undervalued
by $30,000 and equipment with a five-year remaining useful life that was undervalued by $50,000.

REQUIRED: Prepare all the journal entries (other than closing entries) on the books of Jack Corporation
during 2011 to account for the investment in Jill.

P 2-5

Prepare an allocation schedule, compute income and the investment balance

Quake Corporation paid $1,680,000 for a 30 percent interest in Tremor Corporation’s outstanding voting
stock on January 1, 2011. The book values and fair values of Tremor’s assets and liabilities on January 1,
along with amortization data, are as follows (in thousands):

Book Value  Fair Value

Cash $ 400 $ 400
Accounts receivable—net 700 700
Inventories (sold in 2011) 1,000 1,200
Other current assets 200 200
Land 900 1,700
Buildings—net (10-year remaining life) 1,500 2,000
Equipment—net (7-year remaining life) 1,200 500

Total assets $5,900 $6,700
Accounts payable $ 800 $ 800
Other current liabilities 200 200
Bonds payable (due January 1, 2016) 1,000 1,100
Capital stock, $10 par 3,000
Retained earnings 900

Total equities $5,900

Tremor Corporation reported net income of $1,200,000 for 2011 and paid dividends of $600,000.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a schedule to allocate the investment fair values/book value differentials relating to Quake’s in-
vestment in Tremor.
2. Calculate Quake’s income from Tremor for 2011.

3. Determine the balance of Quake’s Investment in Tremor account at December 31, 2011.

P 2-6

Computations for a midyear acquisition

Pal Corporation purchased for cash 6,000 shares of voting common stock of Sap Corporation at $16 per share
on July 1, 2011. On this date, Sap’s equity consisted of $100,000 of $10 par capital stock, $20,000 retained
earnings from prior periods, and $10,000 current earnings (for one-half of 2011).
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Sap’s income for 2011 was $20,000, and it paid dividends of $12,000 on November 1, 2011.

All of Sap’s assets and liabilities had book values equal to fair values at July 1, 2011, and any differences
between investment cost and book value acquired should be assigned to equipment and amortized over a 10-
year period.

REQUIRED: Compute the correct amounts for each of the following items using the equity method of ac-
counting for Pal’s investment:

1. Pal’s income from its investment in Sap for the year ended December 31, 2011.
2. The balance of Pal’s Investment in Sap account at December 31, 2011.

(Note: Assumptions on page 46 are needed for this problem.)

P 2-7

Partial income statement with an extraordinary item

Dil Corporation acquired 30 percent of the voting stock of Lar Company at book value on July 1, 2011. Dur-
ing 2013, Lar paid dividends of $160,000 and reported income of $500,000 as follows:

Income before extraordinary item $300,000
Extraordinary gain (tax credit from
operating loss carryforward) 200,000
Net income $500,000

REQUIRED: Show how Dil’s income from Lar should be reported for 2013 by means of a partial income
statement for Dil Corporation.

P 2-8

Computations and journal entries with excess of book value over fair value

Jen Corporation became a subsidiary of Laura Corporation on July 1,201 1, when Laura paid $1,980,000 cash for
90 percent of Jen’s outstanding common stock. The price paid by Laura reflected the fact that Jen’s invento-
ries were undervalued by $50,000 and its plant assets were overvalued by $500,000. Jen sold the undervalued
inventory items during 2011 but continues to hold the overvalued plant assets that had a remaining useful life
of nine years from July 1, 2011.

During the years 2011 through 2013, Jen’s paid-in capital consisted of $1,500,000 capital stock and
$500,000 additional paid-in capital. Jen’s retained earnings statements for 2011, 2012, and 2013 were as fol-
lows (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2013
Retained earnings January 1 $525 $600 $700
Add: Net income 250 300 200
Deduct: Dividends (declared
in December) (175) (200) (150)
Retained earnings December 31 @ @ @

Laura uses the equity method in accounting for its investment in Jen.

REQUIRED
1. Compute Laura Corporation’s income from its investment in Jen for 2011.
2. Determine the balance of Laura Corporation’s Investment in Jen account at December 31, 2012.

3. Prepare the journal entries for Laura to account for its investment in Jen for 2013.

P 2-9

Prepare allocation schedules under different stock price assumptions (bargain
purchase)

Tricia Corporation exchanged 40,000 previously unissued no par common shares for a 40 percent interest in
Lisa Corporation on January 1, 2011. The assets and liabilities of Lisa on that date (after the exchange) were
as follows (in thousands):
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Book Value Fair Value

Cash $ 200 $ 200
Accounts receivable—net 400 400
Inventories 1,000 1,200
Land 200 600
Buildings—net 1,200 800
Equipment—net 800 1,000
Total assets $3,800 $4,200
Liabilities $1,800 $1,800
Capital stock 1,400
Retained earnings 600
Total equities $3,800

The direct cost of issuing the shares of stock was $20,000, and other direct costs of combination were $80,000.

REQUIRED

1. Assume that the January 1, 2011, market price for Tricia’s shares is $24 per share. Prepare a schedule to
allocate the investment cost/book value differentials.

2. Assume that the January 1, 2011, market price for Tricia’s shares is $16 per share. Prepare a schedule to
allocate the investment cost/book value differentials. Assume that other direct costs were $0.

P2-10

Computations for a piecemeal acquisition
Fred Corporation made three investments in Prima during 2011 and 2012, as follows:

Date Acquired Shares Acquired Cost

July 1, 2011 3,000 $ 48,750
January 1, 2012 6,000 99,000
October 1, 2012 9,000 162,000

Prima’s stockholders’ equity on January 1, 2011, consisted of 20,000 shares of $10 par common stock and
retained earnings of $100,000. Fred’s intention was to buy a controlling interest in Prima, so it never consid-
ered its investment in Prima as a trading security. Prima stock had a market value of $16.50 on December 31,
2011, and $19.00 on December 31, 2012.

Prima had net income of $40,000 and $60,000 in 2011 and 2012, respectively, and paid dividends of
$15,000 on May 1 and November 1, 2011 and 2012 ($60,000 total for the two years).

Fred Corporation accounts for its investment in Prima using the equity method. It does not amortize dif-
ferences between investment cost and book value acquired.

REQUIRED: Compute the following amounts:
1. Fred’s income from its investment in Prima for 2011
2. The balance of Fred’s Investment in Prima account at December 31, 2011
3. Fred’s income from its investments in Prima for 2012

4. The balance of Fred’s Investment in Prima account at December 31, 2012

P 2-11

Computations and a correcting entry (errors)

Pat Corporation purchased 40 percent of the voting stock of Sue Corporation on July 1, 2011, for $300,000.

On that date, Sue’s stockholders’ equity consisted of capital stock of $500,000, retained earnings of $150,000,

and current earnings (just half of 2011) of $50,000. Income is earned proportionately throughout each year.
The Investment in Sue account of Pat Corporation and the retained earnings account of Sue Corporation

for 2011 through 2014 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

RETAINED EARNINGS (SUE)

Dividends November 1, 2011 $40 Balance January 1, 2011 $150
Dividends November 1, 2012 40 Earnings 2011 100
Dividends November 1, 2013 50 Earnings 2012 80
Dividends November 1, 2014 50 Earnings 2013 130

Earnings 2014 120
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INVESTMENT IN SUE (PAT)
Investment July 1, 2011 40% $300 Dividends 2011 $16
Income 2011 40 Dividends 2012 16
Income 2012 32 Dividends 2013 20
Income 2013 52 Dividends 2014 20
Income 2014 48

REQUIRED

1. Determine the correct amount of the investment in Sue that should appear in Pat’s December 31, 2014,
balance sheet. Assume any difference between investment cost and book value acquired is due to a build-
ing with a 10-year remaining life.

2. Prepare any journal entry (entries) on Pat’s books to bring the Investment in Sue account up to date on
December 31, 2014, assuming that the books have not been closed at year-end 2014.

P 2-12

Allocation schedule and computations (excess cost over fair value)

John Corporation acquired a 70 percent interest in Jojo Corporation on April 1, 2011, when it purchased
14,000 of Jojo’s 20,000 outstanding shares in the open market at $13 per share. Additional costs of acquiring
the shares consisted of $10,000 legal and consulting fees. Jojo Corporation’s balance sheets on January 1 and
April 1, 2011, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

January 1 (per books) April 1 (per books) April 1 (fair values)

Cash $ 40 $45 $45
Inventories 35 60 50
Other current assets 25 20 20
Land 30 30 50
Equipment—net 100 95 135
Total assets $230 $250 $300
Accounts payable $45 $40 $40
Other liabilities 15 20 20
Capital stock, $5 par 100 100
Retained earnings January 1 70 70
Current earnings _ 20
Total liabilities and equity $230 $250

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The overvalued inventory items were sold in September 2011.

The undervalued items of equipment had a remaining useful life of four years on April 1, 2011.
Jojo’s net income for 2011 was $80,000 ($60,000 from April to December 31, 2011).

On December 1, 2011, Jojo declared dividends of $2 per share, payable on January 10, 2012.

g~ w2

Any unidentified assets of Jojo are not amortized.

REQUIRED

1. Prepare a schedule showing how the difference between John’s investment cost and book value acquired
should be allocated to identifiable and/or unidentifiable assets.

2. Calculate John’s investment income from Jojo for 2011.

3. Determine the correct balance of John’s Investment in Jojo account at December 31, 2011.
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COCA-COLA: A CASE STUDY ON THE EQUITY METHOD
Coca-Cola lists significant equity method investments on its balance sheet. Visit Coca-Cola’s web

site

and obtain the 2009 annual report. Review Coke’s 2009 annual report and answer the following

questions:

1.
2.

3.

What are Coke’s major equity method investments? Prepare a brief summary.

What amount of income does Coke report on these investments, and how significant are those amounts to
Coke’s overall profitability?

Compare and summarize reported income amounts between 2008 and 2009. Can you account for the
change?

. What type of intercompany transactions does Coke engage in with its equity method affiliates? You may

focus on transactions with the largest equity affiliate—Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc.

. Refer to Note 4. Can you explain how Coke recognizes gains and losses when its equity method affiliates

sell shares of common stock to the public?

INTERNET ASSIGNMENT

Visit the Ford Motor Company Web site and review Ford’s 2009 annual report. You will
note that Ford makes numerous investments in other companies. Prepare a brief summary
of intercompany investments included by Ford (you will want to look at the financial state-
ments and the notes).

a. Does Ford report any investments carried as trading securities, available-for-sale se-
curities, or held-to-maturity securities? If so, summarize their significance to both the
balance sheet and income statement.

b. Does Ford report any investments carried under the equity method? If so, summarize
their significance to both the balance sheet and income statement. What additional
disclosures, if any, are made concerning equity method investments?

c. Did Ford realize any gains or losses from security sales during 2009?

d. Has Ford tested for goodwill impairment during 2009? Did Ford experience an impair-
ment during 2009?

[1

[2

w
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Board, 1993.

FASB ASC 323-10. Originally Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18. “The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” New York: American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, 1971.

FASB ASC 320-10-35-1. Originally Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115. “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Norwalk, CT: Financial Accounting Standards
Board, 1993.

FASB ASC 220-10-45-8. Originally Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130. “Reporting
Comprehensive Income.” Stamford, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board, 1997.

FASB ASC 220. Originally Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115. “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Norwalk, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board, 1993.

FASB ASC 323-10-15-3. Originally Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18. “The Equity
Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” New York: American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, 1971.
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Accountants, 1971.
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Party Disclosures.” Norwalk, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board, 1982.
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142. “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Stamford, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board,
2001.
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sures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” Stamford, CT: Financial Accounting
Standards Board, 1997.
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“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-lived Assets and for long-lived Assets to be Disposed Of.”
Stamford, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board, 1995.
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ment No. 115).” Norwalk, CT: Financial Accounting Standards Board, 2007.
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CHAPTER

An Introduction to Consolidated
Financial Statements

his chapter contains material necessary for understanding consolidated financial state-

ments and provides an overview of the procedures necessary to the consolidation process.
The acquisition method of accounting for business combinations is applied in the chapter. (Pooled
subsidiaries are covered on the Advanced Accounting Web site). We assume the parent company/
investor uses the complete equity method of accounting for subsidiary investments. Further dis-
cussions of business combinations in this book assume acquisition accounting.

Required consolidated financial statements include a consolidated balance sheet; a consoli-
dated income statement; a consolidated retained earnings statement, or consolidated statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity; and a consolidated statement of cash flows.! The consolidated
balance sheet and consolidated income and retained earnings statements in this chapter are pre-
pared from the separate financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. We pre-
pare the consolidated statement of cash flows (introduced in Chapter 4) from consolidated income
statements and consolidated balance sheets.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONSUMMATED LEARNING
THROUGH STOCK ACQUISITIONS OBJECTIVE

The accounting concept of a business combination under GAAP [2] includes combinations in
which one or more companies become subsidiaries of a parent corporation. A corporation becomes
a subsidiary when another corporation acquires a controlling interest in its outstanding voting stock.
Ordinarily, one company gains control of another directly by acquiring a majority (more than 50
percent) of its voting stock. An investor may also gain control through indirect stock ownership,
which is covered in Chapter 9 of this book. Until then, assume that direct ownership of a majority
of the voting stock is required for control and to have a parent—subsidiary relationship.

Once a parent—subsidiary relationship is established, the purchase of additional subsidiary
stock is not a business combination. In other words, separate entities can combine only once.
Increasing a controlling interest is the same as simply making an additional investment. Under
GAAP [3], acquisition of additional subsidiary stock is recorded by increasing the investment
account and reducing the noncontrolling interest, based on the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest at the additional acquisition date. (The increase in the investment account
presumes that the fair value of the subsidiary increases after the additional investment.) Any

IGAAP [1] also requires a statement of comprehensive income. We ignore that statement, except in instances where it
is particularly relevant to the material being discussed.

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Recognize the benefits and
limitations of consolidated
financial statements.

2 Understand requirements

for including a subsidiary
in consolidated financial
statements.

3 Apply consolidation

concepts to parent company
recording of an investment
in a subsidiary company at
the date of acquisition.

4 Record the fair value of the

subsidiary at the date of
acquisition.

5 Learn the concept of non-

controlling interest when a
parent company acquires
less than 100 percent of
a subsidiary’s outstanding
common stock.

6 Prepare consolidated

balance sheets subsequent
to the acquisition date,
including preparation of
eliminating entries.

7 Amortize the excess of the

fair value over the book
value in periods subsequent
to the acquisition.

8 Apply the concepts

underlying preparation of
a consolidated income
statement.

9 For the Students: Create

an electronic spreadsheet
to prepare a consolidated
balance sheet.
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difference between the acquisition price and the carrying amount of the noncontrolling inter-
est plus the increase in the investment account is an adjustment to additional paid-in capital of
the parent company.
LEARNING The Reporting Entity
OBJECTIVE A business combination brings two previously separate corporations under the control of a single

management team (the officers and directors of the parent). Although both corporations continue
to exist as separate legal entities, the acquisition creates a new reporting entity that encompasses
all operations controlled by the management of the parent.

When an investment in voting stock creates a parent—subsidiary relationship, the purchasing en-
tity (parent) and the entity acquired (subsidiary) continue to function as separate entities and main-
tain accounting records on a separate basis. Separate parent and subsidiary financial statements are
converted into consolidated financial statements that reflect the financial position and the results
of operations of the combined entity. The new reporting entity is responsible for reporting to the
stockholders and creditors of the parent and to other interested parties.

This chapter introduces combining the separate accounting records of the parent and sub-
sidiary into a more meaningful set of consolidated financial statements for the reporting entity.
As you continue through the remaining chapters on acquisitions, you may at times feel that
companies maintain separate legal entities and accounting systems only to make life difficult
for advanced accounting students. In fact, there are sound business reasons for keeping these
separate identities.

A parent may acquire a subsidiary in a very different industry from its own as a means of diver-
sifying its overall business risk. In such cases, the management experience and skills required in
the subsidiary’s line of business are already in place and are preserved within the separate entity.
Further, the subsidiary may have established supply-chain and distribution systems very different
from its parent’s. The subsidiary also may have established customer loyalties, which are easier to
maintain with a separate identity.

Brand names and trademarks associated with the subsidiary represent extremely valuable intan-
gible assets. If Goodyear were to purchase the Coca-Cola Company or PepsiCo, it likely would
not be a great strategic move to rename it as Goodyear Tire and Cola!

There are also compelling legal reasons for maintaining separate identities. In a typical invest-
ment, the parent buys the common stock of the subsidiary. Under the U.S. legal system, stock-
holders enjoy limited legal liability. If a major lawsuit against a subsidiary results in a significant
loss (e.g., from an environmental catastrophe involving the subsidiary), the parent cannot be held
accountable for more than the loss of its investment.

The Parent-Subsidiary Relationship

We presume that a corporation that owns more than 50 percent of the voting stock of another cor-
poration controls that corporation through its stock ownership, and a parent—subsidiary relationship
exists between the two corporations. When parent—subsidiary relationships exist, the companies
are affiliated. Often the term affiliate is used to mean subsidiary, and the two terms are used inter-
changeably in this book. In many annual reports, however, the term affiliate is used to include all
investments accounted for by the equity method. The following excerpt from the Deere & Com-
pany 2009 annual report (p. 27) is an example of this latter usage of the term affiliate: “Deere &
Company records its investment in each unconsolidated affiliated company (generally 20 to 50 per-
cent ownership) at its related equity in the net assets of such affiliate.”

Exhibit 3-1 illustrates an affiliation structure with two subsidiaries, with Percy Company own-
ing 90 percent of the voting stock of San Del Corporation and 80 percent of the voting stock of
Saltz Corporation. Percy Company owns 90 percent of the voting stock of San Del, and stockhold-
ers outside the affiliation structure own the other 10 percent. These outside stockholders are the
noncontrolling stockholders, and their interest is referred to as a noncontrolling interest.> Outside
stockholders have a 20 percent noncontrolling interest in Saltz Corporation.

2GAAP prefers the term noncontrolling interest to minority interest. [4] Some companies retain the more-traditional
minority interest designation in their annual reports, but we use noncontrolling throughout this text.
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Percy Company

(PARENT)
90% OWW Womership
San Del Corporation Saltz Corporation
(SUBSIDIARY) (SUBSIDIARY)

Percy Company and each of its subsidiaries are separate legal entities that maintain separate
accounting records. In its separate records, Percy Company uses the equity method described in
Chapter 2 to account for its investments in San Del and Saltz Corporations. For reporting pur-
poses, however, the equity method of reporting usually does not result in the most meaningful
financial statements. This is so because the parent, through its stock ownership, is able to elect
subsidiary directors and control subsidiary decisions, including dividend declarations. Although
affiliated companies are separate legal entities, there is really only one economic entity because
all resources are under control of a single management—the directors and officers of the parent.

Under GAAP [5]:

The purpose of consolidated financial statements is to present, primarily for the ben-
efit of the owners and creditors of the parent company, the results of operations and
the financial position of a parent and all its subsidiaries as if the consolidated group
were a single economic entity. There is a presumption that consolidated financial
statements are more meaningful than separate financial statements and that they are
usually necessary for a fair presentation when one of the entities in the consolidated
group directly or indirectly has a controlling financial interest in the other entities.

Consolidated statements are intended primarily for the parent’s investors, rather than for the
noncontrolling stockholders and subsidiary creditors. The subsidiary, as a separate legal entity,
continues to report the results of its own operations to the noncontrolling shareholders.

Consolidation Policy

Consolidated financial statements provide much information that is not included in the separate
statements of the parent, and are usually required for fair presentation of the financial position and
results of operations for a group of affiliated companies. The usual condition for consolidation is
ownership of more than 50 percent of the voting stock of another company. Under current GAAP [6],
a subsidiary can be excluded from consolidation in some situations: (1) when control does not rest
with the majority owner, (2) formation of joint ventures, (3) the acquisition of an asset or group of
assets that does not constitute a business, (4) a combination between entities under common con-
trol, and (5) a combination between not-for-profit entities or the acquisition of a for-profit business
by a not-for-profit entity. Control does not rest with the majority owner if the subsidiary is in legal
reorganization or bankruptcy or is operating under severe foreign-exchange restrictions, controls,
or other governmentally-imposed uncertainties.

The Anheuser-Busch Companies 2006 annual report (p. 50) provides an example of exclu-
sions in which the majority owner lacks the ability to control the subsidiary companies.

Note 2. International Equity Investments (Partial)
Grupo Modelo

Anheuser-Busch owns a 35.12 percent direct interest in Grupo Modelo, S.A.B. de C.V.
(Modelo), Mexico’s largest brewer and producer of the Corona brand, and a 23.25
percent direct interest in Modelo’s operating subsidiary Diblo, S.A. de C.V. (Diblo).

Affiliation Structure
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The company’s direct investments in Modelo and Diblo give Anheuser-Busch an effec-
tive (direct and indirect) 50.2 percent equity interest in Diblo. Anheuser-Busch holds
nine of 19 positions on Modelo’s board of directors (with the Controlling Sharehold-
ers Trust holding the other 10 positions) and also has membership on the audit com-
mittee. Anheuser-Busch does not have voting or other effective control of either Diblo
or Modelo and consequently accounts for its investments using the equity method. The
total cost of the company’s investments was $1.6 billion.

The FASB has long considered a consolidation policy based on financial control, rather than ma-
jority ownership. The FASB issued Preliminary Views on Major Issues Related to Consolidation
Policy in 1994 and an exposure draft, “Consolidated Financial Statements: Policy and Procedures,”
in 1995. Both the Preliminary Views and the exposure draft proposed that a corporation consolidate
all entities that it controls unless control is temporary at the time the business becomes a subsidiary.
Control of an entity was defined as power over its assets. During the deliberations of the exposure
draft, the board was asked to further define control and to clarify the presumption of control. Other
questions about when a subsidiary should be consolidated arose during the redeliberations: Should
the parent receive some level of benefits? Should a level of ownership be required? Eventually, the
board agreed that a consolidation policy should include both control and benefits.3

More recent FASB pronouncements have refined, but not finally resolved, the issue of finan-
cial control. An amendment in 2007 [7], applies the concept of financial control, rather than a
simple majority ownership of a subsidiary’s outstanding voting shares. An earlier amendment in
2003 provides other evidence of financial control that may result in consolidating a less-than-50
percent-owned subsidiary. We discuss this topic in Chapter 11.

DiscLosure oF GonsoLipaTion PoLicies  GAAP [8] requires a description of significant accounting
policies for financial reporting and traditionally, consolidation-policy disclosures were among
the most frequent of all policy disclosures. Consolidation-policy disclosures are needed to re-
port exceptions (e.g., inability to control) to the required consolidation of all majority-owned
subsidiaries. In addition, GAAP requires an extensive list of disclosures. Disclosures are re-
quired for:

1. the reporting period that includes a business combination

a. general information about the business combination such as name of target and
acquisition date
information about goodwill or bargain purchase gain
nature, terms and fair value of consideration transferred
details about specific assets, liabilities and any noncontrolling interest
reduction in buyer’s pre-existing deferred tax asset valuation allowance
information about transactions accounted for separately from the business
combination
g. information about step acquisitions

2 a0

2. abusiness combination that occurs after the reporting period but before the financial
statements are issued

3. provisional amounts related to business combinations

4. adjustments related to business combinations.

The SEC requires publicly held companies to report their consolidation policies under Regula-
tion S-X, Rule 3A-03 [9]. Consolidation policy is usually presented under a heading such as “prin-
ciples of consolidation” or “basis of consolidation.” The GE 2009 annual report contains a typical
“principles of consolidation” policy note:

Our financial statements consolidate all of our affiliates—entities that we control,
most often because we hold a majority voting interest. Associated companies are enti-
ties that we do not control but over which we have significant influence, most often

3Financial Accounting Series, Status Report 295, November 26, 1997.
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because we hold a voting interest of 20 percent to 50 percent. Results of associated
companies are presented on a one-line basis. Investments in and advances to associ-
ated companies are presented on a one-line basis in the caption “All other assets” in
our Statement of Financial Position, net of allowance for losses that represents our
best estimate of probable losses inherent in such assets.

Parent and Subsidiary with Different Fiscal Periods

When the fiscal periods of the parent and its subsidiaries differ, we prepare consolidated state-
ments for and as of the end of the parent’s fiscal period. If the difference in fiscal periods is not in
excess of three months, it usually is acceptable to use the subsidiary’s statements for its fiscal year
for consolidation purposes, with disclosure of the effect of intervening events which materially
affect the financial position or results of operations. Otherwise, the statements of the subsidiary
should be adjusted so that they correspond as closely as possible to the fiscal period of the parent
company. Abbott Laboratories 2009 annual report (p. 43) includes the following explanation of its
fiscal year ending December 31, 2009:

The accounts of foreign subsidiaries are consolidated as of November 30, due to the
time needed to consolidate these subsidiaries. In December 2009, a foreign subsidiary
acquired certain technology that was accounted for as acquired in-process research
and development. This transaction was recorded in 2009 due to the significance of the
amount. No other events occurred related to these foreign subsidiaries in December
2009, 2008 and 2007 that materially affected the financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

Financing the Acquisition

There are many avenues available for financing an acquisition. As students, you are well aware
that sufficient cash isn’t always available for the things you’d like to buy; companies face the same
problem in making significant purchases. The investor may pay cash, sell shares of authorized but
previously unissued common stock, issue preferred shares, sell debt securities (bonds), or utilize
some combination of these financial instruments.

Prior to 2001, firms often exchanged shares of common stock in order to qualify for the pool-
ing of interests method of accounting for the combination. Poolings are no longer permitted
under GAAP. [10]

The financing decision can be important strategically. Common shares are accompanied by vot-
ing rights, and an especially large acquisition may cost management its voting control. Nonvoting
preferred shares or other financing alternatives are useful in cases in which keeping voting control
is an important consideration.

Compaq Computer Corporation’s 2000 annual report (p. 52) provides some interesting
examples:

Note 3. Acquisitions and Divestitures (Partial)

In August 1999, Compagq sold an 81.5 percent equity interest in AltaVista for
approximately 38 million CMGI common shares, CMGI preferred shares convertible
into 3.6 million CMGI common shares and a $220 million three-year note receivable.
In October 1999, CMGI converted the CMGI preferred shares held by Compaq into
3.6 million CMGI common shares. The CMGI common shares acquired by Compaq
in this transaction carry certain restrictions whereby Compaq may not sell more than
50 percent (20.8 million) of such shares prior to August 2001.

In June 1998, Compaq consummated its acquisition of Digital for an aggregate pur-
chase price of $9.1 billion. The purchase price consisted of approximately $4.5 billion
in cash, the issuance of approximately 141 million shares of Compaq common stock
valued at approximately $4.3 billion and the issuance of approximately 25 million
options to purchase Compaq common stock valued at approximately $249 million.
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

100 Percent Ownership
acquired at Book Value
(Equal to Fair Value)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT DATE OF ACQUISITION

A consolidated entity is a fictitious (conceptual) reporting entity. It is based on the assumption
that the separate legal and accounting entities of a parent and its subsidiaries can be combined
into a single meaningful set of financial statements for external reporting purposes. Note that
the consolidated entity does not have transactions and does not maintain a consolidated ledger
of accounts.

Parent Acquires 100 Percent of Subsidiary at Book Value

Exhibit 3-2 shows the basic differences between separate-company and consolidated balance
sheets. Pen Corporation acquires 100 percent of Sel Corporation at its book value and fair
value of $40,000 in an acquisition on January 1, 2011. Exhibit 3-2 shows the balance sheets
prepared immediately after the investment. Pen’s “Investment in Sel” appears in the separate
balance sheet of Pen, but not in the consolidated balance sheet for Pen and Subsidiary. When
preparing the balance sheet, we eliminate the Investment in Sel account (Pen’s books) and the
stockholders’ equity accounts (Sel’s books) because they are reciprocal—both representing
the net assets of Sel at January 1, 2011. We combine the nonreciprocal accounts of Pen and
Sel and include them in the consolidated balance sheet of Pen Corporation and Subsidiary.
Note that the consolidated balance sheet is not merely a summation of account balances of the
affiliates. We eliminate reciprocal accounts in the process of consolidation and combine only
nonreciprocal accounts. The capital stock that appears in a consolidated balance sheet is the
capital stock of the parent, and the consolidated retained earnings are the retained earnings of
the parent company.

Separate Balance Sheets Consolidated
Balance Sheet:
(in thousands) Pen Sel Pen and Subsidiary
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 20 $10 $ 30
Other current assets 45 15 60
Total current assets 65 25 90
Plant assets 75 45 120
Less: Accumulated depreciation (15) _(5) (20)
Total plant assets 60 _40 100
Investment in Sel—100% 40 =3 _
Total assets $165 $65 190
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 20 $15 $ 35
Other current liabilities 25 10 35
Total current liabilities 45 25 70
Stockholders’ equity
Capital stock 100 30 100
Retained earnings 20 10 20
Total stockholders’ equity 120 40 120
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $165 & $190
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Parent Acquires 100 Percent of Subsidiary—With Goodwill

Exhibit 3-2 presented the consolidated balance sheet prepared for a parent company that ac-
quired all the stock of Sel Corporation at book value. If, instead, Pen acquires all of Sel’s stock
for $50,000, there will be a $10,000 excess of investment cost over book value acquired ($50,000
investment cost less $40,000 stockholders’ equity of Sel). The $10,000 appears in the consolidated
balance sheet at acquisition as an asset of $10,000. In the absence of evidence that identifiable net
assets are undervalued, this asset is assumed to be goodwill. Exhibit 3-3 illustrates procedures for
preparing a consolidated balance sheet for Pen Corporation, assuming that Pen pays $50,000 for
the outstanding stock of Sel.

We need only one workpaper entry to consolidate the balance sheets of Pen and Sel at acqui-
sition. Take a few minutes to review the format of the workpaper in Exhibit 3-3. The first two
columns provide information from the separate balance sheets of Pen and Sel. The third column
records adjustments and eliminations, subdivided into debits and credits. The last column presents
the totals that will appear in the consolidated balance sheet. We calculate amounts in the Consoli-
dated Balance Sheet column by adding together amounts from the first two columns and then add-
ing or subtracting the adjustments and eliminations, as appropriate. This basic workpaper format is
used throughout the discussions of acquisitions and preparation of consolidated financial statements
in this book. The elimination entry is reproduced in general journal form for convenient reference:

a Capital stock—Sel (-SE) 30

Retained earnings—Sel (-SE) 10

Goodwill (+A) 10
Investment in Sel (-A) 50

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity accounts and to assign
the excess of investment cost (fair value) over book value to goodwill.

Entries such as those shown in Exhibit 3-3 are only workpaper adjustments and eliminations
and are not recorded in the accounts of the parent or subsidiary corporations. The entries will
never be journalized or posted. Their only purpose is to facilitate completion of the workpapers to
consolidate a parent and subsidiary at and for the period ended on a particular date. In this book,
workpaper entries are shaded in blue to avoid confusing them with actual journal entries that are
recorded in the accounts of the parent and subsidiary companies.

In future periods, the difference between the investment account balance and the subsidiary
equity will decline if, and only if, goodwill is written down due to impairment.

Parent Acquires 90 Percent of Subsidiary—With Goodwill

Assume that instead of acquiring all of Sel’s outstanding stock, Pen acquires 90 percent of it for
$45,000. GAAP requires the acquisition method to record business combinations and subsequent
issuance of consolidated financial statements. Essentially, the acquisition method uses the entity
theory of consolidations. Under the acquisition method, all assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
are reported using 100 percent of fair values at the combination date, based on the price paid by the
parent for its controlling interest, even when the parent acquires less than a 100 percent interest.
Thus, both the controlling and noncontrolling interests will be reported based on fair values at the
acquisition date.* GAAP provides guidance for measuring fair values. [11] Fair values are not re-
calculated at future reporting dates, with two exceptions. Impairments of assets must be recorded,
including goodwill impairments. In addition, financial assets and liabilities may be revalued under
GAAP [12], but this revaluation is optional.

There are also two major exceptions to the initial recording of fair values for assets and li-
abilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities and employee benefit amounts will be recorded at book
values consistent with existing GAAP standards (presumably already recorded by the subsidiary).
However, recognize that since the subsidiary is recorded at its fair value, differences in fair values
and book values of these accounts are reflected in goodwill. They are not separately identified.

4GAAP requires measurement of noncontrolling interests at fair values. The IASB [13] will permit acquirers either fair
value or measurement of the proportional interest in the fair value of the subsidiary’s net assets for each acquisition.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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100 Percent Ownership,
Cost (Fair Value)
$10,000 Greater
Than Book Value

PEN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPERS
JANUARY 1, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments and
SUialons Consolidated
Pen 100% Sel Debits Credits Balance Sheet

Assets
Cash $ 10 $10 $ 20
Other current assets 45 15 60
Plant assets 75 45 120
Accumulated depreciation (15) (5) (20)
Investment in Sel 50 a50
Goodwill alo0 10

Total assets $165 $65 $190
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 20 $15 $ 35
Other current liabilities 25 10 35
Capital stock—Pen 100 100
Retained earnings—Pen 20 20
Capital stock—Sel 30 a30
Retained earnings—Sel 10 al0

Total liabilities and stockholders’

equity $165 $65 $190

a. To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity accounts and to assign the excess of investment cost
(fair value) over book value to goodwill.

We can assume that the acquisition is an “arm’s-length” transaction. Pen paid $45,000 for a 90
percent interest. This implies that the total fair value of Sel is $50,000 ($45,000 / 90 percent). In
this case, the excess of total fair value over book value of Sel’s net identifiable assets and liabilities
is $10,000, and there is a noncontrolling interest of $5,000 (10 percent of the $50,000 fair value
of Sel’s equity). The $10,000 excess of fair value over book value is goodwill. The workpapers
in Exhibit 3-4 illustrate procedures for preparing the consolidated balance sheet for Pen and Sel
under the 90 percent ownership assumption.

Workpaper entry a eliminates the reciprocal accounts of Pen and Sel and recognizes goodwill
and the noncontrolling interest in Sel at the date of acquisition:

a Capital stock—Sel (-SE) 30

Retained earnings—Sel (-SE) 10

Goodwill (+A) 10
Investment in Sel (-A) 45
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 5

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances, to assign the $10,000 excess of investment
fair value ($50,000) over book value ($40,000) to goodwill, and to recognize a $5,000
noncontrolling interest in the net assets of Sel ($50,000 equity x 10% noncontrolling interest).

Noncontrolling Interest

We include all assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the consolidated balance sheet and record
the noncontrolling interest’s share of subsidiary net assets based on fair values separately in stock-
holders’ equity.
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PEN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPERS
JANUARY 1, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)
Adjustments and .
Eliminations Eeresiekizd
Balance
Pen 90% Sel Debits Credits Sheet

Assets
Cash $ 15 $10 $ 25
Other current assets 45 15 60
Plant assets 75 45 120
Accumulated depreciation (15) (5) (20)
Investment in Sel 45 a5
Goodwill alo 10

Total assets $165 $65 $195
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 20 $15 $ 35
Other current liabilities 25 10 35
Capital stock—Pen 100 100
Retained earnings—Pen 20 20
Capital stock—Sel 30 a 30
Retained earnings—Sel 10 alo

$165 $65

Noncontrolling interest as 5

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $195

a. To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances, assign the $10,000 excess of investment fair value
($50,000) over book value ($40,000) to goodwill, and recognize a $5,000 noncontrolling interest in the fair value of
net assets of Sel ($50,000 equity x 10% noncontrolling interest).

Workpapers provide the basis of preparing formal financial statements, and the question arises
about how the $5,000 noncontrolling interest that appears in Exhibit 3-4 would be reported in a
formal balance sheet. Historically, practice varied with respect to classification. The noncontrol-
ling interest in subsidiaries was generally shown in a single amount in the liability section of the
consolidated balance sheet, frequently under the heading of noncurrent liabilities. Conceptually,
the classification of noncontrolling stockholder interests as liabilities was inconsistent because the
interests of noncontrolling stockholders represent equity investments in the subsidiary net assets
by stockholders outside the affiliation structure.

Current GAAP requires:

B A noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary should be displayed and labeled in the
consolidated balance sheet as a separate component of equity.

B Income attributable to the noncontrolling interest is not an expense or a loss but
a deduction from consolidated net income to compute income attributable to the
controlling interest.

B Both components of consolidated net income (net income attributable to noncon-
trolling interest and net income attributable to controlling interest) should be dis-
closed on the face of the consolidated income statement. [14]

90 Percent Ownership,
Fair Value Greater than
Book Value




72

CHAPTER 3

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AFTER ACQUISITION

The account balances of both parent and subsidiary change to reflect their separate operations
after the parent—subsidiary relationship has been established. Subsequently, we make additional
adjustments to eliminate other reciprocal balances. If a consolidated balance sheet is prepared be-
tween the date a subsidiary declares and the date it pays dividends, the parent’s books will show a
dividend receivable account that is the reciprocal of a dividends payable account on the books of
the subsidiary. Such balances do not represent amounts receivable or payable outside the affiliated
group; therefore, they must be reciprocals that we eliminate in preparing consolidated statements.
We also eliminate other intercompany receivables and payables, such as accounts receivable and
accounts payable, in preparing consolidated statements.

The balance sheets of Pen and Sel Corporations at December 31, 2011, one year after acquisi-
tion, contain the following (in thousands):

Pen Sel

Cash $ 274 $15
Dividends receivable 9 —
Other current assets 41 28
Plant assets 75 45
Accumulated depreciation (20) 8)
Investment in Sel (90%) 54 —

Total assets $186.4 $80
Accounts payable $ 30 $15
Dividends payable — 10
Other current liabilities 20 5
Capital stock 100 30
Retained earnings 36.4 _20
Total equities $186.4 $80

Assumptions
1. Pen acquired a 90 percent interest in Sel for $45,000 on January 1, 2011, when
Sel’s stockholders’ equity at book value was $40,000 (see Exhibit 3-4).
2. The accounts payable of Sel include $5,000 owed to Pen.
3. During 2011 Sel had income of $20,000 and declared $10,000 in dividends.
Exhibit 3-5 presents consolidated balance sheet workpapers reflecting this information. We de-

termine the balance in the Investment in Sel account at December 31, 2011, using the equity method
of accounting. Calculations of the December 31, 2011, investment account balance are as follows:

Original investment January 1, 2011 $45,000

Add: 90% of Sel’s $20,000 net income for 2011 18,000

Deduct: 90% of Sel’s $10,000 dividends for 2011 (9,000)
Investment account balance December 31, 2011 $54,000

Even though the amounts involved are different, the process of consolidating balance sheets
after acquisition is basically the same as at acquisition. In all cases, we eliminate the amount of
the subsidiary investment account and the equity accounts of the subsidiary. We enter the excess
of fair value over book value (goodwill in this illustration) in the workpapers during the process of
eliminating reciprocal investment and equity balances. Goodwill does not appear on the books of
the parent; we add it to the asset listing when preparing the workpapers. The noncontrolling inter-
est is equal to the percentage of noncontrolling ownership times the fair value of the equity of the
subsidiary at the balance sheet date. Consolidated retained earnings equal the parent company’s
retained earnings.

The workpaper entries necessary to consolidate the balance sheets of Pen and Sel are repro-
duced in general journal form for convenient reference:
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PEN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPERS
DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

90 Percent Ownership,
Consolidation One Year
after Acquisition

Adjustments and Consolidated
Eliminations Balance
Pen 90% Sel Debits Credits Sheet

Assets
Cash $ 274 $15 $ 424
Dividends receivable 9 b 9
Other current assets 41 28 c 5 64
Plant assets 75 45 120
Accumulated depreciation (20) 8) (28)
Investment in Sel 54 ab4
Goodwill al0 10

Total assets $186.4 $80 $208.4
Liabilities and Equity — —
Accounts payable $ 30 $15 c 5 $ 40
Dividends payable 10 b 9 1
Other current liabilities 20 5 25
Capital stock—Pen 100 100
Retained earnings—Pen 36.4 36.4
Capital stock—Sel 30 a30
Retained earnings—Sel 20 a20

$186.4 $80

Noncontrolling interest a6 6

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $208.4

a. To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances, record goodwill, and enter the noncontrolling
interest ($60,000 x 10%).

b. To eliminate reciprocal dividends receivable and payable amounts (90 percent of $10,000 dividends
payable of Sel).

¢. To eliminate intercompany accounts receivable and accounts payable.

a

b

C

Capital stock—Sel (-SE)
Retained earnings—Sel (-SE)
Goodwill (+A)
Investment in Sel (-A)
Noncontrolling interest (+SE)
To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances, record
goodwill, and enter the noncontrolling interest ($60,000 x 10%).
Dividends payable (-L)
Dividends receivable (-A)

To eliminate reciprocal dividends receivable and payable amounts
(90% of $10,000 dividends payable of Sel).

Accounts payable (-L)
Other current assets (=A)

To eliminate intercompany accounts receivable and accounts payable.

30

20

10
54
6

9
9

5
5
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ASSIGNING EXCESS TO IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS AND GOODWILL

We assigned the excess of fair value over the book value in the Pen—Sel illustration to goodwill.
An underlying assumption of that assignment of the excess is that the book values and fair values
of identifiable assets and liabilities are equal. When the evidence indicates that fair values exceed
book values or book values exceed fair values, however, we assign the excess accordingly.

Effect of Assignment on Consolidated Balance Sheet at Acquisition

The separate books of the affiliated companies do not record fair value/book value differentials in
acquisitions that create parent—subsidiary relationships. We use workpaper procedures to adjust
subsidiary book values to reflect the fair value/book value differentials. The adjusted amounts ap-
pear in the consolidated balance sheet. We determine the amount of the adjustment to individual
assets and liabilities using the one-line consolidation approach presented in Chapter 2.

On December 31, 2011, Pil purchases 90 percent of Sad Corporation’s outstanding voting com-
mon stock directly from Sad Corporation’s stockholders for $5,200,000 cash plus 100,000 shares
of Pil Corporation $10 par common stock with a market value of $5,000,000. Additional costs of
combination are $200,000. Pil pays these additional costs in cash. Pil and Sad must continue to
operate as parent company and subsidiary because 10 percent of Sad’s shares are outstanding and
held by noncontrolling stockholders. We expense the $200,000 costs in recording the investment.

Comparative book value and fair value information for Pil and Sad immediately before the
acquisition on December 31, 2011, appears in Exhibit 3-6. Pil records the acquisition on its books
with the following journal entries in thousands:

Investment in Sad (+A) 10,200
Common stock (+SE) 1,000
Additional paid-in capital (+SE) 4,000
Cash (—A) 5,200

To record acquisition of 90% of Sad Corporation’s
outstanding stock for $5,200,000 in cash and 100,000
shares of Pil common stock with a value of $5,000,000.
Investment expense (E, —SE) 200
Cash (—A) 200
To record additional costs of combining with Sad.

These are the only entries on Pil’s books necessary to record the combination of Pil and Sad.
Sad records no entries because Pil acquired its 90 percent interest directly from Sad’s stockhold-
ers. We do not use the balance sheet information given in Exhibit 3-6 in recording the acquisi-
tion on Pil’s books; we use it in preparing the consolidated balance sheet for the combined entity
immediately after the acquisition.

Recording the Fair Value/Book Value Differential We determine the adjustments necessary
to combine the balance sheets of parent and subsidiary corporations by assigning the difference
between fair value and book value to undervalued or overalued identifiable assets and liabilities
and any remainder to goodwill. The schedule in Exhibit 3-7 illustrates the adjustment necessary to
consolidate the balance sheets of Pil and Sad at December 31, 2011.

Although we do not use the book values of assets and liabilities in determining fair values for
individual assets and liabilities (these are usually determined by management), we use book values
in the mechanical process of combining the balance sheets of parent and subsidiary.

The underlying book value of Sad Corporation is $5,900,000 (as shown in Exhibit 3-7), and the
excess of fair value over book value is $5,433,000. We assign this excess first to the identifiable
assets and liabilities and then assign the remainder to goodwill. The amounts assigned to identifi-
able assets and liabilities are for 100 percent of the fair value and book value difference. The other
10 percent interest in Sad’s identifiable net assets relates to the interests of noncontrolling stock-
holders adjusted to their fair values on the basis of the price paid by Pil for its 90 percent interest.?

Workpaper Procedures to Enter Allocations in Consolidated Balance Sheet We incorpo-
rate the excess fair value over book value as determined in Exhibit 3-7 into a consolidated balance

SRevaluation of all assets and liabilities of a subsidiary on the basis of the price paid by the parent for its controlling
interest is supported by the entity theory of consolidation. Entity theory is covered in more detail in Chapter 11.
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Preacquisition Book
and Fair Value Balance
Sheets

Pil Corporation Sad Corporation
(in thousands) Per Books Fair Values Per Books Fair Values
Assets
Cash $ 6,600 $ 6,600 $ 200 $ 200
Receivables—net 700 700 300 300
Inventories 900 1,200 500 600
Other current assets 600 800 400 400
Land 1,200 11,200 600 800
Buildings—net 8,000 15,000 4,000 5,000
Equipment—net 7,000 9,000 2,000 1,700
Total assets $25,000 $44,500 $8,000 $9,000
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 2,000 $ 2,000 $ 700 $ 700
Notes payable 3,700 3,500 1,400 1,300
Common stock, $10 par 10,000 4,000
Additional paid-in capital 5,000 1,000
Retained earnings 4,300 900
Total liabilities and
stockholders’equity $25,000 $8,000
PIL CORPORATION AND ITS 90%-OWNED SUBSIDIARY,
SAD CORPORATION (IN THOUSANDS)
Fair value (purchase price) of 90% interest acquired $10,200
Implied fair value of Sad ($10,200 / 90%) $11,333
Book value of Sad’s net assets (5,900)
Total excess of fair value over book value $ 5433

Schedule for Allocating
the excess of
Investment Fair Value
over the Book Value

Allocation to Identifiable Assets and Liabilities

Fair Value Book Value Excess Allocated
Inventories $ 600 $ 500 $ 100
Land 800 600 200
Buildings 5,000 4,000 1,000
Equipment 1,700 2,000 (300)
Notes payable 1,300 1,400 100
Total allocated to identifiable net assets $1,100
Remainder allocated to goodwill 4,333
Total excess of fair value over book value $5,433

sheet through workpaper procedures. Exhibit 3-8 illustrates these procedures for Pil and Sad as of
the date of their affiliation.
The consolidated balance sheet workpapers show two workpaper entries for the consolidation.

Entry a in general journal form follows:

a

Unamortized excess (+A)
Common stock, $10 par—Sad (-SE)

Additional paid-in capital—Sad (-SE)

Retained earnings—Sad (-SE)
Investment in Sad (-A)

Noncontrolling interest—10% (+SE)

5,433
4,000
1,000

900

10,200
1,133
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90 Percent Ownership, Excess Allocated to Identifiable Net Assets and Goodwill

PIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPERS
AFTER COMBINATION ON DECEMBER 31, 2011
(IN THOUSANDS)
Adjustments and .
Eliminations Vol
Balance
Pil 90% Sad Debits Credits Sheet

Assets
Cash $ 1,200 $ 200 $ 1,400
Receivables—net 700 300 1,000
Inventories 900 500 b 100 1,500
Other current assets 600 400 1,000
Land 1,200 600 b 200 2,000
Buildings—net 8,000 4,000 b 1,000 13,000
Equipment—net 7,000 2,000 b 300 8,700
Investment in Sad 10,200 210,200
Goodwill b 4,333 4,333
Unamortized excess a5,433 b 5,433

Total assets $29,800 $8,000 $32,933
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 2,000 $ 700 $ 2,700
Notes payable 3,700 1,400 b 100 5,000
Common stock—Pil 11,000 11,000
Additional paid-in capital—Pil 9,000 9,000
Retained earnings—Pil 4,100 4,100
Common stock—Sad 4,000 a 4,000
Additional paid-in
capital—Sad 1,000 a 1,000
Retained earnings—Sad 900 a 900

$29,800 $8,000

Noncontrolling interest a 1,133 1,133

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $32,933

a. To eliminate reciprocal subsidiary investment and equity balances, establish noncontrolling interest, and
enter the unamortized excess.
b. To allocate the unamortized excess to identifiable assets, liabilities, and goodwill.

This workpaper entry eliminates reciprocal investment in Sad and stockholders’ equity amounts
of Sad, establishes the noncontrolling interest in Sad, and enters the total unamortized excess from
Exhibit 3-7.
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A second workpaper entry assigns the unamortized excess to individual assets and liabilities
and to goodwill:

b Inventories (+A) 100
Land (+A) 200
Buildings—net (+A) 1,000
Goodwill (+A) 4,333
Notes payable (-L) 100
Equipment—net (-A) 300
Unamortized excess (-A) 5,433

We add a step and employ an unamortized excess account to simplify workpaper entries when
assigning the fair value/book value differential to numerous asset and liability accounts. We skip
this step when assigning the total excess to goodwill, as in Exhibit 3-4 and Exhibit 3-5. Workpaper
entries a and b enter debits and credits equal to the unamortized excess, so the account has no final
effect on the consolidated balance sheet.

We combine debit and credit workpaper amounts with the line items shown in the separate
statements of Pil and Sad to produce the amounts shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet col-
umn. Sad is a partially owned subsidiary, but we record its assets and liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet at 100 percent of their fair values.

Effect of Amortization on Consolidated Balance Sheet After Acquisition

The effect of amortizing the $5,433,000 excess on the December 31, 2012, consolidated balance
sheet is based on the following assumptions about the operations of Pil and Sad during 2012 and
about the relevant amortization periods of the assets and liabilities to which we allocate the excess
in Exhibit 3-7. These assumptions are as follows:

Income for 2012
Sad’s net income $ 800,000
Pil’s income excluding income from Sad 2,523,500
Dividends Paid in 2012
Sad $ 300,000
Pil 1,500,000

Amortization of Excess

Undervalued inventories—sold in 2012

Undervalued land—still held by Sad; no amortization
Undervalued buildings—useful life 40 years from January 1, 2012
Overvalued equipment—useful life 5 years from January 1, 2012
Overvalued notes payable—retired in 2012

Goodwill—no amortization

At December 31, 2012, Pil’s Investment in Sad account has a balance of $10,501,500, con-
sisting of the original $10,200,000 cost, increased by $571,500 investment income from Sad and
decreased by $270,000 dividends received from Sad. Pil’s income from Sad for 2012 is calculated
under a one-line consolidation as follows:

Using an equity method perspective, we calculate Pil’s income from Sad as follows:

90% of Sad’s reported net income ($800,000) $720,000

Add: Pil’s 90% share of amortization on overvalued 54,000
equipment (($300,000/5 years) X 90%)

Deduct: Amortization of Pil’s share of excess allocated to:

Inventories (sold in 2012) ($100,000 X 90%) $90,000

Land —

Buildings (($1,000,000/40 years) X 90%) 22,500

Notes payable (retired in 2012) ($100,000 X 90%) 90,000 (202,500)

Income from Sad $571,500

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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Alternatively, we can calculate income from Sad as 90 percent of Sad’s “adjusted” net income:

Sad’s net income $800,000
Add: Amortization of overvalued equipment 60,000
($300,000/5 years)

Deduct: Amortization of excess allocated to:

Inventories (sold in 2012) $100,000

Land

Buildings ($1,000,000/40 years) 25,000

Notes payable (retired in 2012) 100,000 (225.,000)
Sad’s adjusted net income $635,000
90% of Sad’s adjusted net income $571,500

We can also verify the noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2012, as follows:

Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2011 $1,133,000
Add: 10% of Sad’s 2012 net income 80,000
Less: 10% of 2012 amortization of excess fair value (16,500)
Less: 10% of 2012 dividends (30,000)
Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2012 $1,166,500

Pil’s net income for 2012 is $3,095,000, consisting of income from its own operations of
$2,523,500, plus $571,500 income from Sad. Sad’s stockholders equity increased $500,000 dur-
ing 2012, from $5,900,000 to $6,400,000. Pil’s retained earnings increased $1,795,000, from
$4,100,000 at December 31, 2011, to $5,895,000 at December 31, 2012. Pil’s retained earnings
decreased from $4,300,000 to $4,100,000 at the acquisition date due to the expensing of the costs
of the combination. We reflect this information in consolidated balance sheet workpapers for Pil
and Subsidiary at December 31, 2012, in Exhibit 3-9.

We reproduce the workpaper entries as follows:

a Common stock—Sad (-SE) 4,000
Additional paid-in capital—Sad (-SE) 1,000
Retained earnings—Sad (-SE) 1,400
Unamortized excess (+A) 5,268
Investment in Sad (-A) 10,501.5
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 1,166.5

To eliminate reciprocal subsidiary investment and
equity accounts, establish noncontrolling interest,
and enter the unamortized excess.

b Land (+A) 200

Buildings—net (+A) 975

Goodwill (+A) 4,333
Equipment—net (-A) 240
Unamortized excess (-A) 5,268

To assign the unamortized excess to identifiable assets and goodwill.

The differences in the adjustments and eliminations in Exhibit 3-8 and Exhibit 3-9 result
from changes that occurred between December 31, 2011, when the investment was acquired, and
December 31, 2012, when the investment had been held for one year. The following schedule
provides the basis for the workpaper entries that appear in Exhibit 3-9.

Unamortized Unamortized
Excess December Excess December
31,2011 Amortization 31,2012

Inventories $ 100,000 $100,000 $ —
Land 200,000 — 200,000
Buildings—net 1,000,000 25,000 975,000
Equipment—net (300,000) (60,000) (240,000)*
Notes payable 100,000 100,000 —
Goodwill 4,333,000 4,333,000

$5.433,000 $165,000 $5,268,000

*Excess book value over fair value.
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PIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPERS
ON DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

90 Percent Ownership,
Unamortized Excess One
Year after Acquisition

Adﬁ;l%%i%snind Consolidated
Balance
Pil 90% Sad Debits Credits Sheet
Assets
Cash $ 2535 $ 100 $ 3535
Receivables—net 540 200 740
Inventories 1,300 600 1,900
Other current assets 800 500 1,300
Land 1,200 600 b 200 2,000
Buildings—net 9,500 3,800 b 975 14,275
Equipment—net 8,000 1,800 b 240 9,560
Investment in Sad 10,501.5 a10,501.5
Goodwill b 4,333 4,333
Unamortized excess ab5268 b 5,268
Total assets $32,095 $7,600 $34,461.5
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 2,300 $1,200 $ 3,500
Notes payable 4,000 4,000
Common stock—PIil 11,000 11,000
Additional paid-in capital—Pil 8,900 8,900
Retained earnings—~Pil 5,895 5,895
Common stock—Sad 4,000 a4,000
Additional paid-in capital—Sad 1,000 a 1,000
Retained earnings—Sad 1,400 a 1,400
$32005 | $7.600
Noncontrolling Interest a1,166.5 1,166.5
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $34,461.5

enter the unamortized excess.

b To allocate the unamortized excess to identifiable assets and goodwill.

a To eliminate reciprocal subsidiary investment and equity balances, establish noncontrolling interest, and

The following summarizes the transactions recorded by Pil in its Investment in Sad account:

Initial cost—December 31, 2011
90% of Sad’s 2012 net income
90% of Sad’s 2012 dividends

Amortization of the fair value/book value differential (90% x 165,000)

Balance—December 31, 2012

$10,200,000

720,000
(270,000)
(148,500)

$10,501,500

The consolidated balance sheet workpaper adjustments in Exhibit 3-9 show elimination of
reciprocal stockholders’ equity and Investment in Sad balances. This elimination, entry a, involves
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debits to Sad’s stockholders’ equity accounts of $6,400,000, a credit to the noncontrolling interest
in Sad of $1,166,500, and a credit to the Investment in Sad account of $10,501,500. The difference
between these debits and credits totals $5,268,000, representing the unamortized excess of invest-
ment fair value over book value acquired on December 31, 2012, and we enter it in the workpapers
as unamortized excess.

The undervalued inventory items and the overvalued notes payable on Sad’s books at De-
cember 31, 2011, were fully amortized in 2012 (the inventory was sold and the notes payable
were retired); therefore, these items do not require balance sheet adjustments at December 31,
2012. We enter the remaining items—Iland, $200,000; buildings, $975,000; equipment, $240,000
(overvaluation); and goodwill, $4,333,000 (which account for the $5,268,000 unamortized ex-
cess)—in the consolidated balance sheet workpapers through workpaper entry b, which assigns
the unamortized excess as of the balance sheet date. Technically, the workpaper entries shown
in Exhibit 3-9 are combination adjustment and elimination entries, because we eliminate the
Investment in Sad and stockholders’ equity accounts of Sad, reclassify the noncontrolling interest
into a single amount representing 10 percent of the fair value of Sad’s stockholders’ equity, and
adjust the asset accounts.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Exhibit 3-10 presents comparative separate-company and consolidated income and retained earn-
ings statements for Pil Corporation and Subsidiary. These statements reflect the previous assump-
tions and amounts that were used in preparing the consolidated balance sheet workpapers for Pil
and Sad. Detailed revenue and expense items have been added to illustrate the consolidated in-
come statement, but all assumptions and amounts are completely compatible with those already
introduced. Adjustments and elimination entries have not been included in the illustration. These
entries are covered extensively in Chapter 4.

The difference between a consolidated income statement and an unconsolidated income state-
ment of the parent company lies in the detail presented. You can see this in Exhibit 3-10 by com-
paring the separate income statement of Pil with the consolidated income statement of Pil and
Subsidiary. Under GAAP [15], consolidated net income is the net income of the consolidated
group. The consolidated income statement must clearly separate income attributable to the con-
trolling and noncontrolling interests. Throughout the remainder of this text, we label these as the
controlling and noncontrolling interest shares of net income.

Pil’s separate income statement shows the revenues and expenses from Pil’s own operations
plus its investment income from Sad.° By contrast, the consolidated income statement column
shows the revenues and expenses of both Sad and Pil but does not show the investment income
from Sad. The $571,500 investment income is excluded because the consolidated income state-
ment includes the detailed revenues ($2,200,000), expenses ($1,400,000), net amortization of
the excess ($165,000), and the noncontrolling interest ($63,500) that account for the investment
income.

We reflect the net amortization in the consolidated income statement by increasing cost of
goods sold for the $100,000 undervalued inventories that were sold in 2012, increasing depre-
ciation expense on undervalued buildings for the $25,000 amortization on the excess allocated to
buildings, decreasing depreciation expense on equipment for the $60,000 amortization of the ex-
cess allocated to overvalued equipment, and increasing interest expense for the $100,000 allocated
to overvalued notes payable that were retired in 2012.

Consolidated income statements, like consolidated balance sheets, are more than summations
of the income accounts of the affiliates. A summation of all income statement items for Pil and Sad
would result in a combined income figure of $3,895,000, whereas consolidated net income is only
$3,158,500. The $736,500 difference between these two amounts lies in the investment income of
$571,500 and the $165,000 amortization.

A parent’s income from subsidiary investments is referred to as income from subsidiary, equity in subsidiary earn-
ings, investment income from subsidiary, or other descriptive captions.
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PIL AND SAD CORPORATIONS

SEPARATE COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Separate Company and
Consolidated Income
and Retained Earnings
Statements

Separate Company
Pil Sad Consolidated

Sales $9,523.5 $2,200 $11,723.5
Investment income from Sad 571.5 .

Total revenue 10,095 2,200 11,723.5
Less: Operating expenses

Cost of sales 4,000 700 4,800

Depreciation expense—buildings 200 80 305

Depreciation expense—equipment 700 360 1,000

Other expenses 1,800 120 1,920
Total operating expense 6,700 1,260 8,025
Operating income 3,395 940 3,698.5
Nonoperating item: Interest expense 300 _ 140 540

Net income $3,095 $ 800
Consolidated net income 3,158.5
Less: Noncontrolling interest share 63.5

Controlling interest share $ 3,095
Retained earnings December 31, 2011 4,300 _900 4,300

7,395 1,700 7,395

Deduct: Dividends 1,500 __ 300 1,500

Retained earnings December 31, 2012 5,895 $1,400 $ 5,895

Note that consolidated net income represents income to the stockholders of the consolidated
group. Income of noncontrolling stockholders is a deduction in the determination of income of the
controlling shareholders.

If the parent sells merchandise to its subsidiary, or vice versa, there will be intercompany pur-
chases and sales on the separate books of the parent and its subsidiary. Intercompany purchases
and sales balances are reciprocals that must be eliminated in preparing consolidated income state-
ments because they do not represent purchases and sales to parties outside the consolidated entity.
Intercompany inventory transactions are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 5. Adjustments for
intercompany sales and purchases reduce revenue (sales) and expenses (cost of goods sold) by the
same amount and therefore have no effect on consolidated net income. Reciprocal rent income and
expense amounts are likewise eliminated without affecting consolidated net income.

Observe that Pil’s separate retained earnings are identical to consolidated retained earnings.
As expected, the $5,895,000 ending consolidated retained earnings in Exhibit 3-10 is the same
amount that appears in the consolidated balance sheet for Pil and Subsidiary at December 31, 2012
(see Exhibit 3-9).

PUSH-DOWN ACCOUNTING

In the Pil and Sad illustration, we recorded the investment on the books of Pil at cost and assign
the purchase price to identifiable assets and liabilities and goodwill through workpaper adjusting
entries. In some instances, the assignment of the purchase price may be recorded in the subsidi-
ary accounts—in other words, pushed down to the subsidiary records. Push-down accounting is
the process of recording the effects of the purchase price assignment directly on the books of the
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subsidiary. Push-down accounting affects the books of the subsidiary and separate subsidiary fi-
nancial statements. It does not alter consolidated financial statements and, in fact, simplifies the
consolidation process. The SEC requires push-down accounting for SEC filings when a subsidiary
is substantially wholly owned (approximately 90 percent) with no publicly-held debt or preferred
stock outstanding.

Pac Corporation gives 5,000 shares of Pac $10 par common stock and $100,000 cash for all the
capital stock of Sim Company, a closely held company, on January 3, 2011. At this time, Pac’s
stock is quoted on a national exchange at $55 a share. We summarize Sim’s balance sheet and fair
value information on January 3 as follows (in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Cash $ 30 $ 30
Accounts receivable—net 90 90
Inventories 130 150
Land 30 70
Buildings—net 150 130
Equipment—net _ 80 120

Total assets $510 $590
Current liabilities $100 $100
Long-term debt 150 150
Capital stock, $10 par 150
Retained earnings 110

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $510

Under push-down accounting, Pac records its investment in Sim in the usual manner:

Investment in Sim (+A)

375

Cash (—A) 100
Capital stock, $10 par (+SE) 50
Additional paid-in capital (+SE) 225

To record acquisition of Sim Company.

An entry must also be made on Sim’s books on January 3 to record the new asset bases, includ-

ing goodwill, in its accounts. Because Sim is considered similar to a new entity, it also has to re-
classify retained earnings. Sim makes the following entry to record the push-down values:

Inventories (+A) 20

Land (+A) 40

Equipment—net (+A) 40

Goodwill (+A) 35

Retained earnings (—SE) 110
Building—net (—A) 20
Push-down capital (+SE) 225

Sim (the subsidiary) records this entry on its separate accounting records when using push-
down accounting.

A separate balance sheet prepared for Sim Company immediately after the business combina-
tion on January 3 includes the following accounts and amounts (in thousands):

Cash $ 30
Accounts receivable—net 90
Inventories 150
Land 70
Buildings—net 130
Equipment—net 120
Goodwill 35

Total assets $625
Current liabilities $100
Long-term debt 150
Capital stock, $10 par 150
Push-down capital 225

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $625
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Worksheet for Consolidated Balance Sheet

PARENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPER
DECEMBER 31, 2011
Adjustments and Consolidated
Eliminations Balance
(in thousands) Parent Subsidiary Debits Credits Sheet
Cash 420 200 =B7+C7+D7—E7
Receivables—net 500 1,300 =B8+C8+D8—E8
Inventories 3,500 500 =B9-+C9+D9—E9
Land 1,500 2,000 =B10+C10+D10—-E10
Equipment—net 6,000 1,000 =B11+C11+D11-E11
Q:g:f;‘;‘;t in 1590 —B12:+C12+D12-E12
=B13+C13+D13—E13
Total assets =SUM(B7:B13) =SUM(C7:C13) =SUM(F7:F13)
Accounts payable 4,100 800 =B15+C15-D15+E15
Dividends payable 600 100 =B16+C16—D16+E16
Capital stock 10,000 3,000 =B17+C17-D17+E17
Retained earnings 1,810 1,100 =B18+C18—D18+E18
Total equities =SUM(B15:B18) =SUM(C15:C18)
=SUM(F15:F21)
=SUM(D7:D22) =SUM(E7:E22)
In consolidating the balance sheets of Pac and Sim at January 3, 2011, after the push-down en-
tries are made on Sim’s books, we eliminate the investment in Sim account on Pac’s books against
Sim’s capital stock and push-down capital and combine the other accounts.
PREPARING A CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKSHEET LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

In this section you will learn how to set up a worksheet to prepare a consolidated balance sheet.
Refer to Exhibit 3-11. We have two columns to record the balance sheet information for a parent
company and (in our example) a 90 percent-owned subsidiary company. The numbers in these two
columns are simply copied from the individual-company balance sheets. We include two columns
to record the debits and credits for consolidation adjustments and eliminations. The final column
provides calculations of the correct consolidated balance sheet totals.

Exhibit 3-11 shows spreadsheet formulae used in preparing the worksheet. Notice that most of
these can be input using the COPY command available in the spreadsheet software. In the first
two columns, total assets and total equities are simple summations of the relevant balances. The
adjustments and eliminations columns each contain a single summation formula for the column
totals. This is useful in verifying the equality of debits and credits—that in other words, you have
not made any errors in posting your consolidation entries.

There are lots of formulae in the consolidated balance sheet column, but again most of these
can be entered with the COPY command. Let’s look at the formula for Cash (=B7+C7+D7-E7).
We simply sum parent-company cash plus subsidiary-company cash and then make any needed
adjustments and eliminations. Notice that cash has a normal debit balance, so we add the debit
adjustments (+D7) and subtract credits (—E7) to arrive at the consolidated total. We can copy our
formula for all accounts having normal debit balances (i.e., all assets).
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Now let’s review the formula for Accounts payable (=B15+C15-D15+E15). We sum parent-
company accounts payable plus subsidiary-company accounts payable and then make adjustments
and eliminations. Notice that accounts payable has a normal credit balance, so we subtract debit
adjustments (-D15) and add credits (+E15) to arrive at the consolidated total. We can copy our
formula for all accounts having normal credit balances (i.e., all liabilities and equities).

We will discuss the completion of the worksheet by working through a sample problem. Sepa-
rate company balance sheets for Parent Corporation and Subsidiary Company at December 31,
2011, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Parent Subsidiary

Corporation Company
Cash $ 420 $ 200
Receivables—net 500 1,300
Inventories 3,500 500
Land 1,500 2,000
Equipment—net 6,000 1,000

Investment in Subsidiary 4,590

Total assets $16,510 $5,000
Accounts payable $ 4,100 $ 800
Dividends payable 600 100
Capital stock 10,000 3,000
Retained earnings 1,810 1,100
Total equities $16,510 $5,000

Parent Corporation acquired 90 percent of the outstanding voting shares of Subsidiary Com-
pany for $4,500,000 on January 1, 2011, when Subsidiary’s stockholders’ equity was $4,000,000.
All of the assets and liabilities of Subsidiary were recorded at their fair values (equal to book val-
ues) when Parent acquired its 90 percent interest. During 2011, Subsidiary reported net income of
$200,000 and declared a dividend of $100,000. The dividend remained unpaid on December 31.
Because the fair value of Parent’s 90 percent interest is $4,500,000, the implied total fair value
of the subsidiary is $5,000,000 on the acquisition date. Because subsidiary book value equals
$4,000,000, goodwill must be $1,000,000.

We enter the data into our worksheet in Exhibit 3-11. We record balance sheet amounts picked
up from the parent and the subsidiary. Total assets and total equities are simple summation func-
tions. Next, we will review the required consolidation adjustments and eliminations. We provide a
separate Exhibit 3-12 to show the final worksheet, after posting the adjustments and eliminations.
This is simply Exhibit 3-11 updated to reflect the entries that follow. Notice too, that we have
added some new accounts. We create noncontrolling interest and goodwill and copy the relevant
formulae. The first workpaper entry in Exhibit 3-12 is the following:

a Capital stock (-SE) 3,000

Retained earnings (-SE) 1,100

Goodwill (+A) 1,000
Investment in Subsidiary (-A) 4,590
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 510

To enter goodwill and the noncontrolling interest and to eliminate
subsidiary capital accounts and the parent-company investment account.

Here is a journal entry for workpaper entry b for Exhibit 3-12:

b Dividends payable (-L) 90
Receivables—net (-A) 90
To eliminate the intercompany receivable and payable for dividends.

Our spreadsheet formulae compute the consolidated totals for us in the final column, completing
the worksheet. Practice creating the spreadsheet for a few problems to be certain you understand the
mechanics. However, you will not need to create your own spreadsheet for all problem assignments.
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Final Worksheet

PARENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET WORKPAPER
DECEMBER 31, 2011
Adjustments and Consolidated
Eliminations Balance

(in thousands) Parent Subsidiary Debits Credits Sheet
Cash 420 200 620
Receivables—net 500 1,300 b 90 1,710
Inventories 3,500 500 4,000
Land 1,500 2,000 3,500
Equipment—net 6,000 1,000 7,000
Investment in Subsidiary 4,590 a4,590 0
Goodwill . - a 1,000 1,000

Total assets 16,510 5,000 17,830
Accounts payable 4,100 800 4,900
Dividends payable 600 100 b 90 610
Capital stock 10,000 3,000 a 3,000 10,000
Retained earnings 1,810 1,100 a1,100 1,810

Total equities 16,510 5,000
Noncontrolling interest a 510 510

17,830
5190 5190

We eliminate the drudgery, and allow you to focus on learning the concepts, by providing spread-
sheet templates for many assignments on the Advanced Accounting Web site. An icon in the assign-
ment material indicates the availability of a template. The templates include the data for the parent
and subsidiary companies and the formulae for calculating the consolidated balances.

GAAP usually requires consolidated financial statements for the fair presentation of financial po-
sition and the results of operations of a parent company and its subsidiaries. Consolidated finan-
cial statements are not merely summations of parent-company and subsidiary financial statement
items. Consolidated statements eliminate reciprocal amounts and combine and include only non-
reciprocal amounts. We eliminate the investment in subsidiary and the subsidiary stockholders’
equity accounts in the preparation of consolidated financial statements because they are recipro-
cal, both representing the net assets of the subsidiary. Sales and borrowing transactions between
parent and subsidiaries also give rise to reciprocal amounts that we eliminate in the consolidating
process.

The stockholders’ equity amounts that appear in the consolidated balance sheet are those of the
parent company, except for the equity of noncontrolling stockholders, which we report as a sepa-
rate item within consolidated stockholders’ equity. Consolidated net income is a measurement of
income to the stockholders of the consolidated group. Incomes accruing to the benefit of control-
ling and noncontrolling stockholders are components of consolidated net income. Parent-company
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net income and retained earnings are equal to the controlling share of net income and consolidated
retained earnings, respectively.

I

© o N

10.

11.
12
13.

14.

15.
16.
17.

18.

. When does a corporation become a subsidiary of another corporation?

In allocating the excess of investment fair value over book value of a subsidiary, are the amounts allo-
cated to identifiable assets and liabilities (land and notes payable, for example) recorded separately in the
accounts of the parent? Explain.

If the fair value of a subsidiary’s land was $100,000 and its book value was $90,000 when the parent
acquired its 100 percent interest for cash, at what amount would the land be included in the consolidated
balance sheet immediately after the acquisition? Would your answer be different if the parent had ac-
quired an 80 percent interest?

Define or explain the terms parent company, subsidiary company, affiliates, and associates.
What is a noncontrolling interest?

Describe the circumstances under which the accounts of a subsidiary would not be included in the con-
solidated financial statements.

Who are the primary users for which consolidated financial statements are intended?
What amount of capital stock is reported in a consolidated balance sheet?
In what general ledger would you expect to find the account “goodwill from consolidation”?

How should the parent’s investment in subsidiary account be classified in a consolidated balance sheet?
In the parent’s separate balance sheet?

Name some reciprocal accounts that might be found in the separate records of a parent and its subsidiaries.
Why are reciprocal amounts eliminated in preparing consolidated financial statements?

How does the stockholders’ equity of the parent that uses the equity method of accounting differ from the
consolidated stockholders’ equity of the parent and its subsidiaries?

Is there a difference in the amounts reported in the statement of retained earnings of a parent that uses the
equity method of accounting and the amounts that appear in the consolidated retained earnings statement?

Is noncontrolling interest share an expense? Explain.
Describe how total noncontrolling interest at the end of an accounting period is determined.

What special procedures are required to consolidate the statements of a parent that reports on a calendar-
year basis and a subsidiary whose fiscal year ends on October 31?

Does the acquisition of shares held by noncontrolling shareholders constitute a business combination?

NOTE: Don’t forget the assumptions on page 46 when working exercises and problems in this chapter.

E 3-1 General questions

1.

2.

A 75 percent-owned subsidiary should not be consolidated when:

a. lts operations are dissimilar from those of the parent company

b. Control of the subsidiary does not lie with the parent company

c. There is a dominant noncontrolling interest in the subsidiary

d. Management feels that consolidation would not provide the most meaningful financial statements

An 80 percent owned subsidiary that cannot be consolidated must be accounted for:

a. Under the equity method

b. Under the cost method

¢. Under the equity method if the parent exercises significant influence over the subsidiary
d. At market value if the subsidiary is in bankruptcy

Consolidated statements for Por Corporation and its 60 percent-owned investee, Spy Company, will not be pre-
pared under current GAAP if:

a. The fiscal periods of Por and Spy are more than three months apart

b. Por is a major manufacturing company and Spy is an insurance company

c. Spy is a foreign company

d. This is a combination of companies formerly under common control
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4. Par Industries owns 7,000,000 shares of Sub Corporation’s outstanding common stock (a 70 percent interest). The

remaining 3,000,000 outstanding common shares of Sub are held by Ott Insurance Company. On Par Industries’
consolidated financial statements, Ott Insurance Company is considered:

a. Aninvestee

b. An associated company

c. An affiliated company

d. A noncontrolling interest

. On January 1, Paxton Company purchased 75 percent of the outstanding shares of Salem Company at a cost
exceeding the book value and fair value of Salem’s net assets. Using the following notations, describe the amount
at which the plant assets will appear in a consolidated balance sheet of Paxton Company and Subsidiary prepared
immediately after the acquisition:

P, = book value of Paxton's plant assets
P;, = fair value of Paxton's plant assets
Sy, = book value of Salem's plant assets
S;, = fair value of Salem's plant assets

Pyt Spy & (S7=Sp,)

P, + 0.75,,) + 0.75S,~S,,)
P, +0.75(S,)

Py, + Sy 0.755,-S,,)

*ULO T

E 3-2
General questions

1. Under GAAP, a parent company should exclude a subsidiary from consolidation if:
a. It measures income from the subsidiary under the equity method
b. The subsidiary is in a regulated industry
¢. The subsidiary is a foreign entity whose books are recorded in a foreign currency
d. The parent and the subsidiary were under common control

2. The FASB’s primary motivation for requiring consolidation of all majority-owned subsidiaries was to:
a. Ensure disclosure of all loss contingencies
b. Prevent the use of off-balance sheet financing
¢. Improve comparability of the statements of cash flows
d. Establish criteria for exclusion of finance and insurance subsidiaries from consolidation

3. Parent-company and consolidated financial statement amounts would not be the same for:
a. Capital stock
b. Retained earnings
¢. Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries
d. Investments in consolidated subsidiaries

4. Noncontrolling interest, as it appears in a consolidated balance sheet, refers to:
a. Owners of less than 50 percent of the parent company’s stock
b. Parent’s interest in subsidiary companies
c. Interest expense on subsidiary’s bonds payable
d. Equity in the subsidiary’s net assets held by stockholders other than the parent

5. Pat Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sal Corporation on January 1, 2011, and issued consolidated
financial statements at and for the year ended December 31, 2011. Pat and Sal had issued separate-company

financial statements in 2010.

a. The change in reporting entity is reported by restating the financial statements of all prior periods presented as

consolidated statements.

b. The cumulative effect of the change in reporting entity is shown in a separate category of the income state-

ment net of tax.
¢. The income effect of the error is charged or credited directly to beginning retained earnings.
d. The income effect of the accounting change is spread over the current and future periods.

6. The noncontrolling interest share that appears in the consolidated income statement is computed as follows:
a. Consolidated net income is multiplied by the noncontrolling interest percentage.

b. The subsidiary’s income less amortization of fair/book value differentials is multiplied by the noncontrolling

interest percentage.
¢. Subsidiary net income is subtracted from consolidated net income.

d. Subsidiary income determined for consolidated statement purposes is multiplied by the noncontrolling interest

percentage.
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7. The retained earnings that appear on the consolidated balance sheet of a parent company and its 60 percent-

owned subsidiary are:
The parent company’s retained earnings plus 100 percent of the subsidiary’s retained earnings

o

b. The parent company’s retained earnings plus 60 percent of the subsidiary’s retained earnings
c. The parent company’s retained earnings
d. Pooled retained earnings

E3-3

[Based on AICPA] General problems

1. Cobb Company’s current receivables from affiliated companies at December 31, 2011, are (1) a $75,000 cash

advance to Hill Corporation (Cobb owns 30 percent of the voting stock of Hill and accounts for the investment by
the equity method), (2) a receivable of $260,000 from Vick Corporation for administrative and selling services (Vick
is 100 percent owned by Cobb and is included in Cobb’s consolidated financial statements), and (3) a receivable
of $200,000 from Ward Corporation for merchandise sales on credit (Ward is a 90 percent-owned, unconsolidated
subsidiary of Cobb accounted for by the equity method). In the current assets section of its December 31, 2011,
consolidated balance sheet, Cobb should report accounts receivable from investees in the amount of:

a. $180,000

b. $255,000

c. $275,000

d. $535,000

Use the following information in answering questions 2 and 3.

On January 1, 2011, Pow Corporation purchased all of Sap Corporation’s common stock for $2,400,000. On that
date, the fair values of Sap’s assets and liabilities equaled their carrying amounts of $2,640,000 and $640,000, re-
spectively. Pow’s policy is to amortize intangibles other than goodwill over 10 years. During 2011, Sap paid cash

dividends of $40,000.

Selected information from the separate balance sheets and income statements of Pow and Sap as of December 31,
2011, and for the year then ended follows (in thousands):

Pow Sap
Balance Sheet Accounts
Investment in subsidiary $2,640 —
Retained earnings 2,480 $1,120
Total stockholders’ equity 5,240 2,240
Income Statement Accounts
Operating income $ 840 $ 400
Equity in earnings of Sap 280 —
Net income 800 280

2. In Pow’s 2011 consolidated income statement, what amount should be reported for amortization of goodwill?

a. $0

b. $24,000
c. $36,000
d. $40,000

. In Pow’s December 31, 2011, consolidated balance sheet, what amount should be reported as total retained

earnings?

a. $2,480,000
b. $2,720,000
c. $2,760,000
d. $3,600,000

. Pop Corporation has several subsidiaries that are included in its consolidated financial statements. In its December

31, 2011, trial balance, Pop had the following intercompany balances before eliminations:

Debit Credit
Current receivable due from Sin Co. $ 64,000
Noncurrent receivable from Sin 228,000
Cash advance from Sun Corp. 12,000
Cash advance from Sit Co. $ 30,000

Intercompany payable to Sit 202,000
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In its December 31, 2011, consolidated balance sheet, what amount should Pop report as intercompany receivables?
a. $304,000
b. $292,000
c. $72,000
d. $0

E3-4

Correction of consolidated net income

Pin Corporation paid $1,800,000 for a 90 percent interest in San Corporation on January 1, 2011; San’s total book
value was $1,800,000. The excess was allocated as follows: $60,000 to undervalued equipment with a three-year
remaining useful life and $140,000 to goodwill. The income statements of Pin and San for 2011 are summarized as
follows (in thousands):

Pin San
Sales $4,000 $1,600
Income from San 180
Cost of sales (2,000) (800)
Depreciation expense (400) (240)
Other expenses (800) (360)
Net income $ 980 $ 200

REQUIRED

1. Calculate the goodwill that should appear in the consolidated balance sheet of Pin and Subsidiary at De-
cember 31, 2011.

2. Calculate consolidated net income for 2011.

E3-5
Disclosure of consolidated dividends

On December 31, 2011, the separate-company financial statements for Pan Corporation and its 70 percent-owned
subsidiary, Sad Corporation, had the following account balances related to dividends (in thousands):

Pan Sad
Dividends for 2011 $1,200 $800
Dividends payable at December 31, 2011 600 200

REQUIRED
1. At what amount will dividends be shown in the consolidated retained earnings statement?

2. At what amount should dividends payable be shown in the consolidated balance sheet?

E3-6

Prepare journal entries and balance sheet under push-down accounting
Book values and fair values of Sli Corporation’s assets and liabilities on December 31, 2010, are as follows (in
thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Cash $ 140 $ 140
Accounts receivable—net 160 160
Inventories 160 200
Land 300 400
Buildings—net 700 1,000
Equipment—net 440 600
$1,900 $2,500
Accounts payable $ 200 $ 200
Note payable 280 300
Capital stock 1,000
Retained earnings 420

$1,900
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On January 1, 2011, Por Corporation acquires all of Sli’s capital stock for $2,500,000 cash. The acquisition is recorded
using push-down accounting.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare the January 1 journal entry on Sli’s books to record push-down values.

2. Prepare a balance sheet for Sli Corporation immediately after the acquisition on January 1 under push-
down accounting.

E 3-7
Prepare consolidated income statements with and without fair value/book value
differentials

Summary income statement information for Pas Corporation and its 70 percent-owned subsidiary, Sit, for the year
2012 is as follows (in thousands):

Pas Sit
Sales $2,000 $ 800
Income from Sit 98 —
Cost of sales (1,200) (400)
Depreciation expense (100) (80)
Other expenses (398) (180)
Net income $ 400 $ 140

REQUIRED:

1. Assume that Pas acquired its 70 percent interest in Sit at book value on January 1, 2011, when the fair
value of Sits’ assets and liabilities were equal to recorded book values. There were no intercompany
transactions during 2011 and 2012. Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pas Corporation and
Subsidiary for 2012.

2. Assume that Pas acquired its 70 percent interest in Sit on January 1, 2011, for $280,000. $60,000 was allo-
cated to a reduction of overvalued equipment with a five-year remaining useful life and the remainder was
allocated to goodwill. Sit’s book value was $320,000. There were no intercompany transactions during
2011 and 2012. Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pas Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012.

E 3-8
Calculate consolidated balance sheet amounts with goodwill and noncontrolling
interest

Pob Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sof Corporation on January 2, 2011, for $1,400,000. On this date
the capital stock and retained earnings of the two companies were as follows (in thousands):

Pob Sof
Capital stock $3,600 $1,000
Retained earnings 1,600 200

The assets and liabilities of Sof were stated at fair values equal to book values when Pob acquired its 80 percent
interest. Pob uses the equity method to account for its investment in Sof.
Net income and dividends for 2011 for the affiliated companies were as follows:

Pob Sof
Net income $600 $180
Dividends declared 360 100
Dividends payable December 31, 2011 180 50

REQUIRED: Calculate the amounts at which the following items should appear in the consolidated balance
sheet on December 31, 2011.

1. Capital stock
2. Goodwill
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3. Consolidated retained earnings
4. Noncontrolling interest

5. Dividends payable

E 3-9

Prepare stockholders’ equity section of consolidated balance sheet one year after
acquisition

Pas and Sal Corporations’ balance sheets at December 31, 2010, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pas Sal
Cash $510 $120
Other assets 400 350
Total assets $910 $470
Liabilities $140 $ 70
Capital stock, par $10 600 350
Additional paid-in capital 100 30
Retained earnings 70 20
Total equities $910 $470

Pas acquired 80 percent of the voting stock of Sal on January 2, 2011, at a cost of $320,000. The fair values of
Sal's net assets were equal to book values on January 2, 2011.

During 2011, Pas reported earnings of $110,000, including income from Sal of $32,000, and paid dividends of
$50,000. Sal's earnings for 2011 were $40,000 and its dividends were $30,000.

REQUIRED: Prepare the stockholders’ equity section of the December 31, 2011, consolidated balance
sheet for Pas Corporation and Subsidiary.

E 3-10
Prepare consolidated income statement three years after acquisition

Comparative income statements of Pek Corporation and Slo Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2013, are as
follows (in thousands):

Pek Slo
Sales $3,200 $1,000

Income from Slo 261 —
Total revenue 3461 1,000
Less: Cost of goods sold 1,800 400
Operating expenses 800 300
Total expenses 2,600 700
Net income $ 861 $ 300

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Slo is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pek, acquired by Pek for $1,620,000 on January 1, 2011, when
Slo’s stockholders’ equity at book value was $1,400,000.

2. The excess of the cost of Pek’s investment in Slo over book value acquired was allocated $60,000 to un-
dervalued inventories that were sold in 2011, $40,000 to undervalued equipment with a four-year remain-
ing useful life, and the remainder to goodwill.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pek Corporation and Subsidiary for the year
ended December 31, 2013.
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PROBLEMS

P 3-1

Prepare a consolidated balance sheet at acquisition and compute consolidated net
income one year later

On December 31, 2011, Pen Corporation purchased 80 percent of the stock of Sut Company at book
value. The data reported on their separate balance sheets immediately after the acquisition follow. At
December 31, 2011, Pen Corporation owes Sut $10,000 on accounts payable. (All amounts are in
thousands.)

Pen Sut
Assets
Cash $ o4 $ 36
Accounts receivable 90 68
Inventories 286 112
Investment in Sut 400
Equipment—net 760 _350
$1,600 $566
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Accounts payable $ 80 $ 66
Common stock, $20 par 920 300
Retained earnings 600 ~200
$1,600 $566

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet for Pen Corporation and Subsidiary at December 31, 2011.

2. Compute consolidated net income for 2012 assuming that Pen Corporation reported separate income of
$340,000 and Sut Company reported net income of $180,000. (Separate incomes does not include in-
come from the investment in Sut.)

P 3-2
Allocation schedule for fair value/book value differential and consolidated halance
sheet at acquisition

Par Corporation acquired 70 percent of the outstanding common stock of Set Corporation on January
1, 2011, for $350,000 cash. Immediately after this acquisition the balance sheet information for the two
companies was as follows (in thousands):

Set
Par Book Value Book Value Fair Value

Assets
Cash $ 70 $ 40 $ 40
Receivables—net 160 60 60
Inventories 140 60 100
Land 200 100 120
Buildings—net 220 140 180
Equipment—net 160 80 60
Investment in Set 350 — —

Total assets $1,300 $480 $560
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Accounts payable $ 180 $160 $160
Other liabilities 20 100 80
Capital stock, $20 par 1,000 200
Retained earnings 100 20

Total equities $1,300 $480
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REQUIRED

1. Prepare a schedule to allocate the difference between the fair value of the investment in Set and the book
value of the interest to identifiable and unidentifiable net assets.

2. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet for Par Corporation and Subsidiary at January 1, 2011.

P 3-3 Prepare allocation schedule with book value greater than fair value

PJ Corporation pays $5,400,000 for an 80 percent interest in Sof Corporation on January 1, 2011, at
which time the book value and fair value of Sof’s net assets are as follows (in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value
Current assets $2,000 $3,000
Equipment—net 4,000 6,000
Other plant assets—net 2,000 2,000
Liabilities (3,000) (3,000)
Net assets $5,000 $8,000

REQUIRED: Prepare a schedule to allocate the fair value/book value differentials to Sof’s net assets.

P34
Given separate and consolidated balance sheets, reconstruct the schedule to allocate
the fair value/hook value differential

Pam Corporation purchased a block of Sap Company common stock for $520,000 cash on January 1,
2011. Separate-company and consolidated balance sheets prepared immediately after the acquisition
are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pam Corporation and Subsidiary Consolidated Balance Sheet at January 1, 2011

Pam Sap Consolidated
Assets
Current assets $ 380 $200 $ 580
Investment in Sap 520 — —
Plant assets—net 1,100 400 1,520
Goodwill — —_ _ 110
Total assets $2,000 $600 $2,210
Equities
Liabilities $ 800 $ 80 $ 880
Capital stock, $20 par 1,000 400 1,000
Retained earnings 200 120 200
Noncontrolling interest — e 130
Total equities $2,000 $600 $2,210

REQUIRED: Reconstruct the schedule to allocate the fair value/book value differential from Pam’s invest-
ment in Sap.

P 3-5
Prepare a consolidated balance sheet one year after acquisition
Adjusted trial balances for Pal and Sor Corporations at December 31, 2011, are as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sor

Debits
Current assets $ 480 $ 200
Plant assets—net 1,000 600
Investment in Sor 840 —
Cost of sales 600 600
Other expenses 200 100
Dividends 100 —
$3.220 $1.500

(continued)
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Pal Sor

Credits
Liabilities $ 900 $ 420
Capital stock 600 100
Retained earnings 680 180
Sales 1,000 800
Income from Sor 40 —

$3,220 $1,500

Pal purchased all the stock of Sor for $800,000 cash on January 1, 2011, when Sor’s stock-
holders’ equity consisted of $100,000 capital stock and $180,000 retained earnings. Sor’s assets
and liabilities were fairly valued except for inventory that was undervalued by $40,000 and sold
in 2011, and plant assets that were undervalued by $80,000 and had a remaining useful life of four
years from the date of the acquisition.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated balance sheet for Pal Corporation and Subsidiary at December 31, 2011.

P 3-6
Consolidated halance sheet workpapers with goodwill and dividends

Per Corporation paid $900,000 cash for 90 percent of Sim Corporation’s common stock on January 1,
2011, when Sim had $600,000 capital stock and $200,000 retained earnings. The book values of Sim’s
assets and liabilities were equal to fair values. During 2011, Sim reported net income of $40,000 and
declared $20,000 in dividends on December 31. Balance sheets for Per and Sim at December 31, 2011,
are as follows (in thousands):

Per Sim

Assets
Cash $ 84 $ 40
Receivables—net 100 260
Inventories 700 100
Land 300 400
Equipment—net 1,200 200
Investment in Sim 918 —

$3,302 $1,000
Equities
Accounts payable $ 820 $ 160
Dividends payable 120 20
Capital stock 2,000 600
Retained earnings 362 220

$3,302 $1,000

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidated balance sheet workpapers for Per Corporation and Subsidiary for
December 31, 2011.

P 3-7
Calculate items that may appear in consolidated statements two years after acquisition
Por Corporation acquired 80 percent of the outstanding stock of Sle Corporation for $560,000 cash on
January 3, 2011, on which date Sle’s stockholders’ equity consisted of capital stock of $400,000 and
retained earnings of $100,000.

There were no changes in the outstanding stock of either corporation during 2011 and 2012.
At December 31, 2012, the adjusted trial balances of Por and Sle are as follows (in thousands):
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Por Sle

Debits
Current assets $ 408 $ 150
Plant assets—net 800 600
Investment in Sle—80% 680 —
Cost of goods sold 500 240
Other expenses 100 60
Dividends 120 50

$2,608 $1,100
Credits
Current liabilities $ 324 $ 100
Capital stock 1,000 400
Retained earnings 404 200
Sales 800 400
Income from Sle 80 —

$2,608 $1,100

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. All of Sle’s assets and liabilities were recorded at fair values equal to book values on January 3, 2011.
2. The current liabilities of Sle at December 31, 2012, include dividends payable of $20,000.

REQUIRED: Determine the amounts that should appear in the consolidated statements of Por Corporation
and Subsidiary at December 31, 2012, for each of the following:

1. Noncontrolling interest share 6. Excess of investment fair value over book value
2. Current assets 7. Consolidated net income for the year ended December 31, 2012
3. Income from Sle 8. Consolidated retained earnings, December 31, 2011
4. Capital stock 9. Consolidated retained earnings, December 31, 2012
5. Investment in Sle 10. Noncontrolling interest, December 31, 2012
P 3-8

[Based on AICPA] Prepare journal entries to account for investments, and compute
noncontrolling interest, consolidated retained earnings, and investment balances

On January 1, 2011, Pod Corporation made the following investments:

1. Acquired for cash, 80 percent of the outstanding common stock of Saw Corporation at $140
per share. The stockholders’ equity of Saw on January 1, 2011, consisted of the following:
Common stock, par value $100 $100,000
Retained earnings 40,000

2. Acquired for cash, 70 percent of the outstanding common stock of Sun Corporation at $80 per
share. The stockholders’ equity of Sun on January 1, 2011, consisted of the following:

Common stock, par value $40 $120,000
Capital in excess of par value 40,000
Retained earnings 80,000

3. After these investments were made, Pod was able to exercise control over the operations of
both companies.
An analysis of the retained earnings of each company for 2011 is as follows:

Pod Saw Sun
Balance January 1 $480,000 $40,000 $80,000
Net income (loss) 209,200 72,000 (24,000)

Cash dividends paid (80,000) (32,000) (18,000)
Balance December 31  $609,200 $80,000 $38,000
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REQUIRED

1. What entries should have been made on the books of Pod during 2011 to record the following?

a. Investments in subsidiaries
b. Subsidiary dividends received
€. Parent’s share of subsidiary income or loss

2. Compute the amount of noncontrolling interest in each subsidiary’s stockholders’ equity at December
31,2011.

3. What amount should be reported as consolidated retained earnings of Pod Corporation and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2011?

4. Compute the correct balances of Pod’s Investment in Saw and Investment in Sun accounts at December
31, 2011, before consolidation.

P 3-9
Consolidated balance sheet workpapers (excess allocated to equipment and goodwill)

Pan Corporation purchased 90 percent of Son Corporation’s outstanding stock for $7,200,000 cash on
January 1, 2011, when Son’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $4,000,000 capital stock and $1,400,000
retained earnings. The excess was allocated $1,600,000 to undervalued equipment with an eight-year
remaining useful life and $1,000,000 to goodwill. Son’s net income and dividends for 2011 were
$1,000,000 and $400,000, respectively. Comparative balance sheet data for Pan and Son Corporations
at December 31, 2011, are as follows (in thousands):

Pan Son
Cash $ 600 $ 400
Receivables—net 1,200 800

Dividends receivable 180 —
Inventory 1,400 1,200
Land 1,200 1,400
Buildings—net 4,000 2,000
Equipment—net 3,000 1,600

Investment in Son 7,560 —
$19,140 $7,400
Accounts payable $ 600 $1,200
Dividends payable 1,000 200
Capital stock 14,000 4,000
Retained earnings 3,540 2,000

$19,140 $7,400

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidated balance sheet workpapers for Pan Corporation and Subsidiary on
December 31, 2011.

P 3-10
Galculate investment cost and account balances from a consolidated balance sheet
four years after acquisition

The consolidated balance sheet of Pan Corporation and its 80 percent subsidiary, Sun Corporation, con-
tains the following items on December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Cash $ 40
Inventories 384
Other current assets 140
Plant assets—net 540
Goodwill 120

$1,224
Liabilities $ 240
Capital stock 800
Retained earnings 60
Noncontrolling interests 124
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Pan Corporation uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in Sun. Sun Corporation
stock was acquired by Pan on January 1, 2011, when Sun’s capital stock was $400,000 and its retained
earnings were $40,000. The fair values of Sun’s net assets were equal to book values on January 1,
2011, and there have been no changes in outstanding stock of either Pan or Sun since January 1, 2011.

REQUIRED: Determine the following:
1. The purchase price of Pan’s investment in Sun stock on January 1, 2011.
2. The total of Sun’s stockholders’ equity on December 31, 2015.
3. The balance of Pan’s Investment in Sun account at December 31, 2015.

4. The balances of Pan’s Retained earnings and Capital stock accounts on December 31, 2015.

P 3-11

Consolidated balance sheet workpapers (fair value/book value differentials and
noncontrolling interest)

Pop Corporation acquired a 70 percent interest in Stu Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $1,400,000,
when Stu’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $1,000,000 capital stock and $600,000 retained earnings.
On this date, the book value of Stu’s assets and liabilities was equal to the fair value, except for inven-
tories that were undervalued by $40,000 and sold in 2011, and plant assets that were undervalued by
$160,000 and had a remaining useful life of eight years from January 1. Stu’s net income and dividends
for 2011 were $140,000 and $20,000, respectively.

Separate-company balance sheet information for Pop and Stu Corporations at December 31,
2011, follows (in thousands):

Pop Stu
Cash $ 120 $ 40
Accounts receivable—customers 880 400
Accounts receivable from Pop — 20
Dividends receivable 14 —
Inventories 1,000 640
Land 200 300
Plant assets—net 1,400 700
Investment in Stu 1,442 —
$5,056 $2,100
Accounts payable—suppliers $ 600 $ 160

Accounts payable to Stu 20 —
Dividends payable 80 20
Long-term debt 1,200 200
Capital stock 2,000 1,000
Retained earnings 1,156 720
$5,056 $2,100

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidated balance sheet workpapers for Pop Corporation and Subsidiary at
December 31, 2011.

P 3-12

Calculate separate company and consolidated statement items given investment
account for three years

A summary of changes in Pen Corporation’s Investment in Sam account from January 1, 2011, to
December 31, 2013, follows (in thousands):

INVESTMENT IN SAM (80%)

January 1, 2011 $1,520
Income—2011 128 Dividends—2011 $ 64
2012 160 2012 80
2013 192 2013 96
to balance 1,760
$2,000 $2,000

December 31, 2013
Balance forward $1,760
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.

Pen acquired its 80 percent interest in Sam Corporation when Sam had capital stock of $1,200,000 and
retained earnings of $600,000.

Dividends declared by Sam Corporation in each of the years 2011, 2012, and 2013 were equal to 50 per-
cent of Sam Corporation’s reported net income.

Sam Corporation’s assets and liabilities were stated at fair values equal to book values on January 1, 2011.

REQUIRED: Compute the following amounts:

S O~ wh =

Sam Corporation’s dividends declared in 2012
Sam Corporation’s net income for 2012
Goodwill at December 31, 2012
Noncontrolling interest share for 2013
Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2013

Consolidated net income for 2013, assuming that Pen’s separate income for 2013 is $560,000, without
investment income from Sam

INTERNET ASSIGNMENT

Visit the Web site of Delta Airlines and obtain the 2009 annual report. Summarize the
disclosures made concerning the merger with Northwest Airlines.

[12

[13

[14

[15

]

]
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CHAPTER

Consolidation Techniques
and Procedures

his chapter examines procedures for consolidating the financial statements of parent and
subsidiary companies. Some differences in the consolidation process result from different
methods of parent-company accounting for subsidiary investments. Consolidation workpapers for
a parent company/investor that uses the complete equity method of accounting are illustrated in the
chapter to set the standard for good consolidation procedures. Illustrations for an incomplete equity
method and the cost method of parent-company accounting are presented in the electronic supple-
ment on the Advanced Accounting Web site. The chapter examines additional complexities that arise
from errors and omissions in the separate-company records and detailed recording of fair values of
a subsidiary’s net assets. The appendix to the chapter also illustrates the trial balance workpaper for-
mat, which is an alternative to the financial statement format used in other sections of the chapter.
Chapter 3 presented the balance sheet workpaper used to organize the information needed
for consolidated balance sheets. By contrast, this chapter presents a workpaper that develops the
information needed for consolidated balance sheets and income and retained earnings statements.
A consolidated statement of cash flows is illustrated in a later section of this chapter.

CONSOLIDATION UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD

The following example of a parent that uses the complete equity method of accounting for its subsid-
iary explains basic procedures used to consolidate the financial statements of affiliated companies.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Equity Method—Year of Acquisition
Pep Corporation pays $88,000 for 80 percent of the outstanding voting stock of Sap Corporation
on January 1, 2011, when Sap Corporation’s stockholders’ equity consists of $60,000 capital stock
and $30,000 retained earnings. This implies that the total fair value of Sap is $110,000 ($88,000 +
80%). We assign the $20,000 excess fair value to previously unrecorded patents with a 10-year
amortization period. Sap’s net income and dividends are as follows:

2011 2012
Net income $25,000 $30,000
Dividends 15,000 15,000

Financial statements for Pep and Sap Corporations for 2011 are presented in the first two col-
umns of Exhibit 4-1. Pep’s $18,400 income from Sap for 2011 consists of 80 percent of Sap’s
$25,000 net income for 2011 less $1,600 [($20,000 =+ 10 yrs.) x 80%] patent amortization. Its

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1 Prepare consolidation
workpaper for the year of
acquisition when the parent
uses the complete equity
method to account for its
investment in a subsidiary.

2 Prepare consolidation

workpaper for the years
subsequent to acquisition.

Locate errors in
consolidation workpaper.

Assign fair value to
identifiable net assets.

5 Apply concepts to prepare
a consolidated statement of
cash flows.

6 For the Students: Create
an electronic spreadsheet
to prepare a consolidation
workpaper.

7 Appendix: Understand the
alternative trial balance
consolidation workpaper
format.

8 Electronic supplement:
Understand differences in
consolidation workpaper
techniques when the parent
company uses either an
incomplete equity method
or the cost method.

99



100  CHAPTER 4

Equity Method—
Workpaper for Year
of Acquisition

PEP CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments
and Eliminations
80% Consolidated
Pep Sap Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Revenue $ 250 $ 65 $315
Income from Sap 18.4 al84
Expenses (200) (40) d 2 (242)
Noncontrolling interest share b 4.6 (4.6)
($23,000 x 20%)
Controlling share of
net income $ 68.4 $ 25 $ 68.4
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Pep $ 5 $ 5
Retained earnings—Sap $ 30 ¢ 30
Add: Controlling share of
net income 68.4 25 68.4
Deduct: Dividends (30) (15) al2
b 3 (30)
Retained earnings—
December 31 $ 434 $40 $ 434
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 39 $10 $ 49
Other current assets 90 50 140
Investment in Sap 94.4 a 6.4
c88
Plant and equipment 300 100 400
Accumulated depreciation (50) (30) (80)
Patents c20 d 2 18
$473.4 $130 $527
Liabilities $ 80 $ 30 $110
Capital stock 350 60 ¢ 60 350
Retained earnings 434 40 434
$473.4 $130
Noncontrolling interest January 1 c22
($110,000 fair value x 20%)
Noncontrolling interest December 31 b 1.6 23.6
135 135 $527
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$94,400 investment in Sap account at December 31, 2011, consists of $88,000 investment cost
plus $18,400 income from Sap, less $12,000 dividends received from Sap during 2011.

Numerous consolidation approaches and any number of different adjustment and elimina-
tion combinations will result in correct amounts for the consolidated financial statements. The
adjustment and elimination entries that appear in the workpapers do not affect the general ledger
accounts of either the parent or its subsidiaries. Adjusting or eliminating accounts or balances
simply means that the amounts listed in the separate-company columns of the workpapers are
either (1) adjusted before inclusion in the consolidated statement column or (2) eliminated and
do not appear in the consolidated statement column. A single workpaper entry often adjusts some
items and eliminates others. Labeling the workpaper entries as either adjusting or eliminating
entries is not important. It is important that you understand the consolidation process and develop
your workpaper skills.

Take a few minutes to review the consolidation workpaper in Exhibit 4-1. This format is used
extensively throughout the chapters on consolidated financial statements. The worksheet rows for
controlling share of consolidated net income and ending retained earnings are in boldface to high-
light that we do not make adjustments or eliminations directly on these lines. We do this because
consolidated net income consists of consolidated revenues less consolidated expenses, and if we
require adjustments, they will be made to the individual revenue and expense accounts, not directly
to net income.

Similarly, the consolidated balance sheet reflects consolidated retained earnings. We calculate
the balance sheet amount for consolidated retained earnings as follows:

Beginning consolidated retained earnings
Plus: Controlling share of consolidated net income

(or minus a controlling share of consolidated net loss)
Less: Parent-company dividends

Ending consolidated retained earnings

In our workpaper format, we carry the controlling share of net income line down to the
Retained Earnings section of the worksheet without further adjustment. We similarly carry the
ending retained earnings row down to the Balance Sheet section, again without further adjustments
or eliminations. Notice too that each row in the workpaper generates the consolidated amounts by
adding together the parent and subsidiary account balances and then adding or subtracting the ad-
justments and eliminations as appropriate.

Parent retained earnings under the complete equity method of accounting is equal to con-
solidated retained earnings. Because Pep Corporation (Exhibit 4-1) correctly applies the equity
method, its net income of $68,400 equals its controlling share of consolidated net income. Its be-
ginning and ending retained earnings balances equal the $5,000 and $43,400 consolidated retained
earnings amounts, respectively.

The first workpaper entry in Exhibit 4-1 is as follows:

a Income from Sap (- R, -SE) 18,400
Dividends (+SE) 12,000
Investment in Sap (-A) 6,400

To eliminate income and dividends from Sap and return the
investment account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

Recall that throughout the consolidation coverage in this text workpaper entries are shaded to
avoid confusion with journal entries that are recorded by parents and subsidiaries. We eliminate
investment income because the consolidated income statement shows the details of revenues and
expenses rather than the one-line consolidation reflected in the Income from Sap account. We
eliminate dividends received from Sap because they are mere transfers within the consolidated
entity for which we prepare the consolidated statements.

The difference between income from a subsidiary recognized on the books of the parent and
dividends received represents the change in the investment account for the period. The $6,400
credit to the Investment in Sap account reduces that account to its $88,000 beginning-of-the-period
balance and thereby establishes reciprocity between the investment in Sap and Sap’s stockholders’
equity at January 1, 2011.
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Here is a journal entry for workpaper entry b from Exhibit 4-1:

b Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 4,600
Dividends (+SE) 3,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 1,600

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income and
dividends.

Entry b incorporates the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary’s net income and the noncon-
trolling interest’s share of dividends declared by the subsidiary directly into the consolidation
workpaper. This approach explains all noncontrolling interest components through consolidation
workpaper entries.

The portion of a subsidiary’s net income not accruing to the parent is referred to as noncontrol-
ling interest share throughout this text. Minority interest (income or expense) is the more-traditional
term still sometimes found in published financial statements.

In this book, the term noncontrolling interest is used to reflect the balance sheet amount. Note
that often noncontrolling interest or noncontrolling interest share does not appear in published,
consolidated balance sheets or income statements because the amounts are immaterial.

GAAP recommends noncontrolling interest as better reflecting the complexities of the mod-
ern business world. Many firms create special purpose entities (SPEs), not surprisingly created
for a special business purpose. For example, SPEs may be created to facilitate leasing activities,
loan securitizations, research and development activities, hedging transactions, or other business
arrangements. SPEs gained fame (or infamy) with Enron Corporation, which used these as a
vehicle to set up energy futures trading and related business ventures. By excluding such ventures
from consolidation, Enron was able to keep billions of dollars of debt off its balance sheet, hiding
significant business risk from investors.

GAAP clarifies rules defining a variable interest entity as a subset of SPEs which should be
included in preparing consolidated financial statements. Under GAAP, “the usual condition for a
controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority voting interest.” GAAP further clarifies,
adding: “However, application of the majority voting interest requirement to certain types of enti-
ties may not identify the party with a controlling financial interest because the controlling financial
interest may be achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests.”[1] It is pos-
sible to achieve financial control of an entity with only a small equity voting interest through other
contractual arrangements!. Chapter 11 discusses variable interest entities in greater detail. These
voting, non—majority control situations are consistent with the GAAP preference for the control-
ling and noncontrolling, versus majority and minority interests, terminology.

Workpaper entry c in journal entry form is as follows:

¢ Retained earnings—Sap (beginning) (—SE) 30,000

Capital stock—Sap (—SE) 60,000

Patents (+A) 20,000
Investment in Sap (-A) 88,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 22,000

To eliminate reciprocal equity and investment balances, establish
beginning noncontrolling interest, and enter unamortized patents.

This entry eliminates reciprocal investment and equity balances, enters the unamortized pat-
ents as of the beginning of the year, and constructs beginning noncontrolling interest ($110,000 x
20%) at fair value as a separate item. Observe that entry c eliminates reciprocal investment and eq-
uity balances as of the beginning of the period and enters noncontrolling interest as of the same date.
Therefore, the patents portion of the entry is also a beginning-of-the-period unamortized amount.

Many accountants prefer to eliminate only the parent’s percentage of the capital stock and
retained earnings of the subsidiary and to transfer the amount not eliminated directly to the
noncontrolling interest. Although the difference is solely a matter of preference, the approach used

IFor example, if an acquirer becomes the primary beneficiary in a variable interest entity.
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here emphasizes that we eliminate all the individual stockholders’ equity accounts of a subsidiary
in the process of consolidation.

Entry d in the workpapers of Exhibit 4-1 enters the current year’s patent amortization as an
expense of the consolidated entity and reduces unamortized patents from its $20,000 unamortized
balance at January 1 to its $18,000 amortized balance at December 31, 2011.

d Expenses (E, -SE) 2,000
Patents (-A) 2,000

To enter current amortization of patents.

We need this workpaper entry to adjust consolidated expenses even though Pep amortized patents
on its separate books under the equity method. Pep reflects amortization of the patents in its Income
from Sap account, and workpaper entry a eliminated that account for consolidation purposes in
order to disaggregate the revenue and expense components in reporting consolidated income.

Sequence of Workpaper Entries

The sequence of the workpaper entries in Exhibit 4-1 is both logical and necessary. Entry a adjusts
the investment in Sap for changes during 2011, and entry c¢ eliminates the investment in Sap after
adjustment to its beginning-of-the-period balance in entry a. Entry c also enters unamortized pat-
ents in the workpaper as of the beginning of the period. Subsequently, entry d amortizes the patents
for the current period and reduces the asset patents to its amortized amount at the balance sheet
date. As we encounter additional complexities of consolidation, the sequence of workpaper adjust-
ments and eliminations expands to the following:

1. Adjustments for errors and omissions in the separate parent and subsidiary
statements

2. Adjustments to eliminate intercompany profits and losses

3. Adjustments to eliminate income and dividends from subsidiary and adjust the
investment in subsidiary to its beginning-of-the-period balance

4. Adjustment to record the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary’s earnings and
dividends

5. Eliminations of reciprocal investment in subsidiary and subsidiary equity balances
6. Allocation and amortization of fair value differentials (from step 5)

7. Elimination of other reciprocal balances (intercompany receivables and payables,
revenues and expenses, and so on)

Although other sequences of workpaper entries may be adequate in a given consolidation, the
sequence just presented will always work. You should learn it and apply it throughout your study
of consolidations.

We compute the noncontrolling interest reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as beginning
noncontrolling interest plus noncontrolling interest share less noncontrolling interest dividends. If
ownership in a subsidiary increases during a period, the noncontrolling interest computation will
reflect the noncontrolling interest at the balance sheet date, with noncontrolling interest share and
dividends also reflecting the ending noncontrolling interest percentages. Note that the noncontrol-
ling interest reflects fair value.

Note that we always eliminate the investment in subsidiary balances when a subsidiary is con-
solidated. Although the investment in subsidiary account may be adjusted to establish reciprocity,
it never appears in a consolidated balance sheet. Likewise, we always eliminate investment income
from consolidated subsidiaries. We compute consolidated net income by deducting consolidated
expenses from consolidated revenues. It is not determined by adjusting the separate net incomes of
parent and subsidiary. We then allocate consolidated net income into the shares attributable to the
controlling (parent) and noncontrolling interests.

Capital stock and other paid-in capital accounts appearing in a consolidated balance sheet are
those of the parent. Under GAAP [2] the noncontrolling interest must be reported as a component
of consolidated stockholders’ equity.
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LEARNING Equity Method—Year Subsequent to Acquisition
OBJECTIVE Pep Corporation maintains its 80 percent ownership interest in Sap throughout 2012, recording

income from Sap of $22,400 for the year (80 percent of Sap’s $30,000 net income less $2,000
patents amortization). At December 31, 2012, Pep’s Investment in Sap account has a balance of
$104,800, determined as follows:

Investment cost January 1, 2011 $ 88,000
Income from Sap—2011 18,400
Dividends from Sap—2011 —12,000

Investment in Sap December 31, 2011 94,400
Income from Sap—2012 22,400
Dividends from Sap—2012 —12,000

Investment in Sap December 31, 2012 $104.800

The only intercompany transaction between Pep and Sap during 2012 was a $10,000 non-interest-
bearing loan to Sap during the third quarter of the year.

Consolidation workpapers for Pep Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012 are presented in
Exhibit 4-2.

There were no errors or omissions or intercompany profits relating to the consolidation, so the
first workpaper entry is to eliminate income and dividends from Sap as follows:

a Income from Sap (-R, —SE) 22,400
Dividends (+SE) 12,000
Investment in Sap (—A) 10,400

To eliminate income and dividends from Sap and return the
investment account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

This entry adjusts the Investment in Sap account to its $94,400 December 31, 2011, balance and
establishes reciprocity with Sap’s stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2011.

Entry b incorporates the noncontrolling interest in Sap’s net income and the noncontrolling
share of Sap’s dividends:

b Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 5,600
Dividends (+SE) 3,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 2,600

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

Entry c eliminates Investment in Sap and stockholders’ equity of Sap as follows:

¢ Retained earnings—Sap (-SE) 40,000

Capital stock—Sap (-SE) 60,000

Patents (+A) 18,000
Investment in Sap (—A) 94,400
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 23,600

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances,
establish beginning noncontrolling interest, and enter
unamortized patents.

Entry c eliminates the Investment in Sap and stockholders’ equity of Sap amounts at Decem-
ber 31, 2011, and enters the noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2011; therefore, the $18,000
investment’s fair value difference reflects unamortized patents at December 31, 2011. Entry d
amortizes this amount to the $16,000 balance at December 31, 2012:

d Expenses (E, —SE) 2,000
Patents (—A) 2,000
To enter current amortization.
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PEP CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Equity Method—
Workpaper for Year
Subsequent to
Acquisition

Adjustments
and Eliminations
Consolidated
Pep 80% Sap Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Revenue $300 $ 75 $375
Income from Sap 224 az22.4
Expenses (244) (45) d 2 (291)
Noncontrolling interest share
($28,000 x 20%) b 5.6 (5.6)
Controlling share of Net income $ 784 $ 30 $ 784
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Pep $ 434 $ 434
Retained earnings—Sap $ 40 c 40
Add: Controlling share
of Net income 78.4 30 78.4
Deduct: Dividends (45) (15) al2
b 3 (45)
Retained earnings—
December 31 $ 76.8 $ 55 $ 76.8
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 45 $ 20 $ 65
Note receivable—Sap 10 e 10
Other current assets 97 70 167
Investment in Sap 104.8 a10.4
c9%.4
Plant and equipment 300 100 400
Accumulated depreciation (60) (40) (100)
Patents c18 d 2 16
$496.8 $150 $548
Note payable—Pep $ 10 e10
Liabilities $ 70 25 $ 95
Capital stock 350 60 ¢ 60 350
Retained earnings 76.8 55 76.8
$4968 | $150
Noncontrolling interest January 1 c23.6
($118,000 x 20%)
Noncontrolling interest December 31 b 2.6 26.2
158 158 $548
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

The final workpaper entry eliminates intercompany notes payable and notes receivable balances
because the amounts are not assets and liabilities of the consolidated entity:

e Note payable—Pep (-L) 10,000
Note receivable—Sap (-A) 10,000
To eliminate reciprocal receivable and payable balances.

The intercompany loan was not interest bearing, so the note receivable and the note payable are
the only reciprocal balances created by the intercompany transaction. We would need additional
eliminations for reciprocal interest income and interest expense and interest receivable and interest
payable balances if the intercompany loan had been interest bearing.

Compare the consolidation workpaper of Exhibit 4-2 with that of Exhibit 4-1. Notice that the
December 31, 2011, noncontrolling interest from Exhibit 4-1 is the beginning noncontrolling inter-
est in Exhibit 4-2. Note that the unamortized patents amount in the consolidated balance sheet of
Exhibit 4-1 is the beginning-of-the-period unamortized patents in Exhibit 4-2.

LOCATING ERRORS

The last part of a consolidation workpaper to be completed is the consolidated balance sheet
section. Most errors made in consolidating the financial statements will show up when the
consolidated balance sheet does not balance. If the consolidated balance sheet fails to bal-
ance after recomputing totals, we should then check individual items to ensure that all items
have been included. Omissions involving the noncontrolling interest share in the consolidated
income statement and noncontrolling interest equity in the consolidated balance sheet occur
frequently because these items do not appear on the separate-company statements. We check
the equality of debits and credits in the workpaper entries by totaling the adjustment and
elimination columns. Although proper coding of each workpaper entry minimizes this type of
error, many accountants prefer to total the adjustment and elimination columns as a regular
workpaper procedure.

EXCESS ASSIGNED TO IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS

GAAP [3] requires firms to provide at least summary disclosures regarding the allocation of the
purchase price of an acquired subsidiary, especially as related to acquired goodwill and other
intangible assets. GAAP specifically requires firms to disclose, in the year of acquisition, the fair
value of the acquired enterprise, a condensed balance sheet showing amounts assigned to major
classes of assets and liabilities, the amounts of purchased research and development in process
acquired, and total amounts assigned to major intangible asset categories. GAAP [4] further
requires that the amount of goodwill be shown as a separate balance sheet line item (assuming it
is material). Firms must also disclose material noncontrolling interests on the balance sheet and
report noncontrolling interests’ share of consolidated net income.

For example, Walt Disney Company’s 2009 annual report discloses goodwill of $21.7 billion
and other intangible assets of $2.2 billion on its balance sheet. The balance sheet also itemizes
minority interest of $1.7 billion. In 2009, GE reported $65.6 billion of goodwill and $11.9 billion
of other intangible assets. The separate listing of goodwill versus other intangible assets reflects
new disclosure requirements for these assets under GAAP. [5]

The discussions thus far assume that firms assign any excess fair value either to previ-
ously unrecorded patents or to goodwill. Consolidation workpaper procedures for allocat-
ing an excess to specific assets and liabilities are similar to those illustrated for patents.
The workpaper entries are more complex, however, because they affect more accounts and
require additional allocation, amortization, and depreciation schemes. We illustrate these
additional workpaper complexities here for Pat Corporation and its 90 percent-owned sub-
sidiary, Sol Corporation.
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Pat acquired its equity interest in Sol on December 31, 2011, for $360,000 cash, when Sol’s
stockholders’ equity consisted of $200,000 capital stock and $50,000 retained earnings. This price
implies a total fair value of $400,000 for Sol ($360,000 + 90%). On the date that Sol became a sub-
sidiary of Pat, the following assets of Sol had book values different from their fair values (amounts
in thousands):

Undervaluation
Fair Value Book Value (Overvaluation)
Inventories $ 60 $ 50 $ 10
Land 60 30 30
Buildings—net 180 100 80
Equipment—net 70 90 (20)
$370 $270 $100

Based on this information, Pat assigns the $150,000 excess fair value to identifiable assets and
goodwill, as shown in the following schedule:

Undervaluation Excess Amortization

(Overvaluation) Allocation Period
Inventories $10 $ 10 Sold in 2012
Land 30 30 None
Buildings—net 80 80 20 years
Equipment—net (20) (20) 10 years
Goodwill—remainder 50 None

$150

The schedule also shows the amortization periods assigned to the undervalued and overvalued
assets.

Consolidation at Acquisition

Exhibit 4-3 shows a consolidated balance sheet workpaper for Pat Corporation and Sub-
sidiary immediately after the business combination on December 31, 2011. The excess fair
value allocation is reasonably complex, so we use an unamortized excess account in the
workpaper.

The first workpaper entry eliminates reciprocal Investment in Sol and stockholders’ equity
accounts of Sol, enters the 10 percent noncontrolling interest in Sol (based on fair value), and deb-
its the unamortized excess account for the $150,000 excess fair value over book value. A second
workpaper entry assigns the excess to identifiable net assets and goodwill. The amounts assigned
in the second workpaper entry are the original amounts because Pat and Sol are being consolidated
immediately after the acquisition.

Consolidation After Acquisition
Sol reports $60,000 net income for 2012 and declares dividends of $10,000 on June 1 and
December 1 ($20,000 total for 2012). Sol pays the June 1 dividend on July 1, but the December 1
dividend remains unpaid at December 31, 2012. During 2012, Sol sells the undervalued inventory
items, but the undervalued land and buildings and overvalued equipment are still in use by Sol at
December 31, 2012. On the date of acquisition, the buildings had a remaining useful life of 20
years, and the equipment, 10 years.

During 2012, Sol borrows $20,000 from Pat on a non-interest-bearing note. Sol repays the note
on December 30, but the repayment check to Pat was in transit and was not reflected in Pat’s sepa-
rate balance sheet at December 31, 2012.
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PAT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
Consolidation at WORKPAPER ON DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)
Acquisition
Adjustments
and Eliminations
Consolidated
Pat 90% Sol Debits Credits Balance Sheet

Assets
Cash $ 25 $ 5 $ 30
Receivables—net 90 25 115
Inventories 80 50 b 10 140
Land 60 30 b 30 120
Buildings—net 200 100 b 80 380
Equipment—net 135 90 b 20 205
Investment in Sol 360 a 360
Goodwill b 50 50
Unamortized excess a150 b 150

Totals $950 $300 $1,040
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $130 $ 50 $ 180
Capital stock—Pat 700 700
Retained earnings—Pat 120 120
Capital stock—Sol 200 a 200
Retained earnings—Sol 50 a 50
Noncontrolling interest a 40 40

Totals 950 300 570 570 1,040

Pat made the following journal entries in 2012 to account for its investment in Sol:

July 1
Cash (+A)

9,000

Investment in Sol (—A) 9,000
To record dividends from Sol ($10,000 x 90%).
December 31
Investment in Sol (+A) 43,200

Income from Sol (R, + SE) 43,200
To record investment income from Sol, determined as follows:

Sol’s net income $60,000
Amortization of excess assigned to:
Inventories (100% recognized) -10,000

Buildings ($80,000 + 20 years) —4,000

Equipment ($20,000 + 10 years) + 2,000
Adjusted Income from Sol for 2012 $48,000
Pat’s Share ($48,000 x 90%) $43,200

These entries show that Pat has used a one-line consolidation in accounting for its $43,200
income from Sol for 2012, but it has failed to recognize Sol’s December 1 dividend declaration.
Accordingly, Pat has overstated its investment in Sol at December 31, 2012, by $9,000 (90 per-
cent of Sol’s $10,000 December 1 dividend declaration). The consolidation workpaper for Pat and
Subsidiary for 2012 in Exhibit 4-4 shows Pat’s investment in Sol at $394,200 ($360,000 cost plus



Consolidation Techniques and Procedures 109

PAT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Consolidation One Year
After Acquisition

Adjustments
and Eliminations
Consolidated
Pat 90% Sol | Debits | Credits | Statements
Income Statement
Sales $900 $300 $1,200
Income from Sol 43.2 c43.2
Cost of goods sold (600) (150) f10 (760)
Operating expenses (190) (90) g 4 h 2 (282)
Noncontrolling interest share ($48,000 x 10%) d 4.8 (4.8)
Controlling share of Net income $153.2 $ 60 $ 153.2
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Pat $120 $ 120
Retained earnings—Sol $ 50 e 50
Controlling share of Net income 153.2 60 153.2
Dividends (100) (20) c 18 (100)
d 2
Retained earnings—December 31 MA Q $ 1732
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 13 $ 15 b 20 $ 48
Accounts receivable—net 76 25 101
Note receivable—Sol 20 b 20
Inventories 90 60 150
Land 60 30 30 120
Buildings—net 190 110 80 g 4 376
Equipment—net 150 120 h 2 f 20 252
Investment in Sol 394.2 a 9
¢ 25.2
e 360
Dividends receivable a9 i 9
Goodwill 50 50
Unamortized excess e150 150
$9932 | $360 $1.007
Accounts payable $120 $ 60 $ 180
Dividends payable 10 i 9 1
Capital stock 700 200 e 200 700
Retained earnings 173.2 90 173.2
$9932 | $360
Noncontrolling interest January 1 e 40
Noncontrolling interest December 31 d 28 42.8
662 | G62 | $1.007
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$43,200 income less $9,000 dividends received), whereas the correct amount is $385,200. The
overstatement is corrected in workpaper entry a of Exhibit 4-4:

a Dividends receivable (+A) 9,000
Investment in Sol (-A) 9,000

To correct investment balance for unrecorded dividends
receivable.

This entry is different from previous workpaper entries because it represents a real adjustment that
should also be recorded on Pat’s books.
Workpaper entry b adjusts for the $20,000 cash in transit from Sol to Pat at December 31, 2012:

b Cash (+A) 20,000
Note receivable—Sol (-A) 20,000
To enter receipt of intercompany note receivable.

Workpaper entry b is also a real adjustment. Pat records this entry on its separate books,
as well as in the consolidation workpaper. If Pat fails to record entries a and b as correct-
ing entries on its separate books, it will record them in the normal course of events in 2013
when Pat receives the $9,000 dividend and the $20,000 note repayment checks from Sol.
It is important that we always review year-end transactions between affiliates to make sure
that both parent and subsidiary records properly reflect these events.

Entry c eliminates the income from Sol and 90 percent of Sol’s dividends, and it adjusts the
Investment in Sol account to its $360,000 beginning-of-the-period balance. Entry d incorporates
the noncontrolling interest in Sol’s net income and the noncontrolling share of Sol’s dividends.
Entry e eliminates the reciprocal Investment in Sol account and the stockholders’ equity accounts
of Sol, records the 10 percent noncontrolling interest at the beginning of the period, and enters the
$150,000 unamortized excess:

¢ Income from Sol (-R, -SE) 43,200
Dividends (+SE) 18,000
Investment in Sol (-A) 25,200

To eliminate income and dividends of Sol and return
Investment account to beginning-of-the-period balance.

d Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 4,800
Dividends (+SE) 2,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 2,800

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

e Retained earnings—Sol (-SE) 50,000

Capital stock—Sol (-SE) 200,000

Unamortized excess (+A) 150,000
Investment in Sol (-A) 360,000
Noncontrolling interest—January 1 (+SE) 40,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity amounts,
establish beginning noncontrolling interest, and enter
unamortized excess.

We assign the unamortized excess entered in workpaper entry e to identifiable assets and
goodwill as of December 31, 2011, in entry f and amortize it in entries g and h. It is convenient
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to prepare a schedule to support these allocations and amortizations in preparing the workpaper
entries and to provide documentation for subsequent consolidations:

Unamortized Excess Amortization Unamortized Excess
December 31, 2011 2012 December 31, 2012

Inventories $ 10,000 $10,000 $ —
Land 30,000 — 30,000
Buildings—net 80,000 4,000 76,000
Equipment—net (20,000) (2,000) (18,000)
Goodwill 50,000 — 50,000

$150,000 $12,000 $138,000

With the exception of the $10,000 excess assigned to cost of goods sold, the allocation in work-
paper entry f of Exhibit 4-4 is the same as the allocation in workpaper entry b in the consolidated
balance sheet workpapers of Exhibit 4-3. We assign the $10,000 excess assigned to inventories to
cost of goods sold because the related undervalued inventories from December 31, 2011, were sold
in 2012, thus increasing cost of goods sold in the 2012 consolidated income statement. We journal-
ize workpaper entry f as follows:

f Cost of goods sold (E, —SE) 10,000
Land (+A) 30,000
Building—net (+A) 80,000
Goodwill (+A) 50,000
Equipment—net (-A) 20,000
Unamortized excess (—A) 150,000

To assign unamortized excess to identifiable assets and goodwill.

Workpaper entries g and h are necessary to increase operating expenses for depreciation on
the $80,000 excess assigned to undervalued buildings and to decrease operating expenses for
excessive depreciation on the $20,000 assigned to overvalued equipment. Entry g for recording
depreciation on the excess assigned to buildings is procedurally the same as the adjustment for
patents shown previously, except that we credit buildings—net of depreciation. We can also show
the credit to accumulated depreciation. The $2,000 debit to equipment—net and credit to operating
expenses in workpaper entry h corrects for excessive depreciation on the overvalued equipment.
Procedurally, this adjustment is the exact opposite of entry g, which corrects for underdepreciation
on the buildings:

g Operating expenses (E, —SE) 4,000
Buildings—net (-A) 4,000
To enter current depreciation on excess assigned to buildings.
h Equipment—net (+A) 2,000
Operating expenses (-E, + SE) 2,000

To adjust current depreciation for excess assigned to reduce
equipment.

Workpaper entry i eliminates reciprocal dividends payable and dividends receivable amounts:

i Dividends payable (-L) 9,000
Dividends receivable (-A) 9,000
To eliminate reciprocal receivables and payables.

The $1,000 dividends payable of Sol that is not eliminated belongs to the noncontrolling inter-
est. We include it among consolidated liabilities because it represents an amount payable outside
the consolidated entity.
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Consolidated Balance
Sheets and Income
Statement for Pol and
Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

We prepare the consolidated statement of cash flows (SCF) from consolidated income statements
and consolidated balance sheets, rather than from the separate parent and subsidiary statements.
With minor exceptions, the preparation of a consolidated SCF involves the same analysis and pro-
cedures that are used in preparing the SCF for separate entities.

Exhibit 4-5 presents consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2011 and 2012, and the 2012
consolidated income statement for Pol Corporation and its 80 percent-owned subsidiary, Sed Cor-
poration. We use consolidated balance sheets at the beginning and end of the year to calculate the
year’s changes, which must be explained in the SCF. Other information pertinent to the preparation
of Pol’s consolidated SCF is as follows:

During 2012, Sed sold land that cost $20,000 to outside entities for $10,000 cash.
Pol issued a $300,000, two-year note on January 8, 2012, for new equipment.
Patents amortization from the Pol-Sed business combination is $10,000 per year.

Pol received $10,000 in dividends from its investments in equity investees.

o~ wbd

Changes in plant assets not explained above are due to provisions for depreciation.

We prepare the SCF using a single concept: cash and cash equivalents. GAAP permits two
presentations for reporting net cash flows from operations. The indirect method begins with the
controlling share of consolidated net income and includes adjustments for items not providing
or using cash to arrive at net cash flows from operations. The direct method offsets cash received
from customers and investment income against cash paid to suppliers, employees, governmental
units, and so on to arrive at net cash flows from operations. Although the GAAP has expressed a
preference for the direct method of reporting net cash flows from operations [6] , most companies
present a statement of cash flows using the indirect method.

POL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEETS
AT DECEMBER 31 (IN THOUSANDS)
Year's Change:
Increase
2012 2011 (Decrease)
Cash $ 255 $ 180 $ 75
Accounts receivable—net 375 270 105
Inventories 250 205 45
Equity investments 100 95 5
Land 80 100 (20)
Buildings—net 200 220 (20)
Equipment—net 800 600 200
Patents 90 100 (10)
2150 51770 5%
Accounts payable $ 250 270 $(20)
Dividends payable 20 20 —
Note payable due 2014 300 — 300
Common stock 500 500 =
Other paid-in capital 300 300 —
Retained earnings 670 600 70
Noncontrolling interest—20% __ 110 8 30
$2.150 $1.770 $380
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 Consolidated Balance
Sheets and Income
Sales $750 Statement for Pol and
Income from equity investees 15 Subsidiary (Continued)
Total revenue 765
Less expenses:
Cost of goods sold $ 300
Depreciation expense 120
Patents amortization 10
Wages and salaries 54
Other operating expenses 47
Interest expense 24
Loss on sale of land 10 (565)
Total consolidated income 200
Less: Noncontrolling interest share (50)
Controlling share of consolidated net income 150
Consolidated retained earnings January 1 600
Less: Cash dividends paid (80)
Consolidated Retained Earnings December 31 $670

POL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS) Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows—Indirect

Cash Flows from Operating Activities Method
Controlling share of consolidated net income $150

Adjustments to reconcile controlling share of consolidated
net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Noncontrolling interest share $ 50

Undistributed income—equity investees ()

Loss on sale of land 10

Depreciation on equipment 100

Depreciation on buildings 20

Amortization of patents 10

Increase in accounts receivable (105)

Increase in inventories (45)

Decrease in accounts payable (20) 15
Net cash flows from operating activities 165
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of land $ 10
Net cash flows from investing activities 10
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Payment of cash dividends—controlling interest $(80)

Payment of cash dividends—noncontrolling interest (20)

Net cash flows from financing activities (100)
Increase in cash for 2012 75
Cash on January 1, 2012 180

Cash on December 31, 2012 $255

Listing of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Equipment Purchased for $300,000 by Issuing a two-year note payable
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows—Indirect Method

Exhibit 4-6 presents a consolidated SCF for Pol Corporation and Subsidiary under the indirect method.

This statement is based on the consolidated balance sheet changes and the 2012 consolidated income
statement that appear in Exhibit 4-5 for Pol Corporation and Subsidiary. Exhibit 4-7 presents a statement

of cash flows worksheet that organizes the information for statement preparation using the schedule ap-
proach. We prepare the consolidated SCF directly from the Cash Flow from Operations, Cash Flow—In-
vesting Activities, and Cash Flow—Financing Activities columns of the worksheet in Exhibit 4-7.

Noncontrolling interest share of consolidated net income is an increase in the cash flow from

operating activities because noncontrolling interest share increases consolidated assets and liabilities

in exactly the same manner as consolidated net income. Similarly, we deduct noncontrolling interest

dividends in reporting the cash flows from financing activities.

Worksheet for Consolidated SCF—Indirect Method

POL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY WORKPAPERS FOR THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(INDIRECT METHOD) FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Reconciling ltems Cash Flow— Cash Flow—
Year's - - Cash Flow from Investing Financing
Change Debit Credit Operations Activities Activities

Asset Changes
Cash 75
Accounts receivable—net 105 k 105
Inventories 45 |45
Equity investments 5 e 5
Land (20) f 20
Buildings—net (20) i 20
Equipment—net* 200 h 100 g 300
Patents (10) j 10

Total asset changes 380
Equity Changes
Accounts payable (20) m 20
Dividends payable 0
Note payable due 2014* 300 g 300
Common stock 0
Other paid-in capital 0
Retained earnings 70 a 150 b 80
Noncontrolling interest 30 c 50 d 20

Total equity changes 380
Controlling share of consolidated net income a150 150
Noncontrolling interest share ¢ 50 50
Income—equity investees e 5 (5)
Loss of sale of land f 10 10
Depreciation on equipment h 100 100
Depreciation on buildings i 20 20
Amortization of patents j 10 10
Increase in accounts receivable k 105 (105)
Increase in inventories | 45 (45)
Decrease in accounts payable m 20 (20)
Proceeds from sale of land f 10 10
Payment of dividends—controlling b 80 (80)
Payment of dividends—noncontrolling d 20 (20)

925 925 _165 10 (i00)

Cash flows from operations _ _ $165 - o
Cash flows from investing activities 10
Cash flows from financing activities (100)
Increase in cash for 2012 = cash change above $75

*Noncash investing and financing transaction: equipment purchased for $300,000 by issuing a two-year note payable.
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Income and Dividends from Investees Under the Indirect and Direct Methods

Income from equity investees is an item that requires special attention in the consolidated SCF when
using the indirect method. Income from equity investees increases income without increasing cash
because the investment account reflects the increase. Conversely, dividends received from equity
investees increase cash but do not affect income because the investment account reflects the decrease.

We deduct (or add) the net amount of these items from controlling share of net income in the Cash
Flows from Operating Activities section of the SCF under the indirect method. We add an excess of
dividends received over equity income. We would deduct an excess of equity income over dividends
received. We simply report dividends received from equity investees as cash inflows from operating
activities when using the direct method to prepare the SCF.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows—Direct Method

Exhibit 4-8 presents a consolidated SCF for Pol Corporation and Subsidiary under the direct
method. This statement is identical to the one presented in Exhibit 4-6, except for cash flows from
operating activities. Under the direct method, we convert the consolidated income statement items

POL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash received from customers $645
Dividends received from equity investees 10
Less: Cash paid to suppliers $ 365
Cash paid to employees 54
Paid for other operating items 47
Cash paid for interest expense 24 (490)
Net cash flows from operating activities 165
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of land $ 10
Net cash flows from investing activities 10

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows—Direct
Method

Payment of cash dividends—controlling interests $ (80)
Payment of cash dividends—noncontrolling interests (20)

Net cash flows from financing activities (100)
Increase in cash for 2012 75
Cash on January 1, 2012 180
Cash on December 31, 2012 255
Listing of Noncash Investment and Financing Activities
Equipment was purchased for $300,000 through

the issuance of a two-year note payable
Reconciliation of Controlling share of Consolidated Net Income to
Net Cash from operating activities
Controlling share of consolidated net income $150
Adjustments to reconcile controlling share of consolidated net income
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Noncontrolling interest share $ 50

Undistributed income—equity investees (5)

Loss on sale of land 10

Depreciation on equipment 100

Depreciation on buildings 20

Amortization of patents 10

Increase in accounts receivable (105)

Increase in inventories (45)

Decrease in accounts payable (20) 15
Net cash flows from operating activities $165
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that involve cash flows from the accrual to the cash basis, and we explain those items that do
not involve cash in notes or schedules supporting the cash flow statement. Exhibit 4-9 shows a
worksheet that organizes information for a consolidated statement of cash flows under the direct
method. We prepare the SCF from the last three columns of the worksheet.

If you compare the cash flow statements in Exhibits 4-6 and 4-8, you should observe that the
cash flows from investing and financing activities are identical. The significant differences lie in
the presentation of cash flows from operating activities and the additional schedule to reconcile the
controlling share of consolidated net income to net cash flows from operating activities under the

Worksheet for Consolidated SCF—Direct Method

POL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY WORKPAPERS FOR THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(DIRECT METHOD) FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)
Reconciling Items
Year's
Change Cash Cash Flow— Cash Flow—
Flow from Investing Financing
Debit Credit Operations Activities Activities
Asset Changes
Cash 75
Accounts receivable—net 105 a105
Inventories 45 c 45
Equity investments 5 b 5
Land (20) h 20
Buildings—net (20) f 20
Equipment—net* 200 e 100 d 300
Patents (10) g 10
Total asset changes 380
Equity Changes
Accounts payable (20) c 20
Dividends payable 0
Note payable due 2014* 300 d 300
Common stock 0
Other paid-in capital 0
Retained earnings™* 70
Noncontrolling interest 30 i 50 i 20
Total equity changes 380
Retained Earnings Changes**
Sales 750 a105 645
Income—equity investees 15 b 5 10
Cost of goods sold (300) c 65 (365)
Depreciation on equipment (100) e 100
Depreciation on buildings (20) f 20
Patents amortization (10) g 10
Wages and salaries (54) (54)
Other operating expenses (47) (47)
Interest expense (24) (24)
Loss on sale of land (10) h 10
Noncontrolling interest share (50) i 50
Dividends paid by Pol (80) k 80
Change in retained earnings 70
Payment of dividends—controlling — k 80 (80)
Payment of dividends—noncontrolling j 20 (20)
Proceeds from the land sale _ h 10 . 10 _
775 775 165 10 (100)
*Noncash investing and financing transaction: equipment purchased for $300,000 by issuing a two-year note payable.
**Retained earnings changes replace the retained earnings account for reconciling purposes.
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direct method. Although the presentation in Exhibit 4-8 under the direct method may be less familiar,
it is somewhat easier to interpret.

PREPARING A CONSOLIDATION WORKSHEET

LEARNING

In this section you will learn how to set up a three-part worksheet to prepare a consolidated

OBJECTIVE

income statement, retained earnings statement, and balance sheet. This worksheet follows the
same basic pattern as that described in Chapter 3 to prepare a consolidated balance sheet at ac-
quisition. Refer to Exhibit 4-10. We have two columns to record trial balance information for a
parent and (in our example) a 70 percent-owned subsidiary. Most of the numbers in these two
columns are simply copied from the individual company trial balances. Note that we record 100
percent of amounts from the subsidiary, even though the parent owns only 70 percent of the com-
mon stock. We will adjust for the 30 percent of the subsidiary not controlled by the parent (the
noncontrolling interest) in computing our consolidated totals. We include two columns to record

Preparing a Complete Consolidation Worksheet

PARENT AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKSHEET FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

(in thousands)

Parent

70% Subsidiary

Adjustments &
Eliminations

Debits

Credits

Consolidated
Statements

Income Statement
Sales
Income from Subsidiary
Cost of goods sold
Operating expenses
Noncontrolling interest share
Controlling share of

net income

Retained Earnings Statement

Retained earnings—Parent

Retained earnings—Subsidiary

Controlling share of net
income

Dividends

Ret earnings—ending

Balance Sheet

Cash

Receivables—net
Inventories

Plant & equipment—net
Investment in Subsidiary

Total assets

Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Capital stock, $10 par
Other paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total equities

Noncontrolling interest

— SUM(B6 : B10)

= SUM(C6 : C10)

=B11

=C11

= SUM(B13 : B16)

= SUM(C13: C16)

— SUM(B20 : B26)

— SUM(C20 : C26)

=B18

=C(18

— SUM(B28 : B32)

— SUM(C28 : C32)

=B6 + C6 — D6 + E6
=B7+C7-D7 + E7
=B8 + C8 — D8 + E8
=B9+C9-D9 +E9
=B10 + C10 - D10 + E10

= SUM(F5:F10)

=B13 + C13-D13 + E13
= B14 + C14-D14 + E14

= F11

=B16 + C16 — D16 + E16 — D17 + E17

— SUM(F13:F17)

= B20 + C20 + D20 — E20
=B21 + C21 + D21 - E21
=B22 + C22 + D22 - E22
=B23 + C23 + D23 — E23

=B24 + C24 + D24 - E24 + D25-E25

= B26 + (26 + D26 — E26

— SUM(F20:F26)

= B28 + C28 — D28 + E28
= B29 + 29 - D29 + E29
= B30 + €30 - D30 + E30
= B31 + C31 — D31 + E31
=F18

=B34 + C34 — D34 + E34 — D35 + E35

— SUM(D6 : D35)

— SUM(EG : E35)

= SUM(F28:F35)
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the debits and credits for consolidation adjustments and eliminations. The final column provides
calculations of the correct consolidated financial statement balances. Vertically, we divide the
worksheet into three separate parts for the three financial statements we want to prepare. Notice
the bold-faced items: controlling share of net income, retained earnings (ending), total as-
sets, and total equities. No amounts are input for these items. They are either calculated or are
carried forward from a previous part of the worksheet.

Exhibit 4-10 shows spreadsheet formulae used in preparing the worksheet. Notice that most of these
can be input using the COPY command available in the spreadsheet software. In the first two columns,
controlling share of net income, retained earnings—ending, total assets, and total equities are simple
summations of the relevant balances. Notice, too, that controlling share of net income in the retained
earnings section of the worksheet and retained earnings in the balance sheet section are simple amount
carryforwards from the income statement and retained earnings sections, respectively. The adjustments
and eliminations columns each contain a single summation formula for the column totals. This is useful
in verifying the equality of debits and credits (in other words, that you have not made any errors in post-
ing your consolidation entries).

There are lots of formulae in the final consolidated statements column, but again most of these
can be entered with the COPY command. As in the first two columns, controlling share of net
income, retained earnings—ending, total assets, and total equities are simple summations of the
relevant balances, and controlling share of net income in the retained earnings section and retained
earnings in the balance sheet section are simply amount carryforwards from the income statement
and retained earnings sections, respectively. Let’s look at the formula for Sales (= B6 + C6 — D6 +
E6). We simply sum parent-company sales plus subsidiary-company sales and then make any needed
adjustments and eliminations. Notice that sales has a normal credit balance, so we subtract the debit
adjustments (—-D6) and add credits (+E6) to arrive at the consolidated total. We can simply copy our
formula for all accounts having normal credit balances (i.e., revenues, liabilities, and equities).

We keep the same basic formula for cost of goods sold and any other expenses in the income
statement portion of the worksheet. We do so because we enter the expenses as negative amounts.

If you look to the balance sheet section, our formula for consolidated cash (= B20 + C20 + D20 —
E20) reflects the fact that cash has a normal debit balance that is increased by debit adjustments
and decreased by credits. Formulae for the remaining asset balances are entered using the COPY
command. Before leaving Exhibit 4-10, pay attention to the formula for the investment in subsidi-
ary. This is a bit longer than the cash formula, and it simply illustrates how to adjust the formula
when we have multiple debit and credit adjustments to the same account.

We will discuss the completion of the worksheet by working through a sample problem.
Separate-company trial balances for Parent Corporation and Subsidiary Company at December 31,
2011, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Parent Corporation  Subsidiary Company

Sales $3,100 $1,000
Income from Subsidiary 105 —
Accounts payable 300 180
Other liabilities 200 120
Capital stock, $10 par 1,500 500
Other paid-in capital 200 40
Retained earnings—January 1 650 110
$6,055 $1,950
Cash $455 $ 150
Accounts receivable—net 600 300
Cost of sales 2,000 650
Dividends 300 100
Inventory 240 200
Investment in Subsidiary—70% 490 —
Operating expenses 770 200
Plant & equipment—net 1,200 350
$6,055 $1,950

Parent Corporation acquired 70 percent of the outstanding voting shares of Subsidiary Com-
pany for $455,000 on January 1, 2011, when Subsidiary’s stockholders’ equity at book value
was $650,000. Note that the acquisition price implies that the total fair value of the subsidiary is
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Building the Worksheet

DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

PARENT AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKSHEET FOR THE YEAR ENDED

Adjustments & Eliminations
70% Consolidated
Parent Subsidiary Debits Credits Statements*
Income Statement
Sales 3,100 1,000 4,100
Income from Subsidiary 105 105
Cost of goods sold (2,000) (650) (2,650)
Operating expenses (770) (200) (970)
Net income 435 150 585
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Parent 650 650
Retained earnings—Subsidiary 110 110
Net income 435 150 585
Dividends (300) (100) (400)
Ret earnings—ending 785 160 945
Balance Sheet
Cash 455 150 605
Accounts receivable—net 600 300 900
Inventories 240 200 440
Plant & equipment—net 1,200 350 1,550
Investment in Subsidiary 490 490
0
Total assets 2,985 1,000 3,985
Accounts payable 300 180 480
Other liabilities 200 120 320
Capital stock, $10 par 1,500 500 2,000
Other paid-in capital 200 40 240
Retained earnings 785 160 945
Total equities 2,985 1,000 _
: E— - 3,985

* Note the Consolidated statements column is before adjustments and eliminations.

$650,000 ($455,000 + 70%). All of the assets and liabilities of Subsidiary were stated at fair values
(equal to book values) when Parent acquired its 70 percent interest.

We enter the data into our worksheet in Exhibit 4-11. Exhibit 4-11 is our template worksheet
from Exhibit 4-10, but we have added the example data in columns one and two. We begin with
the income statement accounts. Note that we record revenues as positive amounts and expenses
as negatives. Net income is then a simple summation of revenues and expenses. We carry the
calculated Net income down to the Retained Earnings section of the worksheet with no further
adjustment required.

Beginning-of-the-year retained earnings amounts come from the Parent and Subsidiary trial
balances. We record dividends as negative amounts because they reduce retained earnings. Ending
retained earnings is now a simple summation. We carry the calculated ending retained earnings
down to the Balance Sheet section of the worksheet with no further adjustment required.

We record balance sheet amounts picked up from the Parent and Subsidiary trial balances.
Notice that we record assets, liabilities, and equities as positive amounts. Total assets and total
equities are simple summation functions.

Parent’s $105,000 income from Subsidiary for 2011 consists of 70 percent of Subsidiary’s
$150,000 net income for 2011. Its $490,000 Investment in Subsidiary account balance at Decem-
ber 31, 2011, consists of the $455,000 investment cost plus $105,000 income from Subsidiary, less
$70,000 dividends received from Subsidiary during 2011.
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In our workpaper format, we carry the controlling share of net income line down to the re-
tained earnings section of the worksheet without any further adjustment. We similarly carry the
ending retained earnings row down to the balance sheet section, again without further adjustments
or eliminations. Notice, too, that each row in the workpaper generates the consolidated amounts
by adding together the Parent and Subsidiary account balances and then adding or subtracting the
adjustments and eliminations as appropriate.

Finally, we are going to review the required consolidation adjustments and eliminations. We pro-
vide a separate Exhibit 4-12 to show the final consolidation worksheet, after posting the adjustments
and eliminations. This is simply Exhibit 4-11, updated to reflect the entries that follow. Notice, too,
that we have added some new accounts. We create noncontrolling interest share in the income state-
ment section and noncontrolling interest in the balance sheet section and copy the relevant formulae
for expense accounts and liabilities. The first workpaper entry in Exhibit 4-12 is the following:

a Income from Subsidiary (-R, —SE) 105,000
Dividends (+SE) 70,000
Investment in Subsidiary (-A) 35,000

To eliminate income and dividends from subsidiary and return
the investment account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

The difference between income from a subsidiary recognized on the books of the parent and
the dividends received represents the change in the investment account for the period. The $35,000
credit to the Investment in Subsidiary account reduces that account to its $455,000 beginning-of-
the-period balance and thereby establishes reciprocity between the Investment in Subsidiary and
Subsidiary’s stockholders’ equity at January 1, 2011.

Here is a journal entry for workpaper entry b for Exhibit 4-12:

b Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 45,000
Dividends (+SE) 30,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 15,000

To enter noncontrolling interest share of Subsidiary
income and dividends.

Entry b incorporates the noncontrolling interest in a Subsidiary’s net income and the noncontrol-
ling interest’s share of dividends declared by Subsidiary directly into the consolidation workpapers.
Workpaper entry ¢ in journal entry form is as follows:

¢ Retained earnings—Sub. (beginning) (-SE) 110,000

Capital stock—Subsidiary (-SE) 500,000

Other paid in capital—Subsidiary (-SE) 40,000
Investment in Subsidiary (-A) 455,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 195,000

To eliminate reciprocal equity and investment balances,
and establish beginning noncontrolling interest.

This entry eliminates reciprocal investment and equity balances, enters the unamortized excess of
investment fair value over book value acquired as of the beginning of the year (zero in this exam-
ple), and constructs beginning noncontrolling interest ($650,000 x 30 percent) as a separate item.
Observe that entry c eliminates reciprocal investment and equity balances as of the beginning of
the period and enters noncontrolling interest as of the same date.

Parent retained earnings under the complete equity method of accounting are equal to consolidated
retained earnings. Because Parent correctly applies the equity method, its net income of $435,000
equals the controlling share of consolidated net income. Its beginning and ending retained earnings
balances equal the $650,000 and $785,000 consolidated retained earnings amounts, respectively.

Our spreadsheet formulae compute the final consolidated statement totals for us in the final
column. The worksheet is complete. You may want to practice creating the worksheet for a few
problems to be certain you understand the mechanics. However, you will not need to create your
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Completing the Worksheet

PARENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKSHEET FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments & Eliminations

70% Consolidated
Parent Subsidiary Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales 3,100 1,000 4,100
Income from Subsidiary 105 a105 0
Cost of goods sold (2,000) (650) (2,650)
Operating expenses (770) (200) (970)
Noncontrolling interest share b 45 (45)
Controlling share of net income 435 150 435
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Parent 650 650
Retained earnings—Subsidiary 110 c110 0
Controlling share of Net income 435 150 435
Dividends (300) (100) ar70
b 30 (300)
Ret earnings—ending 785 160 785
Balance Sheet
Cash 455 150 605
Receivables—net 600 300 900
Inventories 240 200 440
Plant & equipment—net 1,200 350 1,550
Investment in Subsidiary 490 a 35 0
c 455
Total assets 2,985 1,000 3,495
Accounts payable 300 180 480
Other liabilities 200 120 320
Capital stock, $10 par 1,500 500 ¢ 500 1,500
Other paid-in capital 200 40 c 40 200
Retained earnings 785 160 785
Total equities 2,985 1,000
Noncontrolling interest - - c195 210
b 15
800 800 3495

own worksheet for all problem assignments. We eliminate the mechanical drudgery, and allow
you to focus on learning the advanced accounting concepts, by providing worksheet templates for
many assignments. An icon in the assignment material indicates the availability of a template. The
templates already include the data from the problem for the parent and subsidiary and the formu-
lae for calculating consolidated balances. You can find the templates on the Advanced Accounting

Web site.

Workpapers are prepared to produce meaningful financial reports for a consolidated business en-
tity. Preparation of meaningful consolidated financial statements is the objective. The workpapers
are tools for organizing and manipulating data. If you clearly understand the objective, you can
determine the proper amounts for the consolidated statements without preparing the workpapers.
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Throughout the chapter it was assumed that the parent uses the complete equity method to

account for its investment in the subsidiary. Alternative methods of parent accounting and necessary
revisions to the eliminations and adjustments are discussed on the Advanced Accounting Web site.

The consolidated statement of cash flows can be prepared from the consolidated balance sheets

and income statements.

10.

11.

. If a parent in accounting for its subsidiary amortizes patents on its separate books, why do we include an

adjustment for patents amortization in the consolidation workpaper?
How is noncontrolling interest share entered in consolidation workpapers?

How are the workpaper procedures for the investment in subsidiary, income from subsidiary, and subsidi-
ary’s stockholders’ equity accounts alike?

If a parent uses the equity method but does not amortize the difference between fair value and book value
on its separate books, its net income and retained earnings will not equal its share of consolidated net
income and consolidated retained earnings. How does this affect consolidation workpaper procedures?

Are workpaper adjustments and eliminations entered on the parent’s books? The subsidiary’s books?
Explain.

The financial statement and trial balance workpaper approaches illustrated in the chapter generate compa-
rable information, so why learn both approaches?

In what way do the adjustment and elimination entries for consolidation workpapers differ for the finan-
cial statement and trial balance approaches?

When is it necessary to adjust the parent’s retained earnings account in the preparation of consolidation
workpapers? In answering this question, explain the relationship between parent retained earnings and
consolidated retained earnings.

What approach would you use to check the accuracy of the consolidated retained earnings and noncon-
trolling interest amounts that appear in the balance sheet section of completed consolidation workpapers?

Explain why noncontrolling interest share is added to the controlling share of consolidated net income in
determining cash flows from operating activities.

Controlling share of consolidated net income is a measurement of income to the stockholders of the par-
ent, but does a change in cash as reflected in a statement of cash flows also relate to other stockholders of
the parent?

E 4-1 General questions

1.

Workpaper entries normally:

a Are posted to the general ledger accounts of one or more of the affiliates

b Are posted to the general ledger accounts only when the financial statement approach is used
¢ Are posted to the general ledger accounts only when the trial balance approach is used

d Do not affect the general ledger accounts of any of the affiliates

2. Workpaper techniques assume that nominal accounts are:

a Open when the financial statement approach is used
b Open when the trial balance approach is used

¢ Openin all cases

d Closed

. Most errors made in consolidating financial statements will appear when:

a The consolidated balance sheet does not balance

b Consolidated net income does not equal parent net income

¢ The retained earnings amount on the balance sheet does not equal the amount on the retained earnings
statement

d Adjustment and elimination column totals do not equal

. Net income on consolidation workpapers is:

a Adjusted when the parent uses the cost method

b Adjusted when the parent uses the equity method

¢ Adjusted in all cases

d Not an account balance and not subject to adjustment
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10.

a
b
c
d

a
b
c
d

a
b
c
d

a
b
c
d

a

b
c
d

. On consolidation workpapers, individual stockholders’ equity accounts of a subsidiary are:

Added to parent stockholders’ equity accounts
Eliminated

Eliminated only to the extent of noncontrolling interest
Eliminated to the extent of the parent's interest

. On consolidation workpapers, investment income from a subsidiary is:

Added to the investment account

Added to the parent’s beginning retained earnings

Allocated between controlling and noncontrolling stockholders
Eliminated

. On consolidation workpapers, the investment in subsidiary account balances are:

Allocated between controlling and noncontrolling interests
Always eliminated

Carried forward to the consolidated balance sheet
Eliminated when the financial statement approach is used

. On consolidation workpapers, the controlling share of consolidated net income is determined by:

Adding net income of the parent and subsidiary

Deducting consolidated expenses and noncontrolling interest share from consolidated revenues
Making adjustments to the parent’s income

Subtracting noncontrolling interest share from parent net income

. On consolidation workpapers, consolidated ending retained earnings is determined by:

Adding beginning consolidated retained earnings and the controlling share of consolidated net income and
Subtracting parent dividends

Adding end-of-the-period retained earnings of the affiliates

Adjusting beginning parent retained earnings for subsidiary profits and dividends

Adjusting the parent's retained earnings account balance

Under the trial balance approach to consolidation workpapers, which of the following is used?

a
b
c
d

Unadjusted trial balances

Adjusted trial balances

Postclosing trial balances

Either a or b, depending on the circumstances

E 4-2 Consolidated statement items with equity method

Pan Corporation purchased 80 percent of the outstanding voting common stock of Sal Corporation on January 2, 2011,
for $600,000 cash. Sal’s balance sheets on this date and on December 31, 2011, are as follows:

SAL CORPORATION BALANCE SHEETS

January 2 December 31
Inventory $100,000 $ 40,000
Other current assets 100,000 160,000
Plant assets—net 400,000 440,000
Total assets $600,000 $640,000
Liabilities $100,000 $120,000
Capital stock 300,000 300,000
Retained earnings 200,000 220,000
Total equities $600,000 $640,000

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. Pan uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in Sal.
2. Sal’s 2011 net income and dividends were $140,000 and $120,000, respectively.
3. Sal’s inventory, which was sold in 2011, was undervalued by $25,000 at January 2, 2011.
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REQUIRED
1. What is Pan’s income from Sal for 2011?
2. What is the noncontrolling interest share for 2011?
3. What is the total noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2011?
4

. What will be the balance of Pan’s Investment in Sal account at December 31, 2011, if investment income
from Sal is $100,000? Ignore your answer to 1.

5. What is consolidated net income for Pan Corporation and Subsidiary if Pan’s net income for 2011 is
$360,400? (Assume investment income from subsidiary is $100,000, and it is included in the $360,400.)

E 4-3
General problems
1. Peg Corporation owns a 70 percent interest in San Corporation, acquired several years ago at book value. On
December 31, 2011, San mailed a check for $20,000 to Peg in part payment of a $40,000 account with Peg. Peg
had not received the check when its books were closed on December 31. Peg Corporation had accounts receivable
of $300,000 (including the $40,000 from San), and San had accounts receivable at $440,000 at year-end. In the
consolidated balance sheet of Peg Corporation and Subsidiary at December 31, 2011, accounts receivable will be
shown at what amount?
Use the following information in answering questions 2 and 3.
Pim Corporation purchased a 70 percent interest in Sar Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $28,000, when
Sar’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $6,000 common stock, $20,000 additional paid-in capital, and $4,000
retained earnings. Income and dividend information for Sar is as follows:

2011 2012 2013
Net income (or loss) $2,000 $400 $(1,000)
Dividends 800 200 —

2. Pim reported income of $24,000 for 2013. This does not include income from Sar. What is consolidated net income
for 20137
3. What is Pim’s Investment in Sar balance at December 31, 2013, under the equity method?

E4-4

Equity method

The stockholder’s equity accounts of Pen Corporation and Sin Corporation at December 31, 2010, were as follows
(in thousands):

Pen Sin
Corporation Corporation
Capital stock $1,200 $500
Retained earnings 500 100
Total $1,700 $600

On January 1, 2011, Pen Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sin Corporation for $580,000. The
excess fair value was due to Sin Corporation’s equipment being undervalued by $50,000 and unrecorded patents.
The undervalued equipment had a 5-year remaining useful life when Pen acquired its interest. Patents are amortized
over 10 years.

The income and dividends of Pen and Sin are as follows:

Pen Sin

2011 2012 2011 2012

Net income $340 $350 $120 $150
Dividends 240 250 80 90

REQUIRED: Assume that Pen Corporation uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in Sin.
1. Determine consolidated net income for Pen Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.
2. Compute the balance of Pen’s Investment in Sin account at December 31, 2011.
3. Compute noncontrolling interest share for 2011.

4. Compute noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2012.
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E 4-5
General questions on statement of cash flows
1. In preparing a statement of cash flows, the cost of acquiring a subsidiary is reported:
a As an operating activity under the direct method
b As an operating activity under the indirect method
¢ As an investing activity
d As a financing activity

2. In computing cash flows from operating activities under the direct method, the following item is an addition:
a Cash dividends from equity investees
b Collection of principal on a loan made to a subsidiary
¢ Noncontrolling interest dividends
d Noncontrolling interest share

3. In computing cash flows from operating activities under the indirect method, the following item is an addition to
the controlling share of consolidated net income:
a Noncontrolling interest dividends
b Noncontrolling interest share
¢ Income from equity investees in excess of dividends received
d Write-off of negative goodwill

4. In computing cash flows from operating activities under the direct method, the following item is an addition:
a Sales
b Noncontrolling interest share
¢ CGash received from customers
d Depreciation expense

5. Dividends paid as presented in a consolidated cash flow statement are:
a Parent dividends
b Subsidiary dividends
¢ Parent and subsidiary dividends
d Parent and noncontrolling interest dividends

E 4-6
Prepare cash flows from operating activities section

Information needed to prepare the Cash Flow from Operating Activities section of Par Corporation’s consolidated state-
ment of cash flows is included in the following list:

Amortization of patents $16,000
Consolidated net income 150,000
Decrease in accounts payable 20,000
Depreciation expense 120,000
Increase in accounts receivable 105,000
Increase in inventories 45,000
Loss on sale of land 100,000
Noncontrolling interest share 50,000
Noncontrolling interest dividends 24,000
Undistributed income of equity investees 5,000

REQUIRED: Prepare the Cash Flows from Operating Activities section of Par’s consolidated statement of
cash flows under the indirect method.
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E 4-7
Prepare cash flows from operating activities section

The information needed to prepare the Cash Flow from Operating Activities section of Pro Corporation’s consolidated
statement of cash flows is included in the following list:

Cash received from customers $322,500
Cash paid to suppliers 182,500
Cash paid to employees 27,000
Cash paid for other operating items 23,500
Cash paid for interest expense 12,000
Cash proceeds from sale of land 60,000
Noncontrolling interest dividends 10,000
Dividends received from equity investees 7,000

REQUIRED: Prepare the Cash Flows from Operating Activities section of Pro’s consolidated statement of
cash flows under the direct method.

PROBLEMS

P 4-1
Calculations five years after acquisition

Pea Corporation purchased 75 percent of the outstanding voting stock of Sen Corporation for $2,400,000
on January 1, 2011. Sen’s stockholders’ equity on this date consisted of the following (in thousands):

Capital stock, $10 par $1,000
Additional paid-in capital 600
Retained earnings December 31, 2010 800

Total stockholders’ equity $2,400

The excess fair value of the net assets acquired was assigned 10 percent to undervalued inven-
tory (sold in 2011), 40 percent to undervalued plant assets with a remaining useful life of eight
years, and 50 percent to goodwill.

Comparative trial balances of Pea Corporation and Sen Corporation at December 31, 2015,
are as follows:

Pea Sen
Other assets—net $3,765 $2,600
Investment in Sen—75% 2,340 —
Expenses (including cost of sales) 3,185 600
Dividends 500 200
$9.790 $3.400
Capital stock, $10 par $3,000 $1,000
Additional paid-in capital 850 600
Retained earnings 1,670 800
Sales 4,000 1,000
Income from Sen 270 —
$9,790 $3,400

REQUIRED: Determine the amounts that would appear in the consolidated financial statements of Pea
Corporation and Subsidiary for each of the following items:

. Goodwill at December 31, 2015

. Noncontrolling interest share for 2015

. Consolidated retained earnings at December 31, 2014
. Consolidated retained earnings at December 31, 2015
. Consolidated net income for 2015

. Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2014

N OO O A WD =

. Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2015
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P 4-2
Workpapers and financial statements in year of acquisition
Pal Corporation acquired 70 percent of the outstanding voting stock of Sal Corporation for $91,000
cash on January 1, 2011, when Sal’s stockholders’ equity was $130,000. All the assets and liabilities of
Sal were stated at fair values (equal to book values) when Pal acquired its 70 percent interest.

Financial statements of the two corporations at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, are
summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sal
Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $620 $200
Income from Sal 21 —
Cost of Goods Sold (400) (130)
Operating expenses (154) _(40)
Net income 87 30
Add: Retained earnings January 1 130 22
Deduct: Dividends (60) (20)
Retained earnings December 31 $157 $ 32
Balance Sheet at December 31 T T
Cash $ 91 $ 30
Receivables—net 120 60
Inventories 48 40
Plant and equipment—net 240 70
Investment in Sal 98 —
Total assets $597 $200
Accounts payable $ 60 $ 36
Other liabilities 40 24
Capital stock, $10 par 300 100
Other paid-in capital 40 8
Retained earnings 157 32
Total equities $597 $200

REQUIRED
1. Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pal Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.

2. Prepare a consolidated income statement and a consolidated balance sheet for Pal Corporation and
Subsidiary.

P 4-3
Workpapers in year of acquisition (goodwill and intercompany transactions)

Pan Corporation acquired a 75 percent interest in Saf Corporation on January 1, 2011. Financial state-
ments of Pan and Saf Corporations for the year 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Pan Saf

Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $800 $200
Income from Saf 27.6 —
Cost of sales (500) (100)
Other expenses 194) (52)

Net income 133.6 48

Add: Retained earnings January 1 360 68
Deduct: Dividends (100) 32)
Retained earnings December 31 $393.6 $84
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Pan Saf
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 106 $ 30
Accounts receivable—net 172 40
Dividends receivable from Saf 12 —
Inventories 190 20
Note receivable from Pan — 10
Land 130 60
Buildings—net 340 160
Equipment—net 260 100
Investment in Saf 363.6 —
Total assets $1,573.6 $420
Accounts payable $ 170 $ 20
Note payable to Saf 10 —
Dividends payable — 16
Capital stock, $10 par 1,000 300
Retained earnings 393.6 84
Total equities $1,573.6 $420

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pan Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Only the information provided in the financial statements is available; accordingly,
your solution will require some standard assumptions. Saf owned unrecorded patents having a fair value of
$112,000, and a useful life of 10 years.

P4-4
Consolidation workpapers from separate financial statements

Pal Corporation acquired a 75 percent interest in Sun Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $360,000 in
cash. Financial statements of Pal and Sun Corporations for 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sun

Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $800 $200
Income from Sun 36 —
Cost of sales (500) (100)
Other expenses (194) (52)
Net income 142 48
Add: Retained earnings January 1 360 68
Deduct: Dividends (100) 32)

Retained earnings December 31 $402 $84
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 118 $30
Accounts receivable—net 160 40
Dividends receivable from Sun 12 —
Inventories 190 20
Note receivable from Pal — 10
Land 130 60
Buildings—net 340 160
Equipment—net 260 100
Investment in Sun 372 —

Total assets $1,582 $420
Accounts payable $ 170 $20
Note payable to Sun 10 —
Dividends payable — 16
Capital stock, $10 par 1,000 300
Retained earnings 402 84

Total equities $1,582 $420
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REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pal Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Only the information provided in the financial statements is available; accordingly, your
solution will require some standard assumptions.

P 4-5

Workpapers in year of acquisition (excess assigned to inventory, building,
equipment, patents and goodwill)

Par Corporation acquired a 70 percent interest in Sul Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock
on January 1, 2011, for $490,000 cash. The stockholders’ equity (book value) of Sul on this date con-
sisted of $500,000 capital stock and $100,000 retained earnings. The differences between the fair value
of Sul and the book value of Sul were assigned $5,000 to Sul’s undervalued inventory, $14,000 to
undervalued buildings, $21,000 to undervalued equipment, and $40,000 to previously unrecorded pat-
ents. Any remaining excess is goodwill.

The undervalued inventory items were sold during 2011, and the undervalued buildings and
equipment had remaining useful lives of seven years and three years, respectively. The patents
have a 40-year life. Depreciation is straight line.

At December 31, 2011, Sul’s accounts payable include $10,000 owed to Par. This $10,000
account payable is due on January 15, 2012. Separate financial statements for Par and Sul for 2011
are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Par Sul
Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $ 800 $700
Income from Sul 59.5 —
Cost of sales (300) (400)
Depreciation expense (154) (60)
Other expenses (160) (140)
Net income 245.5 100
Add: Retained earnings January 1 300 100
Deduct: Dividends (200) (50)
Retained earnings December 31 $ 3455 $150
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 86 $ 60
Accounts receivable—net 100 70
Dividends receivable 14 —
Inventories 150 100
Other current assets 70 30
Land 50 100
Buildings—net 140 160
Equipment—net 570 330
Investment in Sul 514.5 —
Total assets $1,694.5 $850
Accounts payable $ 200 $ 85
Dividends payable 100 20
Other liabilities 49 95
Capital stock, $10 par 1,000 500
Retained earnings 345.5 150
Total equities $1,694.5 $850

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Par Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Use an unamortized excess account.
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P 4-6
Workpapers (determine ownership interest, year after acquisition, excess
assigned to land and patents)

Separate company financial statements for Pen Corporation and its subsidiary, Syn Company, at and for
the year ended December 31, 2012, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pen Syn
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statements
for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $400 $100
Income from Syn 18 —
Cost of sales (250) (50)
Expenses (100.6) (26)
Net income 67.4 24
Add: Retained earnings January 1 177 34
Deduct: Dividends (50) (16)
Retained earnings December 31 $194.4 $ 42
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 18 $ 15
Accounts receivable—net 80 20
Dividends receivable from Syn 7.2 —
Note receivable from Pen — 5
Inventory 95 10
Investment in Syn 219.6 —
Land 65 30
Buildings—net 170 80
Equipment—net 130 50
Total assets $784.8 $210
Accounts payable $ 854 $ 10
Note payable to Syn 5 —
Dividends payable — 8
Capital stock, $10 par 500 150
Retained earnings 194.4 42
Total equities $784.8 $210

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pen Corporation acquired 13,500 shares of Syn Company stock for $15 per share on January 1, 2011,
when Syn’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $150,000 capital stock and $15,000 retained earnings.

2. Syn Company’s land was undervalued when Pen acquired its interest, and accordingly, $20,000 of the fair
value/book value differential was assigned to land. Any remaining differential is assigned to unrecorded
patents with a 10-year remaining life.

3. Syn Company owes Pen $5,000 on account, and Pen owes Syn $5,000 on a note payable.

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidated workpapers for Pen Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

P 4-7

Workpapers (year of acquisition, excess assigned to inventory, building
equipment, and goodwill, intercompany balances)

Par Corporation acquired a 70 percent interest in Sol Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock
on January 1, 2011, for $490,000 cash. The stockholders’ equity of Sol on this date consisted of
$500,000 capital stock and $100,000 retained earnings. The difference between the fair value of Sol and
the underlying equity acquired in Sol was assigned $5,000 to Sol’s undervalued inventory, $14,000 to
undervalued buildings, $21,000 to undervalued equipment, and $60,000 to goodwill.
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The undervalued inventory items were sold during 2011, and the undervalued buildings and
equipment had remaining useful lives of seven years and three years, respectively. Depreciation is
straight line.

At December 31, 2011, Sol’s accounts payable include $10,000 owed to Par. This $10,000
account payable is due on January 15, 2012. Par sold equipment with a book value of $15,000 for
$25,000 on June 1, 2011. This is not an intercompany sale transaction. Separate financial state-
ments for Par and Sol for 2011 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Par Sol
Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $ 800 $700
Income from Sol 60.2 —
Gain on equipment 10 —
Cost of sales (300) (400)
Depreciation expense (155) (60)
Other expenses (160) (140)
Net income 255.2 100
Add: Retained earnings January 1 300 100
Deduct: Dividends (200) (50)
Retained earnings December 31 $ 3552 $150
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 96 $ 60
Accounts receivable—net 100 70
Dividends receivable 14 —
Inventories 150 100
Other current assets 70 30
Land 50 100
Buildings—net 140 160
Equipment—net 570 330
Investment in Sol 515.2 —
Total assets $1,705.2 $850
Accounts payable $ 200 $ 85
Dividends payable 100 20
Other liabilities 50 95
Capital stock, $10 par 1,000 500
Retained earnings 355.2 150
Total equities $1,705.2 $850

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Par Corporation and Sol for the year ended December
31, 2011. Use an unamortized excess account.

P 4-8
Workpapers (excess assigned to land and goodwill)

Separate-company financial statements for Pun Corporation and its subsidiary, Son Company, at and for
the year ended December 31, 2012, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pun Son

Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statement for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $400 $100
Income from Son 21.6 —
Cost of sales (250) (50)
Expenses (100.6) (26)

Net income 71 24
Add: Retained earnings January 1 181 34
Deduct: Dividends (50) (16)

Retained earnings December 31 $202 $ 42
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Pun Son
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 138 $ 15
Accounts receivable—net 80 20
Dividends receivable from Son 7.2 —
Note receivable from Pun — 5
Inventory 95 10
Investment in Son 226.8 —
Land 65 30
Buildings—net 170 80
Equipment—net 130 50
Total assets $792 $210
Accounts payable $ 85 $ 10
Note payable to Son 5 —
Dividends payable — 8
Capital stock, $10 par 500 150
Retained earnings 202 42
Total equities $792 $210

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pun Corporation acquired 13,500 shares of Son Company stock for $15 per share on January 1, 2011,
when Son’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $150,000 capital stock and $15,000 retained earnings.

2. Son Company’s land was undervalued when Pun acquired its interest, and accordingly, $20,000 of the fair
value/book value differential was assigned to land. Any remaining differential is goodwill.

3. Son Company owes Pun $5,000 on account, and Pun owes Son $5,000 on a note payable.

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pun Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

P4-9
Workpapers (year of acquisition, excess assigned to inventory, equipment and
patents, intercompany transactions)
Pas Corporation acquired 80 percent of Sel Corporation’s common stock on January 1, 2011, for
$210,000 cash. The stockholders’ equity of Sel at this time consisted of $150,000 capital stock and
$50,000 retained earnings. The difference between the fair value of Sel and the underlying equity
acquired in Sel was due to a $12,500 undervaluation of Sel’s inventory, a $25,000 undervaluation of
Sel’s equipment, and unrecorded patents with a 20-year life.

The undervalued inventory items were sold by Sel during 2011, and the undervalued equip-
ment had a remaining useful life of five years. Straight-line depreciation is used.

Sel owed Pas $4,000 on accounts payable at December 31, 2011.

The separate financial statements of Pas and Sel Corporations at and for the year ended
December 31, 2011, are as follows (in thousands):

Pas Sel

Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $200 $110
Income from Sel 17 —
Cost of sales (80) (40)
Depreciation expense (40) (20)
Other expenses (25.5) _(10)

Net income 71.5 40
Add: Retained earnings January 1 75 50
Deduct: Dividends (40) (20)

Retained earnings December 31 $106.5 $70
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Pas Sel

Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 29.5 $ 30
Trade receivables—net 28 40
Dividends receivable 8 —
Inventories 40 30
Land 15 30
Buildings—net 65 70
Equipment—net 200 100
Investment in Sel 211 —

Total assets $596.5 $300
Accounts payable $ 40 $ 50
Dividends payable 100 10
Other liabilities 50 20
Capital stock, $10 par 300 150
Retained earnings 106.5 70

Total equities $596.5 $300

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pas Corporation and Subsidiary at and for the year
ended December 31, 2011.

P 4-10
Workpapers (year of acquisition, fair value/book value differentials, intercompany
halances)

Pik Corporation acquired 80 percent of Sel Corporation’s common stock on January 1, 2011, for
$210,000 cash. The stockholders’ equity of Sel at this time consisted of $150,000 capital stock and
$50,000 retained earnings. The difference between the fair value of Sel and the underlying equity
acquired in Sel was due to a $12,500 undervaluation of Sel’s inventory, a $25,000 undervaluation of
Sel’s equipment, and goodwill.

The undervalued inventory items were sold by Sel during 2011, and the undervalued equip-
ment had a remaining useful life of five years. Straight-line depreciation is used.

Sel owed Pik $4,000 on accounts payable at December 31, 2011.

The separate financial statements of Pik and Sel Corporations at and for the year ended
December 31, 2011, are as follows (in thousands):

Pik Sel
Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $200 $110
Income from Sel 18 —
Cost of sales (80) (40)
Depreciation expense (40) (20)
Other expenses (25.5) 10)
Net income 72.5 40
Add: Retained earnings January 1 75 50
Deduct: Dividends (40) (20)
Retained earnings December 31 $107.5 $ 70
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 30
Trade receivables—net 40
Dividends receivable —
Inventories 30
Land 30

Buildings—net

Equipment—net

Investment in Sel
Total assets
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Pik Sel
Accounts payable $ 40 $ 50
Dividends payable 100 10
Other liabilities 50 20
Capital stock, $10 par 300 150
Retained earnings 107.5 70
Total equities $597.5 $300

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pik Corporation and Sel at and for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

P 4-11

Balance sheet (four years after acquisition, fair value/book value differentials)
Pil Corporation paid $170,000 for an 80 percent interest in Stu Corporation on December 31, 2011,
when Stu’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $100,000 capital stock and $50,000 retained earnings.

A summary of the changes in Pil’s Investment in Stu account from December 31, 2011, to December 31,
2015, follows:

Investment cost December 31, 2011 $170,000
Increases
80% of Stu’s net income 2012 through 2015 112,000
282,000
Decreases
80% of Stu’s dividends 2012 through 2015 $56,000
80% of Amortization of excess fair value over book value:
Assigned to inventories, $8,750 (sold in 2012) 7,000
Assigned to plant assets, $22,500 (depreciated
over a nine-year period) 2012 through 2015 8,000
Assigned to patents, $31,250 (amortized over
a five-year period) 2012 through 2015 20,000 91,000
Investment balance December 31, 2015 $191,000

Financial statements for Pil and Stu at and for the year ended December 31, 2015, are sum-
marized as follows (in thousands):

Pil Stu
Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $300 $200
Income from Stu 25 —
Cost of sales (180) (140)
Other expenses (50) (20)
Net income 95 40
Add: Retained earnings January 1 255 100
Deduct: Dividends _(50) (20)
Retained earnings December 31 $300 $120
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 41 $35
Trade receivables—net 60 55
Dividends receivable 8 —
Advance to Stu 25 —
Inventories 125 35
Plant assets—net 300 175
Investment in Stu 191 —

Total assets $750 $300
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Pil Stu
Accounts payable $50 $45
Dividends payable — 10
Advance from Pil — 25
Capital stock 400 100
Retained earnings 300 120
Total equities $750 $300

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. The accounts payable of Stu at December 31, 2015, include $5,000 owed to Pil.
2. Pil advanced $25,000 to Stu during 2013. This advance is still outstanding.
3. Half of Stu’s 2015 dividends will be paid in January 2016.

REQUIRED: Prepare workpapers to consolidate the balance sheets only of Pil and Stu Corporations at
December 31, 2015.

P 4-12

Workpapers (two years after acquisition, fair value/book differentials,
adjustments)

Pat Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sci Corporation for $480,000 on January 1, 2011,
when Sci’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $400,000 capital stock and $50,000 retained earnings.
The excess fair value over book value acquired was assigned to plant assets that were undervalued by
$100,000 and to goodwill. The undervalued plant assets had a four-year useful life.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. Pat’s account receivable includes $10,000 owed by Sci.
2. Sci mailed its check for $40,000 to Pat on December 30, 2012, in settlement of the advance.
3. A $20,000 dividend was declared by Sci on December 30, 2012, but was not recorded by Pat.

4. Financial statements for Pat and Sci Corporations for 2012 follow (in thousands):

Pat Sci

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
for the Year Ended December 31
Sales $1,800 $600
Income from Sci 76 —
Cost of sales (1,200) (300)
Operating expenses (380) (180)

Net Income 296 120
Add: Retained earnings January 1 244 100
Less: Dividends (200) _(40)

Retained earnings December 31 $ 340 $180
Balance Sheet at December 31
Cash $ 12 $ 30
Accounts receivable—net 52 40
Inventories 164 120
Advance to Sci 40 —
Other current assets 160 10
Land 320 60
Plant assets—net 680 460
Investment in Sci 560 —

Total assets $1,988 $720
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Pat Sci
Accounts payable $ 48 $ 30
Dividends payable — 20
Other liabilities 200 90
Capital stock 1,400 400
Retained earnings 340 180
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,988 $720

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pat Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012.

P 4-13
[Appendix] Workpapers for two successive years (equity method misapplied in
second year)
Comparative adjusted trial balances for Ply Corporation and Ski Corporation are given here. Ply Corpo-
ration acquired an 80 percent interest in Ski Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $80,000 cash. Except
for inventory items that were undervalued by $1,000 and equipment that was undervalued by $4,000,
all of Ski’s identifiable assets and liabilities were stated at their fair values on December 31, 2010. The
remaining excess was assigned to previously-unrecorded intangibles, which had a 40-year remaining life.
Ski Corporation sold the undervalued inventory items during 2011 but continues to own the
equipment, which had a four-year remaining useful life as of December 31, 2010. (All amounts are
in thousands.)

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012

Ply Ski Ply Ski Ply Ski

Cash $100 $30 $24.7 $15 $26.7 $ 20
Trade receivables—net 30 15 25 20 45 30
Dividends receivable — — 4 — 4 —
Inventories 50 20 40 30 40 30
Plant and equipment—net 90 60 100 55 95 60
Investment in Ski — — 86.3 — 94.3 —
Cost of sales 100 40 105 35 110 35
Operating expenses 20 30 35 30 30 35
Dividends 10 5 10 5 15 10

$400 $200 $430 $190 $460 $220
Accounts payable $30 $ 35 $ 20.7 $15 $17.7 $ 25
Dividends payable 10 — 9 5 6 5
Capital stock 100 40 100 40 100 40
Other paid-in capital 60 20 60 20 60 20
Retained earnings 50 25 70 30 90.3 40
Sales 150 80 160 80 170 90
Income from Ski — — 10.3 — 16 —

$400 $200 $430 $190 $460 $220

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Ply Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011 and 2012
using the financial statement approach. (Hint: Ply Corporation’s accountant applied the equity method
correctly for 2011 but misapplied the equity method for 2012.)

P 4-14
[Appendix] Investment account analysis and trial balance workpapers

Pep Company paid $99,000 for a 90 percent interest in Sim on January 5, 2011, when Sim’s capital
stock was $60,000 and its retained earnings $20,000. Trial balances for the companies at December 31,
2014, are as follows (in thousands):
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Pep Sim
Cash $ 11 $ 15
Accounts receivable 15 25
Plant assets 220 180
Investment in Sim 136.8 —
Cost of goods sold 50 30
Operating expenses 25 40
Dividends 20 10
$477.8 $300
Accumulated depreciation $ 90 $ 50
Liabilities 80 30
Capital stock 100 60
Paid-in excess 20 —
Retained earnings 71.6 70
Sales 100 90
Income from Sim 16.2 —
S4778  $300

The excess fair value over book value acquired was assigned $10,000 to undervalued inventory items
that were sold in 2011 and the remainder to patents having a remaining useful life of 10 years from
January 1, 2011.

REQUIRED

1. Summarize the changes in Pep Company’s Investment in Sim account from January 5, 2011, through
December 31, 2014.

2. Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pep Company and Sim for 2014 using the trial balance approach
for your workpapers.

P 4-15

[Appendix] Trial balance workpapers and financial statements

in year of acquisition

Peg Corporation owns 90 percent of the voting stock of Sup Corporation and 25 percent of the voting
stock of Ell Corporation.

The 90 percent interest in Sup was acquired for $18,000 cash on January 1, 2011, when Sup’s
stockholders’ equity was $20,000 ($18,000 capital stock and $2,000 retained earnings).

Peg’s 25 percent interest in Ell was purchased for $7,000 cash on July 1, 2011, when Ell’s
stockholders’ equity was $24,000 ($15,000 capital stock, $6,000 retained earnings, and $3,000
current earnings—first half of 2010).

The difference between fair value and book value is due to unrecorded patents and is amortized
over 10 years.

Adjusted trial balances of the three associated companies at December 31, 2011, are as
follows:

Peg Sup Ell
Cash $ 18,950 $ 4,000 $ 1,000
Other current assets 40,000 11,000 10,000
Plant assets—net 120,000 14,000 20,000
Investment in Sup—90 percent 19,800 — —
Investment in EIl—25% 6,450 — —
Cost of sales 60,000 16,000 15,000
Other expenses 25,000 7,000 9,000
Dividends (paid in November) 10,000 3,000 5,000

Total Debits $300,200 $55,000 $60,000




138

CHAPTER 4

Peg Sup Ell

Current liabilities $ 25,000 $ 7,000 $ 9,000
Capital stock 150,000 18,000 15,000
Retained earnings 20,000 2,000 6,000
Sales 100,000 28,000 30,000
Income from Sup 4,500 — —
Income from Ell 700 — —

Total credits $300,200 $55,000 $60,000

REQUIRED

1. Reconstruct the journal entries that were made by Peg Corporation during 2011 to account for its invest-
ments in Sup and Ell Corporations.

2. Prepare an income statement, a retained earnings statement, and a balance sheet for Peg Corporation for
December 31, 2011.

3. Prepare consolidation workpapers (trial balance format) for Peg and Subsidiaries for 2011.

4. Prepare consolidated financial statements other than the cash flows statement for Peg Corporation and
Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2011.

P 4-16
Prepare cash flows from operating activities section (direct method)

The accountant for Pil Corporation collected the following information that he thought might be useful
in the preparation of the company’s consolidated statement of cash flows (in thousands):

Cash paid for purchase of equipment $270
Cash paid for other expenses 450
Cash paid to suppliers 630
Cash received from customers 1,600
Cash received from sale of land 500
Cash received from treasury stock sold 400
Dividends from equity investees 40
Dividends paid to noncontrolling stockholders 20
Dividends paid to Pil’s stockholders 50
Gain on sale of land 200
Income from equity investees 80
Interest received from short-term loan 5
Noncontrolling interest share 45

REQUIRED: Prepare the Cash Flows from Operating Activities section of the consolidated statement of
cash flows for Pil Corporation and Subsidiaries using the direct method of presentation.

P 4-17
Prepare consolidated statement of cash flows using the direct method or
indirect method

Comparative consolidated financial statements for Pes Corporation and its 90 percent-owned subsidi-
ary, Sun Corporation, at and for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

PES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPARATIVE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year 2011 Year 2010 2011-2010

Income and Retained Earnings

Statements for the Year Change
Sales $ 675 $600 $ 75
Cost of sales (350) (324.5) (25.5)
Depreciation expense (51) (51) 0
Other operating expenses (139) (120.5) (18.5)

Noncontrolling interest share (&) 4) @))
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Controlling share of income 130 100 30
Add: Beginning retained earnings 190 130 60
Less: Dividends (40) (40) 0

Ending Retained Earnings $ 280 $190 $ 90
Balance Sheets at December 31
Assets

Cash $ 555 $ 65 $ (9.5)

Accounts receivable—net 85 80 5

Inventories 140 120 20

Other current assets 100 81 19

Plant and equipment—net 674 600 74

Patents 19 19.5 (.5)

Total assets $1,073.5 $965.5 $108
Equities

Accounts payable $ 85 $ 63 $ 22

Dividends payable 21 17 4

Long-term liabilities 35 46 (11)

Capital stock 500 500 0

Other paid-in capital 120 120 0

Retained earnings 280 190 90

Noncontrolling interest—10% 32.5 29.5 3

Total equities $1,073.5 $965.5 $108

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated statement of cash flows for Pes Corporation and Subsidiary for the
year ended December 31, 2011, using either the indirect method or the direct method. All changes in plant as-
sets are due to asset acquisitions and depreciation. Sun’s net income and dividends for 2011 are $50,000 and
$20,000, respectively.

P 4-18
[Based on AICPA] Prepare consolidated statement of cash flows

The consolidated workpaper balances of Puh, Inc., and its subsidiary, Sto Corporation, as of
December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

Net Change
2011 2010 Increase (Decrease)

Assets
Cash $313 $ 195 $118
Marketable equity securities at cost (MES) 175 175 —
Allowance to reduce MES to market (13) 24) 11
Accounts receivable—net 418 440 (22)
Inventories 595 525 70
Land 385 170 215
Plant and equipment 755 690 65
Accumulated depreciation (199) (145) (54)
Patents—net 57 60 3)

Total assets $2,486 $2,086 $400
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Note payable, current portion $ 150 $ 150 $—
Accounts and accrued payables 595 474 121
Note payable, long-term portion 300 450 (150)
Deferred income taxes 44 32 12
Noncontrolling interest in Sto 179 161 18
Common stock—$10 par 580 480 100
Additional paid-in capital 303 180 123
Retained earnings 335 195 140
Treasury stock at cost — (36) 36

Total equities $2,486 $2,086 $400




140

CHAPTER 4

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.

o1~ w N

o

On January 20, 2011, Puh issued 10,000 shares of its common stock for land having a fair value of
$215,000.

On February 5, 2011, Puh reissued all of its treasury stock for $44,000.
On May 15, 2011, Puh paid a cash dividend of $58,000 on its common stock.
On August 8, 2011, equipment was purchased for $127,000.

On September 30, 2011, equipment was sold for $40,000. The equipment cost $62,000 and had a carrying
amount of $34,000 on the date of sale.

On December 15, 2011, Sto Corporation paid a cash dividend of $15,000 on its common stock.

Deferred income taxes represent temporary differences relating to the use of accelerated depreciation
methods for income tax reporting and the straight-line method for financial reporting.

Controlling share of net income for 2011 was $198,000. Sto’s net income was $110,000.

Puh owns 70 percent of its subsidiary, Sto Corporation. There was no change in the ownership interest in
Sto during 2010 and 2011. There were no intercompany transactions other than the dividend paid to Puh
by its subsidiary.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated statement of cash flows for Puh and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Use the indirect method.

P 4-19
Prepare consolidated statement of cash flows using either the direct
or indirect method

Comparative consolidated financial statements for Pil Corporation and its 80 percent-owned subsidiary
at and for the years ended December 31 are summarized as follows:

PIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (IN THOUSANDS)

Year’s Change
Year 2011 Year 2010 2011-2010

Income and Retained Earnings
Sales $2,600 $2,400 $200
Income—equity investees 60 50 10
Cost of sales (1,450) (1,408) (42)
Depreciation expense (200) (150) (50)
Other operating expenses 470) (462) (8)
Noncontrolling interest share (40) (30) 10)
Controlling share of income 500 400 100
Retained earnings, January 1 1,000 700 300
Dividends (150) (100) (50)

Retained earnings, December 31 $1,350 $1,000 $350
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 430 $ 360 70
Accounts receivable—net 750 540 210
Inventories 700 700 0
Plant and equipment—net 1,800 1,500 300
Equity investments 430 400 30
Patents 190 200 (10)

Total assets $4,300 $3,700 $600
Accounts payable $492 $ 475 $17
Dividends payable 38 25 13
Long-term note payable 600 400 200
Capital stock 1,000 1,000 0
Other paid-in capital 600 600 0
Retained earnings 1,350 1,000 350
Noncontrolling interest—20% 220 200 20

Total equities $4,300 $3,700 $600
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REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated statement of cash flows for Pil Corporation and Subsidiary for the
year ended December 31, 2011. Assume that all changes in plant assets are due to asset acquisitions and
depreciation. Income and dividends from 20 percent- to 50 percent-owned investees for 2011 were $60,000
and $30,000, respectively. Pil’s only subsidiary reported $200,000 net income for 2011 and declared $100,000
in dividends during the year. Patent amortization for 2011 is $10,000.

INTERNET ASSIGNMENT

Delta Airlines completed a merger with Northwest Airlines in 2008. Visit Delta's Web site
and download a copy of its 2009 annual report. Review the financial statements and accom-
panying notes for evidence of current and past acquisition activities.

a. What amounts does Delta report for goodwill and other intangible assets at December
31,2009?

b. Summarize Delta's intangible assets from recent acquisitions.

c. Briefly summarize Delta's amortization policies related to intangible assets. What
accounting methods and lives are assigned to the assets?

d. Does Delta report material balance sheet or income statement amounts for noncontrol-
ling interests in 2009?

Trial Balance Workpaper Format

The main text of Chapter 4 discusses preparation of consolidated statements using a workpaper
format called the financial statement approach. This appendix presents an alternative workpaper
format using parent- and subsidiary-company trial balances.

The trial balance approach to consolidation workpapers brings together the adjusted trial
balances for affiliated companies. Both the financial statement approach and the trial balance
approach generate the same information, so the selection is based on user preference. If completed
financial statements are available, the financial statement approach is easier to use because it pro-
vides measurements of parent and subsidiary income, retained earnings, assets, and equities that
are needed in the consolidating process. If the accountant is given adjusted trial balances to con-
solidate, the trial balance approach may be more convenient.

Workpaper entries illustrated in this chapter are designed for convenient switching be-
tween the financial statement and trial balance approaches for consolidation workpapers.
Recall that we adjust or eliminate account balances. Net income is not an account balance,
so it is not subject to adjustment. We assume all nominal accounts are open to permit adjust-
ment. The only retained earnings amount that appears in an adjusted trial balance is the be-
ginning retained earnings amount. Therefore, the adjustments and eliminations are exactly
the same whether we use the trial balance approach or the financial statement approach.
This is so because we are working with beginning retained earnings and adjusting actual
account balances.

Consolidation Example—Trial Balance Format and Equity Method

Exhibit 4-13 illustrates consolidation workpapers using the trial balance format for Pib Corpora-
tion and its 90 percent-owned subsidiary, Sad Corporation. Pib acquired its interest in Sad on
January 1, 2011, at a price $14,000 in excess of Sad’s total $40,000 book value, and it assigned the
excess to patents with a 10-year amortization period.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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Trial Balance Approach for Workpapers

PIB CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)
Adjustments and Income Retained Balance
Pib 90% Sad Eliminations Statement Earnings Sheet
Debits
Cash $ 68 $ 20 $ 26.8
Accounts receivable 30 15 f5 40
Inventories 50 25 75
Plant and equipment 75 45 120
Investment in Sad 68.4 b 7.2
d61.2
Cost of goods sold 80 30 al4 $(96)
Operating expenses 19.6 20 e 2 (41.6)
Dividends 15 10 b 9 $(15)
c 1
Patents d18 e 2 16
$344.8 $165 $277.8
Credits
Accumulated depreciation $ 25 $ 1 $ 36
Accounts payable 45 34 f 5 74
Common stock 100 30 d 30 100
Retained earnings 38.6 20 d20 38.6
Sales 120 70 al4 176
Income from Sad 16.2 b 16.2
$344.8 $165
Noncontrolling interest January 1 d 6.8
Noncontrolling Interest Share ($18,000 X 10%) c 1.8 (1.8)
Controlling share of Consolidated net income $36.6 36.6
Consolidated retained earnings m 60.2
December 31
Noncontrolling interest December 31 (6.8 + .8) ¢ 038 7.6
107 107 $277.8

A summary of changes in Pib’s Investment in Sad account from the date of acquisition to
December 31, 2012, the report date, is as follows:

Investment cost January 1, 2011 $54,000
Add: Income—2011 (90% of Sad’s $10,000 net

income less $2,000 amortization of patents) 7.200
Investment balance December 31, 2011 61,200
Add: Income—2012 (90% of Sad’s $20,000 net

income less $2,000 amortization of patents) 16,200
Deduct: Dividends received from Sad (90% % $10,000) -9,000

Investment balance December 31, 2012 $68,400
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The workpapers presented in Exhibit 4-13 reflect the additional assumptions that Pib sold mer-
chandise to Sad during 2012 for $14,000, and that, as of December 31, 2012, Sad owed Pib $5,000
from the sale. Sad sold the merchandise to its customers, so the consolidated entity realized all
profit from the sale during 2012.

Separate adjusted trial balances are presented in the first two columns of Exhibit 4-13. As
shown in the exhibit, debit-balance accounts are presented first and totaled, and credit-balance ac-
counts are presented and totaled below the debit-balance accounts. Separate lines are added at the
bottom of the list of accounts for Noncontrolling Interest Beginning of Year, Noncontrolling Inter-
est Share, and Noncontrolling Interest End of Year.

The workpaper entries to prepare consolidated financial statements using the trial balance are
the same as those for the financial statement approach. However, we classify the accounts in a trial
balance according to their debit and credit balances, so the locations of the accounts vary from
those found in the financial statement format. Also, the trial balance includes only beginning-of-
the-period retained earnings amounts.

Workpaper entries to consolidate the trial balances of Pib and Subsidiary at December 31, 2012,
are as follows:

o

Sales (-R, -SE) 14,000
Cost of goods sold (-E, + SE) 14,000

To eliminate reciprocal sales and cost of sales from
intercompany purchases.

b Income from Sad (-R, -SE) 16,200
Dividends (+SE) 9,000
Investment in Sad (-A) 7,200

To eliminate income and dividends from Sad and adjust the
investment account to its beginning-of-the-year amount.

¢ Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 1,800
Dividends (+SE) 1,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 800

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

d Common stock—Sad (-SE) 30,000

Retained earnings—Sad (-SE) 20,000

Patents (+A) 18,000
Investment in Sad (-A) 61,200
Noncontrolling interest (10%) (+SE) 6,800

To eliminate reciprocal investment in Sad and equity
amounts of Sad, record beginning noncontrolling
interest, and enter unamortized patents.

Operating expenses (E, —SE) 2,000
Patents (—A) 2,000
To record current amortization of patents as an expense.
Accounts payable (-L) 5,000
Accounts receivable (—A) 5,000

To eliminate reciprocal accounts payable and
receivable balances.

(o]

-

After entering all adjustments and eliminations in the workpapers, we carry items not elimi-
nated to the Income Statement, Retained Earnings Statement, or Balance Sheet columns. Next, we
take noncontrolling interest share from entry ¢ and include it in the Income Statement column as a
deduction.

Here we can see an inconvenience of the trial balance workpaper approach. We must compute
Sad’s $20,000 net income from the revenue and expense data and adjust for the patent amortization
of $2,000 before multiplying by the noncontrolling interest percentage. We computed noncontrol-
ling interest share directly when we used the financial statement workpaper approach.
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‘We total the Consolidated Income Statement column and carry the total to the Consolidated Retained
Earnings Statement column. We calculate noncontrolling interest at December 31 (6.8 + .8 =7.6).
We next total the consolidated Retained Earnings Statement column and carry that total to the
consolidated Balance Sheet column. Finally, we total the consolidated Balance Sheet debits and
credits and complete the workpaper. We prepare the consolidated financial statements directly from
the consolidated Income Statement, consolidated Retained Earnings Statement, and consolidated
Balance Sheet columns.
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Intercompany Profit
Transactions—Inventories

e prepare consolidated statements to show the financial position and the results of

operations of two or more affiliates as if they were one entity. Therefore, we eliminate
the effects of transactions between the affiliates (referred to as intercompany transactions) from
consolidated financial statements.

Intercompany transactions may result in reciprocal account balances on the books of the affili-
ates. For example, intercompany sales transactions produce reciprocal sales and purchases (or
cost of goods sold) balances, as well as reciprocal balances for accounts receivable and accounts
payable. Intercompany loan transactions produce reciprocal notes receivable and payable balances,
as well as reciprocal interest income and expense balances. These intercompany transactions are
intracompany transactions from the viewpoint of the consolidated entity; therefore, we eliminate
their effects in the consolidation process.

GAAP concisely summarizes consolidation procedures:

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, intercompany balances and
transactions shall be eliminated. This includes intercompany open account balances,
security holdings, sales and purchases, interest, dividends, etc. As consolidated
financial statements are based on the assumption that they represent the financial
position and operating results of a single economic entity, such statements should
not include gain or loss on transactions among the entities in the consolidated group.
Accordingly, any intercompany income or loss on assets remaining within the con-
solidated group shall be eliminated; the concept usually applied for this purpose is
profit or loss. [1]

The reason we eliminate intercompany profits and losses is that the management of the par-
ent controls all intercompany transactions, including authorization and pricing, without arm’s-
length bargaining between the affiliates. In eliminating the effect of intercompany profits and
losses from consolidated statements, however, the issue is not whether the intercompany trans-
actions were or were not at arm’s length. The objective is to show the income and financial
position of the consolidated entity as they would have appeared if the intercompany transac-
tions had never taken place, irrespective of the amounts involved in such transactions. The
same reasoning applies to the measurement of the investment account and investment income
under a one-line consolidation. In the case of a one-line consolidation, however, evidence that
intercompany transactions were not at arm’s length may necessitate additional adjustments
for fair presentation of the parent’s income and financial position in separate parent financial
statements. [2]

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1 Understand the impact
of intercompany profit in
inventories on preparing
consolidation workpapers.

2 Apply the concepts

of upstream versus
downstream inventory
transfers.

3 Defer unrealized inventory

profits remaining in the
ending inventory.

4 Recognize realized,

previously deferred
inventory profits in the
beginning inventory.

5 Adjust calculations of
noncontrolling interest
amounts in the presence
of intercompany inventory
profits.

6 Electronic supplement:
Understand differences in
consolidation workpaper
techniques related to
intercompany inventory
profits when the parent
company uses either an
incomplete equity method
or the cost method.
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Most intercompany transactions creating gains and losses can be grouped as inventory items,
plant assets, and bonds. Consolidation procedures for inventory items are discussed in this chapter,
and those for plant assets and bonds are covered in subsequent chapters. Although the discussion
and illustrations in this chapter relate to intercompany profit situations, the examples also provide
a basis for analyzing and accounting for intercompany losses. Tax considerations are covered in
Chapter 10.

INTERCOMPANY INVENTORY TRANSACTIONS

Firms recognize revenue when it is realized, that is, when it is earned. For revenue to be earned
from the viewpoint of the consolidated entity, there must be a sale to outside entities. Revenue
on sales between affiliates cannot be recognized until merchandise is sold outside of the consoli-
dated entity. No consolidated income results from transfers between affiliates. The sale of inven-
tory items by one company to an affiliate produces reciprocal sales and purchases accounts when
the purchaser has a periodic inventory system, and reciprocal sales and cost of goods sold accounts
when the purchaser uses a perpetual inventory system. We eliminate reciprocal sales and cost of
goods sold (or purchases) amounts in preparing a consolidated income statement in order to report
sales and cost of goods sold for the consolidated entity; eliminating equal sales and cost of goods
sold has no effect on consolidated net income.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, vertical integration of operating activities is often a prime motiva-
tion for business combinations. Walt Disney’s 2009 annual report makes some related disclosures
in Note 1, Segments. Here we find that the studio entertainment segment generated intersegment
revenues of $120 million. Disney does not offer any evidence about how they price these interseg-
ment transfers, but they eliminate them in consolidation.

Segment information presented in the The Coca-Cola Company and Subsidiaries 2009
annual report (p. 120) discloses elimination of intersegment sales of $1.85 billion. Similarly,
Chevron Corporation discloses elimination of intersegment sales of $30.4 billion (2009 annual
report, p. 49).

Elimination of Intercompany Purchases and Sales

We eliminate intercompany sales and purchases (or cost of goods sold) in the consolidation
process in order to report consolidated sales and purchases (or cost of goods sold) at amounts
purchased from and sold to outside entities. When a periodic inventory system is used, the work-
paper entry to eliminate intercompany sales and purchases is simply a debit to sales and a credit
to purchases. The workpaper elimination under a perpetual inventory system (used throughout
this book) is a debit to sales and a credit to cost of goods sold. The reason is that a perpetual
inventory system includes intercompany purchases in a separate cost of goods sold account of
the purchasing affiliate when it is sold to outside third parties. These observations are illustrated
for Pin Corporation and its subsidiary, Sep Corporation.

Pin Corporation formed a subsidiary, Sep Corporation, in 2011 to retail a special line of Pin’s
merchandise. All Sep’s purchases are made from Pin Corporation at 20 percent above Pin’s cost.
During 2011, Pin sold merchandise that cost $20,000 to Sep for $24,000, and Sep sold all the
merchandise to its customers for $30,000. Both Pin and Sep record journal entries relating to the
merchandise on their separate books, as follows:

PIN’S BOOKS

Inventory (+A) 20,000
Accounts payable (+L) 20,000
To record purchases on account from other entities.
Accounts receivable—Sep (+A) 24,000
Sales (R, +SE) 24,000
To record intercompany sales to Sep.
Cost of sales (E, —SE) 20,000
Inventory (—A) 20,000
To record cost of sales to Sep.
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SEP’S BOOKS

Inventory (+A) 24,000
Accounts payable—Pin (+L) 24,000
To record intercompany purchases from Pin.
Accounts receivable (+A) 30,000
Sales (R, +SE) 30,000
To record sales to customers outside the consolidated entity.

Cost of sales (E, —SE) 24,000
Inventory (—A) 24,000
To record cost of sales to customers.

At year-end 2011, Pin’s sales include $24,000 sold to Sep, and its cost of sales includes the
$20,000 cost of merchandise transferred to Sep. Sep’s sales consist of $30,000 in merchandise sold
to other entities, and its cost of sales consists of the $24,000 transfer price from Pin. Pin and Sep
are considered one entity for reporting purposes, so combined sales and cost of sales are overstated
by $24,000. We eliminate that overstatement in the consolidation workpapers, where measurements
for consolidated sales and cost of sales are finalized. The workpaper elimination is as follows:

Adjustments and

Pin 100% Sep Eliminations Consolidated
Sales $24,000 $30,000 a 24,000 $30,000
Cost of sales 20,000 24,000 a 24,000 20,000
Gross profit $ 4,000 $ 6,000 $10,000

The workpaper elimination has no effect on consolidated net income because it eliminates equal
sales and cost of sales amounts, and combined gross profit equals consolidated gross profit. How-
ever, the elimination is necessary to reflect merchandising activity accurately for the consolidated
entity that purchased merchandise for $20,000 (Pin) and sold it for $30,000 (Sep). The fact that Pin’s
separate records include $4,000 gross profit on the merchandise and Sep’s records show $6,000 is
irrelevant in reporting the consolidated results of operations. In addition to eliminating intercompany
profit items, it is necessary to eliminate intercompany receivables and payables in consolidation.

Elimination of Unrealized Profit in Ending Inventory

The consolidated entity realizes and recognizes the full amount of intercompany profit on sales
between affiliates in the period in which the merchandise is resold to outside entities. Until resel-
ling the merchandise, any profit or loss on intercompany sales is unrealized, and we must eliminate
its effect in the consolidation process. The ending inventory of the purchasing affiliate reflects any
unrealized profit or loss on intercompany sales because that inventory reflects the intercompany
transfer price rather than cost to the consolidated entity. The elimination is a debit to cost of goods
sold and a credit to the ending inventory for the amount of unrealized profit. The credit reduces the
inventory to its cost basis to the consolidated entity; and the debit to cost of goods sold increases
cost of goods sold to its cost basis. These relationships are illustrated by continuing the Pin and
Sep example for 2012.

During 2012 Pin sold merchandise that cost $30,000 to Sep for $36,000, and Sep sold all but
$6,000 of this merchandise to its customers for $37,500. Journal entries relating to the merchan-
dise transferred intercompany during 2012 are as follows:

PIN’S BOOKS

Inventory (+A) 30,000
Accounts payable (+L) 30,000
To record purchase on account from other entities.
Accounts receivable—Sep (+A) 36,000
Sales (R, +SE) 36,000
To record intercompany sales to Sep.
Cost of sales (E, —SE) 30,000
Inventory (—A) 30,000
To record cost of sales to Sep.
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Inventory (+A) 36,000
Accounts payable—Pin (+L) 36,000
To record intercompany purchases from Pin.
Accounts receivable (+A) 37,500
Sales (R, +SE) 37,500
To record sales to customers outside the consolidated entity.
Cost of sales (E, —SE) 30,000
Inventory (—A) 30,000
To record cost of sales to outside entities.

Pin’s sales for 2012 include $36,000 sold to Sep, and its cost of sales reflects the $30,000 cost of
merchandise transferred to Sep. Sep’s $37,500 sales for 2012 consist of merchandise acquired from
Pin, and its $30,000 cost of sales equals 5/6, or $30,000/$36,000, of the $36,000 transfer price of
merchandise acquired from Pin. The remaining merchandise acquired from Pin in 2012 stays in Sep’s
December 31, 2012, inventory at the $6,000 transfer price, which includes $1,000 unrealized profit.

WorkpAPER ENTRIES The consolidated entity views this as an intercompany transfer of merchan-
dise that cost $30,000:

m $25,000 (or 5/6) of this merchandise was then sold to outside entities for $37,500.
m $5,000 (or 1/6) remains in inventory at year-end.
B The consolidated entity realizes a gross profit of $12,500.

We accomplish these consolidated results through workpaper entries that eliminate the effects
of the intercompany transactions from sales, cost of sales, and inventory. Although a single entry
can be made to reduce combined sales by $36,000, combined cost of sales by $35,000, and inven-
tory by $1,000, two entries are ordinarily used in order to separate the elimination of intercompany
sales and cost of sales from the elimination (deferral) of unrealized profit.

The eliminations follow:

Adjustments and
Pin Sep Eliminations Consolidated

Income Statement
Sales $36,000 $37,500 a 36,000 $37,500
Cost of sales 30,000 30,000 b 1,000 a 36,000 25,000

Gross profit $ 6,000 $ 7,500 $12,500
Balance Sheet
Inventory $ 6,000 b 1,000 $ 5,000

The first entry eliminates intercompany sales and cost of sales, journalized as follows:

a Sales (-R, -SE) 36,000
Cost of sales (-E, +SE) 36,000
To eliminate intercompany sales and cost of sales.

This entry is procedurally the same as the one made in 2011 to eliminate intercompany cost of
sales and sales.

A secondary entry defers the $1,000 intercompany profit that remains unrealized ($13,500
combined gross profit — $12,500 consolidated gross profit) and reduces the ending inventory from
$6,000 to its $5,000 cost to the consolidated entity:

b Cost of sales (E, —-SE) 1,000
Inventory (-A) 1,000
To eliminate intercompany profit from cost of sales and inventory.
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The debit to cost of sales reduces profit by increasing consolidated cost of sales, and the credit
reduces the valuation of inventory for consolidated statement purposes from the intercompany
transfer price to cost. From the viewpoint of the consolidated entity, Sep overstated its ending inven-
tory by the $1,000 unrealized profit. An overstated ending inventory understates cost of sales and
overstates gross profit, so we correct the error with entry b, which increases (debits) cost of sales
and decreases (credits) the overstated ending inventory. This elimination reduces consolidated gross
profit by $1,000 (income effect) and consolidated ending inventory by $1,000 (balance sheet effect).

These two workpaper entries should be learned at this time because they are always the same,
regardless of additional complexities to be introduced later.

Eouity MetHoD On December 31, 2012, Pin computes its investment income in the usual manner,
except that Pin defers $1,000 intercompany profit. Pin’s one-line consolidation entry reduces
income from Sep by the $1,000 unrealized profit in the ending inventory and accordingly
reduces the Investment in Sep account by $1,000.

Recognition of Unrealized Profit in Beginning Inventory

Unrealized profit in an ending inventory is realized for consolidated statement purposes when
the merchandise is sold outside the consolidated entity. Ordinarily, realization occurs in the
immediately succeeding fiscal period, so firms simply defer recognition for consolidated state-
ment purposes until the following year. Recognition of the previously unrealized profit requires a
workpaper credit to cost of goods sold because the amount of the beginning inventory is reflected
in cost of goods sold when the perpetual system is used. The direction of the sale, noncontrolling
ownership percentage, and parent method of accounting for the subsidiary may complicate the
related workpaper debits. These complications do not affect consolidated gross profit, however,
and we extend the previous example to reflect 2013 operations for Pin and Sep.

During 2013, Pin Corporation sold merchandise that cost $40,000 to Sep for $48,000, and Sep
sold 75 percent of the merchandise for $45,000. Sep also sold the items in the beginning inventory
with a transfer price of $6,000 to its customers for $7,500. Journal entries relating to the merchan-
dise transferred intercompany follow:

PIN’S BOOKS

Inventory (+A) 40,000
Accounts payable (+L) 40,000
To record purchase on account from other entities.
Accounts receivable—Sep (+A) 48,000
Sales (R, +SE) 48,000
To record intercompany sales to Sep.
Cost of sales (E, —SE) 40,000
Inventory (—A) 40,000
To record cost of sales to Sep.

Sep’s Books

Inventory (+A) 48,000
Accounts payable—Pin (+L) 48,000
To record intercompany purchases from Pin.
Accounts receivable (+A) 52,500
Sales (R, +SE) 52,500
To record sales of $45,000 and $7,500 to outside entities.
Cost of sales (E, —SE) 42,000
Inventory (—A) 42,000
To record cost of sales ($48,000 transfer price x 75% sold) and $6,000 from
beginning inventory.

Sep sold 75 percent of the merchandise purchased from Pin, so its ending inventory in 2013
is $12,000 ($48,000 x 25%), and that inventory includes $2,000 unrealized profit [$12,000—
($12,000/1.2 transfer price)].
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WorkpAPER ENTRIES From the viewpoint of the consolidated entity, merchandise that cost $40,000
was transferred intercompany:

B $30,000 of this merchandise, plus $5,000 beginning inventory, was sold for $52,500.
B $10,000 remained in inventory at year-end 2013.
B The consolidated entity realized a gross profit of $17,500.

The workpapers that eliminate the effects of intercompany transactions from sales, cost of
sales, and inventory reflect these consolidated results. Three workpaper entries eliminate inter-
company cost of sales and sales, recognize previously deferred profit from beginning inventory,
and defer unrealized profit in the ending inventory, as follows:

Adjustments and
Pin Sep Eliminations Consolidated

Income Statement
Sales $48,000 $52,500 248,000 $52,500
Cost of sales 40,000 42,000 ¢ 2,000 a 48,000
b 1,000 35,000
Gross profit $ 8,000 $10,500 $17,500

Balance Sheet
Inventory $12,000 ¢ 2,000 $10,000
Investment in Sep XXX b 1,000

Journal entries to eliminate the effects of intercompany transactions between Pin and Sep for
2013 follow:

a Sales (-R, -SE) 48,000
Cost of sales (-E, +SE) 48,000
To eliminate intercompany cost of sales and sales.
b Investment in Sep (+A) 1,000
Cost of sales (-E, +SE) 1,000
To recognize previously deferred profit from beginning inventory.
¢ Cost of sales (E, —-SE) 2,000
Inventory (-A) 2,000
To defer unrealized profit in ending inventory.

Workpaper entries a and ¢ are procedurally the same as the entries for 2012. Their purpose is
to eliminate intercompany cost of sales and sales and defer unrealized profit in the ending inven-
tory. From the consolidated viewpoint, the $1,000 overstated beginning inventory overstates cost
of sales in 2013. Entry b recognizes previously deferred profit from 2012 by reducing consolidated
cost of sales and thereby increasing consolidated gross profit. (Note, of course, that entry b is made
only in those cases in which the inventory has subsequently been sold to a customer outside the
consolidated entity.) The related debit to the Investment in Sep account adjusts for the one-line
consolidation entry that reduced the Investment in Sep account in 2012 to defer unrealized profit
in the ending inventory of that year. Although the credit side of this entry is always the same, ad-
ditional complexities sometimes arise with the debit side of the entry.

The Pin—Sep example illustrates the effects of intercompany inventory transactions on consolidated
sales, cost of sales, and gross profit, and these effects are always the same. But the example did not
cover the effects of intercompany inventory transactions on noncontrolling interest computations or
on parent accounting under the equity method. These ramifications are discussed and illustrated next.

DOWNSTREAM AND UPSTREAM SALES

A downstream sale is a sale by a parent to a subsidiary, and a sale by a subsidiary to its parent is
an upstream sale. The upstream and downstream designations relate to the usual diagram of affili-
ation structures that places the parent at the top. Thus, sales from top to bottom are downstream,
and sales from bottom to top are upstream.
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Consolidated statements eliminate reciprocal sales and cost of goods sold amounts regardless
of whether the sales are upstream or downstream. We also eliminate any unrealized gross profit
in ending inventory in its entirety for both downstream and upstream sales. However, the effect of
unrealized profits in ending inventory on separate parent statements (as investor) and on consoli-
dated financial statements (which show income to the controlling and noncontrolling stockholders)
is determined by both the direction of the intercompany sales activity and the percentage ownership
of the subsidiary, except for 100 percent-owned subsidiaries that have no noncontrolling ownership.

In the case of downstream sales, the parent’s separate income includes the full amount of any
unrealized profit (included in its sales and cost of sales accounts), and the subsidiary’s income is
unaffected. When sales are upstream, the subsidiary’s net income includes the full amount of any
unrealized profit (included in its sales and cost of sales accounts), and the parent’s separate income
is unaffected. The consolidation process eliminates the full amount of intercompany sales and cost
of sales, regardless of whether the sales are downstream or upstream. However, the noncontrol-
ling interest share may be affected if the subsidiary’s net income includes unrealized profit (the
upstream situation). It is not affected if the parent’s separate income includes unrealized profit
(the downstream situation) because the noncontrolling shareholders have an interest only in the
income of the subsidiary. When subsidiary net income is overstated (from the viewpoint of the
consolidated entity) because it includes unrealized profit, the income allocated to noncontrolling
interests should be based on the realized income of the subsidiary. A subsidiary’s realized income
is its reported net income adjusted for intercompany profits from upstream sales.

Noncontrolling interest share may be affected by unrealized profit from upstream sales because
accounting standards are not definitive with respect to the computation. GAAP provides that elimi-
nation of intercompany profit or loss may be allocated proportionately between controlling and
noncontrolling interests but does not require such allocation [3]. The alternative to allocation is to
eliminate intercompany profits and losses from upstream sales in the same manner as for down-
stream sales, debiting (crediting) the full amount of unrealized gain (loss) to the parent’s income.

The approach that allocates unrealized profits and losses from upstream sales proportionately
between noncontrolling and controlling interests is conceptually superior because it applies the
viewpoint of the consolidated entity consistently to both controlling and noncontrolling interests.
That is, both controlling share of consolidated income and noncontrolling interest share are com-
puted on the basis of income that is realized from the viewpoint of the consolidated entity. In
addition, material amounts of unrealized profits and losses from upstream sales may be allocated
between controlling and noncontrolling interests in accounting practice. Accordingly, unrealized
profits and losses from upstream sales are allocated proportionately between consolidated net in-
come (controlling interests) and noncontrolling interest share (noncontrolling interests) through-
out this book. Using the same allocation approach in accounting for the parent/investor’s interest
under the equity method accomplishes a consistent treatment between consolidation procedures
and equity method accounting (the one-line consolidation).

Downstream and Upstream Effects on Income Computations

Assume that the separate incomes of a parent and its 80 percent-owned subsidiary for 2011 are as
follows (in thousands):

Parent Subsidiary
Sales $600 $300
Cost of sales ~300 180
Gross profit 300 120
Expenses 100 70
Parent’s separate income $200
Subsidiary’s net income o $ 50

Intercompany sales during the year are $100,000, and the December 31, 2011, inventory includes
$20,000 unrealized profit.

NonconTROLLING INTEREST SHARE CompuTATION If the intercompany sales are downstream, the par-
ent’s sales and cost of sales accounts reflect the $20,000 unrealized profit, and the subsidiary’s
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PARENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (IN THOUSANDS) FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
Downstream Upstream
Sales Sales
Sales ($900 — $100) $800 $800
Cost of sales (480 + $20 — $100) 400 400
Gross profit 400 400
Expenses ($100 + $70) 170 170
Consolidated net income $230 $230
Less: Noncontrolling interest share 10 _ 6
Controlling interest share of consolidated net income $220 $224

$50,000 net income is equal to its realized income. In this case the noncontrolling interest
share computation is unaffected by the intercompany transactions and is computed as

$50,000 net income of subsidiary X 20% = $10,000

If the intercompany sales are upstream, the subsidiary’s sales and cost of sales accounts reflect
the $20,000 unrealized profit, and the subsidiary’s realized income is $30,000. In this case the non-
controlling interest share computation is

($50,000 net income of subsidiary — $20,000 unrealized) X 20% = $6,000

ConsoLinaten Net Income CompuTaTion Exhibit 5-1 shows comparative consolidated income state-
ments for the parent and its 80 percent-owned subsidiary under the two assumptions. In examining
the exhibit, note that the only difference in the computation of controlling interest share of con-
solidated net income under the two assumptions lies in the computation of noncontrolling interest
share. This is so because the eliminations for intercompany cost of sales and sales and intercom-
pany inventory profits are the same regardless of whether the sales are downstream or upstream.
Parent net income under the equity method is equal to the controlling share of consolidated net
income, so the approach used in computing income from subsidiary must be consistent with the
approach used in determining consolidated net income. For downstream sales, the full amount of
unrealized profit is charged against the income from subsidiary, but for upstream sales, only the
parent’s proportionate share is charged against its investment income from subsidiary. Computa-
tions are as follows (in thousands):

Downstream Upstream

Parent’s separate income $200 $200
Add: Income from subsidiary

Downstream
Equity in subsidiary’s reported income less 20
unrealized profit [($50,000 X 80%) — $20,000]

Upstream
Equity in subsidiary realized income
[($50,000 — $20,000) X 80%] 2
Parent net income 22 22

=

I
(e}
I
=

Recognize that affiliates may engage in simultaneous upstream and downstream inventory
transactions. In such cases, it is necessary to eliminate both the upstream and downstream sales/
cost of sales. These transactions do not simply offset one another, due to the deferral of unrealized
intercompany inventory profits.

For example, assume that the parent sells $100,000 of inventory to its wholly-owned subsidiary
at a profit of $20,000. The entire inventory remains unsold at year-end. The subsidiary company
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likewise sells $100,000 of inventory to the parent, including an identical intercompany inventory
profit of $20,000. This inventory also remains unsold at year-end.

We could simply assume that the two transactions are offsetting. However, this would distort
both the consolidated balance sheet and income statement. The combined parent and subsidi-
ary balance sheets include the inventory at the total intercompany transfer price of $200,000.
However, $40,000 of this total is intercompany profit. The correct consolidated balance sheet
inventory should be the cost of $160,000.

We would also overstate consolidated net income by $40,000. The intercompany profit must be
deferred until the affiliates realize the gains through sales to parties outside the consolidated entity.

We can avoid these misstatements only if we separately eliminate the effects of all upstream
and downstream transactions. Notice that intercompany inventory transactions provide a conven-
ient means of managing reported consolidated net income if the impact of simultaneous upstream
and downstream sales is not properly eliminated.

UNREALIZED PROFITS FROM DOWNSTREAM SALES

Sales by a parent to its subsidiaries increase parent sales, cost of goods sold, and gross profit but
do not affect the income of subsidiaries until the merchandise is resold to outside parties. The full
amount of gross profit on merchandise sold downstream and remaining in subsidiary inventories
increases parent income, so the full amount must be eliminated from the parent’s income statement
under the equity method of accounting. Consistent with the one-line consolidation concept, this
is done by reducing investment income and the investment account. Consolidated financial state-
ments eliminate unrealized gross profit by increasing consolidated cost of goods sold and reducing
merchandise inventory to its cost basis to the consolidated entity. The overstatement of the ending
inventory from the consolidated viewpoint understates consolidated cost of goods sold.

Deferral of Intercompany Profit in Period of Intercompany Sale

The following example illustrates the deferral of unrealized profits on downstream sales. Pot
Corporation owns 90 percent of the voting stock of Sot Corporation. Separate income statements
of Pot and Sot for 2011, before consideration of unrealized profits, are as follows (in thousands):

Pot Sot

Sales $100 $50
Cost of goods sold _ 60 35
Gross profit 40 15
Expenses _ 15 5
Operating income 25 10
Income from Sot 9 —
Net income $ 34 $10

Pot’s sales include $15,000 to Sot at a profit of $6,250, and Sot’s December 31, 2011, inventory
includes 40 percent of the merchandise from the intercompany transaction. Pot’s operating income
reflects the $2,500 unrealized profit in Sot’s inventory ($6,000 transfer price less $3,500 cost). On
its separate books, Pot records its share of Sot’s income and defers recognition of the unrealized
profit with the following entries:

Investment in Sot (+A) 9,000
Income from Sot (R, +SE) 9,000
To record share of Sot’s income.
Income from Sot (—R, —SE) 2,500
Investment in Sot (—A) 2,500

To eliminate unrealized profit on sales to Sot.

The second entry on Pot’s books reduces Pot’s income from Sot from $9,000 to $6,500. Recip-
rocal sales and cost of goods sold, as well as all unrealized profit, must be eliminated in consoli-
dated financial statements. These adjustments are shown in the partial workpaper in Exhibit 5-2.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE
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POT AND SUBSIDIARY, SOT, PARTIAL WORKPAPER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)
Adjustments and
Eliminations
Consolidated
Pot 90% Sot Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $100 $50 al5 $135
Income from Sot 6.5 ¢ 6.5
Cost of goods sold (60) (35) b 25 alb (82.5)
Expenses (15) (5 (20)
Consolidated net income $ 325
Noncontrolling interest share 1)
($10,000 X 10%)

Controlling interest share $ 315 $10 $ 315
Balance Sheet
Inventory $6 b 25 $ 35
Investment in Sot XXX c 6.5

a Eliminates reciprocal sales and cost of goods sold.

b Adjusts cost of goods sold and ending inventory to a cost basis to the consolidated entity.

¢ Eliminates investment income and adjusts the Investment in Sot account to the January 1, 2011, balance.

LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Entry a deducts the full amount of intercompany sales from sales and cost of goods sold.
Entry b then corrects cost of goods sold for the unrealized profit at year-end and reduces the
inventory to its cost basis to the consolidated entity. Note that entries a and b are equivalent to a
single debit to sales for $15,000, a credit to cost of goods sold for $12,500, and a credit to inven-
tory for $2,500.

In examining Exhibit 5-2, observe that Pot’s net income on an equity basis is equal to the
controlling share of consolidated net income. This equality would not have occurred without
the equity method journal entry that reduced Pot’s income from $34,000 to $31,500. The $1,000
noncontrolling interest share shown in Exhibit 5-2 is not affected by the unrealized profit on
Pot’s sales because noncontrolling stockholders share only in subsidiary profit and Sot’s reported
income for 2011 (equal to its realized income) is unaffected by the unrealized profit in its ending
inventory.

Recognition of Intercompany Profit upon Sale to Outside Entities

Now assume that the merchandise acquired from Pot during 2011 is sold by Sot during 2012, and
there are no intercompany transactions between Pot and Sot during 2012. Separate income state-
ments for 2012 before consideration of the $2,500 unrealized profit in Sot’s beginning inventory
are as follows (in thousands):

Pot Sot
Sales $120 $60
Cost of goods sold 80 _40
Gross profit 40 20
Expenses 20 _5
Operating income 20 15
Income from Sot 13.5 —
Net income $ 335 $15
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Pot’s operating income for 2012 is unaffected by the unrealized profit in Sot’s December 31,
2011, inventory. But Sot’s 2012 profit is affected because the $2,500 overstatement of Sot’s begin-
ning inventory overstates cost of goods sold from a consolidated viewpoint. From Pot’s viewpoint,
the unrealized profit from 2011 is realized in 2012, and its investment income is recorded and
adjusted as follows:

Investment in Sot (+A) 13,500
Income from Sot (R, +SE) 13,500
To record investment income from Sot.
Investment in Sot (+A) 2,500
Income from Sot (R, +SE) 2,500

To record realization of profit from 2011 intercompany sales to Sot.

The last entry increases Pot’s investment from $13,500 to $16,000 and Pot’s net income from
$33,500 to $36,000. The partial workpaper for Pot and Sot for 2012 reflects the adjusted amounts
as shown in Exhibit 5-3.

In examining Exhibit 5-3, note that entry a debits the Investment in Sot account and cred-
its cost of goods sold for $2,500. The beginning inventory of Sot has already been closed to
cost of goods sold under a perpetual inventory system, so the inventory cannot be adjusted.
The adjustment to the investment account is necessary to increase the investment account at
the beginning of the year to reflect realization during 2012 of the unrealized profit that was
deferred at the end of 2011. This adjustment reestablishes reciprocity between the investment
balance at January 1, 2012, and the subsidiary equity account at the same date. It is important
to record this adjustment before eliminating reciprocal investment and equity balances. The
computation of noncontrolling interest share in Exhibit 5-3 is unaffected because the sales are
downstream.

Unrealized inventory profits in consolidated financial statements are self-correcting over any
two accounting periods and are subject to the same type of analysis as inventory errors. Total
consolidated net income for Pot and Sot for 2011 and 2012 is unaffected by the $2,500 deferral in
2011 and recognition in 2012. The significance of the adjustments lies in the accurate statement of
the consolidated income for each period.

POT AND SUBSIDIARY, SOT, PARTIAL WORKPAPER FOR THE YEAR ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS) Inventory Profit on
- Downstream Sales in
Adjustments and Year After Intercompany
Eliminations Sales
Consolidated
Pot 90% Sot Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $120 $60 $180
Income from Sot 16 b 16
Cost of goods sold (80) (40) a 25 (117.5)
Expenses (20) (5) (25)
Consolidated net income $37.5
Noncontrolling interest share (1.9
($15,000 X< 10%)
Controlling interest share $ 36 $15 $ 36
Balance Sheet
Investment in Sot XXX a 25 b 16

a Adjusts cost of goods sold to a cost basis and adjusts the Investment in Sot account balance to reestablish
reciprocity with the beginning subsidiary equity accounts.
b Eliminates investment income and adjusts the Investment in Sot account to the January 1, 2012, balance.
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

Entries for a One-Line
Consolidation on the
Books of Par

UNREALIZED PROFITS FROM UPSTREAM SALES

Sales by a subsidiary to its parent increase the sales, cost of goods sold, and gross profit of the
subsidiary, but they do not affect the operating income of the parent until the merchandise is resold
by the parent to outside entities. The parent’s net income is affected in the year of transfer from
the subsidiary, however, because the parent recognizes its share of the subsidiary’s income on an
equity basis. If the selling subsidiary is a 100 percent-owned affiliate, the parent defers 100 percent
of any unrealized profit in the year of intercompany sale. If the subsidiary is a partially owned af-
filiate, the parent defers only its proportionate share of the unrealized subsidiary profit.

Deferral of Intercompany Profit in Period of Intercompany Sale

Assume that Sal Corporation (subsidiary) sells merchandise that it purchased for $7,500 to Par
Corporation (parent) for $20,000 during 2011 and that Par Corporation sold 60 percent of the
merchandise to outsiders during the year for $15,000. At year-end the unrealized inventory profit
is $5,000 (cost $3,000, but included in Par’s inventory at $8,000). If Sal reports net income of
$50,000 for 2011, Par recognizes its proportionate share as shown in Exhibit 5-4. The exhibit com-
pares parent-company accounting for a one-line consolidation of a 100 percent-owned subsidiary
and a 75 percent-owned subsidiary.

As the illustration shows, if Par records 100 percent of Sal’s income under the equity method,
it must eliminate 100 percent of any unrealized profit included in that income. However, if Par
records only 75 percent of Sal’s income under the equity method, it must eliminate only 75 percent
of any unrealized profit included in Sal’s income. In both cases, Par eliminates all the unrealized
profit from its income and investment accounts.

The elimination of unrealized inventory profits from upstream sales in consolidated financial
statements results in the elimination of 100 percent of all unrealized inventory profits from con-
solidated sales and cost of goods sold accounts. However, because the controlling share of con-
solidated net income is a measurement of income to the stockholders of the parent, noncontrolling
interest share is reduced for its proportionate share of any unrealized profit of the subsidiary. This
requires deducting the noncontrolling interest’s share of unrealized profits from the noncontrol-
ling interest’s share of the subsidiary’s reported net income. Thus, the effect on consolidated net
income of unrealized profits from upstream sales is the same as the effect on parent income under
the equity method of accounting.

Exhibit 5-5 illustrates partial consolidation workpapers for Par Corporation and its
75 percent-owned subsidiary, Sal Corporation. Although the amounts for sales, cost of goods sold,
and expenses are presented without explanation, the data provided are consistent with previous
assumptions for Par and Sal Corporations.

PartA
If Sal Is a 100%-0wned Subsidiary

Investment in Sal (+A) 50,000
Income from Sal (R, +SE) 50,000
To record 100% of Sal’s reported income as income from subsidiary.
Income from Sal (—R, —SE) 5,000
Investment in Sal (—A) 5,000
To defer 100% of the unrealized inventory profits reported by Sal until realized.
A single entry for $45,000 [($50,000 — $5,000) X 100%] is equally acceptable.

Part B
If Sal Is a 75%-0wned Subsidiary

Investment in Sal (+A) 37,500
Income from Sal (R, +SE) 37,500
To record 75% of Sal’s reported income as income from subsidiary.
Income from Sal (—R, —SE) 3,750
Investment in Sal (—A) 3,750
To defer 75% of the unrealized inventory profits reported by Sal until realized.
A single entry for $33,750 [($50,000 — $5,000) X 75%] is equally acceptable.
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PAR AND SUBSIDIARY, SAL, PARTIAL WORKPAPER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
Consolidated
Par 75% Sal Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $250 $150 a20 $380
Income from Sal 33.75 ¢ 33.75
Cost of goods sold (100) (80) b 5 a20 (165)
Expenses (50) (20) (70)
Consolidated net income $145
Noncontrolling interest share
[($50,000 — $5,000) X 25%)] (11.25)
Controlling interest share $133.75 $ 50 $133.75
Balance Sheet
Inventory $38 b 5
Investment in Sal XXX © LB

a Eliminates reciprocal sales and cost of goods sold.
b Adjusts cost of goods sold and ending inventory to a cost basis to the consolidated entity.
¢ Eliminates investment income and adjusts the Investment in Sal account to the January 1, 2011, balance.

Part B of Exhibit 5-4 explains the $33,750 income from Sal that appears in Par’s separate income
statement in Exhibit 5-5. Noncontrolling interest share is computed by subtracting unrealized profit
from Sal’s reported income and multiplying by the noncontrolling interest percentage. Failure
to adjust the noncontrolling interest share for unrealized profit will result in a lack of equality
between parent net income on an equity basis and the controlling share of consolidated net income.
This potential problem is, of course, absent in the case of a 100 percent-owned subsidiary because
there is no noncontrolling interest.

Recognition of Intercompany Profit upon Sale to Qutside Entities

The effect of unrealized profits in a beginning inventory on parent and consolidated net incomes
is just the opposite of the effect of unrealized profits in an ending inventory. That is, the rela-
tionship between unrealized profits in ending inventories (year of intercompany sale) and con-
solidated net income is direct, whereas the relationship between unrealized profit in beginning
inventories (year of sale to outside entities) and consolidated net income is inverse. This is il-
lustrated by continuing the Par and Sal example to show realization during 2012 of the $5,000
unrealized profit in the December 31, 2011, inventories. Assume that there are no intercompany
transactions between Par and Sal during 2012, that Sal is a 75 percent-owned subsidiary of Par,
and that Sal reports income of $60,000 for 2012. Par records its share of Sal’s income under the
equity method as follows:

Investment in Sal (+A) 45,000
Income from Sal (R, +SE)
To record 75% of Sal’s reported income as income
from subsidiary.
Investment in Sal (+A) 3,750
Income from Sal (R, +SE) 3,750
To record realization during 2012 of 75% of the $5,000

unrealized inventory profits of Sal from 2011.

45,000

Inventory Profit on
Upstream Sales in
Year of Intercompany
Sales
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Inventory Profit on
Upstream Sales in Year
After Intercompany
Sales

PAR AND SUBSIDIARY, SAL, PARTIAL WORKPAPER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)
Adjustments and
Eliminations
Consolidated
Par 75% Sal Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $275 $160 $435
Income from Sal 48.75 b 48.75
Cost of goods sold (120) (85) ab (200)
Expenses (60) (15) (75)
Consolidated net income $160
Noncontrolling interest share
[($60,000 + $5,000) X 25%] (16.25)
Controlling interest share $143.75 $ 60 $143.75
Balance Sheet
Investment in Sal XXX a 3.75 b 48.75
Noncontrolling interest: a 1.25
January 1, 2012
a Adjusts cost of goods sold to a cost basis and adjusts the Investment in Sal account balance to reestablish
reciprocity with the beginning subsidiary equity accounts.
b Eliminates investment income and adjusts the Investment in Sal account to the January 1, 2012, balance.

Exhibit 5-6 illustrates consolidation procedures for unrealized profits in beginning inventories
from upstream sales for Par and Subsidiary. Several of the items in Exhibit 5-6 differ from those
for upstream sales with unrealized profit in the ending inventory (Exhibit 5-5). In particular, cost of
goods sold is overstated (because of the overstated beginning inventory) and requires a worksheet
adjustment to reduce it to its cost basis. This is shown in entry a, which also adjusts the investment
account and beginning noncontrolling interest. Consolidated statements require the allocation
between the investment balance (75 percent) and the noncontrolling interest (25 percent) for unre-
alized profits in beginning inventories from upstream sales to correct for prior-year effects on the
investment account and the noncontrolling interest.

CONSOLIDATION EXAMPLE—INTERCOMPANY PROFITS FROM
DOWNSTREAM SALES

Say Corporation is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pak Corporation, acquired for $94,500 cash
on July 1, 2011, when Say’s net assets consisted of $100,000 capital stock and $5,000 retained
earnings. The cost of Pak’s 90 percent interest in Say was equal to book value and fair value of the
interest acquired ($105,000 x 90 percent), and accordingly, no allocation to identifiable and uni-
dentifiable assets was necessary.

Pak sells inventory items to Say on a regular basis, and the intercompany transaction data for
2014 are as follows:

Sales to Say in 2014 (cost $15,000), selling price $20,000
Unrealized profit in Say’s inventory at December 31, 2013

(inventory was sold during 2014) 2,000
Unrealized profit in Say’s inventory at December 31, 2014 2,500

Say’s accounts payable to Pak at December 31, 2014 10,000
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Equity Method
At December 31, 2013, Pak’s Investment in Say account had a balance of $128,500. This balance
consisted of Pak’s 90 percent equity in Say’s $145,000 net assets on that date less $2,000 unreal-
ized profit in Say’s December 31, 2013, inventory.

During 2014, Pak made the following entries on its books for its investment in Say under the
equity method:

Cash (+A) 9,000
Investment in Say (—A) 9,000
To record dividends from Say ($10,000 X 90%).
Investment in Say (+A) 26,500
Income from Say (R, +SE) 26,500
To record income from Say for 2014 computed as follows:
Equity in Say’s net income ($30,000 X 90%) $27,000
Add: 2013 inventory profit recognized in 2014 2,000
Less: 2014 inventory profit deferred at year-end —2,500

$26,500

The intercompany sales that led to the unrealized inventory profits were downstream, so we
recognize the full amount of profit deferred in 2013 in 2014, and the full amount of the unrealized
inventory profit originating in 2014 is deferred at December 31, 2014. Pak’s Investment in Say
account increased from $128,500 at January 1, 2014, to $146,000 at December 31, 2014, the entire
change consisting of $26,500 income less $9,000 dividends for the year. Exhibit 5-7 shows these
amounts in the separate-company columns of the consolidation workpaper for Pak Corporation
and Subsidiary for the year ended December 31, 2014.

The entries in Exhibit 5-7 are presented in journal form as follows:

a Sales (-R, -SE) 20,000
Cost of goods sold (-E, +SE) 20,000
To eliminate intercompany sales and related cost of goods
sold amounts.
b Investment in Say (+A) 2,000
Cost of goods sold (-E, +SE) 2,000
To adjust cost of goods sold and the beginning investment
balance for unrealized profits in the beginning inventory.
¢ Cost of goods sold (E, —-SE) 2,500
Inventory (-A) 2,500
To eliminate unrealized profits in the ending inventory and
to increase cost of goods sold to the
consolidated entity.

d Income from Say (-R, -SE) 26,500
Dividends (+SE) 9,000
Investment in Say (-A) 17,500

To eliminate the investment income and 90 percent of the
dividends of Say and to reduce the investment account to its
beginning-of-the-period balance, plus the $2,000 from entry b.

e Noncontrolling interest share (—-SE) 3,000
Dividends (+SE) 1,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 2,000

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

f Capital stock—Say (-SE) 100,000

Retained earnings—Say (—SE) 45,000
Investment in Say (-A) 130,500
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 14,500

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances
and record beginning noncontrolling interest.
g Accounts payable (-L) 10,000
Accounts receivable (-A) 10,000
To eliminate reciprocal payables and receivables from
intercompany sales.
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Intercompany Profits
on Downstream Sales—
Equity Method

PAK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
Consolidated
Pak 90% Say Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Net sales $1,000 $300 a20 $1,280
Income from Say 26.5 d26.5
Cost of goods sold (550) (200) c 25 a 20 (730.5)
b 2
Other expenses (350) (70) (420)
Consolidated net income 129.5
Noncontrolling interest share elg (3)
($30,000 x 10%)
Controlling share of net income $ 1265 | $30 $ 1265
Retained Earnings Statement $ 194 $ 194
Retained earnings—Pak
Retained earnings—Say $ 45 f 45
Controlling share of net income 126.5 30 126.5
Dividends (50) (10) d 9
e 1 (50)
Retained earnings—December 31 $ 2705 | $65 $ 2705
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 30 $ 5 $ 35
Accounts receivable 70 20 g 10 80
Inventory 90 45 c 25 132.5
Other current assets 64 10 74
Plant and equipment 800 120 920
Investment in Say 146 b 2 d 17.5
£130.5
$1,200 $200 1,241.5
Accounts payable $ 80 $ 15 g10 $ 85
Other liabilities 49.5 20 69.5
Capital stock 800 100 100 800
Retained earnings 270.5 65 270.5
$1,200 $200
Noncontrolling interest January 1 f 145
Noncontrolling interest December 31 e 2 16.5
$1.241.5
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In examining the workpaper of Pak Corporation and Subsidiary in Exhibit 5-7, note that Pak’s
net income ($126,500) is equal to the controlling share of consolidated net income, and Pak’s
retained earnings amount ($270,500) equals consolidated retained earnings. These equalities are
expected from a correct application of the equity method of accounting. The sales that gave rise to
the intercompany profits in Say’s inventories were downstream, so neither beginning noncontrol-
ling interest ($14,500) nor noncontrolling interest share ($3,000) was affected by the intercompany
transactions.

CONSOLIDATION EXAMPLE—INTERCOMPANY PROFITS
FROM UPSTREAM SALES

Sit Corporation is an 80 percent-owned subsidiary of Poh Corporation, acquired for $480,000 on
January 2, 2011, when Sit’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $500,000 capital stock and $100,000
retained earnings. The investment cost was equal to the book value and fair value of Sit’s net assets
acquired, so no fair value/book value differential resulted from the acquisition.

Sit Corporation sells inventory items to Poh Corporation on a regular basis. The intercompany
transaction data for 2012 are as follows:

Sales to Poh in 2012 $300,000

Unrealized profit in Poh’s inventory, December 31, 2011 (inventory was sold during 2012) 40,000

Unrealized profit in Poh’s inventory, December 31, 2012 30,000

Intercompany accounts receivable and payable at December 31, 2012 50,000
Equity Method

At December 31, 2011, Poh’s Investment in Sit account had a balance of $568,000, consist-
ing of $600,000 underlying equity in Sit’s net assets ($750,000 x 80%) less 80 percent of
the $40,000 unrealized profit in Poh’s December 31, 2011, inventory from upstream sales.
During 2012, Poh made the following entries to account for its investment in Sit under the
equity method:

Cash (+A) 40,000
Investment in Sit (—A) 40,000
To record dividends from Sit ($50,000 X 80%).
Investment in Sit (+A) 88,000
Income from Sit (R, +SE) 88,000
To record income from Sit for 2012, computed as follows:
Equity in Sit’s net income ($100,000 X 80%) $80,000
Add: 80% of $40,000 unrealized profit deferred in 2011 32,000
Less: 80% of $30,000 unrealized profit at December 31, 2012 —24,000

$88.,000

The intercompany sales that led to the unrealized inventory profits in 2011 and 2012 were
upstream, and, accordingly, only 80 percent of the $40,000 unrealized profit from 2011 is rec-
ognized by Poh in 2012. Similarly, only 80 percent of the $30,000 unrealized profit from 2012
sales is deferred by Poh at December 31, 2012. Poh’s Investment in Sit account was increased
by the $88,000 income from Sit during 2012 and decreased by $40,000 dividends received
from Sit. Thus, the $568,000 Investment in Sit account at December 31, 2011, increased to
$616,000 at December 31, 2012. These amounts, combined with other compatible informa-
tion to provide complete separate-company financial statements, are shown in the separate-
company columns of the consolidation workpaper for Poh Corporation and Subsidiary in
Exhibit 5-8.
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Intercompany Profits on
Upstream Sales—Equity
Method

POH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR

THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
Consolidated
Poh 80% Sit Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $3,000 $1,500 a 300 $4,200
Income from Sit 88 d 88
Cost of goods sold (2,000 (1,000) c 30 a 300 (2,690)
b 40
Other expenses (588) (400) (988)
Consolidated net income 522
Noncontrolling interest share” e 22 (22)
Controlling share of Net income $ 500 $ 100 $ 500
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Poh $1,000 $1,000
Retained earnings—Sit $ 250 f 250
Add: Controlling share of Net income 500 100 500
Deduct: Dividends (400) (50) d 40
e 10 (400)
Retained earnings—December 31 $1,100 $ 300 $1,100
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 200 $ 50 $ 250
Accounts receivable 700 100 g 50 750
Inventory 1,100 200 c 30 1,270
Other current assets 384 150 534
Plant and equipment—net 2,000 500 2,500
Investment in Sit 616 b 32 d 48
f 600
$5,000 $1,000 $5,304
Accounts payable $ 500 150 g 50 $ 600
Other liabilities 400 50 450
Capital stock 3,000 500 f 500 3,000
Retained earnings 1,100 300 1,100
$5,000 $1,000
Noncontrolling interest January 1 b 8 f 150
Noncontrolling interest December 31 e 12 154
$5,304

* Noncontrolling interest share ($100,000 + $40,000 — $30,000) X 20% = $22,000
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The entries in Exhibit 5-8 appear below in journal form for convenient reference:

a Sales (-R, -SE) 300,000
Cost of goods sold (-E, +SE) 300,000
To eliminate reciprocal sales and cost of goods sold amounts.
b Investment in Sit (+A) 32,000
Noncontrolling interest (—SE) 8,000
Cost of goods sold (-E, +SE) 40,000

To adjust cost of goods sold for unrealized profit in beginning
inventory and to allocate the unrealized profit 80% to the
parent’s investment account and 20% to noncontrolling interest.
¢ Cost of goods sold (E, —SE) 30,000
Inventory (-A) 30,000
To eliminate unrealized profit from ending inventory and
increase cost of goods sold.

d Income from Sit (-R, -SE) 88,000
Dividends (+SE) 40,000
Investment in Sit (-A) 48,000

To eliminate investment income and 80% of the dividends by
Sit and to reduce the investment account to its beginning

balance.
e Noncontrolling interest share (-SE) 22,000
Dividends (+SE) 10,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 12,000

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

f Retained earnings—Sit (—SE) 250,000

Capital stock—Sit (-SE) 500,000
Investment in Sit (—A) 600,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 150,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances
and to enter beginning noncontrolling interest.
g Accounts payable (-L) 50,000
Accounts receivable (—A) 50,000
To eliminate reciprocal accounts receivable and payable.

The consolidation workpaper entries shown in Exhibit 5-8 are similar to those in the Pak—Say il-
lustration. Only entry b, which allocates the unrealized profit in Poh’s beginning inventory between
investment in Sit (80%) and noncontrolling interest (20%), differs significantly. Allocation is neces-
sary because the unrealized profit arises from an upstream sale and was included in Sit’s reported in-
come for 2011. Poh’s share of the $40,000 unrealized profit is only 80 percent. The other 20 percent
relates to noncontrolling interests, and, accordingly, the $8,000 debit is necessary to reduce beginning
noncontrolling interest from $150,000 (20% of Sit’s reported equity of $750,000) to $142,000—
20 percent of Sit’s realized equity of $710,000 ($750,000 — $40,000) at December 31, 2011.

NonconTRrOLLING INTEREST In computing noncontrolling interest share for 2012, it is necessary to
adjust Sit’s reported net income for unrealized profits before multiplying by the noncontrolling
interest percentage. The computation is:

Reported net income of Sit $100,000
Add: Inventory profits from 2011 realized in 2012 + 40,000
Deduct: Unrealized inventory profits at December 31, 2012 (30,000)
Sit’s realized income for 2012 110,000
Noncontrolling interest percentage 20%
Noncontrolling interest share $ 22,000

The $154,000 noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2012, is determined in the workpapers by
adding noncontrolling interest share of $22,000 to beginning noncontrolling interest of $142,000
and subtracting noncontrolling interest dividends. An alternative computation that may be used as
a check is to deduct unrealized profit in the December 31, 2012, inventory from Sit’s equity at De-
cember 31, 2012, and multiply the resulting realized equity of Sit by the 20 percent noncontrolling
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Summary lllustration—
Unrealized Inventory
Profits

interest [($800,000 — $30,000) X 20% = $154,000]. The advantage of this approach is that only
unrealized profits at the balance sheet date need to be considered in the computation.

Intercompany sales and purchases of inventory items result in reciprocal sales and cost of goods
sold amounts that do not reflect merchandising activity of the consolidated entity. These intercom-
pany transactions also give rise to unrealized intercompany profits. The consolidated entity defers
recognition of these profits until they can be realized by subsequent sales to parties outside the
consolidated entity.

The direction of intercompany sales is important, except for consolidated companies with only
100 percent-owned subsidiaries. We deduct the full amount of the unrealized intercompany profit
from downstream sales against parent and consolidated net income. In the case of upstream sales,
however, we deduct unrealized profits from consolidated net income and noncontrolling interest
share on the basis of controlling and noncontrolling ownership. Intercompany profits that are de-
ferred in one period are subsequently recognized in the period in which the related inventory items
are sold to nonaffiliated entities. Exhibit 5-9 presents a summary illustration of the effect of inter-
company profit eliminations on parent and consolidated net income.

Under the assumption that Parent(P) sells to Subsidiary(S), P’s net income and the controlling
share of consolidated net income are exactly the same as if the sales had never taken place. In that
case, P’s separate income would have been $95,000 ($100,000 + $5,000 — $10,000), and P’s income
from S would have been $45,000 ($50,000 X 90%), for a total of $140,000. Under the assumption
that S sells to P, P’s net income and the controlling share of consolidated net income are exactly the
same as if the intercompany sales had never taken place. In that case, P’s income would have been
$100,000 (as given), and S’s net income would have been $45,000 ($50,000 + $5,000 — $10,000).

Assumptions

1. Parent company’s income, excluding income from subsidiary, is $100,000.
2. 90%-owned subsidiary reports net income of $50,000.

3. Unrealized profit in beginning inventory is $5,000. (Sold in current year.)
4. Unrealized profit in ending inventory is $10,000.

Downstream: Upstream:
Assume That Assume That
P Sells to S S Sells to P
P’s Net Income—Equity Method
P’s separate income $100,000 $100,000
P’s share of S’s reported net income:
($50,000 < 90%) 45,000 45,000
Add: Unrealized profit in beginning inventory:
($5,000 < 100%) 5,000
($5,000 < 90%) 4,500
Deduct: Unrealized profit in ending inventory:
($10,000 X 100%) (10,000)
($10,000 < 90%) (9,000)
P’s net income $140,000 $140,500

Controlling share of Consolidated Net Income
P’s separate income plus S’s net income $150,000 $150,000
Adjustments for unrealized profits:

Beginning inventory ($5,000 X 100%) 5,000 5,000

Ending inventory ($10,000 < 100%) (10,000 (10,000)
Total realized income 145,000 145,000
Less: Noncontrolling interest share:

($50,000 < 10%) (5,000)

(50,000 + $5,000—%$10,000) < 10% (4,500)

Controlling share of consolidated net income $140,000 $140,500
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P’s $100,000 separate income plus P’s income from S of $40,500 ($45,000 X 90%) is equal to P’s net
income and the controlling share of consolidated net income.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

. The effect of unrealized profits and losses on sales between affiliated companies is eliminated in prepar-

ing consolidated financial statements. When are profits and losses on such sales realized for consolidated
statement purposes?

In eliminating unrealized profit on intercompany sales of inventory items, should gross profit or net profit
be eliminated?

Is the amount of intercompany profit to be eliminated from consolidated financial statements affected by
the existence of a noncontrolling interest? Explain.

What effect does the elimination of intercompany sales and cost of goods sold have on consolidated net income?
What effect does the elimination of intercompany accounts receivable and accounts payable have on con-
solidated working capital?

Explain the designations upstream sales and downstream sales. Of what significance are these designations
in computing parent and consolidated net income?

Would failure to eliminate unrealized profit in inventories at December 31, 2011, have any effect on con-
solidated net income in 20127 2013?

Under what circumstances is noncontrolling interest share affected by intercompany sales activity?

How does a parent adjust its investment income for unrealized profit on sales it makes to its subsidiaries (a)
in the year of the sale and (b) in the year in which the subsidiaries sell the related merchandise to outsiders?
How is the combined cost of goods sold affected by unrealized profit in (a) the beginning inventory of the
subsidiary and (b) the ending inventory of the subsidiary?

Is the effect of unrealized profit on consolidated cost of goods sold influenced by (a) the existence of a
noncontrolling interest and (b) the direction of intercompany sales?

Unrealized profit in the ending inventory is eliminated in consolidation workpapers by increasing cost of
sales and decreasing the inventory account. How is unrealized profit in the beginning inventory reflected
in the consolidation workpapers?

Describe the computation of noncontrolling interest share in a year in which there is unrealized inventory
profit from upstream sales in both the beginning and ending inventories of the parent.

Consolidation workpaper procedures are usually based on the assumption that any unrealized profit in the
beginning inventory of one year is realized through sales in the following year. If the related merchandise
is not sold in the succeeding period, would the assumption result in an incorrect measurement of consoli-
dated net income?

NOTE: Don’t forget the assumptions on page 46 when working exercises and problems in this chapter.

E 5-1 General Questions

1.

Intercompany profit elimination entries in consolidation workpapers are prepared in order to:
a Nullify the effect of intercompany transactions on consolidated statements

b Defer intercompany profit until realized

¢ Allocate unrealized profits between controlling and noncontrolling interests

d Reduce consolidated income

. The direction of intercompany sales (upstream or downstream) does not affect consolidation workpaper proce-

dures when the intercompany sales between affiliates are made:
a At fair value

b Above market value

¢ At book value

d To a 100 percent-owned subsidiary

. Pet Corporation sells inventory items for $500,000 to Sen Corporation, its 80 percent-owned subsidiary. The con-

solidated workpaper entry to eliminate the effect of this intercompany sale will include a debit to sales for:
a $500,000

b $400,000

¢ The amount remaining in Sen’s ending inventory

d 80 percent of the amount remaining in Sen’s ending inventory
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4. Sar Corporation, a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pan Corporation, buys half of its raw materials from Pan. The
transfer price is exactly the same price as Sar pays to buy identical raw materials from outside suppliers and the
same price as Pan sells the materials to unrelated customers. In preparing consolidated statements for Pan Corpo-
ration and Subsidiary:

a The intercompany transactions can be ignored because the transfer price represents arm’s-length
bargaining

b Any unrealized profit from intercompany sales remaining in Pan’s ending inventory must be offset
against the unrealized profit in Pan’s beginning inventory

¢ Any unrealized profit on the intercompany transactions in Sar’s ending inventory is eliminated in its
entirety

d Only 90 percent of any unrealized profit on the intercompany transactions in Sar’s ending inventory is
eliminated

5. Pit Corporation sells an inventory item to its subsidiary, Sin Company, to be used as a plant asset by Sin. The work-
paper entry to eliminate intercompany profits in the year of sale will notinclude:
a A debit to sales
b A credit to cost of sales
¢ A credit to inventories
d A credit to plant assets

6. Sel Corporation regularly sells inventory items to its parent, Pul Corporation. In preparing the consolidated income
statement, which of the following items would not be affected by the direction (upstream or downstream) of these
intercompany sales?

a Consolidated gross profit

b Noncontrolling interest share

¢ Controlling interest share of consolidated net income
d Consolidated retained earnings

7. Pen Corporation regularly sells inventory items to its subsidiary, Shu Corporation. If unrealized profits in Shu’s
2011 year-end inventory exceed the unrealized profits in its 2012 year-end inventory:
a Combined cost of sales will be greater than consolidated cost of sales in 2011
b Combined cost of sales will be less than consolidated cost of sales in 2011
¢ Combined gross profit will be greater than consolidated gross profit in 2011
d Combined sales will be less than consolidated sales in 2011

8. Spa Corporation is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Ply Corporation, acquired on January 1, 2011, at a price
equal to book value and fair value. Ply accounts for its investment in Spa using the equity method of accounting.
The only intercompany transactions between the two affiliates in 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

2011 Ply sold inventory items that cost $400,000 to Spa for $500,000.
One-fourth of this merchandise remains unsold at December 31, 2011
2012 Ply sold inventory items that cost $600,000 to Spa for $750,000.

One-third of this merchandise remains unsold at December 31, 2012

At December 31, 2012, Ply’s Investment in Spa account:

a Will equal its underlying equity in Spa

b Will be $25,000 greater than its underlying equity in Spa
¢ Will be $50,000 less than its underlying equity in Spa

d Will be $25,000 less than its underlying equity in Spa

E 5-2
[Based on AICPA] General problems

1. Per, Inc., owns 80 percent of Sen, Inc. During 2011, Per sold goods with a 40 percent gross profit to Sen. Sen sold

all of these goods in 2011. For 2011 consolidated financial statements, how should the summation of Per and Sen
income statement items be adjusted?

a Sales and cost of goods sold should be reduced by the intercompany sales.

b Sales and cost of goods sold should be reduced by 80 percent of the intercompany sales.

¢ Net income should be reduced by 80 percent of the gross profit on intercompany sales.

d No adjustment is necessary.

2. Car Company had the following transactions with affiliated parties during 2011.
m Sales of $180,000 to Den, with $60,000 gross profit. Den had $45,000 of this inventory on hand at year-end.
Car owns a 15 percent interest in Den and does not exert significant influence.
W Purchases of raw materials totaling $720,000 from Ken Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary. Ken’s gross
profit on the sale was $144,000. Car had $180,000 of this inventory remaining on December 31, 2011.
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Before eliminating entries, Car had consolidated current assets of $960,000. What amount should Car report in its
December 31, 2011, consolidated balance sheet for current assets?

a $960,000

b $951,000

¢ $924,000

d $303,000

3. Par Corporation owns 80 percent of Sit’s common stock. During 2011, Par sold Sit $750,000 of inventory on the
same terms as sales made to third parties. Sit sold 100 percent of the inventory purchased from Par in 2011. The
following information pertains to Sit’s and Par’s sales for 2011:

Par Sit
Sales $3,000,000 $2,100,000
Cost of Sales 1,200,000 1,050,000
$1,800,000 $1,050,000

What amount should Par report as cost of sales in its 2011 consolidated income statement?
a $2,250,000
b $2,040,000
¢ $1,500,000
d $1,290,000

E 5-3
Downstream sales

1. The separate incomes of Pil Corporation and Sil Corporation, a 100 percent-owned subsidiary of Pil, for 2012 are
$2,000,000 and $1,000,000, respectively. Pil sells all of its output to Sil at 150 percent of Pil's cost of production.
During 2011 and 2012, Pil’s sales to Sil were $9,000,000 and $7,000,000, respectively. Sil’s inventory at Decem-
ber 31, 2011, included $3,000,000 of the merchandise acquired from Pil, and its December 31, 2012, inventory
included $2,400,000 of such merchandise. Assume Sil sells the inventory purchased from Pil in the following year.

A consolidated income statement for Pil Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012 should show controlling interest
share of consolidated net income of:
a $2,200,000
b $2,800,000
¢ $3,000,000
d $3,200,000

USE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION IN ANSWERING QUESTIONS 2 AND 3:

Pan Corporation owns 75 percent of the voting common stock of Sat Corporation, acquired at book value dur-
ing 2011. Selected information from the accounts of Pan and Sat for 2011 are as follows:

Pan Sat
Sales $1,800,000 $1,000,000
Cost of Sales 980,000 380,000

During 2012 Pan sold merchandise to Sat for $100,000, at a gross profit to Pan of $40,000. Half of this mer-
chandise remained in Sat’s inventory at December 31, 2012. Sat’s December 31, 2011, inventory included
unrealized profit of $8,000 on goods acquired from Pan.

2. In a consolidated income statement for Pan Corporation and Subsidiary for the year 2012, consolidated sales
should be:
a $2,900,000
b $2,800,000
c $2,725,000
d $2,700,000

3. In a consolidated income statement for Pan Corporation and Subsidiary for the year 2012, consolidated cost of
sales should be:

a $1,372,000
b $1,360,000
c $1,272,000
d $1,248,000
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E5-4

Upstream sales

Pid Corporation owns an 80 percent interest in Sed Corporation and at December 31, 2011, Pid’s investment in Sed
on an equity basis was equal to 80 percent of Sed’s stockholders’ equity. During 2012, Sed sells merchandise to Pid
for $200,000, at a gross profit to Sed of $40,000. At December 31, 2012, half of this merchandise is included in Pid’s
inventory. Separate incomes for Pid and Sed for 2012 are summarized as follows:

Pid Sed
Sales $1,000,000 $600,000
Cost of sales (500,000) (400,000)
Gross profit 500,000 200,000
Operating expenses (250,000) (80,000)
Separate incomes $ 250,000 $120,000

1. Pid’s income from Sed for 2012 is:
a $96,000
b $80,000
¢ $76,000
d $56,000

2. Consolidated cost of sales for 2012 is:
a $920,000
b $900,000
c $880,000
d $720,000

3. Noncontrolling interest share for 2012 is:
a $24,000
b $20,000
¢ $8,000
d $4,000

E 5-5

Upstream sales

Par Corporation owns an 80 percent interest in Sel Corporation acquired several years ago. Sel regularly sells mer-
chandise to its parent at 125 percent of Sel’s cost. Gross profit data of Par and Sel for 2012 are as follows:

Par Sel
Sales $1,000,000 $800,000
Cost of goods sold 800,000 640,000
Gross profit $ 200.000 $160.000

During 2012, Par purchased inventory items from Sel at a transfer price of $400,000. Par’s December 31, 2011
and 2012, inventories included goods acquired from Sel of $100,000 and $125,000, respectively. Assume Par sells the
inventory purchased from Sel in the following year.

1. Consolidated sales of Par Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012 were:
a $1,800,000
b $1,425,000
¢ $1,400,000
d $1,240,000

2. The unrealized profits in the year-end 2011 and 2012 inventories were:
a $100,000 and $125,000, respectively
b $80,000 and $100,000, respectively
¢ $20,000 and $25,000, respectively
d $16,000 and $20,000, respectively

3. Consolidated cost of goods sold of Par Corporation and Subsidiary for 2012 was:
a $1,024,000
b $1,045,000
c $1,052,800
d $1,056,000
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E 5-6

Upstream and downstream sales

1. Pat Corporation owns 70 percent of Sue Company’s common stock, acquired January 1, 2012. Patents from the
investment are being amortized at a rate of $20,000 per year. Sue regularly sells merchandise to Pat at 150
percent of Sue’s cost. Pat’s December 31, 2012, and 2013 inventories include goods purchased intercompany of
$112,500 and $33,000, respectively. The separate incomes (do not include investment income) of Pat and Sue for
2013 are summarized as follows:

Pat Sue
Sales $1,200,000 $800,000
Cost of sales (600,000) (500,000)
Other expenses (400,000) (100,000)
Separate incomes $ 200,000 $200,000

Total consolidated income should be allocated to controlling and noncontrolling interest shares in the amounts of:
a $344,550 and $61,950, respectively
b $358,550 and $60,000, respectively
¢ $346,500 and $60,000, respectively
d $346,500 and $67,950, respectively

2. Pac acquired a 60 percent interest in Slo on January 1, 2011, for $360,000, when Slo’s net assets had a book
value and fair value of $600,000. During 2011, Pac sold inventory items that cost $600,000 to Slo for $800,000,
and Slo’s inventory at December 31, 2011, included one-fourth of this merchandise. Pac reported separate income
from its own operations (excludes investment income) of $300,000, and Slo reported a net loss of $150,000 for
2011. Controlling share of consolidated net income for Pac Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011 is:

a $260,000
b $180,000
¢ $160,000
d $100,000

3. San Corporation, a 75 percent-owned subsidiary of Par Corporation, sells inventory items to its parent at
125 percent of cost. Inventories of the two affiliates for 2011 are as follows:

Par San
Beginning inventory $400,000 $250,000
Ending inventory 500,000 200,000

Par’s beginning and ending inventories include merchandise acquired from San of $150,000 and $200,000, re-
spectively, which is sold in the following year. If San reports net income of $300,000 for 2011, Par’s income from
San will be:

a $255,000

b $217,500

¢ $215,000

d $195,000

E 5-7

Determine consolidated net income with downstream intercompany sales

Pan Corporation owns an 80 percent interest in the common stock of She Corporation, acquired several years ago at
book value. Pan regularly sells merchandise to She. Information relevant to the intercompany sales and profits of Pan
and She for 2011, 2012, and 2013 is as follows:

2011 2012 2013
Sales to She $300,000 $360,000 $600,000
Unrealized profit in She’s inventory
at December 31 90,000 120,000 60,000
She’s separate income 1,500,000 1,650,000 1,425,000
Pan’s separate income (does not include
investment income) 900,000 1,200,000 1,050,000

REQUIRED: Prepare a schedule showing consolidated net income for each year.
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Consolidated income statement with downstream sales

The separate incomes (which do not include investment income) of Pic Corporation and Sil Corporation, its 80 percent-
owned subsidiary, for 2011 were determined as follows (in thousands):

Pic Sil
Sales $800 $200
Less: Cost of sales _400 _ 80
Gross profit 400 120
Other expenses _200 _ 60
Separate incomes $200 $ 60

During 2011, Pic sold merchandise that cost $40,000 to Sil for $80,000, and at December 31, 2011, half of these
inventory items remained unsold by Sil.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pic Corporation and Subsidiary for the year
ended December 31, 2011.

Compute noncontrolling interest and consolidated cost of sales (upstream sales)

Income statement information for 2011 for Pug Corporation and its 60 percent-owned subsidiary, Sev Corporation, is
as follows:

Pug Sev
Sales $900 $350
Cost of sales _400 250
Gross profit 500 100
Operating expenses _250 _ 50
Sev’s net income $ 50
Pug’s separate income $250 T

Intercompany sales for 2011 are upstream (from Sev to Pug) and total $100,000. Pug’s December 31, 2010, and
December 31, 2011, inventories contain unrealized profits of $5,000 and $10,000, respectively.

REQUIRED

1. Compute noncontrolling interest share for 2011.

2. Compute consolidated sales, cost of sales, and total consolidated income for 2011.

E 5-10

Consolidated income statement (upstream sales)

Pap Corporation purchased an 80 percent interest in Sak Corporation for $1,200,000 on January 1, 2012, at which
time Sak’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $1,000,000 common stock and $400,000 retained earnings. The excess
fair value over book value was goodwill. Comparative income statements for the two corporations for 2013 are as
follows:

Pap Sak
Sales $2,000 $1,000
Income from Sak 224 —
Cost of sales (800) (500)
Depreciation expense (260) (80)
Other expenses (180) (120)
Net income $ 984 $ 300

Dividends of Pap and Sak for all of 2013 were $600,000 and $200,000, respectively. During 2012 Sak sold inven-
tory items to Pap for $160,000. This merchandise cost Sak $100,000, and one-third of it remained in Pap’s December
31, 2012, inventory. During 2013 Sak’s sales to Pap were $180,000. This merchandise cost Sak $120,000, and one-
half of it remained in Pap’s December 31, 2013, inventory.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pap Corporation and Subsidiary for the year
ended December 31, 2013.
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E 5-11

Upstream sales

On January 1, 2004, Pre Corporation acquired 60 percent of the voting common shares of Sue Corporation at an ex-
cess of fair value over book value of $1,000,000. This excess was attributed to plant assets with a remaining useful
life of five years. For the year ended December 31, 2011, Sue prepared condensed financial statements as follows (in
thousands):

Condensed Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011

Current assets (except inventory) $ 600
Inventories 300
Plant assets—net _5,000
Total assets $5,900
Liabilities $ 400
Capital stock 3,400
Retained earnings 2,100
Total equities $5,900
Condensed Statement of Income and Retained Earnings
Sales $1,000
Cost of sales (500)
Other expenses (300)
Net income 200
Add: Retained earnings January 1, 2011 2,000
Less: Dividends 100
Retained earnings December 31, 2011 $2.100

Sue regularly sells inventory items to Pre at a price of 120 percent of cost. In 2010 and 2011, sales from Sue to Pre
are as follows:

2010 2011

Sales at selling price $840 $960
Inventory unsold by Pre on December 31 120 360

1. Under the equity method, Pre reports investment income from Sue for 2011 of:
a $120
b $96
c $80
d $104 loss

2. Noncontrolling interest on December 31, 2011, is:
a $2,200
b $2,184
c $2,176
d $2,140
3. On the books of Pre Corporation, the investment account is properly reflected on December 31, 2011, at:
a $3240
b $3,264
c $3276
d Not enough information is given.

E5-12

Consolidated income statement (intercompany sales correction)
The consolidated income statement of Pul and Swa for 2011 was as follows (in thousands):

Sales $2,760

Cost of sales (1,840)
Operating expenses (320)
Income to 20 percent noncontrolling interest in Swa (80)

[~

Consolidated net income 520

After the consolidated income statement was prepared, it was discovered that intercompany sales transactions had
not been considered and that unrealized profits had not been eliminated. Information concerning these items follows
(in thousands):
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Cost Selling Price Unsold at Year-End
2010 Sales—Pul to Swa $320 $360 25%
2011 Sales—Swa to Pul 180 240 40

REQUIRED: Prepare a corrected consolidated income statement for Pul and Swa for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

PROBLEMS

P 5-1

Consolidated income and retained earnings (upstream sales, noncontrolling
interest)

Por Corporation acquired its 90 percent interest in Sam Corporation at its book value of $1,800,000 on
January 1, 2011, when Sam had capital stock of $1,500,000 and retained earnings of $500,000.

The December 31, 2011 and 2012, inventories of Por included merchandise acquired from Sam
of $150,000 and $200,000, respectively. Sam realizes a gross profit of 40 percent on all merchan-
dise sold. During 2011 and 2012, sales by Sam to Por were $300,000 and $400,000, respectively.

Summary adjusted trial balances for Por and Sam at December 31, 2012, follow (in thousands):

Por Sam
Cash $ 500 $ 100
Receivables—net 1,000 250
Inventories 1,200 500
Plant assets—net 1,250 2,400
Investment in Sam—90% 2,178 —
Cost of sales 4,000 1,950
Other expenses 1,700 800
Dividends 500 250
$12,328 $6,250
Por Sam
Accounts payable $ 750 $ 450
Other liabilities 300 300
Capital stock, $10 par 2,500 1,500
Retained earnings 1,846 750
Sales 6,500 3,250
Income from Sam 432 —
$12,328 $6,250

REQUIRED: Prepare a combined consolidated income and retained earnings statement for Por Corporation
and Subsidiary for the year ended December 31, 2012.

P 5-2
Computations (upstream sales)

Put Corporation acquired a 90 percent interest in Sam Corporation at book value on January 1, 2011.
Intercompany purchases and sales and inventory data for 2011, 2012, and 2013, are as follows:

Intercompany Profit

Sales by Sam in Put’s Inventory at
to Put December 31
2011 $200,000 $15,000
2012 150,000 12,000

2013 300,000 24,000
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Selected data from the financial statements of Put and Sam at and for the year ended December 31,
2013, are as follows:

Put Sam
Income Statement
Sales $900,000 $600,000
Cost of sales 625,000 300,000
Expenses 225,000 150,000
Income from Sam 124,200 —
Balance Sheet
Inventory $150,000 $ 80,000
Retained earnings December 31, 2013 425,000 220,000
Capital stock 500,000 300,000

REQUIRED: Prepare well-organized schedules showing computations for each of the following:
1. Consolidated cost of sales for 2013
2. Noncontrolling interest share for 2013
3. Consolidated net income for 2013

4. Noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2013

P 5-3
Computations (parent buys from one subsidiary and sells to the other)
Pot Company owns controlling interests in San and Tay Corporations, having acquired an 80 percent
interest in San in 2011, and a 90 percent interest in Tay on January 1, 2012. Pot’s investments in San and
Tay were at book value equal to fair value.

Inventories of the affiliated companies at December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2013, were as

follows:
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2013
Pot inventories $120,000 $108,000
San inventories 77,500 62,500
Tay inventories 48,000 72,000

Pot sells to San at a 25 percent markup based on cost, and Tay sells to Pot at a 20 percent
markup based on cost. Pot’s beginning and ending inventories for 2013 consisted of 40 percent
and 50 percent, respectively, of goods acquired from Tay. All of San’s inventories consisted of
merchandise acquired from Pot.

REQUIRED

1. Calculate the inventory that should appear in the December 31, 2012, consolidated balance sheet.
2. Calculate the inventory that should appear in the December 31, 2013, consolidated balance sheet.

P5-4
Computations (upstream and downstream sales)

Comparative income statements of Stu Corporation for the calendar years 2011, 2012, and 2013 are as
follows (in thousands):

2011 2012 2013
Sales $12,000 $12,750 $14,250
Cost of sales 6,300 6,600 7,500
Gross profit 5,700 6,150 6,750
Operating expenses 4.500 4.800 5,700

Net income $ 1,200 $ 1,350 $ 1,050
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Stu was a 75 percent-owned subsidiary of Pli Corporation throughout the 2011-2013 period. Pli’s sepa-
rate income (excludes income from Stu) was $5,400,000, $5,100,000, and $6,000,000 in 2011, 2012, and
2013, respectively. Pli acquired its interest in Stu at its underlying book value, which was equal to fair
value on July 1, 2010.

2. Pli sold inventory items to Stu during 2011 at a gross profit to Pli of $600,000. Half the merchandise
remained in Stu’s inventory at December 31, 2011. Total sales by Pli to Stu in 2011 were $1,500,000. The
remaining merchandise was sold by Stu in 2012.

3. Pli’s inventory at December 31, 2012, included items acquired from Stu on which Stu made a profit of
$300,000. Total sales by Stu to Pli during 2012 were $1,200,000.

4. There were no unrealized profits in the December 31, 2013, inventories of either Stu or Pli.

5. Pli uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in Stu.

REQUIRED
1. Prepare a schedule showing Pli’s income from Stu for the years 2011, 2012, and 2013.
2. Compute Pli’s net income for the years 2011, 2012, and 2013.

3. Prepare a schedule of consolidated net income for Pli Corporation and Subsidiary for the years 2011,
2012, and 2013, beginning with the separate incomes of the two affiliates and including noncontrolling
interest computations.

P 5-5
Workpapers (100 percent owned, downstream sales, year after acquisition)
Pan Corporation acquired 100 percent of Sal Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock on Janu-
ary 1, 2011, for $660,000 cash. Sal’s stockholders’ equity on this date consisted of $300,000 capital
stock and $300,000 retained earnings. The difference between the price paid by Pan and the underlying
equity acquired in Sal was allocated $30,000 to Sal’s undervalued inventory and the remainder to pat-
ents with a five-year write-off period. The undervalued inventory items were sold by Sal during 2011.
Pan made sales of $100,000 to Sal at a gross profit of $40,000 during 2011; during 2012, Pan made
sales of $120,000 to Sal at a gross profit of $48,000. One-half the 2011 sales were inventoried by Sal at
year-end 2011, and one-fourth the 2012 sales were inventoried by Sal at year-end 2012. Sal owed Pan
$17,000 on account at December 31, 2012.
The separate financial statements of Pan and Sal Corporations at and for the year ended December
31, 2012, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pan Sal

Combined Income and Retained Earnings
Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $ 800 $400
Income from Sal 102 —
Cost of sales (400) (200)
Depreciation expense (110) (40)
Other expenses 192) (60)

Net income 200 100
Beginning retained earnings 600 380
Less: Dividends (100) (50)

Retained earnings December 31, 2012 $ 700 $430
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $ 54 $ 37
Receivables—net 90 60
Inventories 100 80
Other assets 70 90
Land 50 50
Buildings—net 200 150
Equipment—net 500 400
Investment in Sal 736

Total assets $1,800 $867
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Pan Sal
Accounts payable $ 160 $ 47
Other liabilities 340 90
Common stock, $10 par 600 300
Retained earnings 700 ~430
Total equities $1,800 $867

REQUIRED: Prepare workpapers to consolidate the financial statements of Pan Corporation and Subsidi-
ary at and for the year ended December 31, 2012.

P 5-6

Workpapers (noncontrolling interest, downstream sales, year after acquisition)
Pay Corporation acquired a 75 percent interest in Sue Corporation for $600,000 on January 1, 2011,
when Sue’s equity consisted of $300,000 capital stock and $100,000 retained earnings. The fair values
of Sue’s assets and liabilities were equal to book values on this date, and goodwill is not amortized. Pay
uses the equity method of accounting for Sue.

During 2011, Pay sold inventory items to Sue for $160,000, and at December 31, 2011, Sue’s inven-
tory included items on which there were $20,000 unrealized profits. During 2012, Pay sold inventory
items to Sue for $260,000, and at December 31, 2012, Sue’s inventory included items on which there
were $40,000 unrealized profits.

On December 31, 2012, Sue owed Pay $30,000 on account for merchandise purchases. The financial
statements of Pay and Sue Corporations at and for the year ended December 31, 2012, are summarized
as follows (in thousands):

Pay Sue
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $ 1,200 $ 800
Income from Sue 205 —
Cost of sales (540) (420)
Operating expenses (290) (80
Net income 575 300
Beginning retained earnings 365 180
Deduct: Dividends (300) (100)
Retained earnings December 31, 2012 $ 640 $ 380
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $ 170 $ 60
Accounts receivable 330 200
Dividends receivable 30 —
Inventories 120 160
Land 160 100
Buildings—net 460 200
Equipment—net 400 280
Investment in Sue 770 —
Total assets $ 2,440 $1,000
Accounts payable $ 450 $ 200
Dividends payable 140 40
Other liabilities 310 80
Common stock, $10 par 900 300
Retained earnings 640 380
Total equities $ 2,440 $1,000

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pay Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.
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P 5-7
Consolidation workpapers (upstream sales, noncontrolling interest)

Pol Corporation purchased a 90 percent interest in San Corporation on December 31, 2010, for
$2,700,000 cash, when San had capital stock of $2,000,000 and retained earnings of $500,000. All
San’s assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair values when Pol acquired its interest. The excess
of fair value over book value is due to previously unrecorded patents and is being amortized over a
10-year period.

The Pol-San affiliation is a vertically integrated merchandising operation, with San selling all of its
output to Pol Corporation at 140 percent of its cost. Pol sells the merchandise acquired from San at 150
percent of its purchase price from San. All of Pol’s December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2012, inven-
tories of $280,000 and $420,000, respectively, were acquired from San. San’s December 31, 2011, and
December 31, 2012, inventories were $800,000 each.

Pol’s accounts payable at December 31, 2012, includes $100,000 owed to San from 2012 purchases.

Comparative financial statements for Pol Corporation and San Corporation at and for the year ended
December 31, 2012, are as follows (in thousands):

Pol San
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $8,190 $5,600
Income from San 819 —
Cost of sales (5,460) (4,000)
Other expenses (1,544) (600)
Net income 2,005 1,000
Add: Beginning retained earnings 1,200 700
Deduct: Dividends (1,000) (500)
Retained earnings December 31, 2012 $2,205 $1,200
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $ 753 $ 500
Inventory 420 800
Other current assets 600 200
Plant assets—net 3,000 3,000
Investment in San 3.132 —
Total assets $7,905 $4,500
Current liabilities $1,700 $1,300
Capital stock 4,000 2,000
Retained earnings 2,205 1.200
Total equities $7,905 $4.500

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pol Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

P 5-8
Consolidated workpapers (downstream sales)

Pan Corporation acquired 100 percent of Sal Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock on
January 1, 2011, for $660,000 cash. Sal’s stockholders’ equity on this date consisted of $300,000 capital
stock and $300,000 retained earnings. The difference between the fair value of Sal and the underlying
equity acquired in Sal was allocated $30,000 to Sal’s undervalued inventory and the remainder to good-
will. The undervalued inventory items were sold by Sal during 2011.

Pan made sales of $100,000 to Sal at a gross profit of $40,000 during 2011; during 2012, Pan made
sales of $120,000 to Sal at a gross profit of $48,000. One-half the 2011 sales were inventoried by Sal at
year-end 2011, and one-fourth the 2012 sales were inventoried by Sal at year-end 2012. Sal owed Pan
$17,000 on account at December 31, 2012.

The separate financial statements of Pan and Sal Corporations at and for the year ended December
31, 2012, are summarized as follows:
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Pan Sal
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statements
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012 (in thousands)
Sales $ 800 $400
Income from Sal 108 —
Cost of sales (400) (200)
Depreciation expense (110) (40)
Other expenses 192) _(60)
Net income 206 100
Beginning retained earnings 606 380
Less: Dividends (100) _(50)
Retained earnings December 31, 2012 $ 712 $430
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012 -
Cash $54 $ 37
Receivables—net 90 60
Inventories 100 80
Other assets 70 90
Land 50 50
Buildings—net 200 150
Equipment—net 500 400
Investment in Sal 748 —
Total assets $1,812 $867
Accounts payable $ 160 $ 47
Other liabilities 340 90
Common stock, $10 par 600 300
Retained earnings 712 _430
Total equities $1,812 $867

REQUIRED: Prepare workpapers to consolidate the financial statements of Pan Corporation and Subsidiary
at and for the year ended December 31, 2012.

P 5-9
Consolidated workpaper (noncontrolling interest, upstream sales, intercom-
pany receivables/payables)

Poe Corporation purchased a 90 percent interest in San Corporation on December 31, 2011, for
$2,700,000 cash, when San had capital stock of $2,000,000 and retained earnings of $500,000. All
San’s assets and liabilities were recorded at fair values when Poe acquired its interest. The excess of fair
value over book value is goodwill.

The Poe—San affiliation is a vertically integrated merchandising operation, with San selling all of
its output to Poe Corporation at 140 percent of its cost. Poe sells the merchandise acquired from San at
150 percent of its purchase price from San. All of Poe’s December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2014,
inventories of $280,000 and $420,000, respectively, were acquired from San. San’s December 31, 2013,
and December 31, 2014, inventories were $800,000 each.

Poe’s accounts payable at December 31, 2014, includes $100,000 owed to San from 2014 purchases.

Comparative financial statements for Poe and San Corporations at and for the year ended December
31, 2014, are as follows:

Poe San

Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2014 (in thousands)
Sales $8,190 $5,600
Income from San 864 —
Cost of sales (5,460) (4,000)
Other expenses (1,544) (600)

Net income 2,050 1,000
Add: Beginning retained earnings 1,250 700
Deduct: Dividends (1,000) (500)

Retained earnings December 31, 2014 $2,300 $1,200
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Poe San

Balance Sheet at December 31, 2014
Cash $ 758 $ 500
Inventory 420 800
Other current assets 600 200
Plant assets—net 3,000 3,000
Investment in San 3,222 —

Total assets $8,000 $4,500
Current liabilities $1,700 $1,300
Capital stock 4,000 2,000
Retained earnings 2.300 1.200

Total equities $8,000 $4,500

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Poe Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

INTERNET ASSIGNMENT

Visit Ford Motor Company’s Web site and download the 2009 annual report. First, review
the annual report and summarize any information you find concerning intercompany inven-
tory transfers, or intersegment sales. Prepare a brief summary of your findings.
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SEC Influence on Accounting

ccountants recognize the influence of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on

the development of accounting and reporting principles. Congress gave the SEC author-
ity to establish accounting principles when it passed the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which
created the SEC. Initially, Congress assigned the administration of the Securities Act of 1933 to
the Federal Trade Commission. But a year later, the 1934 act created the Securities and Exchange
Commission and made it responsible for establishing regulations over accounting and auditing
matters for firms under its jurisdiction. Thus, the SEC has the authority to prescribe accounting
principles for entities that fall under its jurisdiction.!

A combination of inadequate regulation of securities at the federal and state levels, the stock
market crash of 1929, and the Great Depression of the 1930s contributed to the enactment of new
securities legislation in the early 1930s. Similar circumstances surrounding the collapse of Enron
Corporation, WorldCom, and others led to passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and related legis-
lation in recent years.

THE 1933 SECURITIES ACT

A primary objective of the Securities Act of 1933 was “to provide full and fair disclosure of the
character of securities sold in interstate and foreign commerce and the mails, and to prevent fraud
in the sale thereof” (Securities Act of 1933). Another objective of the 1933 act was to protect in-
vestors against fraud, deceit, and misrepresentation. There have been many amendments, but these
objectives still constitute the primary thrust of the 1933 Act.

The Securities Act of 1933 is often called the “Truth in Securities Act.” This is because the
SEC’s objective is to prevent the issuers of securities from disclosing false, incomplete, or other-
wise misleading information to prospective buyers of their securities. The SEC emphasizes that its
objective is not to pass judgment on the merits of any firm’s securities. The SEC imposes severe
penalties on firms and individuals that violate its disclosure requirements.

Issuance of Securities in Public Offerings

The Securities Act of 1933 regulates the issuance of specific securities to investors in public offer-
ings. Public offerings of securities must be registered with the SEC and be advertised in a prospec-
tus before being offered for sale to the public.

For example, in 1993 the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 93, which requires discontinued operations that
have not been divested within one year of their measurement dates to be accounted for prospectively as investments held
for sale.
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Exempt SEcURITY Issues Certain security issuances are exempt from the 1933 Act. A partial list of
exempt securities includes those issued by governmental units, not-for-profit organizations, firms
in bankruptcy and subject to court order, firms in stock splits or in direct sales to existing share-
holders (private placements), and firms issuing intrastate securities with sales limited to residents
of that state.

Issues oF $5,000,000 or LEss Regulation A provides less-restrictive registration procedures for
security issuances not exceeding $5,000,000. Regulation A permits firms to use an offering circu-
lar rather than the prospectus required for full registration.

THE ProspecTus The prospectus is a part of the registration statement that provides detailed
information about the background of the registrant firm, including its development, its business,
and its financial statements. An offering circular is like a prospectus but has fewer disclosure
requirements. A copy of the prospectus must be presented to prospective buyers before the securi-
ties are offered for sale. A preliminary prospectus (also known as a red herring prospectus) is
a communication that identifies the nature of the securities to be issued, states that they have not
been approved or disapproved by the SEC, and explains how to obtain the prospectus when it
becomes available.

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 created the Securities and Exchange Commission and
gave it authority to administer the 1933 Act as well as to regulate the trading of securities on
national exchanges. Subsequently, the 1934 Act was amended to include securities traded in
over-the-counter markets, provided that the firms have total assets of more than $10 million and
at least 500 stockholders. Firms that want their securities traded on the national exchanges or in
over-the-counter markets subject to the net-asset and stockholder limitations must file registration
statements with the SEC. Form 10 is the primary form used for registering securities on national
stock exchanges or in over-the-counter markets. This registration for trading purposes is required
in addition to the registration prepared for new security issuances under the 1933 Act.

AppitionAL Periopic ReporTinG REquiReMENTS Companies covered by the 1934 Act also have periodic
reporting responsibilities. These include filing 10-K annual reports, 10-Q quarterly reports, and
8-K current “material event” reports with the SEC. The information in these reports is publicly
available so that company officers, directors, and major stockholders (insiders) will not be able
to use it to gain an unfair advantage over the investing public. In other words, the objective is to
provide full disclosure of all material facts about the company and thereby contribute to a more ef-
ficient and ethical securities market.

THe Sec AnD NATiONAL ExcHANGES In addition to the registration and periodic reporting rules for
publicly traded companies, the Securities Exchange Act contains registration and reporting re-
quirements for the national securities exchanges. The SEC has responsibility for monitoring the
activities of the national exchanges and ensuring their compliance with applicable legal provisions.
The 1934 Act also gave the SEC broad enforcement powers over stockbrokers and dealers and over
accountants involved in SEC work.

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

The passage of Sarbanes-Oxley and related legislation provides the SEC with even broader powers
and an increased budget for enforcement activities. SEC inquiries and enforcement actions against
public companies have increased substantially since 2000. Many firms, for example, Krispy Kreme
Doughnuts in January 2005, have restated earnings as a result of SEC investigations. Such activity
is likely to continue.

Among SEC pronouncements, one of the most far-reaching is Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, issued in December 1999. Here the SEC
addresses and clarifies revenue recognition issues commonly encountered in the modern and
increasingly complex business world. Current common practices of selling bundled products and
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services and how to separate and recognize the components of revenue in such contracts are some
of the SEC’s many concerns. SAB No. 101 represents the SEC’s response to a research study on
fraudulent reporting practices conducted by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO)
of the Treadway Commission in March 1999. That report indicated that more than one-half of the
reporting frauds reviewed involved overstatement of revenues.

Additional Responsibilities of the SEC

Subsequent to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the SEC acquired regulatory and administra-
tive responsibilities under the Public Utilities Holding Company Act of 1935, the Trust Indenture
Act of 1939, the Investment Company Act of 1940, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, the Se-
curities Investor Protection Act of 1970, and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977. These acts
are listed for identification purposes, but this appendix does not discuss the SEC’s responsibility
under them.

THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR SECURITY ISSUES

The Securities Act of 1933 requires firms issuing securities to the public to provide full and fair
disclosure of all material facts about those securities. The disclosures are provided in a registration
statement filed with the SEC at least 20 days before the securities are offered for sale to the public.
The SEC may extend the 20-day waiting period if it finds deficient or misleading information
in the registration statement. In addition, if a firm files an amendment to the registration statement,
the SEC treats the amended statement as a new one for purposes of applying the 20-day rule.

Security Registration

The registration of securities with the SEC is ordinarily a major undertaking for the registrant
company. The process includes developing a registration team consisting of financial managers,
legal counsel, security underwriters, public accountants, and other professionals as needed. The
team plans the registration process in detail, assigns responsibility for each task, coordinates the
efforts of all team members, and maintains a viable timetable throughout each phase of the project.
Because of its complexity, the coordination of efforts is sometimes referred to as a balancing act.

REGISTERING SECURITIES UNDER THE INTEGRATED DiscLosure SysTEM In 1980 the SEC changed the process
of registering securities when it adopted an integrated disclosure system for almost all reports re-
quired by the 1933 and 1934 Securities Acts. The integrated system revised the registration forms
and streamlined the process for filing with the SEC. As a result, the registration statement is now
completed in accordance with instructions for the particular registration form deemed appropriate
for a specific registrant company.

For example, Form S-1 is a general form to be used by firms going public (issuing securities to
the public for the first time) and by firms that have been SEC registrants for fewer than three years.
It is also a default form to be used unless another form is specified. Forms S-2 and S-3 are forms
with fewer disclosure requirements than S-1. They are used primarily for registrations of estab-
lished firms that have been SEC registrants for more than three years and that meet certain other
criteria. Form S-4 is used for registering securities issued in a business combination. Firms issuing
securities under Regulation A use Form 1-A. A number of other registration forms are applicable
to selected types of security issues and firm situations.

THE INTEGRATED DISCLOSURE SYSTEM

The basic regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are found in Regulation S-X,
which prescribes rules for the form and content of financial statements filed with the SEC, and
Regulation S-K, which covers the nonfinancial statement disclosures of the registration statements
and other periodic filings with the SEC. Before the 1980s, the two regulations sometimes had
conflicting requirements, and firms often had difficulty in identifying the appropriate rules and
procedures for reporting to the SEC.

From 1933 to 1980 the SEC issued numerous Accounting Series Releases (ASRs)—official
supplements to AICPA and FASB pronouncements—and Staff Accounting Bulletins (SABs)—informal
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interpretations by the SEC staff on GAAP and S-X provisions. The issuance of these ASRs and SABs
often increased the difficulty of complying with SEC regulations because their provisions were some-
times inconsistent with GAAP or other SEC regulations.

Codification of SABs and ASRs

In implementing the integrated disclosure system, the SEC issued SAB No. 40 to codify SABs 1
through 38. This was done to revise the content of the SABs to conform to GAAP, to eliminate du-
plicate material contained in some SABs, and in some cases to recognize FASB pronouncements
as meeting the SEC’s requirements. The SEC also codified the relevant accounting-related ASRs
into Financial Reporting Release (FRR) No. 1. Thus, the current series consists of FRRs rather
than ASRs.

Objectives of Integrated Disclosure System

The objectives of the integrated disclosure system are to simplify the registration process, to re-
duce the cost of compliance with SEC regulations, and to improve the quality of information pro-
vided to investors and other parties. Under the integrated system, the disclosure included in SEC
filings and those distributed to investors via prospectuses, proxy statements, and annual reports are
essentially the same.

Standardization of Audited Financial Statements

The integrated disclosure system amended Regulation S-X in order to standardize the financial
statement requirements in most SEC filings. For example, Regulation S-X, which prescribes the
form and content of financial statements filed with the SEC, was amended in 1992 to conform cer-
tain of its accounting and disclosure requirements to those contained in the FASB Standards (now
the Codification). This permits the financial statements included in annual reports to shareholders
to be the same as those included in the prospectus, the 10-K, and other reports filed with the SEC.

Note that the SEC’s proxy rules govern the content of annual reports to shareholders. Under
current rules, the content of the annual report to shareholders is the same as in 10-K filings. Form
10-K is the general form for the annual report that registrants file with the SEC. It is required to be
filed within 90 days after the end of the registrant company’s fiscal year. The 10-K report must be
signed by the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, the chief accounting officer, and a
majority of the company’s board of directors.

Exhibit A-1 summarizes the 10-K disclosures required by the SEC for public companies. As
shown in the exhibit, the SEC divides the disclosures into four groups. This is done to distinguish
the information required to be disclosed in annual reports to shareholders from the complete 10-K
information package required for filings with the SEC. For example, the information included in
Part IT of the exhibit is primarily accounting information that is required for annual reports filed
with the SEC as well as the annual reports distributed to the company’s shareholders. The disclo-
sure requirements summarized in Parts I, III, and IV of the exhibit are only required for SEC fil-
ings, but they may be included in annual reports to shareholders.

In implementing its integrated disclosure system, the SEC eliminated a number of differences
between reports filed with the SEC and those contained in annual reports to shareholders. This per-
mitted public companies to meet many of the SEC filing requirements by reference to disclosures
made in the annual reports to shareholders. That is, companies can include copies of their annual
shareholder reports in their 10-K filings and satisfy many SEC disclosure requirements with one
report. The SEC encourages the incorporation of information by reference to other reports and
does not require that information to be duplicated. This “incorporation by reference” ruling re-
sulted in a substantial increase in the size of corporate annual reports and a corresponding decrease
in the size of 10-K reports filed with the SEC.

Form 8-K Form 8-K is a report that requires registrants to inform the SEC about significant
changes that take place regarding firm policies or financial condition. Firms must submit the report
within 15 days (5 days in some cases) of the occurrence of the event. Items that might be disclosed
in Form 8-K include changes in management, major acquisitions or disposals of assets, lawsuits,
bankruptcy filings, and unexpected changes in directors.
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SUMMARY OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES UNDER SEC FORM 10-K
Summary of Required

Part1 Disclosures Under SEC
Iltem 1:  Business (nature and history of the business, industry segments, etc.) Form 10-K

Item 2:  Properties (location, description, and use of property, etc.)

Item 3:  Legal proceedings (details of pending legal proceedings)

Item 4:  Voting by security holders (items submitted to shareholders for voting)

Part Il

Item 5:  Market for common equity (place traded, shares, dividends, etc.)

Item 6:  Selected financial data (five-year trend data for net sales, income from continuing operations including
EPS, total assets, long-term debt, cash dividends, etc.)

Item7:  Management’s discussion and analysis (discussion of the firm’s liquidity, capital resources, operations,
financial condition, etc.)

Item 8:  Financial statements and supplementary data (requirements include audited balance sheets for two
years and audited income statements and statements of cash flows for three years; three-year and
five-year summaries are required for selected statement items)

Item 9:  Changes in accountants and disagreements on accounting matters (changes in accountants and
accounting changes, disagreements, disclosures, etc.)

Part Il

Item 10: Directors and executive officers (names, ages, positions, etc.)

Item 11:  Executive compensation (names, positions, salaries, stock options, etc.)

Item 12:  Security ownership of beneficial owners and management (listing of insider owners of securities)
Iltem 13: Certain relationships (business relations and transactions with management, etc.)

Part IV
Item 14:  Exhibits, financial statement schedules, and 8-K reports (supporting schedules of securities,
borrowings, subsidiaries, ratios, etc.)

Form 10-Q Form 10-Q contains quarterly data prepared in accordance with GAAP and must be
filed within 45 days of the end of each of the registrant’s first three quarters. Chapter 14 of this text
describes and illustrates the SEC requirements for quarterly reports. The SEC Web site (www.sec.gov)
provides access to details of various SEC forms and filing requirements under the Securities Acts
of 1933 and 1934, as well as subsequent legislation. The Web site also provides access to all of the
SEC’s rules and pronouncements.

SEC DEVELOPMENTS

InTERNATIONAL ReGISTRANTS The SEC also regulates international firms that list their shares for trading
on U.S. securities exchanges. Historically, the SEC required these firms to either convert to U.S.
GAAP or to prepare financial statements in accordance with either their home nation’s GAAP or
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Those firms choosing to use non-U.S. GAAP
were required to provide supplemental disclosures, notably including a reconciliation of their finan-
cial statements to U.S. GAAP. In November 2007, the SEC voted to change the rules for international
registrants. The SEC permits these firms to provide IFRS-based financial statements. Reconcilia-
tions to U.S. GAAP are no longer necessary if the registrant prepares statements under IFRS.

This change may mark the demise of the FASB. There will likely be a domino effect. U.S. firms
with significant international operations are likely to request similar treatment (i.e., preparation of
IFRS-based financials), arguing for fairness. If the SEC permits these firms to use IFRS, all U.S.
firms are likely to follow suit and request the same option. If these arguments succeed, the FASB
may cease to exist or, at a minimum, see a dramatic reduction in its authority. A potential new
role for the FASB would be to carve out a subset of IFRS deemed appropriate for U.S. financial
reporting. For example, the United States would likely still permit firms to use the LIFO inventory
method due to its significant tax ramifications. Most other nations ban LIFO.

Recuration S The SEC issued Regulation S in 1990 to clarify the applicability of U.S. securities
laws across national boundaries. Generally, the regulation provides that sales of securities outside the
United States are not subject to the 1933 Securities Act. The regulation also provides “safe harbor”
rules to exempt any U.S. companies that sell securities offshore from SEC registration requirements.
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THe EpGar System The Securities and Exchange Commission introduced a massive new computer-
ized system to facilitate the process of filing, reviewing, and disseminating corporate information
to the public in 1984 [www.sec.gov/edaux/searches.htm]. EDGAR is an abbreviation for the SEC’s
system, titled Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System. One of the SEC’s goals
under the integrated disclosure system is to provide investors, analysts, and other interested parties
with instant access to corporate information on file with the SEC.

SmALL Business Although most SEC registrants are large public companies, the capital needs of
small business issuers (under $25 million in both revenue and public float) have been addressed
by the SEC, and new financial rules for small business enterprises were adopted in 1992 and 1993.
Those rules provide new opportunities for small firms to raise capital to start or expand their busi-
nesses. Rule 504 relating to certain tax-exempt private offerings was amended to allow issuers
other than development-stage enterprises to raise up to $1,000,000 in any 12-month period without
registering under the 1933 Securities Act. Also, safe-harbor rules for information or trends and
future events that may affect future operating results have been revised.

SUMMARY

This appendix provides an overview of securities legislation related to financial accounting and
reporting. It also explains the function of the Securities and Exchange Commission and its author-
ity to prescribe accounting principles. SEC requirements that are relevant to particular topics are
integrated into the chapters throughout this book. For example, Chapters 3 and 11 discuss and
illustrate the SEC’s requirement to push down the purchase price of a subsidiary to the subsidiary’s
financial statements. Chapter 8 discusses the SEC’s position on recognizing gain on a subsidiary’s
stock sales, and Chapter 14 traces the history of the SEC’s efforts in requiring segment disclosures
and SEC requirements for interim reports.
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CHAPTER

Intercompany Profit
Transactions—Plant Assets

ransactions between affiliates for sales and purchases of plant assets create unrealized

profits and losses to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity eliminates (defers)
such profits and losses in reporting the results of operations and its financial position. We also
eliminate these in reporting the financial position and results of operations of a parent under the
equity method. The adjustments to eliminate the effects of intercompany profits on plant assets
are similar to, but not identical with, those for unrealized inventory profits. Unrealized inventory
profits self-correct over any two accounting periods, but unrealized profits or losses on plant assets
affect the financial statements until the related assets are sold outside the consolidated entity or are
exhausted through use by the purchasing affiliate. This chapter covers concepts and procedures for
eliminating unrealized profits on plant assets in one-line consolidations under the equity method
and in consolidated statements.

INTERCOMPANY PROFITS ON é’;ﬁigﬂ&
NONDEPRECIABLE PLANT ASSETS

The transfer of nondepreciable plant assets between affiliates at a price other than book value gives
rise to unrealized profit or loss to the consolidated entity. An intercompany gain or loss appears in
the income statement of the selling affiliate in the year of sale. However, such gain or loss is unre-
alized and must be eliminated from investment income in a one-line consolidation by the parent.
We also eliminate its effects in preparing consolidated financial statements.

Intercompany transfers of plant assets are much less frequent than intercompany inventory
transfers. They most likely occur when mergers are completed, as a part of a reorganization of the
combined companies. Note 28 provides segment information in the 2009 annual report of Ford
Motor Company (p. 160). If we look at total reported revenues by the automotive sector for 2009,
we see an elimination of $1.003 billion of intersegment revenues. Ford is not required to break this
amount down, but presumably a large part is deferral of unrealized profits on intercompany trans-
fers of inventory and plant assets.

The direction of intercompany sales of plant assets, like intercompany sales of inventory items,
is important in evaluating the effect of unrealized profit on parent and consolidated financial state-
ments. Any gain or loss on sales downstream from parent to subsidiary is initially included in par-
ent income and must be eliminated. The amount of elimination is 100 percent, regardless of the
noncontrolling interest percentage. Subsidiary accounts include any profit or loss from upstream
sales from subsidiary to parent. The parent recognizes only its share of the subsidiary’s income,
so only the parent’s proportionate share of unrealized profits should be eliminated. The effect on
consolidated net income is the same as for the parent.

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1 Assess the impact of
intercompany profit on
transfers of plant assets
in preparing consolidation
workpapers.

2 Defer unrealized profits on

plant asset transfers by either
the parent or subsidiary.

3 Recognize realized,

previously-deferred profits
on plant asset transfers.

4 Adjust the calculations

of noncontrolling interest
share in the presence of
intercompany profits on
plant asset transfers.

5 Electronic supplement:

Understand differences in
consolidation techniques for
plant asset transfers when
the parent uses either an
incomplete equity method
or the cost method.
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This section of the chapter discusses and illustrates accounting practices for intercompany sales
of land, covering both downstream and upstream sales.

Downstream Sale of Land

San Corporation is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pak Corporation, acquired for $270,000 on
January 1, 2011. Investment cost was equal to book value and fair value of the interest acquired.
San’s net income for 2011 was $70,000, and Pak’s income, excluding its income from San, was
$90,000. Pak’s income includes a $10,000 unrealized gain on land that cost $40,000 and was sold
to San for $50,000. Accordingly, Pak makes the following entries in accounting for its investment
in San at December 31, 2011:

Investment in San (+A) 63,000
Income from San (R, +SE) 63,000
To record 90% of San’s $70,000 reported income.
Income from San (—R, —SE) 10,000
Investment in San (—A) 10,000

To eliminate unrealized profit on land sold to San.

Exhibit 6-1 presents a consolidation workpaper for Pak and Subsidiary for 2011. Separate
summary financial statements for Pak and San appear in the first two columns.

Gain on the sale of land should not appear in the consolidated income statement, and the land
should be included in the consolidated balance sheet at its cost of $40,000. Entry a eliminates the
gain on sale of land and reduces the land account to $40,000—its cost to the consolidated entity.
This is the only entry that is significantly different from adjustments and eliminations illustrated in
previous chapters.

a Gain on sale of land (-Ga, —SE) 10,000
Land (-A) 10,000
To eliminate gain on intercompany sale of land and reduce land to its cost basis.

The overvalued land will continue to appear in the separate balance sheet of San in subsequent
years until it is sold outside of the consolidated entity, but the gain on land does not appear in the
separate income statements of Pak in subsequent years. Therefore, entry a as shown in Exhibit 6-1
applies only in the year of the intercompany sale.

YEARS SUBSEQUENT TO INTERCOMPANY SALE Here is the adjustment to reduce land to its cost to the
consolidated entity in years subsequent to the year of the intercompany downstream sale:

Investment in San (+A) 10,000
Land (-A) 10,000
To reduce land to its cost basis and adjust the investment account to establish
reciprocity with San’s equity accounts at the beginning of the period.

The debit to the investment account adjusts its balance to establish reciprocity with the
subsidiary equity accounts at the beginning of each subsequent period in which the land is held.
For example, the investment account balance at December 31, 2011, is $323,000. This is $10,000
less than Pak’s underlying equity in San of $333,000 on that date ($370,000 X 90%). The differ-
ence arises from the entry on the parent’s books to reduce investment income and the investment
account for the intercompany profit in the year of sale.

Sale in Subsequent Year to Outside Entity

Assume that San uses the land for four years and sells it for $65,000 in 2015. In the year of sale,
San reports a $15,000 gain ($65,000 proceeds less $50,000 cost), but the gain to the consolidated
entity is $25,000 ($65,000 proceeds less $40,000 cost to Pak).
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PAK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR

THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS) Intercompany Profit
; from Downstream Sale
Adjustments and of Land
Eliminations
90% Consolidated
Pak San Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $380 $220 $600
Income from San 58 b 53
Gain on sale of land 10 a 10
Expenses (including cost of
goods sold) (300) (150) (450)
Noncontrolling interest share
($70,000 X 10%) c 7 (7)
Controlling Share of Net income $143 $70 $143

Retained Earnings Statement

Retained earnings—Pak 207 $207
Retained earnings—San $100 d 100
Add: Controlling Share of Net income 143 70 143
Retained earnings—December 31 $350 $170 $350
Balance Sheet
Other assets $477 $350 $827
Land 50 a 10 40
Investment in San 323 b 53
o o d 270
$800 | $400 $867
Liabilities $50 $ 30 $ 80
Capital stock 400 200 d 200 400
Retained earnings 350 170 350
$800 | 400
Noncontrolling interest c 7
d 30 37
$867

a Eliminates gain on sale of land and reduces land to a cost basis.

b Eliminates investment income and reduces the investment account to its January 1 balance.

¢ Records the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary earnings for the current period.

d Eliminates reciprocal equity and investment amounts and establishes beginning noncontrolling interest.

Pak recognizes its gain on the land in 2015 under the equity method by adjusting its investment
income. The entry on Pak’s books is:

Investment in San (+A) 10,000
Income from San (R, +SE) 10,000
To recognize previously deferred profit on sale of land to San.
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This entry on Pak’s books reestablishes equality between the investment account and 90 percent
of the equity of San on the same date.

The following workpaper entry adjusts the $15,000 gain to San to the $25,000 consolidated
gain on the land:

Investment in San (+A) 10,000
Gain on land (Ga, +SE) 10,000
To adjust gain on land to the $25,000 gain to the consolidated entity.

This entry in the year of sale is almost the same as the entry in each of the years 2012, 2013,
and 2014 to eliminate the unrealized profit from the land account. The difference is that the credit
is gain because the land no longer appears on the separate books of Pak or San.

Upstream Sale of Land

To illustrate the accounting for upstream sales of nondepreciable plant assets, assume that Pak
purchases the land referred to in the previous section during 2011 from its 90 percent-owned affili-
ate, San. As before, San’s net income for 2011 is $70,000, and Pak’s income, excluding its income
from San, is $90,000. However, the $10,000 unrealized profit on the intercompany sale of land is
now reflected in the income of San, rather than Pak. In accounting for its investment in San at year-
end 2011, Pak makes the following entries:

Investment in San (+A) 63,000
Income from San (R, +SE) 63,000
To record 90% of San’s reported net income.
Income from San (—R, —SE) 9,000
Investment in San (—A) 9,000

To eliminate 90% of the $10,000 unrealized profit on land purchased from San.

These entries record Pak’s investment income for 2011 in the amount of $54,000 ($63,000 —
$9,000). Note that the $54,000 investment income consists of 90 percent of San’s $60,000 re-
alized income for 2011 ($70,000 reported income less $10,000 unrealized gain on land). Pak’s
net income for 2011 is $144,000 ($90,000 separate income plus $54,000 investment income), as
compared with $143,000 in the case of the downstream sale. The difference lies in the $1,000 un-
realized gain attributed to noncontrolling interest and deducted from noncontrolling interest share.

Exhibit 6-2 presents a consolidation workpaper for Pak Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.
The workpaper uses the same information as in Exhibit 6-1 except for minor changes necessary to
switch to the upstream sale situation.

The adjustments reflected in the consolidation workpaper in Exhibit 6-2 are the same as those in
Exhibit 6-1 except for the amount of entry b, which is $54,000 rather than $53,000 and the amount
of entry ¢, which is discussed below. Entry a eliminates the full amount of the gain on the sale of
land and reduces the land to its cost basis to the consolidated entity whether the intercompany sale
is upstream or downstream.

NonconTROLLING INTEREST SHARE Noncontrolling interest share is $7,000 in Exhibit 6-1 but only $6,000
in Exhibit 6-2. We reduce the noncontrolling interest share with its share of the unrealized gain on
San’s sale of land to Pak. We do this in the consolidation workpaper by converting San’s reported
net income into realized income and multiplying by the noncontrolling interest percentage. Thus,
the $6,000 noncontrolling interest share is 10 percent of San’s $60,000 realized income.

YEARS SUBSEQUENT T0 INTERCOMPANY SALE While Pak continues to hold the land in subsequent years,
consolidation will require an adjusting entry to reduce the land account to its cost basis to the
consolidated entity. The entry to eliminate unrealized profit from the land account is:

Investment in San (+A) 9,000
Noncontrolling interest (—SE) 1,000
Land (—A) 10,000

To reduce land to its cost basis and adjust the investment account and
beginning noncontrolling interest to establish reciprocity with San’s
equity accounts at the beginning of the period.
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PAK CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 (IN THOUSANDS)

Intercompany Profit
from Upstream Sale of
Land

Adjustments and
Eliminations
90% Consolidated
Pak San Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $390 $210 $600
Income from San 54 b 54
Gain on sale of land 10 a 10
Expenses (including cost of
goods sold) (300) (150) (450)
Noncontrolling interest share
[($70,000 — $10,000) < 10%] c 6 (6)
Controlling share of Net income 144 $70 $144
Retained Earnings Statement
Retained earnings—Pak $207 $207
Retained earnings—San $100 d 100
Add: Controlling Share of Net income 144 70 144
Retained earnings—December 31 $351 $170 $351
Balance Sheet
Other assets $427 $400 $827
Land 50 a 10 40
Investment in San 324 b 54
_ d 270
801 400 $867
Liabilities 50 $ 30 $ 80
Capital stock 400 200 d 200 400
Retained earnings 351 170 351
$801 $400
Noncontrolling interest c 6
d 30 36
$867

a Eliminates gain on sale of land and reduces land to a cost basis.

b Eliminates investment income and reduces the investment account to its January 1 balance.
¢ Records the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary earnings for the current period.

d Eliminates reciprocal equity and investment amounts and establishes beginning noncontrolling interest.

We enter noncontrolling interest in the workpaper at the noncontrolling interest share of re-
ported subsidiary equity when reciprocal investment and subsidiary equity accounts are elimi-
nated, so we need the forgoing adjustment to reduce noncontrolling interest to its realized
amount each time we prepare consolidation workpapers. In other words, this adjustment makes
the beginning noncontrolling interest in 2012 equal to ending noncontrolling interest in 2011,

and so on.
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Sale in Subsequent Year to Outside Entity
Assume that Pak uses the land for four years and sells it for $65,000 in 2015. In the year of sale,
Pak will report a $15,000 gain ($65,000 proceeds less $50,000 cost), but the gain to the consoli-
dated entity is $25,000, allocated $24,000 [$15,000 + ($10,000 x 0.9)] to controlling stockholders
and $1,000 to noncontrolling stockholders.

Pak adjusts its investment income from San in 2015 with the following entry:

Investment in San (+A) 9,000
Income from San (R, +SE) 9,000
To recognize previously deferred intercompany profits on land.

The $15,000 gain on the sale of land plus the $9,000 increase in investment income on Pak’s
books equals the $24,000 effect on consolidated net income in 2015.

In the consolidation workpaper, the adjustment of the $15,000 gain of Pak to the $25,000 con-
solidated gain requires the following entry:

Investment in San (+A) 9,000
Noncontrolling interest (— SE) 1,000
Gain on land (Ga, +SE) 10,000
To adjust gain on land to the $25,000 gain to the consolidated entity.

This entry allocates the $10,000 gain between the Investment in San (90%) and noncontrolling

interest (10%).
LEARNING INTERCOMPANY PROFITS ON DEPRECIABLE
OBJECTIVE PLANT ASSETS

The accounts of the selling affiliate reflect intercompany sales of plant assets subject to
depreciation, depletion, or amortization that result in unrealized gains or losses. Firms must
eliminate the effects of these gains and losses from parent and consolidated financial statements
until the consolidated entity realizes them through sale to other entities or through use within the
consolidated entity. The adjustments to eliminate the effects of unrealized gains and losses on
parent and consolidated financial statements are more complex than in the case of nondepreci-
able assets. This additional complexity stems from the depreciation (or depletion or amortiza-
tion) process that affects parent and consolidated income in each year in which the related assets
are held by affiliates.

The discussion of intercompany sales of plant assets in this section is limited to depreciable
assets, but the analysis and procedures illustrated apply equally to assets subject to depletion or
amortization. Intercompany gains and losses from downstream sales of depreciable plant assets are
considered initially, and the upstream-sale situation is covered next.

Downstream Sales of Depreciable Plant Assets

The initial effect of unrealized gains and losses from downstream sales of depreciable assets
is the same as for nondepreciable assets. Gains or losses appear in the parent’s accounts in the
year of sale and must be eliminated by the parent in determining its investment income under
the equity method. Similarly, we eliminate such gains or losses from consolidated statements by
removing each gain or loss and reducing the plant assets to their depreciated cost to the consoli-
dated entity.

DownsTrREAM SALE AT THE END OF A YEAR Assume that Per Corporation sells machinery to its 80
percent-owned subsidiary, Sop Corporation, on December 31, 2011. The machinery has an
undepreciated cost of $50,000 on this date (cost, $90,000, and accumulated depreciation,
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$40,000), and it is sold to Sop for $80,000. Journal entries to record the sale and purchase on
Per’s and Sop’s books are as follows:

PER’S BOOKS

Cash (+A) 80,000
Accumulated depreciation (+A) 40,000
Machinery (—A) 90,000
Gain on sale of machinery (Ga, +SE) 30,000

SOP’S BOOKS

Machinery (+A) 80,000
Cash (—A) 80,000

There is an unrealized gain on Per’s books at December 31, 2011, and, accordingly, Per adjusts
its investment income for 2011 under the equity method for the full amount of the unrealized gain:

Income from Sop (—R, —SE) 30,000
Investment in Sop (—A) 30,000

The gain on machinery should not appear in the consolidated income statement for 2011, and
Per should include the machinery in the consolidated balance sheet at $50,000, its depreciated cost
to the consolidated entity. A consolidation adjustment accomplishes this effect:

Gain on sale of machinery (—Ga, —SE) 30,000
Machinery (—A) 30,000

We could also record this effect by debiting Gain on sale of machinery for $30,000, debiting
Machinery for $10,000, and crediting Accumulated depreciation—machinery for $40,000. Con-
ceptually, this entry is superior because it results in reporting plant assets and accumulated depre-
ciation at the amounts that would have been shown if the intercompany sale had not taken place.
From a practical viewpoint, however, the additional detail is usually not justified by cost—benefit
considerations, because the same net asset amounts are obtained without the additional record-
keeping costs. The examples in this book reflect the more practical approach.

No adjustment of the noncontrolling interest is necessary, because the intercompany sale does
not affect Sop’s income. Note that the analysis up to this point is equivalent to the one for the inter-
company sale of land discussed earlier in this chapter.

DownsTREAM SALE AT THE BEGINNING OF A YEAR If the sale from Per to Sop had occurred on January 1,
2011, the machinery would have been depreciated by Sop during 2011, and any depreciation on
the unrealized gain would be considered a piecemeal recognition of the gain during 2011. As-
sume that on January 1, 2011, the date of the intercompany sale, the machinery has a five-year
remaining useful life and no expected residual value at December 31, 2015. Straight-line depre-
ciation is used. The entries to record the sale and purchase are the same as for the December 31
sale; however, Sop also records depreciation expense of $16,000 for 2011 ($80,000 =+ 5 years).
Of this $16,000 depreciation, $10,000 is based on cost to the consolidated entity ($50,000 cost +
5 years), and $6,000 is based on the $30,000 unrealized gain ($30,000 = 5 years). The $6,000 is
considered a piecemeal recognition of one-fifth of the $30,000 unrealized gain on the intercom-
pany transaction. Conceptually, this is equivalent to the sale to other entities of one-fifth of the
services remaining in the machinery.!

!'We assume that the machine services have entered the cost of goods delivered to customers during the current period.
If, instead, they are included in inventory, realization has not yet occurred and appropriate adjustments should be made.
This additional refinement is not justified when the amounts involved are immaterial.
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LEARNING
OBJECTIVE

In eliminating the effect of the intercompany sale from its Investment in Sop account for 2011,
Per Corporation makes the following entries:

Income from Sop (—R, —SE) 30,000

Investment in Sop (—A) 30,000
Investment in Sop (+A) 6,000

Income from Sop (R, +SE) 6,000

Thus, elimination of the effect of the intercompany sale reduces Per’s investment income in
2011 by $24,000 ($30,000 unrealized gain less $6,000 realized through depreciation). Although
Sop’s income decreases by the $6,000 excess depreciation during 2011, the $6,000 is consid-
ered realized through use, and, accordingly, no adjustment of the noncontrolling interest share is
necessary.

ErrecT oF DownsTREAM SALE oN A ConsoLinATion WORKPAPER A partial consolidation workpaper illus-
trates the effects of the January 1 intercompany sale of machinery on the consolidated financial
statements at December 31, 2011 as follows (in thousands):

80% Adjustments and Consolidated

Per Sop Eliminations Statements
Income Statement
Gain on sale of machinery $30 a30
Depreciation expense $16 b 6 $10
Balance Sheet
Machinery $80 a30 $50
Accumulated depreciation 16 b 6 10

The first entry eliminates the $30,000 unrealized gain on machinery and reduces machin-
ery to its cost basis to the consolidated entity at the time of intercompany sale. The second en-
try reduces depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation in order to adjust these items
to the depreciated cost basis to the consolidated entity at December 31, 2011. Noncontrolling
interest computations are not affected by the workpaper adjustments because the sale was
downstream.

In each of the years 2012 through 2015, Per adjusts its investment income for the piece-
meal recognition of the previously unrecognized gain on the machinery with the following
entry:

2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015
Investment in Sop (+A) 6,000
Income from Sop (R, +SE) 6,000

Accordingly, by December 31, 2015, the end of the useful life of the machinery, Per will have
recognized the full $30,000 gain as investment income. Its investment account balance will reflect
the elimination and piecemeal recognition of the unrealized gain as follows:

Elimination Piecemeal Effect on
of Gain on Recognition of Gain Investment Balance
Year Machinery Through Depreciation at December 31
2011 $-30,000 $+6,000 $-24,000
2012 +6,000 —18,000
2013 +6,000 —12,000
2014 +6,000 —6,000
2015 +6,000 0

In a consolidation workpaper, it is necessary to establish reciprocity between the investment and
subsidiary equity accounts at the beginning of the period before eliminating reciprocal balances.
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Thus, we eliminate the effect of the unrealized gain on the December 31, 2011, investment account
in the 2012 consolidation workpaper with the following entry:

Investment in Sop (+A) 24,000
Accumulated depreciation (+A) 6,000
Machinery (—A) 30,000

The partial consolidation workpaper shown in Exhibit 6-3 for Per and Sop include the entry for
2012. The exhibit shows eliminations for each subsequent year (after 2011) in which the unreal-
ized gain on machinery would require adjustment.

The partial workpaper in Exhibit 6-3 shows two adjustments for each of the years 2012 through
2015. We use two entries for each year to isolate the effect on beginning-of-the-period balances
and current-year changes. Current-year changes affect depreciation expense and accumulated de-
preciation in equal amounts, so the entries can be combined and frequently are combined in subse-
quent illustrations and in problem solutions.

Upstream Sales of Depreciable Plant Assets

Upstream sales of depreciable assets from a subsidiary to a parent result in unrealized gains or
losses in the subsidiary accounts in the year of sale (unless the assets are sold at book values). In
computing its investment income in the year of sale, the parent adjusts its share of the reported
income of the subsidiary for (1) its share of any unrealized gain on the sale and (2) its share of any
piecemeal recognition of such unrealized gain through depreciation.

ErrecT oF UPSTREAM SALE ON THE AFFILIATES’ SEPARATE Books The effect of a gain on an upstream sale
is illustrated by the following example. Pru Corporation purchases a truck from its 80 percent-
owned subsidiary, Sot Corporation, on January 1, 2011. Other information is as follows:

Sot’s reported net income for 2011 $50,000
Remaining useful life of the truck at January 1, 2011 3 years
Depreciation method Straight line
Trade-in value of the truck at December 31, 2013 $ 3,000
Cost of truck to Sot $14,000
Accumulated depreciation on truck at December 31, 2010 $ 5,000

If Sot sells the truck to Pru for $12,000 cash, Sot and Pru make the following journal entries on
their separate books for 2011:

SOT’S BOOKS

January 1 (sale of truck)
Cash (+A) 12,000
Accumulated depreciation (+A) 5,000
Trucks (—A) 14,000
Gain on sale of truck (Ga, +SE) 3,000
To record sale of truck.

PRU’S BOOKS

January I (purchase of truck)
Trucks (+A) 12,000
Cash (—A) 12,000
To record purchase of truck.
December 31 (depreciation expense)
Depreciation expense (E, —SE) 3,000
Accumulated depreciation (—A) 3,000
To record depreciation for one year
[($12,000 — $3,000 scrap) + 3 years]
(continued)
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PER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY PARTIAL CONSOLIDATION

Downstream Sale of WORKPAPERS FOR THE YEARS 2012, 2013, 2014, AND 2015
Depreciable Asset— (IN THOUSANDS)
Years Subsequent -
to Sale Adjustments and
Eliminations
80% Consolidated
Per Sop Debits Credits Statements
2012
Income Statement
Depreciation expense $16 b 6 $10
Balance Sheet—December 31
Machinery 80 ad0 50
Accumulated depreciation 32 a6
b 6 20
Investment in Sop XXX* a24
2013
Income Statement
Depreciation expense $16 b 6 $10
Balance Sheet—December 31
Machinery 80 a 30 50
Accumulated depreciation 48 al2
b 6 30
Investment in Sop XXX* a8
2014
Income Statement
Depreciation expense $16 b 6 $10
Balance Sheet—December 31
Machinery 80 a 30 50
Accumulated depreciation 64 al8
b 6 40
Investment in Sop XXX* al2
2015
Income Statement
Depreciation expense $16 b 6 $10
Balance Sheet—December 31
Machinery 80 a 30 50
Accumulated depreciation 80 az24
b 6 50
Investment in Sop XXX* a6

*Whatever the balance of the investment account, it will be less than the underlying book value of the invest-
ment at the beginning of the year by the amount of the unrealized profit.

a Eliminates unrealized profit from machinery and accumulated depreciation as of the beginning of the year
and adjusts the Investment in Sop account to establish reciprocity with Sop’s equity accounts at the begin-
ning of the period.

b Eliminates the current year’s effect of unrealized profit from depreciation expense and accumulated
depreciation.
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PRU’S BOOKS

December 31 (investment income)

Investment in Sot (+A) 38,400
Income from Sot (R, +SE) 38,400

To record investment income for 2011 computed as follows:
Share of Sot’s reported net income ($50,000 X 80%) $40,000
Less: Unrealized gain on truck ($3,000 X 80%) —2,400
Add: Piecemeal recognition of gain
[($3,000 gain = 3 years) X 80%] +800

Investment income $38.400

The deferral of the intercompany gain on the truck decreases Pru’s investment income for 2011
by $1,600 (from $40,000 to $38,400). This is 80 percent of the unrealized gain at December 31,
2011 [($3,000 unrealized gain from sale — $1000 piecemeal recognition through depreciation) X
80%]. Pru will recognize the remaining $1,600 during 2012 and 2013 at the rate of $800 per year.

EFrecT OF UPSTREAM SALE 0N ConsoLiDATION WORKPAPERS To illustrate the workpaper procedures for [ capniNG
Pru and Sot, we include the following investment and equity balances—and changes in them— | ogJEcTIVE

as additional assumptions:

Investment 80% of 100% of
in Sot the Equity the Equity
80% of Sot of Sot
December 31, 2010 $400,000 $400,000 $500,000
Income—2011 +38,400 +40,000 +50,000
December 31, 2011 438,400 440,000 550,000
Income—2012 +40,800 +40,000 +50,000
December 31, 2012 479,200 480,000 600,000
Income—2013 +40,800 +40,000 +50,000
December 31, 2013 $520,000 $520,000 $650,000

Pru’s Investment in Sot account at December 31, 2011, is $1,600 below its underlying book
value ($438,400, compared with $440,000), and at December 31, 2012, it is $800 below its under-
lying book value ($479,200, compared with $480,000). By December 31, 2013, the $3,000 gain
on the truck has been realized through depreciation. Pru’s share of that gain ($2,400) has been
recognized at the rate of $800 per year in 2011, 2012, and 2013. Thus, reciprocity between Pru’s
investment account and its underlying book value is reestablished at the end of 2013.

A partial consolidation workpaper for 2011, the year of sale, appears next, followed by the
workpaper entries in journal form.

2011: Year of Sale (In Thousands)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
80% Consolidated
Pru Sot Debits Credits Statements

Income Statement
Income from Sot $ 384 c 384
Gain on sale of truck $ 3 b 3
Depreciation expense 3 a 1 $2
Noncontrolling interest share d 96 9.6
Balance Sheet
Trucks $ 12 b 3 $9
Accumulated depreciation 3 a 1 2
Investment in Sot 438.4 c 384

e 400
Equity of Sot—January 1 $500 e 500
Noncontrolling interest d 96

e 100 109.6
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a Accumulated depreciation (+A) 1,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 1,000
To eliminate the current year’s effect of unrealized gain from
depreciation accounts.

b Gain on sale of truck (—Ga, —SE) 3,000
Trucks (—A) 3,000
To eliminate unrealized gain and to reduce trucks to a cost basis.
¢ Income from Sot (—R, —SE) 38,400
Investment in Sot (—A) 38,400

To eliminate investment income and to adjust the investment
account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

d Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 9,600
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 9,600
To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income.
e Equity of Sot January 1, 2011 (—SE) 500,000
Investment in Sot (—A) 400,000
Noncontrolling interest January 1, 2011 (+SE) 100,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity accounts
and to establish beginning noncontrolling interest.

Note that we compute noncontrolling interest share of $9,600 for 2011 as 20 percent of Sot’s
realized income of $48,000 [($50,000 — $3,000 + $1,000) x 20%].

A partial consolidation workpaper and the workpaper entries in journal form for 2012, the first
subsequent year after the upstream sale, are as follows:

2012: First Subsequent Year (In Thousands)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
80% Consolidated
Pru Sot Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Income from Sot $ 40.8 c40.8
Depreciation expense 3 a 1 $2
Noncontrolling interest share d 10.2 10.2
Balance Sheet
Trucks $ 12 b 3 $9
Accumulated depreciation 6 a1l
b 1 4
Investment in Sot 479.2 b 1.6 c 40.8
e 440
Equity of Sot—January 1 $550 e 550
Noncontrolling interest b 4 d 10.2
e 110 119.8
a Accumulated depreciation (+A) 1,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 1,000

To eliminate the effect of the 2011 unrealized gain from
current depreciation accounts.

b Accumulated depreciation (+A) 1,000

Investment in Sot (+A) 1,600

Noncontrolling interest January 1, 2012 (—SE) 400
Trucks (—A) 3,000

To eliminate the effect of 2011 unrealized gain from
accumulated depreciation and truck accounts and to
assign the unrealized gain of $2,000 at January 1 to the
investment account (80% ) and noncontrolling interest (20%).
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¢ Income from Sot (-R, —SE) 40,800
Investment in Sot (—A) 40,800

To eliminate investment income and to adjust the investment
account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

d Noncontrolling interest share (—-SE) 10,200
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 10,200
To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income.
e Equity of Sot January 1, 2012 (-SE) 550,000
Investment in Sot (—A) 440,000
Noncontrolling interest January 1, 2012 (+SE) 110,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity accounts
and to establish beginning noncontrolling interest.

Noncontrolling interest share of $10,200 for 2012 consists of 20 percent of Sot’s reported net
income of $50,000 plus 20 percent of the $1,000 gain realized through depreciation in 2012. In
2013 the computation of noncontrolling interest share is the same as in 2012.

To explain further, noncontrolling interest share in 2011 (the year of sale) is decreased by $400, the
noncontrolling interest’s share of the $2,000 gain not realized through depreciation in 2011. The 2011
beginning equity of Sot is not affected by the intercompany sale in 2011, so beginning noncontrolling
interest is unaffected and does not require adjustment. Depreciation expense for each of the years 2011,
2012, and 2013 of $3,000 is reduced to $2,000 by a workpaper adjustment of $1,000. The $2,000 de-
preciation expense that appears in the consolidated income statement is simply one-third of the book
value less residual value of the truck at the time of intercompany sale [($9,000 — $3,000) - 3 years].

ErrecT oF UpsTREAM SALE oN SuBsEQUENT YEARS In 2012, the first subsequent year after the intercompany
sale, the unrealized gain affects both the beginning investment account and the beginning noncontrol-
ling interest. Entry b allocates the $2,000 unrealized gain 80 percent to the Investment in Sot ac-
count and 20 percent to beginning noncontrolling interest. The debit to the Investment in Sot account
adjusts for the $1,600 difference between the investment account and 80 percent of Sot’s equity at
December 31, 2011. The $400 debit to noncontrolling interest is necessary to adjust beginning non-
controlling interest in 2012 to $109,600, equal to the ending noncontrolling interest in 2011.

In the partial consolidation workpaper for 2013, the second subsequent year after the upstream
sale, the amounts allocated in entry b are $800 to the investment account and $200 to noncontrolling
interest because only $1,000 of the initial $3,000 unrealized gain is unrealized at January 1, 2013.
No further adjustments are necessary in 2013 because the full amount of the unrealized gain has
been realized through depreciation. Observe that the truck account less accumulated depreciation on
the consolidated statements at December 31, 2013, is equal to the $3,000 residual value of the truck
on that date (trucks, $9,000, less accumulated depreciation, $6,000).

2013: Second Subsequent Year (In Thousands)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
80% Consolidated
Pru Sot Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Income from Sot $ 40.8 c40.8
Depreciation expense 3 a 1 $2
Noncontrolling interest share d10.2 10.2
Balance Sheet
Trucks $ 12 b 3 $9
Accumulated depreciation 9 a1l 6
b 2
Investment in Sot 520 b .8 c 40.8
e 480
Equity of Sot—January 1 $600 e 600
Noncontrolling interest b 2 d 10.2
e 120 130
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a Accumulated depreciation (+A) 1,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 1,000
To eliminate the effect of the 2011 unrealized gain from
current depreciation accounts.

b Accumulated depreciation (+A) 2,000

Investment in Sot (+A) 800

Noncontrolling interest January 1, 2013 (—SE) 200
Trucks (—A) 3,000

To eliminate the effect of 2011 unrealized gain from
accumulated depreciation and truck accounts and to
assign the unrealized gain of $1,000 at January 1 to the
investment account (80 %) and noncontrolling interest (20 % ).

¢ Income from Sot (—R, —SE) 40,800
Investment in Sot (—A) 40,800

To eliminate investment income and to adjust the
investment account to its beginning-of-the-period balance.

d Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 10,200
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 10,200

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary
income.

e Equity of Sot January 1, 2013 (—SE) 600,000
Investment in Sot (—A) 480,000
Noncontrolling interest January 1, 2013 (+SE) 120,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity accounts
and to establish beginning noncontrolling interest.

PLANT ASSETS SOLD AT OTHER THAN FAIR VALUE

An intercompany sale of plant assets at a loss requires special evaluation to make sure that the
loss is not one that the seller should have recognized on its separate books prior to the intercom-
pany sale (or in the absence of an intercompany sale). For example, if a parent sells a machine
with a book value of $30,000 to its 90 percent-owned subsidiary for $20,000 on January 1, 2011,
a question should arise as to the fair value of the asset at the time of sale. If the fair value is in
fact $20,000, then the parent should have written the asset down to its $20,000 fair value before
the sale and recognized the actual loss on its separate books. If the fair value is $30,000, then the
propriety of the parent’s action is suspect because the controlling stockholders lose and the non-
controlling stockholders gain on the exchange. Parent officers and directors may be charged with
improper stewardship.

Similar suspicions arise if a subsidiary sells an asset to the parent at less than its fair value, be-
cause the transaction would have been approved by parent officials who also serve as directors of
the subsidiary.

Intercompany sales at prices above fair value also create inequities. The Federal Trade Commis-
sion charged Nynex Corporation with overcharging its own telephone subsidiaries for equipment,
supplies, and services. The telephone companies were fined $1.4 million for passing the costs of
the overpayments along to customers.?

Consolidation with Loss on Intercompany Sale

Consolidation procedures to eliminate intercompany unrealized losses are essentially the same as
those to eliminate unrealized gains. Assume that a machine had a remaining useful life of five years
when it was sold on January 1, 2011, to the 90 percent-owned subsidiary for $20,000. The book
value was $30,000. The parent has a $10,000 unrealized loss that is recognized on a piecemeal

2 The Wall Street Journal, February 21, 1990, p. BS.
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basis over five years. If the subsidiary’s net income for 2011 is $200,000 and there are no other
intercompany transactions, the parent records its income from subsidiary as follows:

Investment in subsidiary (+A) 188,000
Income from subsidiary (R, +SE) 188,000
To record income for 2011 determined as follows:
Equity in subsidiary’s income ($200,000 X 90%) $180,000
Add: Unrealized loss on machine 10,000
Less: Piecemeal recognition of loss ($10,000 + 5 years) (2.000)

$188.,000

Consolidation workpaper entries relating to the intercompany loss for 2011 would be as follows:

Machinery (+A) 10,000
Loss on sale of machinery (—Lo, +SE) 10,000
To eliminate unrealized intercompany loss on downstream sale.
Depreciation expense (E, —SE) 2,000
Accumulated depreciation (—A) 2,000

To increase depreciation expense to reflect depreciation on a
cost basis.

In the years 2012 through 2015, the parent’s income from subsidiary will be reduced by $2,000
each year under the equity method. Consolidated net income is also reduced by $2,000 each year
through entries to eliminate the effect of the intercompany loss. The elimination reduces consoli-
dated income by increasing depreciation expense to a cost basis for consolidated statement pur-
poses. In 2012 the entry would be as follows:

Machinery (+A) 10,000

Depreciation expense (E, —SE) 2,000
Accumulated depreciation (—A) 4,000
Investment in subsidiary (—A) 8,000

To eliminate the effects of intercompany sale at a loss.

An upstream sale of plant assets at a loss would be accounted for in similar fashion, except that
the intercompany loss and its piecemeal recognition would be allocated proportionately to control-
ling stockholders and noncontrolling interests.

CONSOLIDATION EXAMPLE—UPSTREAM AND DOWNSTREAM SALES
OF PLANT ASSETS

Pan Corporation acquired a 90 percent interest in Sap Corporation at its underlying book value
(equal to fair value) of $450,000 on January 3, 2011. Since Pan Corporation acquired its interest
in Sap, the two corporations have participated in the following transactions involving plant assets:

1. On July 1, 2011, Pan sold land to Sap at a gain of $5,000. Sap resold the land to
outside entities during 2013 at a loss to Sap of $1,000.

2. On January 2, 2012, Sap sold equipment with a five-year remaining useful life to
Pan at a gain of $20,000. This equipment was still in use by Pan at December 31,
2013.

3. On January 5, 2013, Pan sold a building to Sap at a gain of $32,000. The remain-
ing useful life of the building on this date was eight years, and Sap still owned the
building at December 31, 2013.

Exhibit 6-4 shows comparative financial statements for Pan and Sap Corporations for 2013 in
the separate-company columns of the consolidation workpaper.
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Intercompany Sales of
Plant Assets—Equity
Method

PAN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION WORKPAPER FOR

THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 (IN THOUSANDS)

Adjustments and
Eliminations
90% Consolidated
Pan Sap Debits Credits Statements
Income Statement
Sales $2,000 $700 $2,700
Gain on building 32 c 32
Gain or (loss) on land (1) a b 4
Income from Sap 52.6 d 52.6
Cost of goods sold (1,000) (320) (1,320)
Depreciation expense (108) (50) b 4
c 4 (150)
Other expenses (676.6) (249) (925.6)
Noncontrolling interest share e 84 (8.4)
Controlling share of Net income $ 300 $ 80 $ 300
Retained Earnings Statement $ 400 $400
Retained earnings—Pan
Retained earnings—Sap $200 200
Controlling Share of Net income 300 80 300
Dividends (200) (30) d 27
e 3 (200)
Retained earnings—December 31 $ 500 $250 $500
Balance Sheet
Cash $ 131.8 $ 32 $ 163.8
Other current assets 200 150 350
Land 160 40 200
Buildings 500 232 c 32 700
Accumulated depreciation—buildings (200) (54) c 4 (250)
Equipment 620 400 b 20 1,000
Accumulated depreciation—equipment (258) (100) b 8 (350)
Investment in Sap 546.2 a b5 d 25.6
b 14.4 f 540
$1,700 $700 $1,813.8
Current liabilities $ 200 $ 50 $ 250
Capital stock 1,000 400 400 1,000
Retained earnings 500 250 500
$1,700 $700
Noncontrolling interest b 16 e 54
f 60 63.8
$1,813.8
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Equity Method

An examination of the consolidation workpaper in Exhibit 6-4 shows that Pan Corporation uses
the equity method. The fact that Pan’s net income of $300,000 is equal to the controlling share as
well as the equality of Pan’s retained earnings and consolidated retained earnings are evidence of

the use of the equity method. A reconciliation of Pan’s Investment in Sap account at December 31,
2012, and December 31, 2013, follows:

Underlying equity in Sap December 31, 2012 $540,000
($600,000 equity of Sap X 90%)

Less: Unrealized profit on land (5,000)

Less: 90% of unrealized profit on equipment ($16,000 x 90%) (14,400)

Investment in Sap December 31, 2012 520,600

Add: Income from Sap 2013 (90% of Sap’s $80,000 net
income + $5,000 gain on land + $3,600 piecemeal recognition

of gain on equipment — $28,000 unrealized profit on building) 52,600
Less: Dividends received 2013 (27,000)
Investment in Sap December 31, 2013 $546,200

Pan Corporation sold land to Sap in 2011 at a gain of $5,000. This gain was realized in 2013
when Sap sold the land to another entity. However, Sap sold the land at a $1,000 loss based on
the transfer price, and the net result is a $4,000 gain for the consolidated entity during 2013.
Workpaper entry a converts the $1,000 loss included in Sap’s separate income to a $4,000
consolidated gain:

a Investment in Sap (+A) 5,000
Gain on land (Ga, +SE) 5,000
To recognize previously deferred gain on land.

Entry b relates to the $20,000 intercompany profit on Sap’s sale of equipment to Pan at the
beginning of 2012. The adjustment is:

b Investment in Sap (+A) 14,400
Noncontrolling interest January 1, (—SE) 1,600
Accumulated depreciation—equipment (+A) 8,000

Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 4,000
Equipment (—A) 20,000

To eliminate unrealized profit on upstream sale of equipment
and eliminate current year’s effect of unrealized gain from
depreciation accounts.

Depreciation on the unrealized gain is $4,000 per year ($20,000 + 5 years), and the portion
unrealized at the beginning of 2013 was $16,000, the original gain less piecemeal recognition of
$4,000 through depreciation in 2012. The sale was upstream, so the $16,000 unrealized profit is
allocated 90 percent and 10 percent on investment in Sap ($14,400) and beginning noncontrolling
interest ($1,600), respectively. The $14,400 is debited to the Investment in Sap account because
Pan used the equity method.

Entry c eliminates intercompany profit on the buildings that Pan sold to Sap in 2013 at a gain
of $32,000:

¢ Gain on buildings (—Ga, —SE) 32,000

Accumulated depreciation—buildings (+A) 4,000
Buildings (—A) 32,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 4,000

To eliminate unrealized gain on the downstream sale of buildings
and eliminate current year’s effect of unrealized gain from
depreciation accounts.
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The transaction occurred at the beginning of the year, so the sale did not affect prior-period balances.
We eliminate the $32,000 gain and reduce buildings to reflect their cost to the consolidated entity. We
also eliminate depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation relating to the unrealized gain.

Entry d in the consolidation workpaper eliminates income from Sap and 90 percent of Sap’s divi-
dends, and it credits Investment in Sap for the $25,600 difference in order to establish reciprocity
between investment and equity accounts at the beginning of the year. Entry f eliminates reciprocal in-
vestment and equity accounts and establishes the noncontrolling interest at the beginning of the year:

d Income from Sap (—R, —SE) 52,600
Dividends (+SE) 27,000
Investment in Sap (—A) 25,600
To eliminate income and dividends from subsidiary.
e Noncontrolling interest share (—SE) 8,400
Dividends (+SE) 3,000
Noncontrolling interest (+SE) 5,400

To enter noncontrolling interest share of subsidiary income
and dividends.

f Retained earnings—Sap (—SE) 200,000

Capital stock—Sap (—SE) 400,000
Investment in Sap (—A) 540,000
Noncontrolling interest—beginning (+SE) 60,000

To eliminate reciprocal investment and equity balances
and establish noncontrolling interest at beginning of year.

The $8,400 deduction for noncontrolling interest in the consolidated income statement of
Exhibit 6-4 is equal to 10 percent of Sap’s reported income for 2013 plus the piecemeal recogni-
tion of the gain in 2013 from Sap’s sale of equipment to Pan [(80,000 + $4,000) x 10 percent]. At
December 31, 2013, the noncontrolling interest’s share of the unrealized gain on the equipment is
$1,200. This $1,200 is reflected in the $63,800 noncontrolling interest that is shown in the consoli-
dated balance sheet. If the effect of the unrealized gain applicable to noncontrolling interest had
not been eliminated, noncontrolling interest in the consolidated balance sheet would be $65,000,
10 percent of Sap’s reported equity at December 31, 2013.

INVENTORY PURCHASED FOR USE AS OPERATING ASSETS

Intercompany asset transactions do not always fall neatly into the categories of inventory items or
plant assets. For example, inventory items may be sold for use in the operations of an affiliate. In
this case, any gross profit on the sale will be realized for consolidated statement purposes as the
purchaser depreciates the property.

Assume that Pem Company sells a computer that it manufactures at a cost of $150,000 to
Sev Corporation, its 100 percent-owned subsidiary, for $200,000. The computer has a five-year
expected useful life, and straight-line depreciation is used. Pem’s separate income statement in-
cludes $200,000 intercompany sales, but Sev’s cost of sales does not include intercompany pur-
chases, because the purchase price is reflected in its plant assets, and the $50,000 gross profit is
reflected in its equipment account. Workpaper entries to consolidate the financial statements of
Pem and Sev in the year of sale are:

Sales (—R, —SE) 200,000
Cost of sales (—E, +SE) 150,000
Equipment (—A) 50,000

To eliminate intercompany sales and to reduce cost of sales and
equipment for the cost and gross profit, respectively.

Accumulated depreciation (+A) 10,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 10,000

To eliminate depreciation on the gross profit from the sale
($50,000 + 5 years).
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Recognition of the remaining $40,000 unrealized profit will occur as Sev depreciates the com-
puter over its remaining four-year useful life. Assuming that Pem adjusts its Investment in Sev
account for the unrealized profit on the sale under the equity method, the workpaper entry for the
second year will be:

Investment in Sev (+A) 40,000

Accumulated depreciation—equipment (+A) 20,000
Equipment (—A) 50,000
Depreciation expense (—E, +SE) 10,000

To reduce equipment to its cost basis to the consolidated entity, to
eliminate the effects of the intercompany sale from depreciation
expense and accumulated depreciation, and to establish reci-
procity between beginning-of-the-period equity and investment
amounts.

Workpaper entries for the remaining three years of the computer’s useful life will include the
same debit and credit items, but the accumulated depreciation debit will increase by $10,000 in
each subsequent year to a maximum of $50,000, and the debits to Investment in Sev will decrease
by $10,000 in each subsequent year as the gross profit is realized. The credit amounts are the same
in each year.

The effects of intercompany gains and losses on plant assets must be eliminated from consolidated
financial statements until the consolidated entity realizes the gains and losses through use or sale
of the assets. Realization through use results from the depreciation recorded by the purchaser.
Although all unrealized profit must be eliminated from the consolidated statements, we adjust
consolidated net income for all unrealized gains and losses in the case of downstream sales. For
upstream sales, however, we allocate the total amount of unrealized gains and losses between the
controlling and noncontrolling interest shares. One-line consolidation procedures for parent finan-
cial statements must be compatible with consolidation procedures in order to maintain the equality
of parent income under the equity method and the controlling share of consolidated net income
(see Exhibit 6-5).

1. What is the objective of eliminating the effects of intercompany sales of plant assets in preparing consoli-
dated financial statements?

2. In accounting for unrealized profits and losses from intercompany sales of plant assets, does it make any
difference if the parent is the purchaser or the seller? Would your answer be different if the subsidiary
were 100 percent owned?

3. When are unrealized gains and losses from intercompany sales of land realized from the viewpoint of the
selling affiliate?

4. How is the computation of noncontrolling interest share affected by downstream sales of land? By up-
stream sales of land?

5. Consolidation workpaper entries are made to eliminate 100 percent of the unrealized profit from the land
account in downstream sales of land. Is 100 percent also eliminated for upstream sales of land?

6. How are unrealized gains and losses from intercompany transactions involving depreciable assets eventu-
ally realized?

7. Describe the computation of noncontrolling interest share in the year of an upstream sale of depreciable
plant assets.

8. How does a parent eliminate the effects of unrealized gains on intercompany sales of plant assets under
the equity method?

9. What is the effect of intercompany sales of plant assets on parent and consolidated net income in years
subsequent to the year of sale?

10. Explain the sequence of workpaper adjustments and eliminations for unrealized gains and losses on
depreciable plant assets. Is your answer affected by whether the intercompany transaction occurred in the
current year or in prior years?
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Summary lllustration—
Unrealized Profit from
Plant Assets

Assumptions

1. Parent’s(P) net income, excluding income from Subsidiary(S), is $100,000.

2. 90 percent-owned Subsidiary reported net income of $50,000.

3. Anintercompany sale of land in the current year resulted in a gain of $5,000.
4. The land is still held within the consolidated entity.

Downstream Upstream

Assume that P sells to S Assume that S sells to P

P’s Net Income—Equity Method

P’s separate income $100,000 $100,000
P’s share of S’s reported net income 45,000 45,000
Deduct: Unrealized gain from land

($5,000 < 100%) (5,000)

($5,000 X 90%) (4,500)
P’s Net Income $140,000 $140,500
Controlling share of Consolidated Net Income

; ; ; ; $150,000

P’s separate income plus S’s net income $150,000 ’
Less: Unrealized gain on land 5,000 1 42 888
Total realized income 145,000 ’
Less: Noncontrolling interest share

($50,000 X 10%) (5,000)

($50,000 — $5,000) < 10% (4,500)
Controlling share of net income $140,000 $140.500

Note that P’s net income and controlling share of consolidated net income are the same as if the intercompany
transaction had never taken place. In the downstream example, P’s separate income would have been $95,000
($100,000 — $5,000 gain) without the intercompany transaction, and S’s reported income would have remained at
$50,000. P’s separate income of $95,000 plus P’s $45,000 income from S ($50,000 < 90%) equals $140,000.

In the upstream example, P’s separate income would have been unchanged at $100,000 in the absence of
the intercompany transaction, but S’s reported income would have been only $45,000 ($50,000 — $5,000 gain).
P’s separate income of $100,000 plus P’s $40,500 income from S ($45,000 X 90%) equals $140,500. Although
helpful in understanding the nature of accounting procedures, these assumptions concerning what the incomes
would have been without the intercompany transactions lack economic realism because they ignore the produc-
tive use of the land.

E 6-1 General Questions
Use the following information in answering questions 1 and 2:
Par Company sells land with a book value of $5,000 to Sub Company for $6,000 in 2011. Sub Company holds the
land during 2012. Sub Company sells the land for $8,000 to an outside entity in 2013.
1. In 2011 the unrealized gain:
a To be eliminated is affected by the noncontrolling interest percentage
b Is initially included in the subsidiary’s accounts and must be eliminated from Par Company’s income
from Sub Company under the equity method
¢ Is eliminated from consolidated net income by a workpaper entry that includes a credit to the land
account for $1,000
d Is eliminated from consolidated net income by a workpaper entry that includes a credit to the land
account for $6,000

2. Which of the following statements is true?

a Under the equity method, Par Company’s Investment in Sub account will be $1,000 less than its under-
lying equity in Sub throughout 2012,

b No workpaper adjustments for the land are required in 2012 if Par Company has applied the equity
method correctly.

¢ A workpaper entry debiting gain on sale of land and crediting land will be required each year until the
land is sold outside the consolidated entity.

d In 2013, the year of Sub’s sale to an outside entity, the workpaper adjustment for the land will include a
debit to gain on sale of land for $2,000.
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Use the following information in answering questions 3 and 4:

Pen Corporation sold machinery to its 80 percent-owned subsidiary, Sam Corporation, for $100,000 on Decem-
ber 31, 2011. The cost of the machinery to Pen was $80,000, the book value at the time of sale was $60,000, and the
machinery had a remaining useful life of five years.

3. How will the intercompany sale affect Pen’s income from Sam and Pen’s net income for 2011?

Pen’s Income

from Sam Pen’s Net Income
a No effect No effect
b Increased No effect
c Decreased No effect
d No effect Decreased

4. How will the consolidated assets and consolidated net income for 2011 be affected by the intercompany sale?

Consolidated Consolidated
Net Assets Net Income
a No effect Decreased
b Decreased Decreased
c Increased No effect
d No effect No effect

E 6-2

Discuss effect of intercompany sale of land

Sam Corporation is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Par Corporation, acquired by Par in 2011. During 2014 Par sells
land to Sam for $50,000 for which it paid $25,000. Sam owns this land at December 31, 2014.

REQUIRED

1. How and in what amount will the sale of land affect Par’s income from Sam and net income for 2014 and
the balance of Par’s Investment in Sam account on December 31, 2014?

2. How will the consolidated financial statements of Par Corporation and Subsidiary for 2014 be affected by
the intercompany sale of land?

3. If Sam still owns the land at December 31, 2015, how will Par’s income from Sam and net income for
2015 be affected and what will be the effect on Par’s Investment in Sam account on December 31,
2015?

4. If Sam sells the land during 2016 for $50,000, how will Par’s income from Sam and total consolidated
income for 2016 be affected?

E 6-3

Computations for downstream and upstream sales of land

Sir Corporation is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pit Corporation, acquired several years ago at book value equal to
fair value. For 2011 and 2012, Pit and Sir report the following:

2011 2012
Pit’s separate income (excludes income from Sir) $300,000 $400,000
Sir’s Net Income 80,000 60,000

The only intercompany transaction between Pit and Sir during 2011 and 2012 was the January 1, 2011, sale of
land. The land had a book value of $20,000 and was sold intercompany for $30,000, its appraised value at the time of
sale.

1. Assume that the land was sold by Pit to Sir and that Sir still owns the land at December 31, 2012.
a Calculate controlling share of consolidated net income for 2011 and 2012.
b Calculate noncontrolling interest share for 2011 and 2012.

2. Assume that the land was sold by Sir to Pit and Pit still holds the land at December 31, 2012.
a Calculate controlling share of consolidated net income for 2011 and 2012.
b Calculate noncontrolling interest share for 2011 and 2012.
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E 6-4

Journal entries and consolidated income statement

(downstream sale of building)

Sal is a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pig Corporation, acquired at book value several years ago. Comparative

separate-company income statements for the affiliates for 2011 are as follows:

Pig Corporation Sal Corporation

Sales $1,500,000 $700,000
Income from Sal 108,000 —
Gain on building 30,000 —

Income credits 1,638,000 700,000

Cost of sales 1,000,000 400,000

Operating expenses 300,000 150,000

Income debits 1,300,000 550,000

Net income $ 338,000 $150,000

On January 5, 2011, Pig sold a building with a 10-year remaining useful life to Sal at a gain of $30,000. Sal paid

dividends of $100,000 during 2011.

REQUIRED

1. Reconstruct the journal entries made by Pig during 2011 to account for its investment in Sal. Explana-

tions of the journal entries are required.

2. Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pig Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.

E 6-5
[Based on AICPA] General questions

1. OnJanuary 1, 2011, Pan Company sold equipment to its wholly-owned subsidiary, Sun Company, for $1,800,000.

The equipment cost Pan $2,000,000. Accumulated depreciation at the time of sale was $500,000. Pan was de-
preciating the equipment on the straight-line method over 20 years with no salvage value, a procedure that Sun
continued. On the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011 the cost and accumulated depreciation,
respectively, should be:

a $1,500,000 and $600,000

b $1,800,000 and $100,000

¢ $1,800,000 and $500,000

d $2,000,000 and $600,000

. In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, intercompany items for which eliminations will not be

made are:

a Purchases and sales where the parent employs the equity method

b Receivables and payables where the parent employs the cost method

¢ Dividends received and paid where the parent employs the equity method

d Dividends receivable and payable where the parent employs the equity method

. Pun Corporation owns 100 percent of Sir Corporation’s common stock. On January 2, 2011, Pun sold to Sir for

$40,000 machinery with a carrying amount of $30,000. Sir is depreciating the acquired machinery over a five-
year life by the straight-line method. The net adjustments to compute 2011 and 2012 consolidated income before
income tax would be an increase (decrease) of:

2011 2012
a $ (8,000) $2,000
b $ (8,000) 0
c $(10,000) $2,000
d $(10,000) 0

. Pot Company owns 100 percent of Sal Company. On January 1, 2011, Pot sold Sal delivery equipment at a

gain. Pot had owned the equipment for two years and used a five-year straight-line depreciation rate with
no residual value. Sal is using a three-year straight-line depreciation rate with no residual value for the
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equipment. In the consolidated income statement, Sal’s recorded depreciation expense on the equipment
for 2011 will be decreased by:

a 20% of the gain on sale

b 33.33% of the gain on sale

¢ 50% of the gain on sale

d 100% of the gain on sale

E 6-6
General problems

1.

Son Corporation is an 80 percent-owned subsidiary of Pin Corporation. In 2011, Son sold land that cost $15,000 to
Pin for $25,000. Pin held the land for eight years before reselling it in 2019 to Roy Company, an unrelated entity,
for $55,000. The 2019 consolidated income statement for Pin and its subsidiary, Son, will show a gain on the sale
of land of:

a $40,000

b $32,000

c $30,000

d $24,000

. On January 3, 2011, Pal Corporation sells equipment with a book value of $90,000 to its 100 percent-owned sub-

sidiary, Sat Corporation, for $120,000. The equipment has a remaining useful life of three years with no salvage at
the time of transfer. Sat uses the straight-line method of depreciation. As a result of this intercompany transaction,
Pal’s Investment in Sat account balance at December 31, 2011, will be:

a $20,000 greater than its underlying equity interest

b $20,000 less than its underlying equity interest

¢ $30,000 less than its underlying equity interest

d $10,000 greater than its underlying equity interest

. Pen Corporation sells equipment with a book value of $80,000 to Sir Company, its 75 percent-owned

subsidiary, for $100,000 on January 1, 2011. Sir determines that the remaining useful life of the equipment
is four years and that straight-line depreciation is appropriate. The December 31, 2011, separate financial
statements of Pen and Sir show equipment—net of $500,000 and $300,000, respectively. Consolidated
equipment—net will be:

a $800,000

b $785,000

c $780,000

d $650,000

. Par Corporation sold equipment with a remaining three-year useful life and a book value of $14,500 to its

80 percent-owned subsidiary, Sad Corporation, for $16,000 on January 2, 2011. A consolidated workpaper
entry on December 31, 2011, to eliminate the unrealized profits from the intercompany sale of equipment will
include:

a A debit to gain on sale of equipment for $1,000

b A debit to gain on sale of equipment for $1,500

¢ A credit to depreciation expense for $1,500

d A debit to machinery for $1,500

. A subsidiary sells equipment with a four-year remaining useful life to its parent at a $12,000 gain on January 1,

2011. The effect of this intercompany transaction on the parent’s investment income from its subsidiary for 2011
will be:

a Anincrease of $12,000 if the subsidiary is 100% owned

b An increase of $9,000 if the subsidiary is 100% owned

¢ A decrease of $9,000 if the subsidiary is 100% owned

d A decrease of $3,600 if the subsidiary is 60% owned

. On January 1, 2011, Sin Corporation, a 60 percent-owned subsidiary of Pot Company, sells a building with a book

value of $300,000 to its parent for $350,000. At the time of sale, the building has an estimated remaining life of
10 years with no salvage value. Pot uses straight-line depreciation. If Sin reports net income of $1,000,000 for
2011, noncontrolling interest share will be:

a $450,000

b $400,000

¢ $382,000

d $355,000
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E 6-7
Consolidated income statement (sale of asset sold upstream 2 years earlier)

A summary of the separate income of Pod Corporation and the net income of its 75 percent-owned subsidiary, Sev
Corporation, for 2011 is as follows:

Pod Sev

Sales $500,000 $300,000
Gain on sale of machinery 10,000

Cost of good sold (200,000) (130,000)
Depreciation expense (50,000) (30,000)
Other expenses (80,000) (40,000)

Separate income (excludes
investment income) $180,000 $100,000

Sev Corporation sold machinery with a book value of $40,000 to Pod Corporation for $65,000 on January 2, 2009.
At the time of the intercompany sale, the machinery had a remaining useful life of five years. Pod uses straight-line
depreciation. Pod used the machinery until December 28, 2011, when it was sold to another entity for $36,000.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pod Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.

E 6-8

Investment income from 40 percent investee (upstream and downstream sales)

Pep Corporation owns 40 percent of the outstanding voting stock of Sat Corporation, acquired for $100,000 on
July 1, 2011, when Sat’s common stockholders’ equity was $200,000. The excess of investment fair value over
book value acquired was due to valuable patents owned by Sat that were expected to give Sat a competitive
advantage until July 1, 2016.

Sat’s net income for 2011 was $40,000 (for the entire year), and for 2012, Sat’s net income was $60,000. Pep’s
December 31, 2011 and 2012, inventories included unrealized profit on goods acquired from Sat in the amounts of
$4,000 and $6,000, respectively. At December 31, 2011, Pep sold land to Sat at a gain of $2,000. This land is still
owned by Sat at December 31, 2012.

REQUIRED

1. Compute Pep’s investment income from Sat for 2011 on the basis of a one-line consolidation.

2. Compute Pep’s investment income from Sat for 2012 on the basis of a one-line consolidation.

E 6-9

Upstream sale of equipment, noncontrolling interest
Pan Corporation has an 80 percent interest in Sip Corporation, its only subsidiary. The 80 percent interest was
acquired on July 1, 2011, for $400,000, at which time Sip’s equity consisted of $300,000 capital stock and $100,000
retained earnings. The excess of fair value over book value was assigned to buildings with a 20-year remaining
useful life.

On December 31, 2013, Sip sold equipment with a remaining useful life of four years to Pan at a gain of $20,000.
Pan Corporation had separate income for 2013 of $500,000 and for 2014 of $600,000.

Income and retained earnings data for Sip Corporation for 2013 and 2014 are as follows:

2013 2014
Retained earnings January 1 $150,000 $200,000
Add: Net income 100,000 110,000
Deduct: Dividends —50,000 —60,000
Retained earnings December 31 $200,000 $250,000

REQUIRED

1. Compute Pan Corporation’s income from Sip, net income, and consolidated net income for each of the
years 2013 and 2014.

2. Compute the correct balances of Pan’s investment in Sip at December 31, 2013 and 2014, assuming no
changes in Sip’s outstanding stock since Pan acquired its interest.
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E 6-10

Inventory items of parent capitalized by subsidiary

Ped Industries manufactures heavy equipment used in construction and excavation. On January 3, 2011, Ped sold a
piece of equipment from its inventory that cost $180,000 to its 60 percent-owned subsidiary, Spa Corporation, at Ped’s
standard price of twice its cost. Spa is depreciating the equipment over six years using straight-line depreciation and
no salvage value.

REQUIRED

1. Determine the net amount at which this equipment will be included in the consolidated balance sheets for
Ped Industries and Subsidiary at December 31, 2011 and 2012.

2. Ped accounts for its investment in Spa as a one-line consolidation. Prepare the consolidation workpaper
entries related to this intercompany sale that are necessary to consolidate the financial statements of Ped
and Spa at December 31, 2011 and 2012.

E 6-11
Consolidated net income (upstream and downstream sales)
Income data from the records of Par Corporation and Sum Corporation, Par’s 80 percent-owned subsidiary, for 2011

through 2014 follow (in thousands):
2011 2012 2013 2014

Par’s separate income $200 $150 $40 $120
Sum’s net income 60 70 80 90

Par acquired its interest in Sum on January 1, 2011, at a price of $40,000 less than book value. The $40,000 was
assigned to a reduction of plant assets with a remaining useful life of 10 years.

On July 1, 2011, Sum sold land that cost $25,000 to Par for $30,000. This land was resold by Par for $35,000 in
2014.

Par sold machinery to Sum for $100,000 on January 2, 2012. This machinery had a book value of $75,000 at the
time of sale and is being depreciated by Sum at the rate of $20,000 per year.

Par’s December 31, 2013, inventory included $8,000 unrealized profit on merchandise acquired from Sum during
2013. This merchandise was sold by Par during 2014.

REQUIRED: Prepare a schedule to calculate the consolidated net income of Par Corporation and Subsidi-
ary for each of the years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014.

PROBLEMS

P 6-1
Consolidated income statement (incomplete equity method, downstream sales)

The separate income statements of Pea Corporation and its 90 percent-owned subsidiary, Sea Corpora-
tion, for 2011 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pea Sea
Sales $1,000 $600
Income from Sea 90 —
Gain on equipment 40 —
Cost of sales (600) (400)
Other expenses (200) (100)
Net income $ 330 $100

Investigation reveals that the effects of certain intercompany transactions are not included in Pea’s
income from Sea. Information about those intercompany transactions follows:

1. Inventories—Sales of inventory items from Pea to Sea are summarized as follows:

2010 2011
Intercompany sales $100,000 $150,000
Cost of intercompany sales 60,000 90,000

Percentage unsold at year-end 50% 40%
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2. Plant assets—Pea sold equipment with a book value of $60,000 to Sea for $100,000 on
January 1, 2011. Sea depreciates the equipment on a straight-line basis (no scrap) over a
four-year period.

REQUIRED
1. Determine the correct amount of Pea’s income from Sea for 2011.

2. Prepare a consolidated income statement for Pea Corporation and Subsidiary for 2011.

P 6-2
Consolidated workpaper (downstream sales, intercompany receivable/ payable)

Sim Corporation, a 90 percent-owned subsidiary of Pal Corporation, was acquired on January 1, 2011,
at a price of $45,000 in excess of underlying book value. The excess was due to goodwill. Separate
financial statements for Pal and Sim for 2012 follow (amounts in thousands):

Pal Sim
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $300 $100
Income from Sim 31 —
Gain on sale of equipment 9 —
Cost of sales (140) (50)
Operating expenses (60) _ (10
Net income 140 40
Add: Beginning retained earnings 157 70
Less: Dividends (60) _ (0
Retained earnings, December 31 $237 $ 90
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $100 $ 17
Accounts receivable 90 50
Dividends receivable 9 —
Inventories 20 8
Land 40 15
Buildings—net 135 50
Equipment—net 165 60
Investment in Sim _158 e
Total assets $717 $200
Accounts payable $ 98 $ 30
Dividends payable 15 10
Other liabilities 67 20
Capital stock 300 50
Retained earnings 237 _ 90
Total equities $717 $200

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1. Pal sold inventory items to Sim during 2011 and 2012 as follows (in thousands):

2011 2012
Sales $30 $20
Cost of sales to Pal 15 10
Unrealized profit at December 31 5 4

2. Pal sold land that cost $7,000 to Sim for $10,000 during 2011. The land is still owned by Sim.

3. In January 2012, Pal sold equipment with a book value of $21,000 to Sim for $30,000. The equipment is
being depreciated by Sim over a three-year period using the straight-line method.

4. On December 30, 2012, Sim remitted $2,000 to Pal for merchandise purchases. The remittance was not
recorded by Pal until January 5, 2013, and it is not reflected in Pal’s financial statements at December 31,
2012.
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REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pal Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

P 6-3
Consolidated workpaper (downstream sales, intercompany receivable/ payable)

Pal Corporation acquired a 90 percent interest in Sor Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $270,000, at
which time Sor’s capital stock and retained earnings were $150,000 and $90,000, respectively. The fair
value/book value differential is goodwill. Financial statements for Pal and Sor for 2012 are as follows

(in thousands):
Pal Sor
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $ 450 $190
Income from Sor 40 —
Gain on land 5 —
Cost of sales (200) (100)
Operating expenses 113) (40)
Net income 182 50
Add: Retained earnings January 1 202 120
Less: Dividends (150) _(20)
Retained earnings, December 31 $ 234 $150
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $ 133 $14
Accounts receivable 180 100
Dividends receivable 18 —
Inventories 60 36
Land 100 30
Buildings—net 280 80
Machinery—net 330 140
Investment in Sor 303 —
$1.404 $400
Accounts payable $ 200 $50
Dividends payable 30 20
Other liabilities 140 30
Capital stock 800 150
Retained earnings 234 _150
$1,404 $400

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pal sold inventory items to Sor for $60,000 during 2011 and $72,000 during 2012. Sor’s inventories at
December 31, 2011 and 2012, included unrealized profits of $10,000 and $12,000, respectively.

2. OnJuly 1, 2011, Pal sold machinery with a book value of $28,000 to Sor for $35,000. The machinery had
a useful life of 3.5 years at the time of sale, and straight-line depreciation is used.

3. During 2012, Pal sold land with a book value of $15,000 to Sor for $20,000.
4. Pal’s accounts receivable on December 31, 2012, includes $10,000 due from Sor.

5. Pal uses the equity method for its 90% interest in Sor.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pal Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

P 6-4
Workpaper in year of acquisition (downstream sales)

Par Corporation acquired a 90 percent interest in Sag Corporation’s outstanding voting common stock
on January 1, 2011, for $630,000 cash. The stockholders’ equity of Sag on this date consisted of
$500,000 capital stock and $200,000 retained earnings.
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The financial statements of Par and Sag at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, are summa-
rized as follows (in thousands):

Par Sag
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Sales $ 700 $500
Income from Sag 70 —
Gain on land — 10
Gain on equipment 20 —
Cost of sales (300) (300)
Depreciation expense (90) 35)
Other expenses (200) (65)
Net income 200 110
Beginning retained earnings 600 200
Dividends (100) (50)
Retained earnings December 31 $ 700 $260
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011
Cash $35 $30
Accounts receivable—net 90 110
Inventories 100 80
Other current items 70 40
Land 50 70
Buildings—net 200 150
Equipment—net 500 400
Investment in Sag 655 —
$1,700 $ 880
Accounts payable $ 160 $50
Other liabilities 340 70
Capital stock, $10 par 500 500
Retained earnings 700 260
$1,700 $ 880

During 2011, Par made sales of $50,000 to Sag at a gross profit of $15,000. One-third of these sales
were inventoried by Sag at year-end. Sag owed Par $10,000 on open account at December 31, 2011.

Sag sold land that cost $20,000 to Par for $30,000 on July 1, 2011. Par still owns the land. On Janu-
ary 1, 2011, Par sold equipment with a book value of $20,000 and a remaining useful life of four years
to Sag for $40,000. Sag uses straight-line depreciation and assumes no salvage value on this equipment.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Par and Subsidiary for the year ended December 31,
2011.

P 6-5

Workpaper (downstream sales, two years)

Pal Corporation acquired a 90 percent interest in Sto Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $270,000, at
which time Sto’s capital stock and retained earnings were $150,000 and $90,000, respectively. The fair

value cost/book value differential is due to a patent with a 10-year amortization period. Financial state-
ments for Pal and Sto for 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sto

Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Sales $ 450 $190
Income from Sto 34.6 —
Gain on land 5 —
Cost of sales (200) (100)
Operating expenses 113) _(40)

Net income 176.6 50
Add: Retained earnings January 1 200 120
Less: Dividends (150) _(20)

Retained earnings, December 31 $ 226.6 150
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Pal Sto

Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012
Cash $ 1364 $14
Accounts receivable 180 100
Dividends receivable 18 —
Inventories 60 36
Land 100 30
Buildings—net 280 80
Machinery—net 330 140
Investment in Sto 292.2 —
$1,396.6 $400
Accounts payable $ 200 $ 50
Dividends payable 30 20
Other liabilities 140 30
Capital stock 800 150
Retained earnings 226.6 150
$1,396.6 $400

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pal sold inventory to Sto for $60,000 during 2011 and $72,000 during 2012; Sto’s inventories at Decem-
ber 31, 2011 and 2012, included unrealized profits of $10,000 and $12,000, respectively.

2. OnJuly 1, 2011, Pal sold machinery with a book value of $28,000 to Sto for $35,000. The machinery had
a useful life of 3.5 years at the time of intercompany sale, and straight-line depreciation is used.

3. During 2012, Pal sold land with a book value of $15,000 to Sto for $20,000.
4. Pal’s accounts receivable on December 31, 2012, includes $10,000 due from Sto.

5. Pal uses the equity method for its 90 percent interest in Sto.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pal and Subsidiary for the year ended December 31,
2012.

P 6-6
Workpaper (fair value/book value differential, downstream sales)
Financial statements for Pil and San Corporations for 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Pil San

Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Sales $210 $130
Income from San 31.9 —
Gain on sale of land — 10
Depreciation expense 40) 30)
Other expenses 110) _(60)

Net income 91.9 50
Add: Beginning retained earnings 140.4 50
Deduct: Dividends 30 —

Retained earnings December 31 $202.3 $100
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011
Current assets $200 $170
Plant assets 550 350
Accumulated depreciation (120) (70)
Investment in San 322.3 —

Total assets $952.3 $450
Current liabilities 150 §50
Capital stock 600 300
Retained earnings 202.3 100

Total equities $952.3 $450
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pil acquired an 80 percent interest in San on January 2, 2009, for $290,000, when San’s stockholders’
equity consisted of $300,000 capital stock and no retained earnings. The excess of investment fair value
over book value of the net assets acquired related 50 percent to undervalued inventories (subsequently
sold in 2009) and 50 percent to a patent with a 10-year amortization period.

2. San sold equipment to Pil for $25,000 on January 1, 2010, at which time the equipment had a book value
of $10,000 and a five-year remaining useful life (included in plant assets in the financial statements).

3. During 2011, San sold land to Pil at a profit of $10,000 (included in plant assets in the financial
statements).

4. Pil uses the equity method to accounting for its investment in San.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pil Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

P 6-7
Workpaper (downstream and upstream sales)
Pot Corporation acquired all the outstanding stock of Ski Corporation on April 1, 2011, for $15,000,000,
when Ski’s stockholders’ equity consisted of $5,000,000 capital stock and $2,000,000 retained earnings.
The price reflected a $500,000 undervaluation of Ski’s inventory (sold in 2011) and a $3,500,000
undervaluation of Ski’s buildings (remaining useful life seven years from April 1, 2011).

During 2012, Ski sold land that cost $1,000,000 to Pot for $1,500,000. Pot resold the land for
$2,200,000 during 2015.

Pot sells inventory items to Ski on a regular basis, as follows (in thousands):

Percentage Percentage
Unsold by Ski Unpaid by Ski
Sales to Ski Cost to Pot at Year End at Year End
2011 $ 500 $300 0% 0%
2012 1,000 600 30 50
2013 1,200 720 18 30
2014 1,000 600 25 20
2015 1,500 900 20 20

Ski sold equipment with a book value of $800,000 to Pot on January 3, 2015, for $1,600,000. This
equipment had a remaining useful life of four years at the time of sale.

Pot uses the equity method to account for its investment in Ski. The financial statements for Pot
and Ski are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Pot Ski

Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2015
Sales $26,000 $11,000
Gain on land 700 —
Gain on equipment — 800
Income from Ski 1,380 —
Cost of sales (15,000) (5,000)
Depreciation expense (3,700) (2,000)
Other expenses (4,280) (2,800)

Net income 5,100 2,000
Add: Beginning retained earnings 12,375 4,000
Deduct: Dividends (3,000) (1,000)

Retained earnings December 31 $14,475 $ 5,000
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2015
Cash $ 1,170 $ 500
Accounts receivable—net 2,000 1,500
Inventories 5,000 2,000
Land 4,000 1,000

Buildings—net 15,000 4,000
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Pot Ski
Equipment—net 10,000 4,000

Investment in Ski 14,405 —
Total assets $51,575 $13,000
Accounts payable $ 4,100 $ 1,000
Other liabilities 7,000 2,000
Capital stock 26,000 5,000
Retained earnings 14,475 5,000
Total equities $51,575 $13,000

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pot Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

P 6-8
Workpaper (incomplete equity method, upstream sale)

Pic Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sic Company on January 1, 2011, for $136,000,
when Sic’s capital stock and retained earnings were $100,000 and $70,000, respectively.

At the beginning of 2011, Sic sold a machine to Pic for $10,000. The machine had cost Sic $7,000,
had depreciated $2,000 while being used by Sic, and had a remaining useful life of five years from the

date of sale.
Trial balances of the two companies on December 31, 2011 and 2012, are as follows (in
thousands):
2011 2012
Pic Sic Pic Sic
Debits
Cash and equivalents $ 50 $ 30 $ 63 $ 30
Other current assets 130 70 140 80
Plant and equipment 400 200 440 245
Investment in Sic 160 — 192 —
Cost of sales 250 130 260 140
Depreciation expense 50 25 50 25
Other expenses 60 _ 20 55 _ 30
$1.100 $475 $1,200 $550
Credits o o
Accumulated depreciation $ 150 $ 50 $ 200 $ 75
Liabilities 100 50 48 40
Capital stock 300 100 300 100
Retained earnings 126 70 190 100
Sales 400 200 430 235
Gain on plant asset — 5 — —
Income from Sic 24 — 32 —
$1,100 $475 $1,200 550

REQUIRED: Prepare consolidation workpapers for Pic Corporation and Subsidiary for the year ended
December 31, 2011, and the year ended December 31, 2012.

P 6-9

Workpaper (upstream sales current and previous years)

Par Corporation acquired an 80 percent interest in Sin Corporation on January 1, 2011, for $108,000
cash, when Sin’s capital stock was $100,000 and retained earnings were $10,000. The difference
between investment fair value and book value acquired is due to a patent being amortized over a 10-
year period.
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Separate financial statements for Par and Sin on December 31, 2014, are summarized as follows (in

thousands):
Par Sin
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2014
Sales $650 $120
Income from Sin 42 —
Cost of sales (390) (40)
Other expenses (170) _(30)
Net income 132 50
Add: Beginning retained earnings 95.6 20
Deduct: Dividends (70) _(20)
Retained earnings December 31 $157.6 $ 50
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2014
Cash $ 58 $ 20
Accounts receivable 40 20
Inventories 60 35
Plant assets 290 205
Accumulated depreciation (70) (100)
Investment in Sin 121.6 —
Total assets $499.6 $180
Accounts payable $ 42 $ 30
Capital stock 300 100
Retained earnings 157.6 _ 50
Total equities $499.6 $180

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Sin’s sales include intercompany sales of $8,000, and Par’s December 31, 2014, inventory includes
$1,000 profit on goods acquired from Sin. Par’s December 31, 2013, inventory contained $2,000 profit on
goods acquired from Sin.

2. Par owes Sin $4,000 on account.

3. On January 1, 2013, Sin sold plant assets to Par for $60,000. These assets had a book value of $40,000 on
that date and are being depreciated by Par over five years.

4. Park uses the equity method to account for its investment in Sin.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Par Corporation and Subsidiary for 2014.

P 6-10

Consolidation workpaper (upstream sales)
Financial statements for Pal and Sun Corporations for 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Pal Sun
Combined Income and Retained Earnings Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Sales $210 $130
Income from Sun 34.4 —
Gain on sale of land — 10
Depreciation expense (40) 30)
Other expenses 110) (60)
Net income 94.4 50
Add: Beginning retained earnings 145.4 50
Deduct: Dividends 30) _—
Retained earnings December 31 $209.8 $100
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011
Current assets $200 $170
350

Plant assets 550
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Pal Sun

Accumulated depreciation (120)

Investment in Sun 329.8

Total assets $959.8 450
Current liabilities $150

Capital stock 600

Retained earnings 209.8

Total equities $959.8 450

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Pal acquired an 80 percent interest in Sun on January 2, 2009, for $290,000, when Sun’s stockholders’
equity consisted of $300,000 capital stock and no retained earnings. The excess of investment fair value
over book value of the net assets acquired related 50 percent to undervalued inventories (subsequently
sold in 2009) and 50 percent to goodwill.

2. Sun sold equipment to Pal for $25,000 on January 1, 2010, when the equipment had a book value of
$10,000 and a five-year remaining useful life (included in plant assets).

3. During 2011, Sun sold land to Pal at a profit of $10,000 (included in plant assets).

4. Pal uses the equity method to account for its investment in Sun.

REQUIRED: Prepare a consolidation workpaper for Pal and Subsidiary for the year ended December 31,
2011.

P 6-11
Analyze provided separate company and consolidated statements

Separate company and consolidated financial statements for Pop Corporation and its o